
 
 
 

 
  9 June 2021 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 
will meet on 

Thursday, 17 June 2021 

beginning at 
6:45 pm 

on the 
The Point, Leigh Road, Eastleigh, SO50 9DE 

 
TO: Councillor Richard Gomer (Chair) 
 Councillor Malcolm Cross (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillor Janice Asman 

Councillor Alan Broadhurst 
Councillor James Duguid 
Councillor Tim Groves 
Councillor Lucy Jurd 
Councillor Steven Broomfield 
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne 
Councillor Dave Kinloch 

 
CC: Councillor Keith House Council Leader 
  
Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer; Tel: 023 8068 

8298; Email: nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 
Natalie Wigman, Corporate Director Tel: 023 8068 8405 
Email: natalie.wigman@eastleigh.gov.uk 

  

 
JOANNE CASSAR 

Executive Head of Governance 
____________________________________________________________________ 

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings as well as in 

other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and other 
languages, upon request. 

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above. 

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public, and  
Councillors will be using tablet devices to access committee papers. 

 

Eastleigh House  
Upper Market 

Street 
Eastleigh SO50 

9YN 

1

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies     
 
2. Declarations of Interest      
  
 Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 

agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
  
3. Minutes    (Pages 5 - 6)  
  
 To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 March 2021. 
  
4. Public Participation      
  
 Public seating will be limited at this meeting due to the current Government 

restrictions. You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following 
email: democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is 
midday on Wednesday 16 June 2021. Please let us know if you wish to attend the 
meeting in person so that we can manage numbers. 

  
5. Chair's Report     
 
6. New Ways with Waste    (Verbal Report) 
 
7. Biodiversity Strategy    (Pages 7 - 10) 
 
8. Constitution Review    (Pages 11 - 302) 
 
9. Corporate Action Plan    (Pages 303 - 330) 
 
10. Cabinet Forward Plan    (Pages 331 - 336) 
 
11. Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel's Work Programme    (To Follow) 

 
 
 

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews  

 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, 15 July 2021 at 6:45 pm 

at a venue TBC 

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1 
 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

Thursday, 11 March 2021  (6:45 pm – 8:04 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Gomer (Chair); Councillors Cross, Asman, Broadhurst, 
Couldrey, Doguie, Duguid, Grajewski, Groves, Jurd, Pragnell,Tyson-Payne 
and Parker-Jones (in place of Councillor Tidridge) 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Tidridge.   
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

161. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Cllr Grajewski declared an interest due to her role as the Executive 
Member for Public Health and Supporting Families Programme at 
Hampshire County Council in relation to items 1 and 8 on the agenda. 
 

162. MINUTES 
 
Cllr Grajewski noted that her declaration of interest was not recorded 
accurately in the meeting on 28 January 2021, and the title of her HCC 
Cabinet role needs to be amended to Executive Member for Public Health 
and Supporting Families Programme at Hampshire County Council. 
 
It was AGREED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 11 February be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

163. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion. 
 

164. CHAIR'S REPORT 
 
The Chair thanked councillors for another year of scrutiny. 
 
Cllr Grajewski thank the Chair. 
 

165. UPDATE FROM TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
 
Councillor Groves updated the panel with regards to the Environment Task 
and Finish Group. 
 

3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

The Equalities Working Group and the Housing Group had not met since 
the panel last met. 
 

166. EQUALITY STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN 
 
Cllr Campbell introduced the work the Council had been doing in relation 
to developing an Equality Strategy and Action Plan. 
 
The Panel considered the report of the Strategic Planning Manager. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
It was AGREED that the report be noted. 
 

167. COVID RECOVERY - HIGH STREETS AND LOCAL RETAIL CENTRES 
 
Cllr Pretty introduced the work the Economic Development Team are 
doing in relation to COVID recovery. 
 
The Panel considered the Presentation from the Reopening High Street 
Safely Action Plan Manager 
 
RESOLVED – 
 
It was AGREED that the report be noted. 
 

168. CABINET FORWARD PLAN 
 
The Panel considered the Forward Plan of Key Decisions. 
 
RESOLVED – 
 
It was AGREED that the Work Programme be noted. 
 

169. POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL'S WORK 
PROGRAMME 
 
Panel members considered their Work Programme to March 2021. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
It was AGREED that the Work Programme be noted. 
 
 

4



 

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Thursday, 17 June 2021  

DRAFT BIODIVERSITY STRATEGY 

Report of the Ecologist 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that   
 
The Committee provide feedback and comments on the general scope, directions 
and implications of the Biodiversity Strategy so it can be developed prior to future 
adoption. 

 

Summary 
 
The draft over-arching biodiversity strategy is presented for initial comments. The strategy 
highlights key issues facing biodiversity, why biodiversity is important, and presents a 
framework for delivery. 

Focus for Scrutiny 

 Does the strategy broadly cover the key areas of pressures and the principles 

needed to halt decline and begin restoration? 

 What could we include that we have missed? 

 Should the background information in section one be expanded and include more 

detail (i.e. full audit of biodiversity with associated maps etc) so that the Biodiversity 

Action Plan (BAP) and the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) can be much 

more about the technical delivery, monitoring and reporting? (at present the existing 

SPD and BAP both contain some elements of background) 

  

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 2 Local Government Act 2000 (Power of Wellbeing) 

 

5

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Strategic Implications  

1. The Strategy will contribute to creating a Green Borough by contributing to an 
excellent environment for all, developing our green infrastructure and by 
improving wellbeing through enhancement and access to nature. 

Introduction 

2. This briefing note accompanies the draft biodiversity strategy for Eastleigh – 
“Securing our Natural Environment” – which is presented in appendix one. 
The draft biodiversity strategy sets out a ten-year approach to biodiversity by 
including:  

 A broad description of the current state of knowledge on local 
biodiversity and identifying national, regional and local trends e.g. on 
habitat loss and deterioration, and species population decline and 
Natural Capital/Ecosystem Services; 

 A review of National Government and local Eastleigh Borough Council 
strategies, policies and priorities e.g. climate change, Environment Bill, 
A Green Future: Our 25 Year Environment Plan etc 

 A review of the critical factors that need to be addressed based on 
above analysis 

 A list of key aims and objectives for biodiversity conservation and 
broadly describing how and when they will be delivered and by whom 

 A framework for delivery of other associated biodiversity documents 

 

Securing our Natural Environment 

3. “Securing our Natural Environment” is intended to be the most accessible 
element for residents of the overall biodiversity strategy. It provides 
background and context, explains why nature is important and highlights the 
known pressures affecting our biodiversity. Section two introduces the main 
policy drivers and core principles that we will need to adopt and how we will 
deliver them through production of a new, revised BAP and Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy and new or revised SPDs for biodiversity and Sustainable 
Drainage Systems. 

Financial Implications 

4. There are no financial implications for this document at this stage, although 
taking this forward to adoption in a timely fashion assumes that the current 
ecology staffing resource remains the same. The wider strategy (i.e. further 
detailed documents) will identify financial implications as they are developed 
and these will be presented as required for scrutiny and comment.  

6



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Risk Assessment 

5. The overall biodiversity strategy (including this document) assumes that the 
emerging Environment Bill and the associated obligations for biodiversity will 
become law. The strategy assumes that nature recovery within the Borough 
will continue to be a corporate priority and part of the response to the Climate 
Change and Environmental Emergency declaration.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

6. We anticipate that the Equality Act is relevant to the strategy and a full EqIA 
will be developed prior to adoption. We would like to discuss the scope and 
implications for the EqIA with the committee prior to commencing work on it.  

 

7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

The Biodiversity Strategy is part of the Council’s response to the Climate 
Change and Environmental Emergency declaration. The core principles and 
delivery mechanisms detailed within the biodiversity strategy (appendix one) 
will build climate resilience for biodiversity by creating more, better, joined up 
habitat which will have multiple associated benefits for climate amelioration 
(e.g. increased carbon storage through planting and habitat creation as well 
as through the safeguard of existing priority habitats). 

 

Conclusion 

8. “Securing our Natural Environment” is intended to set the framework for 
biodiversity recovery in Eastleigh primarily through the development of a 
revised Biodiversity Action Plan and Supplementary Planning Documents for 
biodiversity and drainage. It is also intended to put the biodiversity crisis into 
context and highlight why recovery is necessary.  

PAUL HOWE, ECOLOGIST 
 
Date: 02/06/21 
Contact Officer: Paul Howe  
Tel No: 07824 354397 
e-mail: paul.howe@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: Appendix One, Draft Biodiversity Strategy 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* List Background Papers or state None. 

7

tel:07824%20354397


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 

8



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Thursday, 17 June 2021  

CONSTITUTION UPDATE 

Report of the Monitoring Officer 

 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that:  
 
(1) Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel to consider and review the First Draft 

Constitution and make any comments prior to submission to Group Leaders 

 

Summary 
 
A project team of specialists have carried out a review of the existing Constitution to 
ensure the content is up to date, fit for purpose and understandable.  

Focus for Scrutiny 

Review the changes made and provide feedback. 

Statutory Powers 
 
Local Government Act 2000 Section 37 

Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2015 

Localism Act 2011 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. This report relates to all objectives in the Corporate Plan 2015-2025 in that an 
up to date and legally compliant Constitution is required to underpin the 
activities and decision-making of the Council.  

Introduction 

2. Eastleigh Borough Council’s Constitution sets out the way in which the Council 
runs and the processes it uses. A good Constitution assists both councillors 
and staff in the process of democratic decision making and must be 
understood by all, including members of the public who interact with the 
Council. A written Constitution is required by law and whilst Eastleigh Borough 

9

Agenda Item 8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Council’s Constitution has been regularly updated it has not been 
comprehensively reviewed for some time.  
 

3. A review is required to ensure the content reflects Eastleigh Borough Council’s 
core values and working practices. The review will look at the various codes, 
processes and documentation attached to the Constitution to ensure 
legislation cited is up to date, responsibilities, functions and language is 
correct and that the Constitution reflects best practice.  

The Constitution 

4.  A project team of specialists have been reviewing and amending the existing 
Constitution over the past 10 months. The updated draft Constitution has 
been shared with lead council staff for initial comment and Executive Heads 
have been given the opportunity to consult on the changes alongside Policy & 
Performance Scrutiny Panel. The draft Constitution will go to Group Leaders 
in the early Autumn for discussion prior to submission to Full Council in 
November for sign off. 

5. The Constitution, ‘Parts 1-8’, in its entirety can be found in the attached 
appendices 1-8 -. These are working documents and will be subject to further 
review and amendment.  

6.  A summary of proposed changes to the Constitution can be found in the 
attached excel document (appendix 9). 

7.  The Monitoring Officer is now seeking the input of this Committee who are 
asked to consider the proposed Constitution and feedback comments to the 
Monitoring Officer.  

Financial Implications 

8.  There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

Risk Assessment 

9.  An up to date Constitution is necessary to ensure effective governance of the 
Council.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

10.  The Equality Act has been considered and an EQIA has been completed. The 
long-term aim of the Council is to embed within its services, processes and 
culture an inclusive mindset and approach that values every individual. The 
updated Constitution aims to achieve this, and changes have been made to 
ensure gender neutrality. The Constitution is produced in an accessible format 
and readily available to the public via the Councils website which complies 
with accessibility standards. 

 

10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

11. There are no Change and Environmental Implications arising from this report.  

Conclusion 

12. Under provisions contained within the Local Government Act 2000 (and as 
subsequently amended) the Council is required to prepare and maintain a 
Constitution. A Constitution ensures procedures are efficient, transparent and 
accountable. It has been an aspiration for some time to review the current 
Constitution, and to make the content more accessible, fit-for purpose, up to 
date and to reflect Eastleigh Borough Council’s core values. The purpose of 
this report is to obtain feedback from Policy & Performance Scrutiny panel on 
the proposed changes. 

 

JO CASSAR 
EXECUTIVE HEAD OF GOVERNANCE & MONITORING OFFICER 

NICOLA TREEBY 
ASSISTANT PROJECT MANAGER 

 

 
Date: 7 June 2021 
Contact Officer: Nicola Treeby  
Tel No: 07796997499 
e-mail: nicola.treeby@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 9 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None 
 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



Previous 

Pg No
Change from

New 

Pg No
Change to

n/a Members n/a Councillors

n/a Officer n/a Staff

n/a Head of … n/a Executive Head …

n/a Operational Manager and Functional Lead n/a Executive Head

n/a Article 9 - Unused n/a Article 9 unused and removed. All following articles renumbered

1-1
The Constitution is divided into 19 articles which set out the basic rules governing

the Council's business. 
1-1

The Constitution is divided into 18 articles which set out the basic rules governing the Council's 

business.  

1-2 The Committees involve Councillors for each particular area. 1-2
The Committees membership only includes members who represent the residents who live in the 

geographical area covered by the Committee

1-3
A code of practice governs the relationships between staff and members of

the Council.
1-3 A protocol (link) governs the relationships between staff and members of the Council.

1-3 obtain a copy of the Constitution; 1-3 view a copy of the Constitution;

ALL Citizen ALL All refrences to the word citizen in this article have been replaced with the word resident

2-1
(a) enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership with citizens, 

businesses and other organisations, in line with the Council's Community Plan;
2-1

(a)          enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership with 

residents, businesses and other organisations;

2-1 The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in Article 18 . 2-1 The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in Article 17 .

2-2
Only registered voters of the Borough or those living or

working there will be eligible to hold the office of Councillor
2-2

The eligibility criteria for a person to be qualified to be elected and be a Councillor are set out in 

section 79 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

2-2

The regular election of a third (or as near as may be) of all Councillors will be held on the first 

Thursday in May each year, except in the year 2021 and every fourth year thereafter. The 

normal term of office of a Councillor is four years, starting on the fourth day after being elected 

and finishing on the fourth day after the date of the regular election four years later. For the first 

four years electoral terms of office in the three 2 member wards of Botley, West End South and 

West End North will be as set in the Eastleigh (Electoral Changes) Order 2016.

2-2

The regular election of a third (or as near as may be) of all Councillors will be held on the first 

Thursday in May each year, except in every  fourth year after 2021.  The normal term of office of a 

Councillor is four years, starting on the fourth day after being elected and finishing on the fourth 

day after the date of the regular election four years later.

2-6 SCRUTINY PANEL / AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE CHAIR 2-6
POLICY & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  / AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

CHAIR

2-7 SCRUTINY PANEL / AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE VICE CHAIR 2-7
POLICY & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL / AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE VICE 

CHAIR

2-7 SCRUTINY PANEL / AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE MEMBERS 2-7
POLICY & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL / AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

MEMBERS

2-8
complain to the Local Ombudsman if they think the Council has not followed its

procedures properly. 
2-8

complain to the Local Government Ombudsman if they think the Council has not followed its 

procedures properly.  

2-8
Citizens must not be violent, abusing or threatening to Councillors or staff and must not wilfully 

harm things owned by the Council, Councillors or staff.
2-8

Residents must not be violent, abusing or threatening to Councillors or staff and must not wilfully 

harm things owned by the Council, Councillors or staff. The public are entitled to attend public 

meetings of the Council, Cabinet and Committees, must comply with the rulings of the chairman. 

They may not disrupt the meeting or cause undue disturbance or they may be removed from the 

meeting. 

2-8 The public are entitled to attend public meetings of the Council 2-10 The public are entitled to attend meetings in public of the Council

2-13 Article 6 - Overview and Scrutiny 2-13 Article 6 - renamed - Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel 

2-13
Council has agreed to appoint an Audit and Resources Committee which also

has some scrutiny responsibilities as set out in Article 10 of this Constitution. 
2-13

Council has agreed to appoint an Audit and Resources Committee which also has some scrutiny 

responsibilities as set out in Article 9 of this Constitution. 13



2-22
The membership shall not include members who are also members of the Policy and 

Performance Scrutiny Panel.
2-23 deleted

2-24

(a) There will be five Local Area Committees (LACs) covering respective parts of the Borough. 

Since May 2018 (reflecting the outcome of the Borough Electoral Review and changes to ward 

boundaries) the Area Committee arrangements are as follows:

2-25
(a) There will be five Local Area Committees (LACs) covering respective parts of the Borough.  as 

follows:

2-33

Statutory Officer - Post Designation

Chief Executive  	               Head of Paid Service

Monitoring Officer     					

Chief Financial Officer     Chief Finance Officer

2-34

Statutory Staff Member - Post Designation

Chief Executive  	               Head of Paid Service

Monitoring Officer    	         	Monitoring Officer			

Chief Financial Officer     Chief Finance Officer

2-40 Insertion of new paragraph 2-41

Minor Changes 

(a) The Monitoring Officer may generally update the Constitution to correct errors, or to reflect

changes in legislation, or make amendments consequential upon changes to operational

arrangements, without report, subject to consultation with the leader and Chief Executive

2-40 Approval: Changes to the Constitution will only be approved by the full Council 2-41
(b) Approval:  Changes to the Constitution, other than minor changes will only be approved by the 

full Council 
2-41 (a) make available a printed copy of this Constitution to each member of the Council 2-42 (a) make available a copy of this Constitution to each member of the Council

ALL Area Committees ALL All references to the title Area Committees have been replaced with Local Area Committees

3-1

This Part of the Constitution also contains:

(a) details of the appointment and functions of Proper and Designated Officers; and

(b) the Council's Scheme of Delegation specifying those functions which, by virtue of the

adoption of this Constitution, are deemed to be delegated by the responsible body to

Council staff.

3-1

Part 3 of the Constitution also contains:

Appendix 1. Details of the appointment and functions of Proper and Designated Officers; and

Appendix 2. The Council's Scheme of Delegation specifying those functions which, by virtue of the 

adoption of this Constitution, are deemed to be delegated by the responsible body to Council 

staff.

ALL
Functions (as set out in Schedule 1 to the Functions Regulations) (Functions not to be the 

responsibility of the Cabinet)
3-2 deletion of 'in paragraph …'

5-32

Formulation of the Council's: - To coordinate the production of the Crime and Disorder 

Reduction Strategy - Plan and Strategies which together comprise the Development Plan

3-3

Crime & Disorder Reduction Strategy:

-	To coordinate the production of the Council’s Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy

-	Formulation of the Council’s Plan and Strategies which together comprise the Development Plan

6-32

For the purposes of relevant legislation the Council has made the following appointments for the 

duties or functions shown in the Appendix following this page.

3-4

For the purposes of relevant legislation the Council has made the following appointments for the 

duties or functions shown in the Appendix following this page. 

* The Proper Office means an Officer appointed by the Council to discharge a particular function 

as set out in section 270(3) of the Local Government Act 1972.

7-32
APPENDIX 1

APPOINTMENT OF PROPER AND DESIGNATED OFFICERS 
3-5 Replaced with new tabular appendix 1

13-32
APPENDIX 2

SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO STAFF AND MEMBERS
3-16 Whole section updated and new tabular appendix 2

3-28 Additional item 3-28 (v) Authorise the issue of Section 330 notices

14



4-2 Additional points added 4-2

2.1 	The meeting will be held only in relation to the business for which the extraordinary meeting 

has been called:

(i)  To receive any questions, statements or petitions from the public in accordance with 

Public/Stakeholder Participation Rules (appendix C) 

(ii) To receive any questions from councillors in accordance with Council Procedure Rule

2.2 The Mayor may at their absolute discretion permit other items of business to be conducted for 

the efficient discharge of the Council’s business. 

	TIME AND PLACE

3.0

Extraordinary meetings shall be held on such days and times as may be determined by the 

Council Resolution or the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Mayor. 

4-3

To appoint the Leader of the Council (Only at the annual meeting held

in 2011 or at the first annual meeting after the Leader's normal day of

retirement as a councillor (in accordance with s.44E Local Government

Act 2000). If the Council fails to elect a Leader at the relevant annual

meeting, the Leader is to be elected at a subsequent meeting);

4-4

To appoint the Leader of the Council if required. The Leader of the Council is appointed for their 

term of office as a Councillor.

4-4

(a) To choose a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are absent;

(b) Confirmation of minutes of the previous meeting;

(c) To receive communications from the person presiding;

(d) Apologies from members in respect of absence;

(e) To receive a report from the Leader;

(f) To dispose of any business (if any) outstanding from the previous meeting;

(g) To receive any petitions presented under Standing Order 18.0;

(h) (i) To deal with minutes of the Cabinet (in accordance with Standing Order 9), including 

'called-in' decisions;

(ii) To receive statements (if any) by the Leader/Cabinet Councillors on Cabinet matters;

(iii) To deal with questions from Members to the Leader and Cabinet Members on Cabinet 

decisions, performance and strategy;

(i) To deal with minutes of Committees and Scrutiny Panels in accordance with Standing Order 

9, including 'called-in' decisions;

(j) To determine planning applications not otherwise delegated;

(k) Where the meeting is the last ordinary meeting before 11 March in any year, and where the 

Council has not set, for the ensuing financial year, amounts of Council Tax for each category of 

dwelling in its area, to set such amounts. Provided that the Council Tax shall not be set before 1 

March prior to the year in question unless all precepts from major

precepting authorities have been received;

(l) To deal with questions submitted in accordance with standing order 10;

(m) To consider notices of motion in the order in which they were received;

(n) To fill vacancies on Committees or other bodies or to appoint new Committees or other 

bodies as required;

(o) Other business, if any, specified in the summons or matters taken as a matter of urgency 

under 5.4 below.

4-4

(a)To choose a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are absent;

(b)Apologies from Councillors in respect of absence; 

(c)Declaration of interest (where possible these are circulated in advance of the meeting)

(d) Confirmation of minutes of the previous meeting; 

(e)To receive communications from the person presiding;

(f)To receive a report from the Leader;

(g)To dispose of any business (if any) outstanding from the previous meeting;

(h)To receive any petitions presented under Standing Order 18.0;

(i)(i)To deal with minutes of the Cabinet (in accordance with Standing Order 9), including 'called-

in' decisions; (ii)To receive statements (if any) by the Leader/Cabinet Councillors on Cabinet 

matters; (iii)To deal with questions from Councillors to the Leader and Cabinet Members on 

Cabinet decisions, performance and strategy;

(j)To deal with minutes of Committees and Scrutiny Panels in accordance with Standing Order 9, 

including 'called-in' decisions;

(k) Where the meeting is the last ordinary meeting before 11 March in any year, and where the 

Council has not set, for the ensuing financial year, amounts of Council Tax for each category of 

dwelling in its area, to set such amounts.  Provided that the Council Tax shall not be set before 1 

March prior to the year in question unless all precepts from major precepting authorities have 

been received;

(l)To deal with questions submitted in accordance with standing order 10;

(m) To consider notices of motion in the order in which they were received;

(n)To fill vacancies on Committees or other bodies or to appoint new Committees or other bodies 

as required;

(o)Other business, if any, specified in the summons or matters taken as a matter of urgency under 

5.4 below.

4-5

7.1 Except as provided by Standing Order 8, every notice of motion shall be in

writing, signed by the member or members of the Council giving the notice, and

delivered at least ten clear calendar days before the meeting of the Council at

the office of the Monitoring Officer by whom it shall be dated, numbered in the

order in which it is received and entered in a book which shall be open to the

inspection of every member of the Council.

4-6
Except as provided by Standing Order 8, every notice of motion shall be in writing, signed by the 

member or members of the Council giving the notice, and delivered at least ten clear calendar 

days (ie the day before agenda publication) before the meeting of the Council at the office of the 

Monitoring Officer.

15



4-8

10.0 Each Council meeting shall include a session for the Leader and Cabinet

Councillors to present/be questioned on Cabinet decisions, performance,

strategy and related matters. Questions on Cabinet matters shall be subject to

written notice and submitted by 12 noon five working days before the Council

meeting. The provisions of Standing Orders 10.3 to 10.6 shall apply in relation to

such questions, with members’ questions lasting no longer than 30 minutes.

Questions will be answered in the order received with any unanswered questions

given a written answer in accordance with Standing Order 10.4c. Where a

member submits more than one question the order of questions shall be

amended so that every other member’s first question is taken first.

Each Council meeting shall include a session for the Leader and Cabinet Councillors to 

present/be questioned on Cabinet decisions, performance, strategy and related matters. 

Questions on Cabinet matters shall be subject to written notice and submitted by 12 noon, 10 

calendar days before the Council meeting (ie the day before agenda publication). The provisions 

of Standing Orders 10.3 to 10.6 shall apply in relation to such questions, with Councillors’ 

questions lasting no longer than 30 minutes. Questions will be answered in the order received 

with any unanswered questions given a written answer in accordance with Standing Order 10.4c.  

Where a Councillor submits more than one question the order of questions shall be amended so 

that every other Councillor’s first question is taken first.

4-9

11.2 A member shall stand when speaking, unless disabled from doing so, and shall

address the Mayor. While a member is speaking, the other members shall

remain seated unless rising to a point of order or in personal explanation. If two

or more members rise, the Mayor shall call on one to speak.

4-9

11.2 A member shall stand when speaking, unless prevented from doing so by a disability, and 

shall address the Mayor.  While a Councillor is speaking, the other Members shall remain seated 

unless rising to a point of order or in personal explanation.  If two or more Members rise, the 

Mayor shall call on one to speak.

4-10

but such omission or insertion of words shall not have the effect of introducing

unrelated matter into or of negating i.e. being the direct opposite of the substance

of the motion before the Council. Provided that the substitution by amendment of

a positive course of action for a proposal involving no action shall be valid.

4-10

but such omission or insertion of words shall not have the effect of introducing

unrelated matter into or of negating i.e. being the direct opposite of the substance

of the motion before the Council. Provided that the substitution by amendment of

a positive course of action for a proposal involving no action shall be valid. The Mayor’s 

judgement is final.

4-10

A member may, with the consent of the seconder and of the Council, signified without 

discussion, alter a motion which they have proposed or of which notice has been given if the 

alteration is one which could have been moved as an amendment thereto.  

4-11

11.9 	A Councillor may, with the consent of the seconder, alter a motion which they have 

proposed or of which notice has been given if the alteration is one which could have been moved 

as an amendment thereto.

4-11

A motion or amendment may be withdrawn by the proposer with the concurrence of the 

seconder and the consent of the Council, which shall be signified without discussion, and it shall 

not be competent for any member to speak upon it after the proposer has asked permission for 

its withdrawal, unless such permission shall have been refused.

4-12

A motion or amendment may be withdrawn by the proposer with the concurrence of the seconder 

and it shall not be competent for any Councillor to speak upon it after the proposer has asked 

permission for its withdrawal, unless such permission shall have been refused.

4-12 additional point included 4-12
(d) 	The Mayor if they consider it appropriate can close the debate on any motion and move to 

the vote.

4-12

11.13 A member may speak shortly in personal explanation, but such explanation shall

be confined to some material part of a former speech by the member at the same

meeting which may have been misunderstood. A member so rising shall be

entitled to be heard forthwith.

4-13
A Councillor may speak for no more than 2 minutes in personal explanation, but such explanation 

shall be confined to some material part of a former speech by the Councillor at the same meeting 

which may have been misunderstood. The Councillor shall be entitled to be heard forthwith.

4-13

On the requisition of any member, made before the vote is taken and supported

by three other members who signify their support by rising in their place, the

voting on any question shall be recorded so as to show whether each member

present gave their vote for or against that question or abstained from voting.

Unless the Mayor indicates otherwise, members shall indicate orally their voting

preference, "For", "Against" or "Abstain", which shall be recorded appropriately.

4-14

On the request of any Councillor, made before the vote is taken and supported by three other 

Councillors who signify their support by rising in their place, the voting on any question shall be 

recorded so as to show whether each Councillor present gave their vote for or against that 

question or abstained from voting.  Unless the Mayor indicates otherwise, Councillors shall 

indicate orally their voting preference, "For", "Against" or "Abstain", which shall be recorded 

appropriately.

4-14
In the event of the Mayor declining to give a second or casting vote, the motion, amendment, or 

other matter under consideration shall be declared to be "not carried" and shall thereupon fall.
4-15

In the event of a motion being tied the Mayor may exercise a casting vote. If declining to give a 

second or casting vote, the motion, amendment, or other matter under consideration shall be 

declared to be "not carried" and shall thereupon fall.

4-16 Smoking shall not be permitted at any meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees, Scrutiny 

Panels or other bodies whether held in Eastleigh House or in other accommodation.

4-16 Section deleted

4-16

18.0 At a meeting of the Council (other than the annual meeting or a meeting convened for a 

specific purpose) any member of the Council may present a petition which is relevant to some 

matter in relation to which the authority has functions, or which affects the area of the authority, 

or part of it, or the inhabitants of that area, or some of them.

4-16

18.0 At a meeting of the Council (other than the annual meeting or a meeting convened for a 

specific purpose) any Councillor may present a petition which is relevant to some matter in 

relation to which the authority has functions, or which affects the area of the authority, or part of it, 

or the inhabitants of that area, or some of them. A guide to the Councils Petition Scheme will be 

found as an appendix to Part 4 of the Constitution (see Page 116)

16



4-16

The person wishing to present the petition shall give at least ten days' notice of their intention to 

do so to the Monitoring Officer and shall show the petition to them. The petition shall not be 

accepted unless the Monitoring Officer is satisfied that the petition is proper to be presented. 

The presentation of the petition shall form an item on the agenda for the relevant body.

4-16

The person wishing to present the petition shall give at least ten days' notice of their intention to 

do so to the Monitoring Officer and shall show the petition to them.  The petition shall not be 

accepted unless the Monitoring Officer is satisfied that the petition is proper to be presented. In 

consultation with the Mayor or Chair, a decision will be made as to whether the presentation of the 

petition shall form an item on the agenda for the relevant body.

4-18 New entry 4-18 New Appendix A

4-24

In addition to Standing Orders expressly stated to refer to Committee

proceedings, the following Standing Orders shall mutatis mutandis apply to the

Cabinet and Committee meetings:-

4-24

In addition to Standing Orders expressly stated to refer to Committee proceedings, the following 

Standing Orders shall, with the necessary changes to take account of different situations but 

ensuring the main point remains the same, apply to the Cabinet and Committee meetings:  

4-25

(ii) Development which has a borough-wide significance where the Local Area Committee 

wishes to take a decision contrary to the recommendation of the Head of Housing & 

Development Lead

4-27
Development which has a borough-wide significance where the Local Area Committee wishes to 

take a decision contrary to the recommendation of the Executive Head of Planning & Economy   

4-25

(a) Where the Council’s only interest is as landowner and the application is made by a third 

party, then the application will be referred by the Head of Housing & Development to the Head 

of Strategic Planning for comment and may be determined by the Head of Housing & 

Development Lead or Local Area Committee as appropriate.

4-25

(a)	Where the Council’s only interest is as landowner and the application is made by a third party, 

then the application will be referred by the Executive Head of Planning & Economy to the Head of 

Assets & Projects for comment and may be determined by the Executive Head of Planning & 

Economy or Local Area Committee as appropriate.

4-26

(d) Such participation should be limited to 10 minutes with equal time

allowed for persons wishing to express opposing views,

ie. 5 minutes for, 5 minutes against. Parish Council contributions

should be made within the 10 minute slot.

(f) Nobody should normally be permitted to speak more than once and individuals should 

address the meeting only when called by the Chair. 

4-26

(d) Such participation should be limited to an appropriate length of time to be determined by the 

Chair with equal time allowed for persons wishing to express opposing views, ie. 5 minutes for, 5 

minutes against.  Parish Council contributions should be made within the 10 minute slot.

(f)Nobody should normally be permitted to speak more than once and individuals should address 

the meeting only when called by the Chair. The Chair has the discretion to allow a person to 

speak again.

4-28 Section removed 4-28 Complaints Section removed

4-30

(c) This Standing Order shall not preclude the Legal Services Manager from declining to allow 

inspection of any document which is or in the event of legal proceedings would be protected by 

privilege arising from the relationship of solicitor and client.

4-30 changed to Head of Legal Services 

4-62 1.8	These regulations are effective from 18 October 2018 4-61 1.8	These regulations are effective from 22 July 2021.

4-70

3.20 Subject to paragraph 5.52 no expenditure may be incurred upon a capital scheme until it 

has been included in the capital programme approved as follows:

(a) if within an existing budget, agreement by Local Area Committee or

Cabinet.

(b) if a new budget, up to a set sum of £50,000, agreement by Local Area

Committee or Cabinet, subject to the identification of funding.

(c) if over £50,000 agreement by Council.

4-70

(a)	if within an existing budget, up to a set sum of £50,000, agreement by the relevant Executive 

Head in conjunction with the Chief Financial Office.

(b)	if a new budget, up to a set sum of £50,000, agreement by Local Area Committee or Cabinet, 

subject to the identification of financing.

(c)	if over £50,000 agreement by Council.

17



4-71

(a) Between service budgets within portfolio (revenue or CIP) Up to £10,000, at the discretion of 

the appropriate Cabinet Member in consultation with the relevant Budget Holder Approval must 

also be obtained from the Chief Financial Officer.

Between £10,001 and £49,999, at the discretion of the appropriate Cabinet Member in 

consultation with the Budget Holder. Approval must also be obtained from the Chief Financial 

Officer. Any virement above £50,000 shall require the approval of the relevant Local Area 

Committee or the Cabinet. For the avoidance of doubt, “Service” means an individual page of 

the budget book, e.g. Car parks.

(b) Within a Service

Any sum within the approved budget (excluding internal recharges) at the discretion of the 

Budget Holderwith approval from the Chief Financial Officer. For the avoidance of doubt, 

“Within a Service” means a virement between subjective headings, e.g. supplies and services 

to property within the same Service.

(c) Between services within an LAC budget (capital or revenue)

Up to £25,000 at the discretion of the LAC Chair in consultation with the relevant Corporate 

Director and relevant Budget Holders. Approval must also be obtained from the Chief Financial 

Officer. For the avoidance of doubt, “Between Services”, is as per the principle in b) above, but 

relates to virements between subjective headings in difference services but within the same 

LAC budget

4-71

(a)	Between service budgets within portfolio (revenue or CIP)

Up to £50,000, at the discretion of the appropriate Executive Head(s) in consultation with the 

relevant Budget Holder(s).

Any virement above £50,000 shall further require the approval of the relevant Portfolio Lead.

For the avoidance of doubt, “Service” means an individual page of the budget book, e.g. Car 

parks.

(b)	Within a Service

Any sum within the approved budget (excluding internal recharges) at the discretion of the Budget 

Holder.

For the avoidance of doubt, “Within a Service” means a virement between subjective headings, 

e.g. supplies and services to property within the same Service.

(c)	Between services within a LAC budget (capital or revenue)

Up to £25,000 at the discretion of the LAC Chair in consultation with the relevant Executive Head 

and relevant Budget Holders. 

For the avoidance of doubt, “Between Services”, is as per the principle in b) above, but relates to 

virements between subjective headings in different Services, but within the same LAC budget.

(d)	Between portfolios

Virement between portfolios are the subject to approval from all relevant budget holders, 

Executive Heads and Portfolio Leads.

4-87

(c) Any special discount or allowance available has been accepted and the

invoice forwarded promptly to the Chief Financial Officer for payment;

(d) Income tax has been deducted from payments to sub-contractors of the

Council unless current documentary evidence has been sighted of the

arrangements made with the Inland Revenue for the payment of such tax;

4-87

(c)	Any special discount or allowance available has been accepted;

(d)	Income tax has been deducted from payments to sub-contractors of the Council unless 

current documentary evidence has been sighted of the arrangements made with HMRC for the 

payment of such tax;

4-94

6.7 Where sponsorship or grant funding is being sought which does not involve a

formal application for funding, a written notification from the Operational Manager

or Functional Lead to the Finance Specialist team will suffice. This applies where

such sponsorship exceeds £1,000 but is less than £10,000 in total for any one

initiative. Below this sum, Heads of Service and other managers are expected to

exercise adequate control over these monies, liaising with their service

accountant as necessary. Sponsorship or grant funding exceeding £10,000 in

total should be approved by Cabinet

4-93

6.7	Where sponsorship or grant funding is being sought which does not involve a formal 

application for funding, a written notification should be kept. This applies where such sponsorship 

exceeds £1,000 but is less than £10,000 in total for any one initiative. Below this sum, Heads of 

Service and other managers are expected to exercise adequate control over these monies.

4-97

(i) The Council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for appointment as a member 

of staff to state in writing whether they are a family relation or have a close personal relationship 

of an existing Councillor or member of staff of the Council; or of the partner of such persons.

(ii) No candidate so related to a Councillor or a member of staff will be appointed without the 

authority of the relevant Corporate Director or an officer nominated by them. 
4-97

(i)	The Council’s application process will include a statement requirement on any candidate for 

appointment as a member of staff to declare in writing whether they are a family relation or have a 

close personal relationship with an existing Councillor or member of staff of the Council.

(ii)	No candidate so related to a Councillor or an existing member of staff will be appointed 

without the authority of the relevant recruiting manager and Executive Head.

(iii)	No existing member of staff should be involved as the sole decision-maker in the selection or 

appointment of an individual with whom they have a close relationship.

4-97

(i) The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly seeks the support of any 

Councillor for any appointment with the Council. The content of this paragraph will be included 

in any recruitment information.

(ii) Subject to paragraph (iii), no Councillor will seek support for any person for any appointment 

with the Council.

(iii) Paragraph (ii) above shall not preclude a Councillor from giving a written testimonial of a 

candidate's ability, experience or character, for submission to the Council with an application for 

appointment. 

4-97

(i)	The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly seeks the support of any 

Councillor of existing member of staff for any appointment with the Council. The content of this 

paragraph will be included in any recruitment information

(ii)	Subject to paragraph (iii), no Councillor will seek support for any person for any appointment 

with the Council

(iii)	Paragraph (ii) above shall not preclude a Councillor from giving a written testimonial of a 

candidate's ability, experience or character, for submission to the Council with an application for 

appointment

18



4-97

(c) Every member and officer of the Council taking part in a staff appointment process shall 

disclose to the Council any relationship known to them to exist between themself and a 

candidate for an appointment of which they are aware. It shall be the duty of the Chief 

Executive to report to the Council or to the appropriate body any such disclosure made to them. 

4-97 (c)	Every member and officer of the Council taking part in a staff appointment process shall 

disclose to the recruiting © manager any relationship known to them to exist between themselves 

and a candidate for an appointment of which they are aware. 

4-98

(d) Where relationship to a member of the Council is disclosed the standing order headed 

"Interests of members in contracts and other matters" (Standing Order 19) shall apply (Part 4 - 

Council and Committee Procedure Rules). 

4-98 

(e) Candidates who are short-listed for a post with the Council shall be required to complete a 

medical detail form to accompany their application for the post. The information thus supplied 

shall form a condition of any contract of

employment offered by the Council.

(f) Where required under legislation, candidates for a post with the Council shall be required to 

supply (for verification by the Police) details concerning the existence and content of any 

criminal record/cautions. An offer of employment

may be withdrawn, or dismissal may result if previous cautions/convictions for criminal offences 

are not disclosed. 

4-98

(d) Where relationship to a member of the Council is disclosed the standing order headed 

"Interests of members in contracts and other matters" (Standing Order 19) shall apply (Part 4 - 

Council and Committee Procedure Rules).

Candidates who are identified as the preferred candidate   for appointment following a selection 

process shall be required to complete a medical detail form. The information thus supplied shall 

form a condition of any contract of employment offered by the Council.

Where required under legislation, candidates for a post with the Council shall be required to 

supply (for verification by the Police) details concerning the existence and content of any criminal 

record/cautions. An offer of employment may be withdrawn, or dismissal may result if previous 

cautions/convictions for criminal offences are not disclosed. 

(e)	Recruitment of Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service, Other Statutory Officers and Corporate 

Directors.

4-98

Where the Council proposes to appoint a statutory officer or a member of Management Team 

and it is not proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from among its existing 

officers, the Council will: (a) draw up a statement specifying: (i) the duties of the officer 

concerned; and (ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed; (b) 

make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to bring it to the 

attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; and (c) make arrangements for a copy of 

the statement mentioned in paragraph (1) to be sent to any person on request.

4-98

Section deleted

4-99

(a) An appointments panel of the Council will appoint Corporate Directors and Heads of Units. 

That Committee or Sub-Committee must include at least one member of the Cabinet.

(b) An offer of employment as Corporate Director or Head of Unit shall only be made where no 

well-founded objection from any member of the Cabinet has been received. 
4-99

(a)	An appointments panel of the Council will appoint Corporate Directors and Executive Heads. 

That Committee or Sub-Committee must include at least one member of the Cabinet.

(b)	An offer of employment as Corporate Director or Executive Head shall only be made where 

no well-founded objection from any member of the Cabinet has been received

4-99

Officers Below Head of Unit: Appointment of officers below Head of Unit is the responsibility of 

the Head of Paid Service or their nominee, and may not be made by Councillors. The 

appointment of such staff may be delegated to Corporate Directors, Unit Heads or senior 

managers if so provided in the Council’s Standing Orders in Part 4 of the Constitution.

4-99

Officers Below Executive Head: Appointment of officers below Executive Head is the responsibility 

of the Executive Head or their nominee nand may not be made by Councillors. The appointment 

of such staff may be delegated to Corporate Directors, Executive Heads or other appropriate 

senior managers.

4-99

(a) Suspension: The Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer

and the Chief Financial Officer may be suspended whilst an investigation

takes place into alleged misconduct. That suspension will be on full pay and

last no longer than two months.

4-99

(a)	Suspension: The Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and the Chief 

Financial Officer may be suspended whilst an investigation takes place into alleged misconduct. 

That suspension will be on full pay and will ideally last no longer than two months If this period is 

to be extended, the full reasons will be recorded in writing to the employee concerned.

19



4-109

19.1 The Chair or Vice-Chair of Cabinet, the appropriate Local Area Committee or

other committee authorised by the Council for the specific project shall be

authorised to accept the most economically advantageous tender, (provided

the tender does not exceed the approved budget or fall below the estimate in

the case of a payment to the Council).

4-107

18.1	The Chair or Vice-Chair of Cabinet, the appropriate Local Area Committee or other 

committee authorised by the Council for the specific project shall be authorised to accept the most 

economically advantageous tender, (provided the tender does not exceed the approved budget or 

fall below the estimate in the case of a payment to the Council).

(i)	For tenders valued above EU Thresholds:

	Two of the following-

•	Corporate Directors, or 

•	Executive Heads

And 

	The Chair or Vice Chair of:

•	Cabinet, or

•	The appropriate Local Area Committee, or

•	Other Committee authorised by the Council for the specific project

4-116
New Point inserted

4-116

(iv)	Product Liability – applicable where the supplier is providing goods. As a guide, the Council 

usually seeks product liability insurance of not less than £2m per occurrence or series of 

occurrences arising out of the same event

5-1 New statement 5-1 Joint Statement

5-1

You must –

2.1 provide leadership to the authority and communities within its area, by personal example

2.2 respect others and not bully any person 2.3 recognise that officers (other than political 

assistants) are employed by and serve the whole authority

2.4 respect the confidentiality of information which you receive as a member –

2.4.1 not disclosing confidential information to third parties unless required by law to do so or 

where there is a clear and over-riding public interest in doing so; and

2.4.2 not obstructing third parties’ legal rights of access to information

2.5 not conduct yourself in a manner which is likely to bring the authority into disrepute

2.6 use your position as a member in the public interest and not for personal advantage

2.7 accord with the authority’s reasonable rules on the use of public resources for private and 

political purposes

2.8 exercise your own independent judgement, taking decisions for good and substantial 

reasons –

2.8.1 attaching appropriate weight to all relevant considerations including, where appropriate, 

public opinion and the views of political groups

2.8.2 paying due regard to the advice of officers, and in particular to the advice of the statutory 

officers, namely the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer 

and

2.8.3 stating the reasons for your decisions where those reasons are not otherwise apparent

2.9 account for your actions, particularly by supporting the authority’s scrutiny function

2.10 ensure that the authority acts within the law.

5-2

You must –

2.1	provide leadership to the authority and communities within its area, by personal example 

2.2	treat other councillors and members of the public with respect

2.3	not bully or harass any person

2.4	promote equalities and not discriminate unlawfully against any person

2.5	recognise that staff (other than political assistants) are employed by and serve the whole 

authority and not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of anyone who works 

for, or on behalf of, the Authority

2.6	respect the confidentiality of information which you receive as a Councillor –

2.6.1	not disclosing confidential information to third parties unless required by law to do so or 

where there is a clear and over-riding public interest in doing so; and

2.6.2	not obstructing third parties’ legal rights of access to information

2.7	not conduct yourself in a manner which is likely to bring the Authority into disrepute

2.8	use your position as a Councillor in the public interest and not for personal advantage

2.9	accord with the authority’s reasonable rules on the use of public resources for private and 

political purposes

2.10	exercise your own independent judgement, taking decisions for good and substantial 

reasons – 

2.10.1	attaching appropriate weight to all relevant considerations including, where appropriate, 

public opinion and the views of political groups

2.10.2	paying due regard to the advice of officers, and in particular to the advice of the statutory 

officers, namely the Head of Paid Service, the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer 

and

2.10.3	stating the reasons for your decisions where those reasons are not otherwise apparent

2.11	account for your actions, particularly by supporting the authority’s scrutiny function

2.12	ensure that the authority acts within the law.

20



5-2 New paragraph inserted 5-3

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and maintain a 

register of interests of Councillors of the authority. 

You need to register your interests so that the public, authority employees and follow councillors 

know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. You are personally 

responsible for deciding whether or not you should disclose an interest in a meeting. 

A failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set out in Table 1, is a criminal 

offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

5-3 New item 5.1 inserted 5-4

5.1 	You must not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, which could give rise 

to a real or substantive personal gain or a reasonable suspicion of influence to show favour from 

persons seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the authority or from persons who may 

apply to the local authority for any permission, licence or other significant advantage. 

5-3 New item 5.3 inserted 5-4
5.3 	You must, notify the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or hospitality that has been offered 

and acceptance refused. 
5-4 New Appendix inserted 5-5 Appendix A

5-4

The duties to register, disclose and not to participate in respect of any matter in

which a member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the

Localism Act 2011.

Discloable pecuniary interests are defined in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable

Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 as follows –

5-6

The duties to register, disclose and not to participate in respect of any matter in which a member 

has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the Relevant 

Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012

5-5 New Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 5-8 New Table 2: Other Registrable Interests

5-9

This is contained on the Council’s intranet and includes sections on:

- Standards

- Disclosure of Information

- Political Neutrality

- Relationships (with Councillors, the Local Community and Service

Users and Contractors)

- Appointment and other Employment Matters

- Outside Commitments

- Personal Interests

- Equality Issues

- Separation of Roles During Tendering

- Use of Financial Resources

- Prevention of Fraud and Corruption

- Gifts and Hospitality

- Computers (Prevention of Fraud and Abuse, Security, Viruses, Internet

and E-mail Use)

- Data Protection

- Whistle Blowing

5-9

-	Standards & Code of Ethics

-	Disclosure of Information & Confidentiality 

-	Political Neutrality

-	Relationships (with family or close personal contacts, with Councillors, the Local --- Community 

and Service Users and Contractors)

-	Declaration of Interests 

-	Outside Commitments and activities 

-	Outside Hobbies and Interests, Course/Exhibition Attendance

-	Customer care/Standard of Dress and Appearance/Conduct to other 

-	Equality/Diversity

-	Bringing the Council into Disrepute

-	Purchasing and Use of Financial Resources

-	Convictions during the course of Employment

-	Hospitality, Gifts and Sponsorships

-	Intellectual Property

-	Information Technology and Data Security 

- 	Contact with the Media

-	Trade Union Representatives

-	Social Networking

5-13
Staff have a duty to report to the Chief Executive any attempt to exert improper influence. The 

Chief Executive, or nominated Deputy Chief Executive, will investigate any such report.
5-10

Staff have a duty to report to the Chief Executive any attempt to exert improper influence. The

Chief Executive, or nominated Corporate Director, will investigate any such report.

21



5-13

Public Relations and Press Releases The Council's Public Relations Unit services the Council 

as a whole and must operate within the limits of the Local Government Act 1986 which prohibits 

the Council from publishing material which appears to be designed to affect public support for a 

political party. Council press releases are drafted by staff and will often contain quotations 

(within the limits of the Local Government Act 1986) from appropriate Councillors and from the 

Mayor and Deputy Mayor of the Council about ceremonial events. Such press releases are 

issued on behalf of the Council and it would not, therefore, be appropriate when repeating 

quotations from Councillors to indicate their party political affiliation.

5-11

Communications and Media Releases

The Council's Communications & Marketing Team services the Council as a whole and must 

operate within the limits of the Local Government Act 1986 which prohibits the Council from 

publishing material which appears to be designed to affect public support for a political party.  

Council media releases are drafted by staff and will often contain quotations (within the limits of 

the Local Government Act 1986) from appropriate Councillors and from the Mayor and Deputy 

Mayor of the Council about ceremonial events.  Such media releases are issued on behalf of the 

Council and it would not, therefore, be appropriate when repeating quotations from Councillors to 

indicate their party political affiliation.

5-19

1.2 Whilst this Local Code deals primarily with planning applications, its principles apply with 

equal vigour to consideration of Structure Plans, Local Plans, Development Briefs, enforcement 

cases and all other planning matters.

5-19
Removal of the term 'structure plans'

6-1

(a) The Basic Allowance, which is payable to all Councillors, recognises the time devoted by 

Councillors to their constituency, Area Committee and Scrutiny Panel work. The allowance also 

covers representing the Council on outside

bodies. The Independent Panel designed this allowance to take account of the Public Service 

ethos which motivates Councillors and the allowance therefore includes a public service 

discount of 1/3. The Basic Allowance also covers other ad-hoc incidental expenses that 

Councillors may incur with their work such as the cost of telephone calls, etc.
6-1

(a)	The Basic Allowance, which is payable to all Councillors, recognises the time devoted to their 

constituency, Area Committee and Scrutiny Panel work. The allowance also covers representing 

the Council on outside bodies. The Independent Panel designed this allowance to take account of 

the Public Service ethos which motivates Councillors and the allowance therefore includes a 

public service discount of one third. 

6-1

(c) The Basic Allowance takes into account Members using their own IT equipment at home 

(where they decide not to avail themselves of the Council’s offer to provide such equipment), 

the cost of telephone calls, and other incidental costs of carrying out their duties as a Councillor

6-1

(c)	The Basic Allowance takes into account Councillors using their own IT equipment at home 

(where they decide not to use equipment offered by the Council), the cost of telephone calls, and 

other incidental costs of carrying out their duties as a Councillor.

6-2
No special responsibility is payable to the Chair or Vice-Chair of the Licensing Committee, or 

the Vice-Chair of the Administration Committee.
6-2

No Special Responsibility Allowance is payable to the Chair or Vice-Chair of the Licensing 

Committee, or the Vice-Chair of the Administration Committee.

6-2

In the event of short-term work increases/exceptional circumstances in the future (such as the 

2005 Licensing Panels), a discretionary day-session rate (as per the guidance offered by the 

Local Government Association, LG alert, 50/06) or ex-gratia payment can be made to those 

Members directly involved or affected, and be awarded as follows:

6-2

In the event of short-term work increases/exceptional circumstances in the future, a discretionary 

day-session rate (as per the guidance offered by the Local Government Association, LG alert, 

50/06) or ex-gratia payment can be made to those directly involved or affected, and be awarded 

as follows:

6-3

The 2017 Independent Review Panel considered that certain training courses (specifically those 

on development control; finance; and standards/code of conduct/ethical framework) should be 

mandatory for all members. The Council agrees that training in these areas is to be encouraged 

and that to

encourage members to attend such training, and help offset any loss of earnings incurred by 

attending this training, the Panel suggested a higher Basic Allowance from the one that appears 

in this scheme and that the difference be held back until a Member had attended all three of the 

aforementioned courses.

6-3

The 2017 Independent Review Panel considered that certain training courses (specifically those 

on development control; finance; and standards/code of conduct/ethical framework) should be 

mandatory for all members. The Council agrees that training in these areas is important and all 

Councillors are encouraged to attend such training. To help offset any loss of earnings incurred by 

attending this training, a higher Basic Allowance from the one that appears in this scheme will be 

paid and the difference be held back until a Councillor has attended all three of the 

aforementioned courses.

6-3 no longer applicable 6-3 deleted 

6-3
claims for travel to be made from where the travel commences, but deducting any costs that 

would have been incurred in getting to the place of residence.
6-3

claims for travel can be made from where travel begins, but any costs that would have been 

incurred in getting to their place of residence must be deducted.

6-4

A Dependent Carers’ Allowance is payable where expenditure is incurred whilst a Member is 

undertaking their role as a Councillor and attending relevant meetings. Payments are made on 

the basis of actual reasonable cost of care.

6-3

A Dependent Carers’ Allowance is payable to Councillors with caring responsibilities, where 

expenditure is incurred whilst they undertake their role as a Councillor and attending relevant 

meetings.  Payments are made based on actual reasonable cost of care.  

22



6-4

The Council seeks to conduct its business efficiently and with minimal wastage. As such, it will 

provide to a Member upon election: an Ipad. The Council will also provide related sundries on 

request. When the Member ceases to be a Councillor (e.g. s/he does not stand for re-election 

or is not reelected), the equipment must be returned to the Council in a good working order 

within 14 days of them ceasing to be a Councillor. Members who do not wish to avail 

themselves of this provision are reminded of the proviso in 2(c) above.

6-3

The Council seeks to conduct its business efficiently and with minimal wastage.  As such, it will 

provide a Councillor, upon election, with:  an electronic device and will provide related sundries on 

request.  When they cease to be a Councillor (e.g. does not stand for re-election or is not re-

elected), the equipment must be returned to the Council in good working order within 14 days of 

them ceasing to be a Councillor.  Councillors who do not wish to avail themselves of this provision 

are reminded of the proviso in 2(c) above.  

n/a no changes n/a no changes

23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

May 2021 

 CONSTITUTION OF THE COUNCIL 
 

Contents 
 

Part 1 - Summary and Explanation ..............................................................  1-1 
 

Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution 
  Article 1 - The Constitution  ........................................................  2-1 
  Article 2  - Members of the Council  ............................................  2-2 
  Article 3  - Residents and the Council  ........................................  2- 9  
  Article 4  - The Full Council  ........................................................  2-11 
  Article 5  - The Mayor and Deputy Mayor ...................................  2-13 
  Article 6  - Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel  .......................  2-14 
 Article 7  - The Cabinet  ..............................................................  2-16 
  Article 8  - Regulatory and Other Functions  ...............................  2-22 
  Article 9  - Audit and Resources Committee   .............................  2-23 
  Article 10  - Area Committees   .....................................................  2-25 
  Article 11  - Administration Committee  .........................................  2-28 
  Article 12 - Licensing Committee .................................................  2-30 
  Article 13  - Joint Arrangements  ...................................................  2-32 
  Article 14 - Staff  ..........................................................................  2-34 
  Article 15 - Decision Making  ........................................................  2-37 
  Article 16 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters  ......................  2-40 
  Article 17 - Review and Revision of the Constitution  ...................  2-41 
  Article 18 - Suspension, Interpretation and Publication 

    of the Constitution  .....................................................  2-42 
  Schedule 1 - Description of Cabinet Arrangements  ........................  2-43 

 

Part 3 - Responsibility for Functions 
  To Cabinet/Committees ...................................................................  3-1 
  Appendix 1 Proper Officers..............................................................  3-5 
  Appendix 2 Delegation to Staff ........................................................  3-16 

 

Part 4 - Rules of Procedure 
  Council and Committee Procedure Rules  .......................................  4-1 

   Council ............................................................................................  4-2 
   Cabinet/Committees ........................................................................  4-22 
   Miscellaneous ..................................................................................  4-29 

  Access to Information Procedure Rules  .........................................  4-36 
   Key Decisions and Forward Plan .....................................................  4-41 

  Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules  ............................  4-46 
  Cabinet Procedure Rules ................................................................  4-50 
  Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules  ........................................  4-53 
  Procedure Rules for Area Committees and 

   the Administration Committee  .........................................................  4-57 
  Financial Procedure Rules ..............................................................  4-59 
  Contracts Procedure Rules .............................................................  4-96 
  Staff Employment Procedure Rules  ................................................  4-97 

 

Part 5 - Codes and Protocols 
  Councillors' Code of Conduct  .........................................................  5-1 
  Staff Code of Conduct  ....................................................................  5-6 
  Protocol on Councillor/Staff Relations  ............................................  5-7 
  Local Code of Conduct for Councillors and Staff 

   Dealing with Planning Matters  ........................................................  5-17 
 

Part 6 - Councillors' Allowances Scheme  ....................................................  6-1 
 

Part 7 - Management Structure  ...................................................................  7-1 
 

Part 8 - Index  ...............................................................................................   

25



 
 

May 2021 

Part 1 
 
 

Summary and Explanation

26



1-1 
May 2021 

Summary and Explanation 
 
The Council's Constitution 
 
Eastleigh Borough Council has agreed a constitution which sets out how the Council 
operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure 
that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people.  Some of these 
processes are required by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to 
choose such as exploring and embracing partnership working approaches wherever 
possible and appropriate. 
 
The Constitution is divided into 18 articles which set out the basic rules governing 
the Council's business.  More detailed procedures and codes of practice are 
provided in separate rules and protocols at the end of the document. 
 
What's in the Constitution? 
 
Article 1 of the Constitution commits the Council to efficient, effective and 
accountable decision-making, whilst maximising the involvement of the community.  
Articles 2 - 18 explain the rights of citizens and how the key parts of the Council 
operate.  These are: 
 
 Members of the Council (Article 2). 

 Citizens and the Council (Article 3). 

 The Council Meeting (Article 4). 

 The Mayor and Deputy Mayor (Article 5). 

 Overview and Scrutiny of Decisions (Article 6). 

 The Cabinet (Article 7). 

 Regulatory and Other Functions (Article 8). 

 Audit and Resources Committee (Article 9).    

 Area Committees (Article 10). 

 Administration Committee (Article 11). 

 Licensing Committee (Article 12). 

 Joint Arrangements (Article 13). 

 Staff (Article 14). 

 Decision Making (Article 15). 

 Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters (Article 16). 

 Review and Revision of the Constitution (Article 17). 

 Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution (Article 18). 

27



1-2 
May 2021 

How the Council Operates 
 
The Council is composed of 39 Councillors with one-third elected three years in four.  
Councillors are democratically accountable to residents of their ward.  The overriding 
duty of Councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their 
constituents, including those who did not vote for them. 
 
Councillors have to agree to follow a code of conduct to ensure high standards in the 
way they undertake their duties.   
 
All Councillors meet, together as the Council.  Meetings of the Council are normally 
open to the public.  Here Councillors decide the Council's overall policies and set the 
budget each year.  The Council appoints the Leader of the Council and Committees 
(except Cabinet).  At its ordinary meetings, the Council considers recommendations 
from the Cabinet and other Committees on those matters which only the Council can 
decide. 
 
How Decisions are Made 
 
The Cabinet is the part of the Council which is responsible for day-to-day decisions 
other than 'local' issues (see Area Committees) and miscellaneous matters (see 
Administration Committee).  The Cabinet is made up of between 2 and 9 Councillors 
who are appointed by the Leader.  When major decisions are to be discussed or 
made these are published in the Cabinet's forward plan insofar as they can be 
anticipated.  Meetings of the Cabinet are generally open to the public except where 
personal or confidential matters are being discussed.  The Cabinet has to make 
decisions which are in line with the Council's overall policies and budget.  If it wishes 
to make a decision which is outside the budget or policy framework, this must be 
referred to the Council as a whole, to decide. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel supports the work of the Cabinet and 
the Council as a whole.  The Panel scrutinises decisions of the Cabinet and Local 
Area Committees, assists with policy development and undertakes best value work.  
These lead to reports and recommendations which advise the Cabinet and the 
Council as a whole, on its policies, budget and service delivery. 
 
Area Committees 
 
In order to give local citizens a greater say in Council affairs, five Area Committees 
have been created.  These cover the following areas and are responsible for taking 
decisions on local services, development control and licensing matters and working 
with the Cabinet to secure integrated policies: 
 
Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and Horton Heath 
Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound 
Chandler's Ford and Hiltingbury 
Eastleigh 
Hedge End, West End and Botley 
 
The Committees membership only includes Councillors who represent the residents 
who live in the geographical area covered by the Committee 

28



1-3 
May 2021 

Articles 6, 7, 10 and 11 respectively show in more detail the responsibilities of the 
Scrutiny Panel, the Cabinet, Local Area Committees and the Administration 
Committee.  There is a diagram on page 1-5 showing the overall structure. 
 
The Council's Staff 
 
The Council has people working for it (called 'staff') to give advice, implement 
decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of its services.  Some staff have a 
specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its resources 
wisely. A protocol governs the relationships between staff and members of the 
Council. 
 
Residents’ Rights 
 
Residents have a number of rights in their dealings with the Council.  These are set 
out in more detail in Article 3.  Some of these are legal rights, whilst others depend 
on the Council's own processes.  The local Citizens' Advice Bureau can advise on 
individuals' legal rights. 
 
Residents have the right to: 
 
 vote at local elections if they are registered; 
 
 contact their local Councillor about any matters of concern to them; 
 
 view a copy of the Constitution; 
 
 attend meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Panels except where, 

for example, personal or confidential matters are being discussed; 
 
 petition to request a referendum on a mayoral form of Cabinet; 
 
 contribute to debates at all meetings, subject to the Council's public 

participation rules (see Appendix to Council and Committee Procedure Rules in 
Part 4); 

 

 find out, from the Cabinet's forward plan, what major decisions are to be 
discussed by the Cabinet or decided by the Cabinet or staff, and when; 

 
 attend meetings of the Cabinet where key decisions are being discussed or 

decided; 
 
 see reports and background papers, and any record of decisions made by the 

Council, Cabinet, Area Committees and any other Committees of the Council; 
 
 complain to the Council (using the Complaints process) about a failure to follow 

agreed procedures, give proper advice or deliver an acceptable standard of 
service; 

 

29



1-4 
May 2021 

 complain to the Local Government Ombudsman if they think the Council has 
not followed its procedures properly.  However, they should only do this after 
using the Council's own complaints process; 

 

 inspect the Council's accounts and make their views known to the external 
auditor. 

 
The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work.  For further information 
on your rights as a citizen, please contact the Council's Monitoring Officer: 
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 
Telephone: 023 8068 8015 
E-mail: joanne.cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk   

 
Part 4 of this Constitution contains information on the rights of citizens to inspect 
agendas and reports and attend meetings. 
 

30

mailto:joanne.cassar@eastleigh.gov.uk


 
 
  

May 2021 

 

31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



2-1       May 2021 

Part 2 
 
 
Articles of the Constitution 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



2-2       May 2021 

 
Article 1 - The Constitution 

 

1.01 Powers of the Council 
 

The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law 
and this Constitution. 

 
1.02 The Constitution 
 

This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of Eastleigh 
Borough Council. 

 
The purpose of the Constitution is to: 

 
(a) enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in 

partnership with residents, businesses and other organisations; 
 

(b) support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local 
authority decision-making; 

 
(c) help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively; 

 
(d) enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 

 
(e) create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to 

public account; 
 

(f) ensure that no-one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they 
were directly involved; 

 
(g) ensure that those responsible for decision-making are clearly 

identifiable to local people and that they explain the reasons for 
decisions; and 

 
(h) provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the 

community. 
 
1.03 Interpretation and review of the Constitution 
 

Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different 
courses of action, the Council will seek to choose that option which it thinks is 
closest to the purposes stated above. 

 
The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set 
out in Article 17. 

 
 
 
 
 
 34



2-3       May 2021 

 

Article 2 - Members of the Council 
 
2.1 Composition and Eligibility 
 

(a) Composition:  The Council will comprise 39 Councillors.  Councillors 
will be elected by the voters of each ward in accordance with the 
approved scheme drawn up by the Local Government Boundary 
Commission. 

 
(b) Eligibility:  The eligibility criteria for a person to be qualified to be 

elected and be a Councillor are set out in section 79 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.  

 
2.2 Election and Terms of Councillors 
 

The regular election of a third (or as near as may be) of all Councillors will be 
held on the first Thursday in May each year, except in every fourth year after 
2021.  The normal term of office of a Councillor is four years, starting on the 
fourth day after being elected and finishing on the fourth day after the date of 
the regular election four years later. 

 

2.3 Roles and Functions of all Councillors 
 

(c) Key Roles: All Councillors will: - 
 

(i) collectively be the ultimate policymakers and carry out a number 
of strategic and corporate management functions; 

 
(ii) participate in the governance and management of the Council;  

 
(iii) contribute to the good governance of the area and actively 

encourage community participation and citizen involvement in 
decision-making; 

 
(iv) effectively represent the interests of their ward and of individual 

constituents; 
 

(v) deal with individual casework and act as an advocate for 
constituents in resolving particular concerns or grievances; 

 
(vi) balance different interests identified within the ward and 

represent the ward as a whole; 
 

(vii) be involved in decision-making; 
 

(viii) be available to represent the Council on other bodies; and 
 

(ix) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics. 
 

A fuller description of each Councillors role in the form of a role 
description is shown in the Appendix after this section. 

35



2 - 4  May 2021 

 
 

(d) Rights and Duties: 
 

(i) Councillors will have such rights of access to such documents, 
information, land and buildings of the Council as are necessary 
for the proper discharge of their functions and in accordance 
with the law. 

 
(ii) Councillors will not make public information which is confidential 

or exempt without the consent of the Council or divulge 
information given in confidence to anyone other than a 
Councillor or staff entitled to know it. 

 
(iii) For these purposes, 'confidential' and 'exempt' information are 

defined in the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 
2.4 Conduct 
 

Councillors will at all times observe the Councillor Code of Conduct, the 
Protocol on Councillor/Staff Relations and the Code of Conduct for 
Councillors and Staff Dealing with Planning Matters (Part 5 of the 
Constitution). 

 
2.5 Allowances 
 

Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the 
Members' Allowances Scheme set out in Part 6 of the Constitution. 

36



2 - 5  May 2021 

APPENDIX A 
 
 
COUNCILLOR ROLES IN DEMOCRATIC STRUCTURE 
 
THE LEADER 
 

 Is appointed by the Council. 
 

 Provides political leadership and vision for the Cabinet and the Council. 
 

 Leads on the formulation and overview of the Budget, and capital projects. 
 

 Leads the Cabinet and chairs its meetings.  
 

 Appoints the deputy leader and Cabinet members and allocates areas of 
responsibility (portfolios).  
 

 Leads the community planning process at democratic management level. 
 

 Represents the views, policies and decisions of the Cabinet within and 
outside the Council. 
 

 Represents the Council on the Local Government Association, Hampshire 
and Isle of Wight Local Authority Association and other organisations as 
nominated.  
 

 Decides on party representation in Councillor participation  
 

 Promotes compliance with Codes of Conduct and Protocols.  
 

 Engages and encourages Councillor Development and Training to enhance 
corporate and personal effectiveness of themselves and group members. 

 
CABINET MEMBER - PORTFOLIO LEAD 
 

 Provides a clear sense of direction and oversees the management of the 
organisation and political leadership and vision, within Portfolio responsibilities 
allocated by the Council. 
 

 Within the allocated Portfolio area, and more generally, participates in the 
development of budget priorities and strategies for recommendation to the 
Council. 
 

 Acting jointly with other Cabinet Members, promotes an integrated and 
corporate approach to the Council’s democratic management. 
 

 With the Leader and other Cabinet Members, takes forward the community 
planning process at democratic management level. 
 

 In the context of the Community Strategy, and more generally, encourages 
effective partnerships with local public, private, voluntary and community 
organisations.

37



2 - 6  May 2021 

 Provides leadership for the implementation of the Council and Cabinet agreed 
policies and action in one of the five local areas, working closely with the 
relevant Local Area Committee. 
 

 Oversees the implementation of agreed action and policy priorities. 
 

 Takes decisions on Cabinet business matters, within agreed delegations. 
 

 Works closely with the Management Team and other managers and staff. 
 

 Represents the Council on other organisations, particularly on partnerships 
relating to the allocated Portfolio area. 
 

 Takes account of the needs and views of the community, other Councillors 
and staff. 

 
MINORITY GROUP LEADER 
 

 Is chosen by their political party group. 
 

 Provides political leadership and vision for the political group and acts as a 
spokesperson. 
 

 Promotes compliance with Codes of Conduct and Protocols. 
 

 Engages and encourages Councillor Development and Training to enhance 
corporate and personal effectiveness of themselves and group members. 

 
LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE CHAIR 
 

 

 Chairs the Local Area Committee, with the objective of ensuring the best 
possible decisions are taken at local level, and that development control 
responsibilities are exercised on the basis of material planning considerations. 
 
 

 Maintains effective liaison with the Local Area Manager on day-to-day issues 
affecting devolved budgets, service responsibilities, capital project 
implementation and work with partner Local Councils and agencies. 

 
LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE VICE CHAIR 
 

 Assists the Committee Chair in the discharge of their role.  
 

 Deputises for the Chair as necessary. 
 
 
 
 

LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE (LAC) MEMBERS (applies to all Councillors) 
 

 Ensure local decisions take consideration of the Corporate Strategy and 
Council priorities and are within agreed budgets. 

38



2 - 7  May 2021 

 

 Participate in the determination of action, within the Council’s protocol on 
Planning Business, on local planning applications and other development 
control matters referred to the Committee, visiting the sites as appropriate.   
 

 If required, participate in the determination of licensing applications. 
 

 Use local knowledge and awareness of local community priorities, and feed 
this into both formal and informal Committee meetings, and more generally 
into the Council’s decision and management processes. 
 

 Assist the Committee to manage and monitor its devolved budgets and 
service responsibilities effectively. 
 

 Contribute to the development of Local Action Plans, particularly in the areas 
of Community Development, Local Youth Initiatives and Community Safety. 
 

 Take part in debates on the development and review of local Community 
Investment Programme priorities, and the implementation of local projects. 
 

 Assist in the development and continual review of local Community 
Investment Programme priorities, and the implementation of local projects. 
 

 Work on behalf of local people, organisations and business in their wards, 
participating in consultations and, where appropriate, inter-agency meetings.  
This local representational work may require direct liaison with appropriate 
staff. 
 

 Act as advocates for the local area and its residents – where necessary 
liaising with local residents and Town or Parish Councils. 
 

 Liaise, where necessary, with the Cabinet Member to ensure they are aware 
of local perspectives that need to be referred to the Cabinet. 
 

 Maintain an awareness of Council priorities and improves personal 
competencies for example by participating in training events, Councillors’ 
briefing and seminars.  
 

 
POLICY & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL / AUDIT AND RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE CHAIR 
 

 Promotes a positive approach to the overview and scrutiny function. 
 

 Chairs the relevant meetings. 
 

 Creates and facilitates effective working relationships with Cabinet Councillors 
(particularly those leading on Portfolios within the Panel’s/Committee’s terms 
of reference) and LAC Chairs. 
 

 In liaison with the Vice Chair, develops a work plan for the Panel/Committee, 
so that it is able to focus on topics where it can add value to the Council’s 

39



2 - 8  May 2021 

democratic management processes. 
 

 
POLICY & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL / AUDIT AND RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE VICE CHAIR 
 

 Assists the Panel / Committee Chair in the discharge of their role. 
 

 Deputises for the Chair as necessary. 
 
POLICY & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL / AUDIT AND RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
 

 Participate in the review and scrutiny of decisions or action taken in respect of 
any functions, which are the responsibility of the Cabinet in relation to the 
Portfolio areas within the Panel’s/Committee’s terms of reference. 
 

 Participates in the review or scrutiny of decisions or action taken in respect of 
any functions, which are the responsibility of the Area Committees within the 
scope of the Panel’s/Committee’s terms of reference. 
 

 Contributes to the making of reports or recommendations to the Cabinet, 
Local Area Committees and/or the Council, on topics reviewed or scrutinised.  
Where strong disagreement exists, Councillors may produce a minority report. 
 

 Contributes to reports or recommendations to the Cabinet or the Council, on 
matters that affect the Borough or its inhabitants. 
 

 Keep themselves appraised of issues and, if necessary, questions the 
responsible Cabinet Member or Local Area Committee Chair. 
 

 Take part in debate to develop or review policy in relation to matters within the 
scope of the Panel’s/Committee’s terms of reference. 
 

 Represents the views of the local community and other organisations to the 
Cabinet and Council. 
 

 Helps to ensure that the Cabinet is held to account. 
 
ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
 

 Deal with taxi and hackney carriage licensing issues. 
 

 Deal with all electoral registration and election issues. 
 

 Deal with code of conduct related matters referred by the Monitoring Officer.  
 
LICENSING COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
 

 Deal with the discharge of such functions which fall within the ambit of the 
Licensing Act 2003 (or any amendment thereof) and the Gambling Act 2005 
(or any amendment thereof). 

40



2 - 9  May 2021 

Article 3 - Residents and The Council 
 
3.01 Residents' Rights 
 

Residents have the following rights.  Their rights to information and to 
participate are explained in more detail in the Access to Information Rules in 
Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 
(a) Voting and Petitions:  Residents on the electoral roll for the area have 

the right to vote and sign a petition to request a referendum for an 
elected mayor form of Constitution. 

 
(b) Information:  Residents have the right to: 

 
(i) attend meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and 

Panels except where confidential or exempt information is likely 
to be disclosed, and the meeting is therefore held in private; 

 
(ii) find out from the forward plan what key decisions will be taken 

by the Cabinet and when; 
 

(iii) see reports and background papers, and any records of 
decisions made by the Council, Cabinet, Area Committees and 
other Committees;  

 
(iv) inspect the Council's accounts and make their views known to 

the external auditor; 
 

(v) to make representations about why a Cabinet meeting, or part of 
a Cabinet meeting, should be open to the public when notice of 
an intention to meet in private has been published; 

 
(c) Participation:  Residents have the right to speak at all meetings of the 

Council, Cabinet, Committees and Panels, subject to the public 
participation rules set out in the Appendix to the Council and 
Committee Procedure Rules (Part 4). 

 
(d) Complaints:  Residents have the right to complain to: 

 
(i) the Council itself under its complaints procedure; and 

 
(ii) the Local Government Ombudsman after using the Council's 

own complaints procedure. 
 
3.02 Residents’ Responsibilities 
 

Residents must not be violent, abusing or threatening to Councillors or staff 
and must not wilfully harm things owned by the Council, Councillors or staff. 
The public are entitled to attend meetings in public of the Council, Cabinet 
Committees and Panels, and must comply with the rulings of the chairman. 
They may not disrupt  
 

41

https://eastleighgovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/ConstitutionReview/Shared%20Documents/General/Constitution%20Dec%202020/PART%204.%20Rules%20of%20Procedure%20May%202021.docx
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/customer-care/our-complaints-procedure


2 - 10  May 2021 

 
the meeting or cause undue disturbance, or they may be removed from the 
meeting.  

 

42



2 - 11  May 2021 

Article 4 - The Full Council 
 

4.01 Meanings 
 

(a) Policy Framework:  The policy framework means the following plans 
and strategies: 

 
- Community Strategy; 
- Community Safety Strategy; 
- Plans and strategies which together comprise the Development Plan; 
- Council's Corporate Strategy; 
- Food Law Enforcement Service Plan; 
- The plan and strategy which comprise the Housing Investment Programme; 
- Equality and Diversity Strategy 

 
together with other plans and strategies which the Council may decide should 
be adopted by the Council as a matter of local choice. 

  
(b) Budget: The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to 

different services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the 
Council Tax base, setting the Council Tax and decisions relating to the 
control of the Council's borrowing requirement, the overall control of its 
capital expenditure and the setting of virement limits. 

 
4.02  Functions of the Full Council 
 

The Council will exercise the following functions: 
 

(c) adopting and changing the Constitution; 
 

(d) approving or adopting the policy framework and the budget; 
 

(e) subject to the urgency procedure contained in the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution, making 
decisions about any matter in the discharge of a Cabinet function which 
is covered by the policy framework or the budget where the decision-
maker is minded to make it in a manner which would be contrary to the 
policy framework or contrary to/or not wholly in accordance with the 
budget; 

 
(f) electing the Leader, removing them from office and noting their 

appointment of the Deputy Leader and members of the Cabinet, and 
areas of responsibility (portfolios); 

 
(g) agreeing and/or amending the terms of reference for Committees and 

Panels, deciding on their composition and making appointments to 
them (except the Cabinet); 

 
(h) appointing the Civic Mayor and Deputy Mayor; 
 
(i) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is 

a Cabinet function or has been delegated by the Council; 

43



2 - 12  May 2021 

 
(j) determining matters referred by the Cabinet or Committees; 

 
(k) determining planning applications not otherwise delegated; 

 
(l) adopting an allowances scheme under Article 2.05; 

 
(m) changing the name of the area, conferring the title of Honorary 

Alderman or Freedom of the Borough; 
 

(n) confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service; 
 

(o) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws unless 
such actions are within policy framework, in which case they may be 
exercised by the relevant Local Area Committee; 

 
(p) promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or personal bills. 

 
(q) all local choice functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution which the 

Council decides should be undertaken by itself rather than the Cabinet; 
and 

 
(r) all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council. 

 
4.03 Council Meetings 
 

There are four types of Council meeting: 
 

(s) the Mayor-making meeting (to appoint the Mayor and Deputy Mayor); 
 

(t) the annual meeting (to deal with other annual business); 
 

(u) ordinary meetings; 
 

(v) extraordinary meetings; 
 

and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules in 
Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
Under current arrangements, there will be approximately five ordinary 
meetings of the Council each year (one of which will be for budget-setting), 
plus the Annual and Mayor-Making meetings. 

 
4.04 Responsibility for Functions 
 

The Council will maintain the tables in Part 3 of this Constitution setting out 
the responsibilities for the Council's functions which are not executive 
functions. 

44



2 - 13  May 2021 

Article 5 - The Mayor and Deputy Mayor 

 
5.01 Role and Function 
 

The Mayor and Deputy Mayor will be elected by the Council annually.  The 
Mayor (and in their absence, the Deputy Mayor) will have the following 
responsibilities: 

 
(a) to be the Civic head of the Borough and act at all times in an inclusive 

non-partisan manner; 
 

(b) to carry out Civic, ceremonial and community activities and foster 
community identity and pride; 

 
(c) to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to 

interpret the Constitution when necessary; 
 

(d) to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be 
carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and 
the interests of the community; 

 
(e) to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters 

of concern to the local community and the place at which Councillors 
who are not on the Cabinet are able to hold the Cabinet to account; 

 
(f) to promote public involvement in the Council's activities; and 

 
(g) to endorse urgent action proposed by the Cabinet in the absence of the 

Chair of the Scrutiny Panel. 
 

(Note:  Under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2000, neither the 
Mayor nor Deputy Mayor can be members of the Cabinet.)

45



 
 2 -14 May 2021 

Article 6 - Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel  
 
6.01 Terms of Reference 
 

The Council will appoint one or more overview and scrutiny committees to 
discharge the functions conferred by section 9F of the Local Government Act 
2000 or regulations under that Act. The number, size and composition of 
these committees will be determined by Council from time to time as it sees 
fit. 
 
Council has agreed to appoint a Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel which 
has overview and scrutiny responsibilities for the following areas, which are 
related to Cabinet lead responsibilities: 
 
• Economy  

• Environment  

• Health and Wellbeing  

• Housing and Development  

Council has agreed to appoint an Audit and Resources Committee which also 
has some scrutiny responsibilities as set out in Article 9 of this Constitution.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel is able 
to review, scrutinise, and submit reports or recommendations in respect of any 
decision or action by the Audit and Resources Committee.   

 

The appointment of Scrutiny Panels shall be deemed to satisfy the 
requirement under Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 to appoint 
one or more overview and scrutiny committees. 

 
6.02 General Role 
 

Within their terms of reference, the Scrutiny Panel will: 
 

 Review and/or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken in connection 
with the discharge of any of the Council’s functions (including executive 
functions); 
 

 Assist with policy development and overview and scrutinise policy 

implementation; 

 Make reports and/or recommendations to the Cabinet, Local Area 
Committees or the Council in connection with the discharge of any 
functions;  
 

(a) To overview and scrutinise the decisions of the Cabinet and Local Area 

Committees and regularly review the contents of the Forward Plan. 

46



 
 2 -15 May 2021 

(b) The overview and scrutiny of policy implementation, and the effectiveness 

of policy in achieving objectives via the annual strategic cycle. 

(c) To assist with policy development, budget evolution or other work evolving 

from the annual strategic cycle and when requested by either the Cabinet 

or Council. 

(d) In liaison with the Cabinet or relevant lead, to undertake efficiency and 

improvement work related to their theme areas through the creation of task 

and finish groups (where necessary). 

(e) To monitor the implementation of improvement plans arising from 
efficiency and improvement reviews related to their theme areas; 
 

(f) To make recommendations to the Cabinet, Local Area Committee or the 
Council in the light of (a) to (e); 

 
(g) To recommend to the Council that other policy development, overview or 

scrutiny work should be undertaken; 
 

(h) To scrutinise organisational performance related to theme areas, including 
the outcomes achieved and key performance indicators; and. 

 
(i) To liaise with other external organisations operating in the area to ensure 

that the interests of local people are enhanced by collaborative working.  
 
In carrying out this role, the Scrutiny Panel will liaise with the lead Cabinet 
Member for its theme areas, and with Local Area Committee Chairs and 
relevant staff members where appropriate, to facilitate effective working 
relationships. 

 
6.03 Proceedings of the Scrutiny Panel 
 

The conduct of their proceedings at the Scrutiny Panel will be in accordance 
with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the 
Constitution. 

 
6.04  Crime and Disorder Overview and Scrutiny 
 

The Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel has been designated as the 
Council’s crime and disorder overview and scrutiny committee, as set out in 
the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009. The terms 
of reference for the Panel shall also include the following: 
 
(a) To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in 

connection with the discharge by the responsible authorities of their 

crime and disorder functions; 

(b) To make reports or recommendations to the Council with respect to the 

discharge of those functions; 

47



 
 2 -16 May 2021 

(c) To have at least one meeting each municipal year to scrutinise crime 

and disorder matters; and 

(d) To co-opt members from the Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership 

should it wish to when reviewing certain projects/decisions. 

 
6.05 Task and Finish Groups 
 

Where appropriate, the Scrutiny Panel may use time limited Task and Finish 
Groups to carry out detailed work on specific topics or issues. 
Councillors are appointed to Task and Finish Groups based on their interest, 
either on the issue or as a representative of a relevant ward, and personal 
knowledge or expertise.  
 
The Groups will be Councillor led and conduct their business on an informal 
basis. They have no decision-making powers but aid the policy development 
of the Council by examining important issues and preparing ideas and 
recommendations for consideration. A Protocol for organising Task and Finish 
Groups is available on the Council’s website. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

48

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s20002/Appendix%203.pdf


2-17      May 2021 

Article 7 - The Cabinet 
 

7.01 Role 
 

The Cabinet will carry out all of the local authority's functions which are not 
the responsibility of any other part of the local authority, whether by law or 
under this Constitution. 

 
Its overall role will be: 

 
(a) To provide political leadership. 

 
(b) To propose for approval by the Council: 

 
- the Council's policy framework and its overall community and 

corporate strategies; and 
  - budget strategy and each year's revenue and capital budgets. 
 

(c) To implement policy, to secure service delivery and to oversee the 
management of Council assets. 

 
(d) To take Cabinet decisions within policy framework and budget other 

than on those matters delegated to the Local Area, Licensing, Audit 
and Resources or Administration Committees. 

 
(e) To consider the recommendations of the Scrutiny Panel and Audit and 

Resources Committee in the context of both policy and budget 
development and Cabinet decisions/actions. 

 
(f) To consider the External Auditor's Management Letter. 

 
(g) To consider reports from Internal and External Auditor. 

 
(h) To consider motions or proposals from Councillors. 

 
(i) To recommend changes to the Council's Standing Orders and 

Financial Regulations. 
 
7.02 Form and Composition 
 

The Cabinet will consist of the Leader together with between two and nine 
Councillors appointed to the Cabinet by the Leader (one of whom will be 
appointed by the Leader to act as Deputy Leader) and the Leader will allocate 
areas of responsibility (portfolios) to them. The Leader may appoint and/or 
remove Cabinet members to/from the Cabinet at any time. 
 
Under current arrangements, the Cabinet will comprise: 
 
- The Leader 
 
- Six other Councillors from the group or groups forming the political 

administration. 

49



2-18      May 2021 

Deputy or substitute arrangements will not apply. 
 
This is subject to change by the Leader following written notification to the 
Monitoring Officer 
 
The Cabinet is exempt from the provisions of Section 15 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 (duty to allocate seats to political groups). 
 

7.03 Portfolio Arrangements 
 

Each of the Cabinet Members will have lead responsibilities for a portfolio or 
policy/service/Community Plan related themes..   

 
The Portfolio Annex following this section sets out the current allocation of 
activity areas between those portfolio themes. This can be changed by the 
Leader at any time following written notification to the appropriate staff 
member. 

 
 

The lead Cabinet Member for each theme area will ensure that there is an 
effective working relationship with the Scrutiny Panel. 

 

50



2-19                             May 2021 

Cabinet  
 

Proposed portfolios Key outcome measures Services, Projects and Campaigns 

Environment Group 
Transport – 

• Transport/Planning and 
policy 

• Traffic, parking studies 
and management 

• Engineering including 
coastal protection  

• Fleet Transport 
• Sustainable Transport inc  

public transport 
• Air and water quality  
• Taxi/Private Hire 

Licensing policy 
• Airport Liaison 

 

• Air quality 
• Transport infrastructure 

delivery (milestones) 
• Non car usage (rail, 

walk, cycle, bus) 
• Electric vehicle 

infrastructure 
 

• Transport Specialist Services 
• (Localities) Parking 
• OPE 
• Parking review 
• Modal shift / Air quality 

campaigns 
• Promotion of electric vehicles 

 
 
 
 

Environment Group 
Environment  

• Sustainability    (Examples) 
• Green infrastructure 

(including Country Parks, 
parks and open spaces) 

• Renewable energy 
• Biodiversity  
• Contaminated land  
• Urban environment  
• Enviro Crime 
• Grounds Maintenance 
• Waste and Recycling 
• Cemeteries 
• Noise 
• Bonfires 
• Animal Welfare 

 

• ASPE measures e.g. 
Streetscene 

• Recycling rate 
• Overall CO2 
• Renewable energy 
• Use of open 

space/parks 

• Direct services (Streetscene) 
• Direct Services (waste and 

recycling) 
• Locality services 
• Environment Specialist 

Services 

Health Group 
Health & Social Policy 

• Healthy Communities  
• Health promotion 

(smoking, alcohol, diet 
and exercise) 

• Mental health 
• Health works 
• Creative learning – health 

and wellbeing 
programmes 

• Dementia 
• Community Safety and 

Safeguarding 
• Social Exclusion of 

Elderly People 
• Equalities: race, religion, 

age, sex, sexuality, 
disability, transsexuality, 
pregnancy/maternity, 
marriage/civil partnership 

• Provision of benefits 
• Poverty and deprivation 
• Cultural outreach 

• Physical inactivity 
• Excess weight 
• Social isolation 
• Attendance at parks, 

leisure centres and 
theatres 

• Participation of inactive 
people at EBC physical 
activities 

• Attendance at social 
groups 

• Homelessness 
• Debt 
• Life expectancy gap  
• (currently approx 16 yrs) 
• NEETs 
• Deprivation levels 

 

• Health and Wellbeing 
Executive Area 

• Sport Works 
• Health Works 
• Community Development 
• Events (wellbeing) 
• Health and wellbeing 

campaigns (national and 
county) 

• Country Parks 
• Arts and Culture 
• Benefits 
• Housing Options 

homelessness  
• Private renting regulation 
• HMS’s 
• DFGs 
• Vol sec grants 
• Arts and Culture 
• Pilands and Velmore 

Partnerships 
• Youth offer 
• Review of pricing and 

subsidies/ loyalty card 

51



2-20  May 2021 

• Cultural opportunities for 
young people 

• Increasing participation 
• Clubs and volunteering 
• Community Development 

Grants 
•  

 

• Customer service 
enhancement 

  

52



2-21  May 2021 

Proposed portfolios 
 
 

Key outcome measures Services, Projects and Campaigns 

Economy 
Skills and Business – Derek Pretty 

• Talent, education, training 
and skills (STEM, 
apprenticeships, level 4+) 

• Business survival  and 
growth  

• Licensing and regulation of 
businesses (eg food 
hygiene, health and safety) 

• Employment land  
• Entrepreneurship and 

Innovation 
• Development of economic 

clusters (eg Creative 
Industries) 

• Capital investment in 
creative spaces and start-
ups 

• Broadband and ICT 
infrastructure 

• Fair Trade 
 

• Increase standard of 
living (GVA) 

• Economic activity 
• Educational attainment 
• Employment by 

occupation 
• No. of businesses 
• Business births/deaths 

 

• Economy Specialist 
services  
(inc Economic 
Development, Revenue 
collection, Environmental 
health)  

• Wessex house, Sorting 
Office 

• Sorting Office expansion 
project (feasibility) 

 

  

53



2-22  May 2021 

Proposed portfolios 
 
 

Key outcome measures Services, Projects and Campaigns 

Housing & Development Group 
Planning & Property – Keith House 

• Strategic land use 
• Commercial property 

portfolio 
• Infrastructure to support 

growth (housing and 
economic) 

• Planning policy 
• Developers Obligations 

(CIL, s106) 
• Quality design  
• Housing development  
• Heritage and conservation 

areas 
 

• Housing delivery 
• Affordable housing 

delivery 
• 5yr land supply 
• Property portfolio 

performance 

• Development Management 
(Housing and Development 
Specialists) 

• Asset Management Service 
• Delivery of Local Plan, 

including CIL) 
• Housing Programme  
• Growth Areas 

masterplanning 
• Communications 
• Strategic Planning 
• Housing and Development 

Specialist Services 
• Regen Board 

Housing & Development Group 
Eastleigh and Chandler’s Ford 
Regeneration - 
Paul Bicknell 

• Town centre policy 
• Economic, social and 

physical regeneration 
• Non-housing infrastructure 

(north)  
• Attracting inward 

investment 
• Stakeholders inc BID 
• Homelessness/Housing 

Register  
• Assessing housing need 

delivery 
 of specialist housing (extra 
care)  

• Private sector renting, 
HMOs  

• Disabled Facilities Grants 
• Gypsies and travellers 
• Housing Revenue Account 

 
 

• Town centre footfall 
• Vacancy rates 
• Town Centre 

regeneration outcome 
measures to be 
established 
 

• Regen Board (project 
based) 

• Central Precinct 
• Chandler’s Ford  

Industrial Areas 
 

 

Housing & Development Group 
Parishes Regeneration – Ian 
Corben 

• Local centres 
• Out of town retail 
• Economic, social and 

physical regeneration 
• Non-housing infrastructure 

(south)  
• Attracting inward 

investment 
• SPV/JV Boards - housing 

 

• Hedge End town centre 
footfall 

• Local centre regeneration  
outcome measures to be 
established 

• SPV performance 
measures 

 

• Regen Board (project 
based) 

• SPV/JB Boards e.g. 
(Aspect Building 
Communities Ltd) 

• Hedge End Industrial 
Areas 

• One Horton Heath  

The list does not include functions that are directly managed by Local Area Committees (May 2021) 

 
 

54



  2-23                                           May 2021 

7.04 Leader and Deputy Leader  
 

The Leader and Deputy Leader will each be a Councillor.  
 
The Leader will be elected to the position by the Council. The term of office of 
the Leader starts on the day of their election as Leader and ends on the day 
when the Council holds its first annual meeting after the Leader's normal day 
of retirement as a Councillor unless they:  
 
(a)  are removed from Office by resolution of the Council or resigns; 
 
(b) cease to be a Councillor; or  
 
(c) are disqualified from being a Councillor before that day. 
 
The Leader will appoint one of the Members of the Cabinet to be their  deputy, 
to hold office until the end of the term of office as Leader (unless the person 
resigns as Deputy Leader, ceases to be a Councillor or is disqualified or 
removed from office by the Leader). The Leader may, if they think fit, remove 
the Deputy Leader from office, but must then appoint another person in their 
place. The Deputy Leader will carry out the functions of the Leader when they 
are absent (including portfolio functions). 

 
7.05 Other Cabinet Members 
 

Other Cabinet members shall hold office until: 
 

(a) they resign from office; or 
 

(b) they are suspended from being Councillors under Part III of the Local 
Government Act 2000 (although they may resume office at the end of 
the period of suspension); or 

 
(c) they are no longer Councillors; or 

 
(d) they are removed from office, either individually or collectively, by the 

Leader. 
 
7.06 Proceedings of the Cabinet 
 

Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Cabinet 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
7.07 Delegation 
 

The Leader can delegate any of the executive functions to a Committee of the 
Cabinet, an individual member of the Cabinet, to an Area or other Committee 
or to a member of staff.  Details of the delegation shall be recorded in the 
minutes of the meeting at which the delegation is authorised. The Leader will 
report to Council on all appointments and changes to the Cabinet scheme of 
delegation. 

55



  2-24                                           May 2021 

Article 8 - Regulatory and Other Functions 

 
8.01 Regulations made under the Local Government Act 2000 specify that certain 

functions shall be the responsibility of the Council (rather than the Cabinet).  
There are also 'Local Choice' functions which may or may not be the 
responsibility of the Cabinet.  Part 3 of this Constitution shows the allocation 
of these responsibilities.  In particular, the Council has agreed to delegate its 
development control and licensing functions to Local Area Committees. 

 

56



  2-25                                           May 2021 

Article 9 – Audit and Resources Committee  
 
9.01 Appointment 
 

The Council will appoint an Audit and Resources Committee.  
 
9.02 Composition 
 

 The size and composition of this committee will be determined by Council 
from time to time as it sees fit but will be separate, organisationally and 
practically, from the executive and will not comprise of any Cabinet members. 
 
The committee will meet as needed and in public (subject to confidential and 
exempt business). 

 
 The Chair shall be elected by full Council. 
 
9.03 Role 
 

The Committee will have the following roles and functions: 
 
Audit functions: 
 
- Act as the Council’s Audit Committee for internal and external audit. 
- Agree and oversee the Council's Internal Audit Plan and monitor 

progress against this Plan. 
- Receive and consider the work of the external auditor. 
- Ensure that there are effective relationships between external and 

internal audit, inspection agencies and other relevant bodies, and that 
the value of the audit process is actively promoted. 

- Overview the Council’s risk management arrangements and provide 
 independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk management 
framework. 

- Seek assurances that action is being taken on risk-related issues 
identified by auditors and inspectors. 

- Approve the Governance and Assurance Statements, Statement of 
Accounts and anti-fraud and anti-corruption arrangements. 

- To notify, report or recommend to Council as appropriate. 
- Have continued due regard for CIPFA (Chartered Institute of  Public 

Finance and Accountancy) guidance. 
 
The Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel is able to scrutinise or review any 
decision made by this Committee relating to the above functions. 
 
Scrutiny functions: 
 
All items relating to the budget, CIP, asset portfolio and management and 
staffing issues (but excluding decisions made by the Audit and Resources 
Committee): 
 
- To review and/or scrutinise decisions made, or actions taken in 

connection with the discharge of any of the Council’s functions 
(including executive functions); 

57



  2-26                                           May 2021 

- make reports and/or recommendations to the Cabinet, Local Area 
Committees or the Council in connection with the discharge of any 
functions; 

- assist with policy development and budget evolution or other work;  

- The overview and scrutiny of policy implementation, and the 
effectiveness of policy in achieving objectives; 

- To review, on a regular basis, the contents of the Forward Plan; 

- To assist with policy development, and budget evolution or other work 
when requested by either the Cabinet or the Council; 

- In liaison with the Cabinet or relevant lead, to undertake efficiency and 
improvement work related to their theme areas; 

- To monitor the implementation of improvement plans arising from 
efficiency and improvement reviews related to their theme areas; 

- To recommend to the Council that other policy development, overview 
or scrutiny work should be undertaken; 

- To scrutinise organisational performance related to theme areas, 
including the outcomes achieved and key performance indicators. 

- To liaise with other external organisations operating in the area to 
ensure that the interests of local people are enhanced by collaborative 
working.  

 
In carrying out this role, the Committee will liaise with the lead Cabinet Member 
for its theme areas, and with Local Area Committee Chairs, to facilitate effective 
working relationships. 

 
9.04 Proceedings of the Committee 
 

The conduct of the proceedings at the Audit and Resources Committee will be in 
accordance with the Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the Constitution with a 
clear separation of the scrutiny and audit functions.  

 

58



  2-27                                           May 2021 

Article 10 - Area Committees 

10.01 Appointment 
 

The Council will appoint Area Committees in the context of more efficient, 
transparent and accountable decision making at local level. 

 
10.02 Form, Composition and Function 
 

(a) There will be five Local Area Committees (LACs) covering respective 
parts of the Borough  as follows: 

 
Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and Horton Heath LAC - 

 
All six Councillors representing:  

Bishopstoke Ward     3 
Fair Oak & Horton Heath Ward   3 

 
Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound LAC - 

 
All six Councillors representing:  

Bursledon and Hound Ward    3 
Hamble and Netley Ward     3 

 
Chandler's Ford and Hiltingbury LAC - 

 
All six Councillors representing: 

Chandler's Ford Ward     3 
Hiltingbury Ward       3 

 
Eastleigh LAC -  

 
All nine Councillors representing: 

Eastleigh Central Ward     3 
Eastleigh North Ward     3 
Eastleigh South Ward     3 

 
Hedge End, West End and Botley LAC - 

 
All twelve Councillors representing: 

Botley Ward        2 
Hedge End South Ward     3 
Hedge End North Ward     3 
West End North Ward     2 
West End South Ward     2 

59



  2-28                                           May 2021 

(b) The terms of reference of Local Area Committees are as follows: 
 

(i) To take Cabinet decisions within policy framework and budget 
on locally provided services and the local Community 
Investment Programme (including matters delegated to them by 
either the Council or the Cabinet). 

 
(ii) To take local planning, licensing (subject to the provisions of 

11.06) and bye-law decisions within policy framework and to 
make recommendations to the Council on development 
management matters outside the terms of their delegated 
powers. 

 
(iii) To determine complaints made by the owner/occupiers of 

domestic property adversely affected by evergreen hedges over 
two metres high (in the case of hedges owned by the Council) 

 
(iv) To act for the Council where a local response is appropriate to a 

local community issue. 
 

(v) To develop partnerships/links with other agencies to the benefit 
of the local area community, and in particular with Local 
Councils. 

 
(vi) To contribute to the wider community planning process and to 

the Council's related corporate planning process. 
 

(vii) To promote efficiencies at local level and to work with the 
Cabinet and Scrutiny Panel on the wider promotion and securing 
of related objectives. 

 
 

(viii) If appropriate, to report to the Council on the local impact of the 
decisions of the Cabinet. 

 
(ix) To authorise direct action under section 219 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

(c) The Council and the Cabinet will include details of the delegations to 
Area Committees in Part 3 of this Constitution, including the functions 
delegated (showing which are the responsibility of the Cabinet and 
which are not), budgets and any limitations on delegation. 

 
(d) The proceedings of Area Committees will be in accordance with the 

Council and Committee Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 
(e) At its meeting on 24 July 2014, Council approved the creation of a 

‘Horton Heath Development Management Committee’ to deal solely 
with planning applications in the area of West End north of the railway 
line, and adjacent/within the Fair Oak and Horton Heath Parish. The 
membership of this committee will comprise the three Fair Oak and 
Horton Heath Councillors and the four West End Councillors. 

 
60



  2-29                                           May 2021 

 
10.03 Conflicts of Interest - Membership of Area Committees and Scrutiny 
Panel 
 

(a) Conflict of Interest:  If the Scrutiny Panel is scrutinising specific 
decisions or proposals in relation to the business of the Area 
Committee of which the Councillor concerned is a member, then the 
Councillor may not speak or vote at the Scrutiny Panel meeting unless 
a dispensation to do so is given by the Monitoring Officer. 

 
(b) General Policy Reviews:  Where the Scrutiny Panel is reviewing 

policy generally the Councillor must declare their interest before the 
relevant agenda item is reached but need not withdraw. 

 
10.04 Area Committees - Access to Information 
 

Area Committees will comply with the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of 
this Constitution. 

 
Agendas and notices for Area Committee meetings which deal with both 
functions of the Cabinet and functions which are not the responsibility of the 
Cabinet will state clearly which items are which. 

 
10.05 Cabinet Members on Area Committees 
 

A member of the Cabinet will be a member of an Area Committee where 
eligible to be so as a Councillor. 
 

10.06 Licensing Panels 
 

(a) Local Area Committees shall appoint Licensing Panels for relevant 
licensing functions.  Such panels shall consist of three Councillors, 
appointed on a non-political basis. 

 
(b) Appeals to Licensing Panels shall be discharged by all Councillors of the 

relevant Panel.  However, where all parties to an appeal who appear so 
agree, the appeal may be decided by 2 Councillors (ie, one fewer than the 
total). 

 
(c) Should, in exceptional circumstances a Local Area Committee be unable 

to convene a Panel to determine a Licensing Appeal, the matter may be 
transferred for determination by either, any three Members of the 
Administration Committee, if available, or, any three Members of the 
Council nominated by the Chair of the Administration Committee.  The 
Chair of the Administration Committee will seek, where possible, to include 
a Member of the relevant Local Area Committee on the Licensing Panel. 

61



  2-30                                           May 2021 

Article 11 – Administration Committee 
 
11.01 Appointment 
 

The Council will appoint an Administration Committee. 
 
11.02 Composition 
 

(a) The Administration Committee composition shall be determined by the 

Annual General Meeting of the Council to include each of the Group 

Leaders.   

 
(b) The Administration Committee will meet as needed and in public 

(subject to confidential and exempt business considerations). 

 
(c) The following rules will apply: 

-  Cabinet Members cannot form the majority of the Committee 
-  The Chair shall not be the Chair of the Cabinet, a Local Area 

Committee or the Scrutiny Panel 
11.03 Quorum 

The quorum for the Administration Committee under (a) in 12.02 above shall 
be three members. 
 

11.04 Role 
 

The Administration Committee will have the following delegated 
responsibilities: 

 
- To deal with the discharge of such functions which cannot be the 

responsibility of the Cabinet (under the Local Government Act 2000) 
and which have not been delegated or allocated to another Committee, 
Panel or member of staff.  (Specific issues include some aspects of 
licensing and the making of byelaws.) 

 
- To deal with matters that need to be referred to a Committee of the 

Council relating to elections and electoral registration (eg the setting of 
election fees). 

 
- To notify, report or recommend to Council as appropriate. 
 
- Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors 

and any co-opted members. 
 

- Assisting the Councillors and co-opted members to observe the 
Councillor’s Code of Conduct. 
 

- To operate the overall scheme in respect of the local determination of 
Code of Conduct complaints against Borough and Parish/Town 
Councillors, via sub-committees where appropriate. 
 

- Approving, and keeping under review, codes of conduct and protocols 
for Councillors and staff. 
 

62



  2-31                                           May 2021 

- Monitoring the local operation of codes and protocols. 
 

- Promoting training of Councillors and co-opted members in the context 
of codes and protocols. 
 

- Granting dispensations, where referred by the Monitoring Officer and in 
accordance with the Localism Act 2011 or other legislation. 
 

- To monitor the use of dispensations. 
 

- Dealing with any reports from the Monitoring Officer on any matter 
relating to standards issues or standards complaints. 
 

- To appoint sub-committees consisting of Councillors drawn from its 
own membership, excluding group leaders, to determine complaints 
under the Code of Conduct and referred by the Monitoring Officer. 
Meetings of these sub-committees are to follow the procedure as set 
out in the Council’s agreed procedure for dealing with Code of Conduct 
complaints.  
 

- Overview of the Council's whistle blowing policy. 
 

- To grant exemptions for politically restricted posts. 
 
- The Administration Committee is authorised by Council to delegate 

such work as the law permits and it considers appropriate to Council 
staff or nominated third parties. 

 
 The following rules will apply: 
 

- Minority order provision will not apply on issues where the Committee 
has met in quasi-judicial mode (eg certain licensing issues), as 
determined by the Monitoring Officer 

 
- There should be an option for any decision to be referred back to the 

Committee, where an error or fact or law has been made and where 
permissible under the legislation, particularly if there is time for it to 
meet prior to the next meeting of Council. 

63



  2-32                                           May 2021 

Article 12 - Licensing Committee 
 
12.01 Appointment 
 

The Council will appoint a Licensing Committee. 
 
12.02 Composition 
 

(a) The Committee will: 
 

- comprise fifteen Councillors  
 

- seek to comprise three Councillors from each Local Area 
Committee 

 
- meet as needed and in public (subject to confidential and 

exempt business considerations and/or only specific rules or 
good practice guidance issued under the Licensing Act 2003 
and/or the Gambling Act 2005, or any amendment thereof). 

 
(b) The following rules will apply: 

 
- The Chair shall be elected by Full Council. 
 
- Up to five Sub-Committees (to be known as Licensing Panels) 

may be created. Such Panels will consist of three Councillors 
and will determine licensing applications on a local area basis 
wherever possible and will comprise where the law and 
availability permits three local area committee members. 

 
- Where the licensing committee is unable to discharge any 

Function because of the number of Councillors unable to 
participate the committee must refer the matter back to the 
licensing authority (Council). 
 

- In the event of any conflict between the contents of this Article 
and any regulation or rule to be issued under the provisions of 
the Licensing Act 2003 and/or the Gambling Act 2005 the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer is authorised to appropriately 
amend this Article and to put into effect the requirements of the 
legislation subject to a report to Council being made as soon as 
practicable thereafter on all matters of a significant nature. 

 
12.03 Role 
 

The Committee will have the following responsibilities: 
 
- To deal with the discharge of such functions which fall within the ambit 

of the Licensing Act 2003 (or any amendment thereof) and the 
Gambling Act 2005 (or any amendment thereof). 

 
- To notify, report or recommend to Council as appropriate. 
 

64



  2-33                                           May 2021 

- The Licensing Committee is authorised by Council to delegate such 
work as the law permits and it considers appropriate to Council Staff or 
nominated third parties. 

 
The following rules will apply: 
 
- Minority order provision will not apply on issues where the Committee 

has met in quasi-judicial mode, as determined by the Monitoring Officer 
or on matters solely the responsibility of the licensing committee. 

 
- Any decision may be referred back (at the Committees discretion) to 

the Committee, where an error or fact or law has been made and 
where permissible under the legislation. 

 

65



  2-34                                           May 2021 

Article 13 - Joint Arrangements 
 
13.01 Arrangements to Promote Well Being 
 

The Council or the Cabinet, in order to promote the economic, social or 
environmental well-being of its area, may: 

 
(a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 

 
(b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person 

or body; and 
 

(c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person 
or body. 

 
13.02 Joint Arrangements 
 

(a) The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more local 
authorities and/or their Cabinets to exercise functions (which are not 
Cabinet functions) in any of the participating authorities, or to advise 
the Council.  (Such arrangements may involve the appointment of a 
Joint Committee with these other local authorities.) 

 
(b) The Cabinet may establish joint arrangements with one or more local 

authorities to exercise functions which are Cabinet functions.  Such 
arrangements may involve the appointment of Joint Committees with 
these other local authorities. 

 
(c) Except as set out below, the Cabinet may only appoint Cabinet 

members to a Joint Committee and those Councillors need not reflect 
the political composition of the local authority as a whole. 

 
(d) The Cabinet may appoint members to a Joint Committee from outside 

the Cabinet in the following circumstances: 
 

 the Joint Committee has functions for only part of the area of the 
authority, and that area is smaller than two-fifths of the authority 
by area or population.  In such cases, the Cabinet may appoint to 
the Joint Committee any Councillor who is a member for a ward 
which is wholly or partly contained within the area; 

 
 the Joint Committee is between a County Council and a single 

District Council and relates to functions of the Cabinet of the 
County Council.  In such cases, the Cabinet of the County Council 
may appoint to the Joint Committee any Councillor who is a 
member for an electoral division which is wholly or partly 
contained within the area. 

 
In both of these cases the political balance requirements do not apply 
to such appointments. 

 
(e) Details of any joint arrangements including any delegations to Joint 

Committees will be found in the Council's scheme of delegations in 
Part 3 of this Constitution. 

66



  2-35                                           May 2021 

 
13.03 Access to Information 
 

(a) The Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution apply. 
 

(b) If all the Councillors of a Joint Committee are members of the Cabinet 
in each of the participating authorities then its access to information 
regime is the same as that applied to the Cabinet. 

 
(c) If the Joint Committee contains Councillors who are not on the Cabinet 

of any participating authority then the Access to Information Rules in 
Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972 will apply. 

 
13.04 Delegation to and from Other Local Authorities 
 

(a) The Council may delegate non-Cabinet functions to another local 
authority or, in certain circumstances, the Cabinet of another local 
authority. 

 
(b) The Cabinet may delegate Cabinet functions to another local authority 

or the Cabinet of another local authority in certain circumstances. 
 

(c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from another 
local authority shall be reserved to the Council meeting. 

 
13.05 Contracting Out 
 

The Council and the Cabinet, as regards their respective functions, may 
contract out to another body or organisation functions which may be exercised 
by a member of staff and which are subject to an order under section 70 of 
the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 1994, or under contracting 
arrangements where the contractor acts as the Council's agent under usual 
contracting principles, provided there is no delegation of the Council's 
discretionary decision-making. 

 

67



  2-36                                           May 2021 

Article 14 - Staff  

 
Terminology 

 
The use of the word "staff" means all employees and staff engaged by the 
Council to carry out its functions.  This word also covers those engaged under 
short-term, agency or other non-employed situations. 

 
14.01 Management Structure 
 

(a) General:  The Full Council may engage such staff as it considers 
necessary to carry out its functions. 

 
(b) Statutory Staff Member:  The Full Council will engage persons for the 

following statutory posts: 
 

Post       Designation 
 

Chief Executive     Head of Paid Service 
 
Monitoring Officer     Monitoring Officer 
 
Chief Financial Officer    Chief Finance Officer 

 
Such posts will have the functions described in Article 15.02- 15.04 
below. 

 
(c) Structure:  The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a 

description of the overall departmental structure of the Council showing 
the management structure and deployment of staff.  This is set out at 
Part 7 of this Constitution. 

 
14.02 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 
 

(a) Functions and Areas of Responsibility: 
 

(i) Overall corporate management and operational responsibility 
(including overall management responsibility for all staff). 

 
(ii) Provision of professional advice to all parties in the decision-

making process. 
 

(iii) Together with the Monitoring Officer, responsibility for a system 
of record-keeping for all the Council's decisions. 

 
(iv) Representing the Council on partnership and external bodies (as 

required by statute or the Council). 
 

(v) To grant dispensations to any Councillor or staff member in 
respect of any declared conflict of interest in an executive 
decision to be made by that Councillor or staff member as an 
individual.  

 
(b) Discharge of Functions by the Council:  The Head of Paid Service 

68



  2-37                                           May 2021 

will report as necessary to Council and the Cabinet on the manner in 
which the discharge of the Council's functions is co-ordinated, the 
number and grade of staff required for the discharge of functions and 
the organisation of staff. 

 
(c) Restrictions on Functions:  The Head of Paid Service may not be the 

Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of Chief Finance Officer if a 
qualified accountant. 

 
14.03 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 
 

(a) Maintaining the Constitution:  The Monitoring Officer will maintain an 
up-to-date version of the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely 
available for consultation by Councillors, staff and the public. 

 
(b) Ensuring Lawfulness and Fairness of Decision-Making:  After 

consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the 
Monitoring Officer will report to the full Council (or to the Cabinet in 
relation to a Cabinet function) if they consider that any proposal, 
decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision 
or omission has given rise to maladministration.  Such a report will 
have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being implemented 
until the report has been considered. 

 
(c) Supporting the Administration Committee:  The Monitoring Officer 

will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of 
conduct through provision of support to the Administration Committee. 

 
(d) Conducting Investigations:  The Monitoring Officer will conduct 

investigations into alleged breaches of the code of conduct and make 
reports or recommendations in respect of them to the Administration 
Committee where appropriate. 

 
(e) Proper Officer for Access to Information:  The Monitoring Officer will 

ensure that Cabinet decisions, together with the reasons for those 
decisions, and relevant staff reports and background papers are made 
publicly available as soon as possible. 

 
(f) Advising whether Cabinet Decisions are within the Budget and 

Policy Framework:  The Monitoring Officer will advise whether 
decisions of the Cabinet are in accordance with the budget and policy 
framework. 

 
(g) Providing Advice:  The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the 

scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues. 

 
(h) Restriction on Posts:  The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief 

Finance Officer or the Head of Paid Service. 

69



  2-38                                           May 2021 

14.04 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 
 

(a) Ensuring Lawfulness and Financial Prudence of Decision-Making:  
After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring 
Officer, the Chief Finance Officer will report to the Full Council (or to 
the Cabinet in relation to a Cabinet function) and the Council's external 
auditor if they consider that any proposal, decision or course of action 
will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is likely to 
cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council is about to enter an item of 
account unlawfully. 

 
(b) Administration of Financial Affairs:  The Chief Finance Officer will 

have responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the 
Council. 

 
(c) Contributing to Corporate Management:  The Chief Finance Officer 

will contribute to the corporate management of the Council, in particular 
through the provision of professional financial advice. 

 
(d) Providing Advice:  The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on 

the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues 
to all Councillors and will support and advise Councillors and staff in 
their respective roles. 

 
(e) Give Financial Information:  The Chief Finance Officer will provide 

financial information to the media, members of the public and the 
community. 

 
14.05 Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to the Monitoring Officer and Chief 

Finance Officer 
 

The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer with 
such staff, accommodation and other resources as are in their opinion 
sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 

 
14.06 Conduct 
 

Staff will comply with the Staff Code of Conduct, the Protocol on 
Staff/Councillor Relations and the Code of Conduct for Councillors and Staff 
Dealing with Planning Matters, as set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 
14.07 Employment 
 

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of staff will comply with the Staff 
Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

70



  2-39                                           May 2021 

Article 15 - Decision Making  

 
15.01 Responsibility for Decision Making 
 

The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the Council 
or individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions or decisions 
relating to particular areas or functions.  This record is set out in Part 3 of this 
Constitution. 

 
15.02 Principles of Decision Making 
 

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following 
principles: 

 
(a) proportionality (ie the action must be proportionate to the desired 

outcome); 
 

(b) due consultation and the taking of professional advice from staff; 
 

(c) respect for human rights (see below for further details); 
 

(d) a presumption in favour of openness; and 
 

(e) clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 
 
15.03 Recording and Notification of Decisions 
 

(a) In the case of Cabinet meetings, a note of Cabinet decisions will be 
sent out to all Councillors and to staff Units by the end of the second 
working day after each meeting.  In addition, copies will be sent on that 
day by e-mail to the nominated representative of each political group, 
and to any other Councillor so requesting. 

 
(b) The record of decisions of the Cabinet will contain the following: 

 
(i) a record of the decision; 

 
(ii) a record of the reasons for the decision; 

 
(iii) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the 

decision-making body at the meeting at which the decision was 
made; 

 
(iv) a record of any conflict of interest in relation to the matter 

decided which is declared by any member of the decision-
making body; and 

 
(v) in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of any 

dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer. 
 

71



  2-40                                           May 2021 

(c) Decisions of the Cabinet are subject to the call-in arrangements as set 
out in the Council and Committee Procedure Rules in Part 4 (standing 
order 23.2). 

 
(d) In the case of Area Committee or other Committee meetings, as soon 

as practical after a meeting a written statement will be produced in 
respect of every Cabinet decision and containing the information 
shown in 16.03(b) (i)-(v) above. 

 
(e) Decisions of Area Committees and other Committees are subject to the 

call-in arrangements as set out in standing order 23.2. 
 
 

(f) As soon as is reasonably practical after a member of staff has made a 
decision which is a key decision, a written statement will be produced 
containing the information shown in paragraph 16.03(b) (i) - (v) above. 

 
15.04 Types of Decision 
 

(g) Decisions Reserved to Full Council:  Decisions relating to the 
functions listed in Article 4.02 will be made by the full Council and not 
delegated. 

 
(h) Key Decisions: 

 
(i) A key decision means a Cabinet decision which is likely: 

 
(1) to result in the Council incurring expenditure or making 

savings which amount to either £50,000 or 20% 
(whichever is the larger) of the gross expenditure budget 
for the service or general function to which the decision 
relates; or 

 
(2) to be significant in terms of its effect on communities 

living or working in an area comprising two or more wards 
within the Borough of Eastleigh. 

 
(ii) Paragraph (i) above shall not apply: 

 
(1) if the expenditure or savings are part of a programme 

already approved; or 
 

(2) if it is a decision taken by the Corporate Director (CFO) 
(or statutory Chief Financial Officer) in accordance with 
the approved Treasury Management Policy. 

 
(iii) A decision-taker may only make a key decision in accordance 

with the requirements of the Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in 
Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

 
15.05 Decision Making by the Full Council 
 

Subject to Article 16.09, the Council meeting will follow the Council 

72



  2-41                                           May 2021 

Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any 
matter. 

 
15.06 Decision Making by the Cabinet 
 

Subject to Article 16.09, the Cabinet will follow the Cabinet Procedures Rules 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

 
15.07 Decision Making by Scrutiny Panels 
 

Scrutiny Panels will follow the Overview and Scrutiny Procedures Rules set 
out in Part 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 

 
15.08 Decision Making by Other Committees and Sub-Committees established 

by the Council 
 

Subject to Article 16.09, other Council committees and sub-committees will 
follow those parts of the Council Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution as apply to them. 

 
15.09 Decision Making by Council Bodies Acting as Tribunals 
 

The Council, a Councillor, committee or a member of staff acting as a tribunal 
or in a quasi-judicial manner or determining/considering (other than for the 
purposes of giving advice) the civil rights and obligations or the criminal 
responsibility of any person will follow a proper procedure which accords with 
the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial contained in 
Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights. 

 

73



  2-42                                           May 2021 

Article 16 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters  

 
16.01 Financial Management 
 

The management of the Council's financial affairs will be conducted in 
accordance with the financial rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
16.02 Contracts 
 

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contracts Procedure 
Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 

74



  2-43                                           May 2021 

Article 17 - Review and Revision of the Constitution 

  
17.01 Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution 
 

The Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer will jointly monitor and review the 
operation of the Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles of the 
Constitution are given full effect. 

 
17.02 Protocol for Monitoring and Review of Constitution 
 

A key role for the Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer is to be aware of the 
strengths and weaknesses of the Constitution adopted by the Council, and to 
make recommendations for ways in which it could be amended in order better 
to achieve the purposes set out in Article 1.  In undertaking this task they may: 

 
(1) observe meetings of different parts of the Councillor and staff structure; 

 
  (2) undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions; 
 

(3) record and analyse issues raised with them by Councillors, staff, the 
public and other relevant stakeholders; and 

 
(4) compare practices in this Council with those in other comparable 

authorities, or national examples of best practice. 
 
17.03 Changes to the Constitution 
 

(a) Minor Changes: The Monitoring Officer may generally update the 
Constitution to correct errors, or to reflect changes in legislation, or 
make amendments consequential upon changes to operational 
arrangements, without report, subject to consultation with the Leader 
and Chief Executive. 

 
(b) Approval:  Changes to the Constitution, other than minor changes will 

only be approved by the Full Council after they have first been 
considered by the Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer.  Any 
alterations to Cabinet arrangements may be made only after complying 
with any necessary statutory requirements. 

 
(c) Change from a Leader and Cabinet Form of Cabinet to a Mayoral 

Form of Cabinet:  This will require a referendum. 

75



  2-44                                           May 2021 

Article 18 - Suspension, Interpretation and 
Publication of the Constitution 
 
18.01 Suspension of the Constitution 
 

(a) Limit to Suspension:  The Articles of this Constitution may not be 
suspended.  The Rules specified below may be suspended by a simple 
majority by the full Council, the Cabinet or a Committee to the extent 
permitted within those Rules and the law. 

 
(b) Procedure to Suspend:  A motion to suspend any Rules (including 

Standing Orders) will not be moved without notice unless at least one 
half of the whole number of Councillors of the relevant body is present.  
The extent and duration of suspension will be proportionate to the 
result to be achieved, taking account of the purposes of the 
Constitution set out in Article 1. 

 
(c) Rules Capable of Suspension:  The Rules which may be suspended 

in accordance with Article 19.01 are those Rules of Procedure 
contained in Part 4 that Councillors consider it appropriate to suspend 
in order to facilitate the conduct of meetings or the discharge of the 
Council's functions. 

 
18.02 Interpretation 
 

The ruling of the Mayor as to the construction or application of this 
Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council shall not be challenged at 
any meeting of the Council.  Such interpretation will have regard to the 
purposes of this Constitution contained in Article 1. 

 
18.03 Publication 
 

The Monitoring Officer will: 
 

(a) make available a copy of this Constitution to each member of the 
Council upon delivery to them of that individual's declaration of 
acceptance of office on the Councillor first being elected to the Council; 

 
(b) ensure that copies are available for inspection at Council offices, 

libraries and other appropriate locations, and can be purchased by 
members of the local press and the public on payment of a reasonable 
fee; 

 
(c) ensure that the summary of the Constitution is made widely available 

within the area and is updated as necessary. 

76



  2-45                                           May 2021 

Schedule 1 - Description of Cabinet Arrangements 

 
The following parts of this Constitution constitute the Cabinet arrangements: 
 
1. Article 6 (Overview and Scrutiny) and the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 

Rules; 
 
2. Article 7 (The Cabinet) and the Cabinet Procedure Rules; 
 
3. Article 9 (Audit and Resources Committee); 
 
4. Article 10 (Area Committees); 
 
5. Article 11 (Administration Committee); 
 
6. Article 13 (Joint Arrangements); 
 
7. Article 15 (Decision Making) and the Access to Information Procedure Rules; 
 
8. Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions). 
 
  

77



This page is intentionally left blank



 3-1 May 2021 

 
 

Part 3 
 
 

Responsibility for Functions 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

79



 

3-2                                         May 2021               

Responsibility for Functions 
 
1.1 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 

2000 ("the Functions Regulations") give effect to section 13 of the Local 
Government Act 2000 by specifying three kinds of functions: 

 
(a) those functions which may (but need not) be the responsibility of the Cabinet 

(the "Local Choice Functions"); 
 
(b) those functions which must not be the responsibility of the Cabinet ("Council 

Functions"); 
 
(c) those functions which are to some extent the responsibility of the Cabinet (the 

"Shared Functions"). 
 

The following tables show how the Council will discharge functions in each of 
these categories.  All other functions are to be the responsibility of the Cabinet. 

 
Part 3 of the Constitution also contains: 

 
Appendix B. Details of the appointment and functions of Proper and Designated 

Officers; and 
 
Appendix C. The Council's Scheme of Delegation specifying those functions which, 

by virtue of the adoption of this Constitution, are deemed to be delegated by the 
responsible body to Council staff. 

 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTIONS 
 

Functions (as set out in Schedule 2 to the 
Functions Regulations) (Functions which 
may (but need not be) the responsibility of 
the Cabinet) 

Decision 
Making 
Body 

Functions 
Delegated 

Any functions under a local Act Council Local Area 
Committees 
(where local issue) 

Determination of appeals against Council 
decisions (except employment issues covered 
below) 

Cabinet Local Area 
Committees (where 
local issue) 

Determination of appeals by employees of the 
Council in connection with dismissal, 
grievances and other issues arising in the 
course of their employment. 

Council Appeals Panel  

Conduct of best value reviews  Cabinet  

Functions relating to contaminated land Cabinet Local Area 
Committees 

Functions relating to the control of pollution or 
the management of air quality 

Cabinet Local Area 
Committees 

80



 

3-3                                         May 2021               

Functions (as set out in Schedule 2 to the 
Functions Regulations) (Functions which 
may (but need not be) the responsibility of 
the Cabinet) 

Decision 
Making 
Body 

Functions 
Delegated 

Functions relating to statutory nuisances 
pursuant to ss.79-80 Environmental 
Protection Nuisance Act 1990 

Cabinet Local Area 
Committees 

Application of Schedule 2 Noise and Statutory 
Nuisance Act 1993 

Cabinet Local Area 
Committees 

Information requisition pursuant to s.330 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Cabinet Local Area 
Committees 

Information requisition pursuant to s.16 Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 

Cabinet Local Area 
Committees 

Appointment (and revocation) of individuals to 
other offices or bodies 

Cabinet Local Area 
Committees (where 
local issue) 

Making of agreements for the execution of 
highway works 

Council Local Area 
Committees 

 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR COUNCIL FUNCTIONS 
 

Functions (as set out in Schedule 1 to the 
Functions Regulations) (Functions not to 
be the responsibility of the Cabinet) 

Decision 
Making 
Body 

Functions 
Delegated 

Functions relating to town and country 
planning and development 

Council Local Area 
Committees 

Functions relating to licensing and 
registration 

Council Admin Committee/ 
Area Committees 

Functions relating to health and safety at 
work 

Council Local Area 
Committees 

Functions relating to elections and parishes Council Admin Committee 

Functions relating to name and status of 
areas and individuals 

Council  

Powers to make, amend, revoke or re-enact 
byelaws 

Council Local Area 
Committees (where 
local issue) 

Power to promote or oppose local or 
personal bills 

Council  

Functions relating to pensions (currently a 
County Council function) 

Council  

81



 

3-4                                         May 2021               

Functions (as set out in Schedule 1 to the 
Functions Regulations) (Functions not to 
be the responsibility of the Cabinet) 

Decision 
Making 
Body 

Functions 
Delegated 

Miscellaneous functions relating to footpaths, 
bridleways and highways 

Council Local Area 
Committees 

Functions relating to financial matters Council   

Functions relating to sea fisheries Council Admin Committee 

Miscellaneous functions relating to trees, 
hedgerows and limestone pavements 

Council Local Area 
Committees 

Miscellaneous functions relating to standing 
orders 

Council  

Functions relating to the appointment of staff Council Executive Heads, 
Chief Executive or 
Corporate Directors 
for staff below 
Executive Heads   

Functions relating to payments or benefits in 
cases of maladministration etc 

Council Committee 
responsible for 
relevant function (or 
Chief Executive, 
Chief Financial 
Officer and 
Monitoring Officer if a 
Cabinet function) 

 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR SHARED FUNCTIONS 
 

Functions (as set out in Schedule 3 
to the Functions Regulations) 

Responsible Body 

Crime & Disorder Reduction Strategy: 
- To coordinate the production of the 

Council’s Crime and Disorder 
Reduction Strategy 

 
- Formulation of the Council’s Plan 

and Strategies which together 
comprise the Development Plan 

The Cabinet will be responsible for 
preparing the draft Plans/Strategies and 
submitting them to the Council. 
 
The Council will be responsible for 
approving and adopting the final 
Plans/Strategies 

 
OTHER FUNCTIONS EXPRESSLY DELEGATED BY COUNCIL 
 

Legislation Description Body/Committee 
function 
delegated to 

Date of delegation 

82



 

3-5                                         May 2021               

Localism Act 
2011 - Part 5 
Chapter 2 

Community Right to 
Challenge 

Cabinet 18 October 2012 

 
  

83



 

3-6                                         May 2021               

APPENDIX B (Part 3 - Responsibilities for Functions) 
 
 

APPOINTMENT OF PROPER AND DESIGNATED OFFICERS 
 
For the purposes of relevant legislation the Council has made the following 
appointments for the duties or functions shown in the Appendix following this page.  
 
* The Proper Officer means an Officer appointed by the Council to discharge a 
particular function as set out in section 270(3) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

84



 

3-7                                     May 2021               

Appendix B (Part 3 - Responsibilities for Functions)  

APPOINTMENT OF PROPER AND DESIGNATED OFFICERS  

ACT 
 
 

SECTION OF ACT DESCRIPTION OF THE 
RESPONSIBILITY  

THE OFFICER OF THE 
COUNCIL APPOINTED AS 
THE PROPER OFFICER FOR 
THE DUTY OR FUNCTION 
REFERRED TO  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 
1972 

13(3) The Officer to act as Parish 
Trustee in a parish which does 
not have a Parish Council. 

Monitoring Officer 

 83(1) The Officer before whom a 
person elected to the Officer of 
Chair, Vice- Chair or Councillor 
the District shall make a 
declaration of acceptance of 
office in a form prescribed by 
rules under s.42 of the Act and 
to whom such a declaration 
shall be delivered. 

Chief Executive of Monitoring 
Officer 

 84 The Officer to whom a person 
elected to any office under the 
Act may at any time give 
written notice of his resignation 
from that office.  

Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 
 

 

89(1) 
 
 
 
 

 

The Officer to receive notice in 
writing given by two local 
government electors for the 
District of a casual vacancy 
occurring in the office of 
Councillor. 

Chief Executive 

85



 

3-8                                     May 2021               

ACT 
 
 

SECTION OF ACT DESCRIPTION OF THE 
RESPONSIBILITY  

THE OFFICER OF THE 
COUNCIL APPOINTED AS 
THE PROPER OFFICER FOR 
THE DUTY OR FUNCTION 
REFERRED TO  

 96(2) The Officer to maintain a 
record to be kept for the 
purpose particulars of any 
disclosure made under s.94 of 
the Act and of any notice given 
under S.96(1) of the Act.  

Monitoring Officer  

 100B, C D & F The Officer responsible for 
providing access to agendas, 
minutes, reports and 
background documents in 
respect of meetings of the 
Authority  

Executive Head of 
Governance  

 115(2) The Officer to whom all money 
due from every officer 
employed by the Council shall 
be paid. 

Chief Financial Officer  

 146 The Officer to make any 
statutory declaration in 
connection with the transfer of 
securities. 

Chief Financial Officer 

 151 The Officer who shall be 
responsible for the proper 
administration of the Council's 
financial affairs. 

Chief Financial Officer 

 210(6) & (7) The Officer in whom shall vest 
the powers with respect to 
Charities carried out by officers 

Monitoring Officer 

86



 

3-9                                     May 2021               

ACT 
 
 

SECTION OF ACT DESCRIPTION OF THE 
RESPONSIBILITY  

THE OFFICER OF THE 
COUNCIL APPOINTED AS 
THE PROPER OFFICER FOR 
THE DUTY OR FUNCTION 
REFERRED TO  

of the "old" local authority 
where there is no 
corresponding officer in the 
new authority  
 

 225(1) The Officer to receive and 
retain a document of any 
description deposited pursuant 
to the Standing Orders of 
either House of Parliament or 
to any enactment or 
instrument. 

Monitoring Officer 

 229(5) The Officer to certify a 
photographic copy of a 
document in the custody of or 
under the control of the 
Council or of a document 
which has been destroyed 
while in the custody of the 
Council, or of any part of any 
such document 

Head of Legal Services  

 234(1) The Officer to sign any notice, 
order or other document made 
or issued by the Council.  
 

Head of Legal Services  

 236(1) & (9) The Officer to send to the 
Council and each Parish 

Head of Legal Services  

87



 

3-10                                     May 2021               

ACT 
 
 

SECTION OF ACT DESCRIPTION OF THE 
RESPONSIBILITY  

THE OFFICER OF THE 
COUNCIL APPOINTED AS 
THE PROPER OFFICER FOR 
THE DUTY OR FUNCTION 
REFERRED TO  

Council a copy of every byelaw 
made by the Council and 
confirmed.  
 

 238 The Officer to certify a printed 
copy of a byelaw made by the 
Council. 

Head of Legal Services  

 248(2) The Officer to keep the roll of 
freedom of the town. 

Monitoring Officer  

 Schedule 12 para 4 (2)(b) The Officer to sign the 
summons to attend meetings 
of the Council and specifying 
the business proposed to be 
transacted thereat.  
 

Monitoring Officer 

 4(3) The Officer to receive the 
notice in writing from a 
member of the Council giving 
notice that such member 
desires summonses to attend 
meetings of the Council to be 
sent to him at some address 
specified in the notice other 
than his place of residence.  
 

Monitoring Officer 

 Schedule 14 para 25(7) The Officer to certify in writing 
a true copy of the resolution of 

Head of Legal Services  

88



 

3-11                                     May 2021               

ACT 
 
 

SECTION OF ACT DESCRIPTION OF THE 
RESPONSIBILITY  

THE OFFICER OF THE 
COUNCIL APPOINTED AS 
THE PROPER OFFICER FOR 
THE DUTY OR FUNCTION 
REFERRED TO  

the Council applying or 
disapplying various provisions 
of the Public Health Acts 1875 
to 1925.  
 

 Schedule 16 The Officer to receive and 
deposit lists of buildings of 
special architectural or historic 
interest.  
 

Head of Legal Services 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 
1974 

30(5) The Officer to give public 
notice of the availability of 
reports of the Local 
Commissioner for 
Administration.  
 

Chief Executive  

PUBLIC HEALTH (CONTROL 
OF DISEASE) ACT 1984 

74 (as amended)  Consultant in Communicable 
Disease Control / Consultant in 
Health Protection at Public 
Health England South East, to 
act as Proper Officer for the 
following purposes 
 

Executive Head of 
Environment  

THE HEALTH PROTECTION 
(NOTIFICATION) 
REGULATIONS 2010 

2, 3, 6 Receipt and disclosure of 
notification of suspected 
notifiable disease, infection or 
contamination in patients and 

Executive Head of 
Environment  

89



 

3-12                                     May 2021               

ACT 
 
 

SECTION OF ACT DESCRIPTION OF THE 
RESPONSIBILITY  

THE OFFICER OF THE 
COUNCIL APPOINTED AS 
THE PROPER OFFICER FOR 
THE DUTY OR FUNCTION 
REFERRED TO  

dead persons. 
 
Public Health (Control of 
Disease) Act 1984 Section 48 
as amended by Health and 
Social Care Act 2008. 
 
Preparation of certificate to 
Justice of Peace for removal of 
body to mortuary and for burial 
within a prescribed time or 
immediately.  
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
(MISCELLANEOUS 
PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 

41 The Officer signing certificates 
as evidence of resolutions and 
minutes of proceedings, etc 

Monitoring Officer  

REPRESENTATION OF THE 
PEOPLE ACT 1983 

8 The Officer to act as Electoral 
Registration Officer 

Monitoring Officer 

 35 The Officer to act as Returning 
Officer for elections of Borough 
Councillors and Parish 
Councillors 

Chief Executive   

THE LOCAL ELECTION 
(PRINCIPAL AREAS) RULES 
1986 

 The Officer of the Borough 
Council to act under the Rules 
for the purposes of elections, 
including the receipt of all 
documents and returns. 

Monitoring Officer   

90



 

3-13                                     May 2021               

ACT 
 
 

SECTION OF ACT DESCRIPTION OF THE 
RESPONSIBILITY  

THE OFFICER OF THE 
COUNCIL APPOINTED AS 
THE PROPER OFFICER FOR 
THE DUTY OR FUNCTION 
REFERRED TO  

AND COMMUNITIES RULES 
1986 

 The Officer of the Borough 
Council to act under the Rules 
for the purposes of parish 
elections, including the receipt 
of all documents and returns. 

Monitoring Officer  

PARISH AND COMMUNITY 
MEETINGS (POLLS) RULES 
1987 

 The Officer to act as Returning 
Officer. 

Chief Executive   

HOUSING  The Officer to sign certificates 
submitted in the Council’s role 
as lending authority for any 
housing association schemes. 

Head of Legal Services  

HEALTH AND SAFETY AT 
WORK ACT ETC 1974 

39 Power to institute proceedings 
for breaches of provisions 
under the Act. 

Executive Head of 
Environment  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND 
HOUSING ACT 1989 

4 The Officer to act as head of 
the paid service.  
 

Chief Executive  

 5 The Officer to act as the 
monitoring officer.  
 

Monitoring Officer 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
(COMMITTEES AND 
POLITICAL GROUPS) 
REGULATIONS 1990 AND 
1991 

 The Officer to accept political 
group notices. 
 
The Officer to receive notices 
of Councillors’ pecuniary 
interests. 

Chief Executive 
 
 
Monitoring Officer 

91



 

3-14                                     May 2021               

ACT 
 
 

SECTION OF ACT DESCRIPTION OF THE 
RESPONSIBILITY  

THE OFFICER OF THE 
COUNCIL APPOINTED AS 
THE PROPER OFFICER FOR 
THE DUTY OR FUNCTION 
REFERRED TO  

BUILDING ACT 1984 S.78 The Officer to deal with 
dangerous buildings or 
structures in emergencies. 

Executive Head of Planning & 
Economy 

GENERAL   Any reference in any 
enactment passed before or 
during the 1971/72 session of 
Parliament other than the 
Local Government Act 1972 or 
in any instrument made before 
26 October 1972 to the Town 
Clerk of the Borough which, by 
virtue of any provision of the 
said Act was to be construed 
as reference to the Proper 
Officer of the Council.  
 
Any reference in the Local 
Government Act 1972 to the 
Proper Officer of the Council 
except where one has been 
designated above. 
 
Any reference in any 
enactment passed after the 
1971/72 session of Parliament 
or to be passed to the Proper 
Officer of the Council unless or 

Monitoring Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring Officer 

92



 

3-15                                     May 2021               

ACT 
 
 

SECTION OF ACT DESCRIPTION OF THE 
RESPONSIBILITY  

THE OFFICER OF THE 
COUNCIL APPOINTED AS 
THE PROPER OFFICER FOR 
THE DUTY OR FUNCTION 
REFERRED TO  

until a specific appointment of 
another Officer has been made 
by the Council.  

LOCALISM ACT 2011  The Proper Officer to receive 
written requests for and grant 
dispensations 

Monitoring Officer (with the 
ability to refer to the 
Administration Committee if 
necessary) 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES 
(EXECUTIVE 
ARRANGEMENTS) 
(MEETINGS AND ACCESS 
TO INFORMATION) 
(ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 
2012 

 The Proper Officer Monitoring Officer  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 
2000 

 The Officer to whom a member 
of the Council shall give written 
notice to the effect that they or 
their spouse is a member or in 
the employment of a specified 
company or other body or that 
they or their spouse is a 
partner or in the employment 
of a specified person, or that 
they or their spouse is the 
tenant of any premises owned 
by the Council. 

Monitoring Officer 

LICENSING ACT 2003  The Officer to receive notices Head of Legal Services  

93



 

3-16                                     May 2021               

ACT 
 
 

SECTION OF ACT DESCRIPTION OF THE 
RESPONSIBILITY  

THE OFFICER OF THE 
COUNCIL APPOINTED AS 
THE PROPER OFFICER FOR 
THE DUTY OR FUNCTION 
REFERRED TO  

of applications for Justices' 
Licences under Schedule 2 to 
the Licensing Act, 1964.  
 

LOCAL LAND CHARGES ACT 
1975 

 The Officer to act as local 
registrar for local land charges. 

Executive Head of Planning & 
Economy  

 

94



 

3-18                              

       May 2021               

APPENDIX C (Part 3 – Responsibility of Functions) 

 
 

SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO STAFF 
 

1. GENERAL SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
 

1.1 Subject to the following conditions and to any special conditions which may in 
future be applied in respect of particular matters, the Chief Executive, Corporate 
Directors, Executive Heads and Service Managers, or equivalent, are authorised 
to make such decisions and to initiate such action as they shall deem necessary 
in the interest of the efficient running of their teams or the services which they 
administer. In the absence of the Chief Executive, or at any time when they are 
unavailable, any or all of their powers shall be exercisable by any one of the 
Corporate Directors. 
 

1.2 Any exercise of these delegated powers: -  
 

(a) Shall comply with the Council Constitution.  
 
(b) Shall not authorise expenditure except in accordance with approved 

estimates, and where loan sanction or other approval is required shall not 
precede the loan sanction or approval. 

 
(c) Shall not involve a new policy or extend an existing policy of the Council.  
 
(d) Shall not depart from any approved scale, or scheme, or any direction of 

the Cabinet or appropriate Committee. 
 
(e) Shall be the subject of prior consultation with the Chief Executive and the 

appropriate professional or technical officers of the Council in any case 
involving considerations not wholly within the province of the Chief Officer 
concerned.  

 
1.3 In the absence of a Service Manager, powers delegated to them by this Scheme 

may be exercised by the next above senior officer, provided that such delegation 
shall not be exercised except in the absence from the Council Offices of the 
relevant Service Manager, or equivalent.  
 

1.4 The question of whether a Service Manager or equivalent, or any other officer 
has exercised a power shall not be of any concern nor prejudice in any way any 
person dealing with the Council.  

 

1.5 It is recognised that it is not possible for the Chief Executive, Corporate 
Directors, Executive Heads and Service Managers or equivalent, nor the next 
Senior Officers in the absence of the Service Manager to perform personally all 
the diverse and various matters delegated to them by this scheme. Therefore 
such Senior Officers may make internal arrangements under which other staff 
will be authorised to carry out the functions delegated to the named officers in 

95



 

3-19                              

       May 2021               

this Scheme. Such arrangements may be made formally in writing but shall be 
equally valid if made orally and informally. Such arrangements shall provide 
generally that any formal documents which need to be issued are issued and 
signed in the name of the officer to whom the delegation is made by this 
Scheme. Such signature may be a facsimile in accordance with s234(2) of the 
Local Government Act 1972. 

 

1.6 Officers must have due regard to the document relating to Scheme of Delegation 
(appendix C below).  

 

1.7 The statutory provisions mentioned in this Appendix shall be deemed to include 
any statutory amendment, modification or re-enactment of any of those 
provisions.  

 

2. SPECIFIC STAFF DELEGATIONS 

 

2.1 For the avoidance of doubt and without prejudice to the exercise of the powers 
delegated above in part 1 the following specific functions are expressly 
delegated to the following Officers, except where under any Council approved 
Scheme of Management Devolution, whether a Pilot Project or not, powers of 
management have been devolved from an Service Manager, or equivalent, to 
the next senior officer or other officer, when such officer shall have full power in 
place of the relevant Service Manager. Any conditions applying to the delegation 
are shown in italics in each case: -  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

96



 

3-19                                     May 2021               

APPENDIX C (Part 3 - Responsibilities for Functions)  
 
SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO STAFF 
  

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

General Functions 

1. Authority to act on behalf of any other manager having 
delegated authority under the scheme.  

Chief Executive or Corporate 
Directors  

 

2. Power to act in an emergency.  Chief Executive or Corporate 
Directors  

 

3. Power to act in matters of urgency: 
 
(a) Cabinet level action  
 
In consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member (or, in their 
absence, the Leader)  
 
(b) LAC or other level action  
 
In consultation with Cabinet Member of relevant Committee (or 
Chair of Committee where statute precludes decision by the 
Cabinet).  

Chief Executive or Corporate 
Directors  

 

4. The appointment of Service Managers 
 

Chief Executive, Corporate 
Directors or Executive Heads 

 

97



 

3-20                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

5. Exploring and embracing partnership working approaches 
wherever possible and appropriate.  

Chief Executive, Corporate 
Directors or Executive Heads 

 

6. The responsibility for risk management in liaison with the Chief 
Financial Officer. 

Chief Executive   

7. Sign jointly with the Leader of the Council the Annual 
Governance Statement 

Chief Executive   

Finance Functions  

8. Management of the Collection Fund.  
 
Subject to periodic report to the Cabinet  

Chief Financial Officer  

9. The agreement of precept payment dates for County Council 
precept.  

Chief Financial Officer  

10. The premature re-payment of mortgage loans in cases where 
applications are received from the personal representatives of 
deceased investors for such repayment. 

Chief Financial Officer  

11. The administration on the Council’s Treasury Management 
function in accordance with the annual investment borrowing 
strategy.  
 
Subject to report to the Cabinet  

Chief Financial Officer  

12. The writing off: -  
 
(a) of debts not exceeding £5000 in any case where the Chief 
Financial Officer is satisfied that there are sound reasons for 

Chief Financial Officer  

98



 

3-21                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

doing so; and  
 
(b) of debts for whatever amount when compulsory liquidation 
or bankruptcy proceedings are commenced and where 
voluntary arrangements with creditors are started by or in 
relation to insolvent companies or individuals.  

13. Responsibility for maintaining an adequate and effective 
system of internal audit. 

Chief Financial Officer  

14. Maintain and develop the Council’s risk management policy in 
liaison with the Chief Executive 

Chief Financial Officer  

Functions relating to staff resources  

15. The appointment within the establishment of their respective 
areas of responsibility of staff below Service Manager (or 
equivalent) level.  

Heads of Service/Service 
Manager  

 

16. The appointment of temporary staff as and when required for 
the effective operation of the authority subject to availability of 
finance from the team’s staffing budget.  

Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 

 

17. Before taking any decision in discharge of their 
responsibilities, Heads of Services or Service Managers 
should consider relevant risk management issues. 

Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 

 

18. The authorisation of car allowances, loans or leases within 
Council policy.  

Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 

 

19. The authorisation of telephone allowances.  Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 

 

99



 

3-22                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

20. The attendance of officers on full or part-time courses of study 
(including correspondence courses), conferences and 
seminars.  

Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 

 

21. The authorisation of planned overtime.  Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 

 

22. The authorisation of travelling and subsistence allowances.  Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 

 

23. The authorisation of unpaid leave up to three months.  Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 

 

24. Variations in establishments involving the replacement of 
individual posts by lower graded posts.  

Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 

 

25. Approval of changes to designations of posts below Service 
Managers or equivalent.  

Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 

 

26. To approve up to 18 days paid leave of absence a year for 
employees undertaking public duties specified in the 
Employment Protection Act.  

Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 

 

27. To grant compassionate leave as appropriate to the 
circumstances.  

Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 

 

28. Exploring and embracing partnership working approaches 
wherever possible and appropriate.  

Heads of Service/Service 
Manager 
 

 

Functions relating to lettings, leases and licences  

29. The management and letting for leisure purposes of The Point 
and The Berry Theatre in accordance with the policy laid down 

Head of Arts and Culture (in 
consultation with the Head of 

 

100



 

3-23                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

by the Council in consultation with the Lead Asset Manager.  Asset Management) 

30. The granting or new leases or licenses in The Point or Berry 
Theatres or variation to existing leases and licenses in 
consultation with the Lead Asset Manager 

Head of Arts & Culture (in 
consultation with the Head of 
Asset Management) 

 

31. The granting or new leases or licenses in the Country Parks or 
variation to existing leases and licenses in consultation with 
LAC Chair & Lead Asset Manager  

Countryside Manager (in 
consultation with the Head of 
Asset Management)  

 

Functions relating to housing matters, homelessness & benefits 

32. The exercise of powers and duties under homelessness 
legislation. 

Executive Head of Health & 
Wellbeing  

 

33. Liaison with Health Authorities in respect of the provision of 
medical advice to the Local Authority on housing matters. 

Executive Head of Health & 
Wellbeing  

 

34. Liaison with external agencies such as the Cabinet Office, 
Social Services, Health Authorities, housing associations, etc 
on matters relevant to the provision, repair, improvement, 
management, etc of social housing. 

Executive Head of Health & 
Wellbeing  

 

35. Payments to Registered Social Landlords in relation to 
mortgage rescue. 

Executive Head of Health & 
Wellbeing  

 

36. The determination of applications for home loss, disturbance 
and removal in accordance with statutory requirements. 

Executive Head of Health & 
Wellbeing  

 

37. The determination of applications for Disabled Facilities 
Grants, other grants and loans in accordance with the 
statutory requirements and within the limits of Council policy. 

Executive Head of Health & 
Wellbeing  

 

38. The determination of applications for continuation or Executive Head of Health &  

101



 

3-24                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

restoration of services under Section 33 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

Wellbeing  

39. To submit applications to the Homes and Communities 
Agency to waive conditions related to grant funded shared 
ownership housing in Designated Protection Areas. 

 

Executive Head of Health & 
Wellbeing  

 

40.  The allocation of grants to charitable organisations. Executive Head of Health & 
Wellbeing  

 

41. The letting of leisure and sports facilities in accordance with 
the policy laid down by the Council. 

Executive Head of Health & 
Wellbeing  

 

42. The letting of accommodation at sports pavilions in 
accordance with the policy laid down by Council 

Executive Head of Health & 
Wellbeing  

 

43.  To deal with all matters relating to the administration of 
Housing Benefit, including the determination and payment of 
benefit, the exercising of discretionary powers, all decisions 
relating to the recovery or non-recovery of recoverable 
overpayments of this benefit, and determining appropriate 
sanctions to administer in case of fraud in accordance with the 
Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 and the 
Social Security Administration Act 1992 as amended by 
Schedule 9 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and 
any regulations or any subsequent re-enactment or statutory 
provision. 

Executive Head of Finance & 
Housing Programme  

 

44. To determine and pay claims for Discretionary Housing Executive Head of Finance &  

102



 

3-25                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

Payments in accordance with the scheme policy statement Housing Programme  

45. The authorisation of persons to appear in Magistrates’ Court 
on behalf of the Council for the recovery of benefit 
overpayments and to prove any such sums due to the Council, 
pursuant to Section 223 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Executive Head of Finance & 
Housing Programme  

 

46. The completion and signing off, of all financial and statistical 
returns for Benefits, as required by Government, in 
consultation with the Chief Financial Officer. 

Executive Head of Finance & 
Housing Programme  

 

47. To deal with all matters relating to the administration of the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Council Tax Support) 
including the determination of appropriate sanctions.. 

Executive Head of Finance & 
Housing Programme   

 

48. To authorise the write-off of debts relating to Housing Benefit 
for debts below £5000. 

Executive Head of Finance & 
Housing Programme  

 

Functions relating to planning & development matters 

49. The signing of notices conveying decisions of the Council in 
respect of applications for planning permission, discharge of 
planning conditions, the display of advertisements, listed 
building and conservation area consent and applications for 
felling, topping, lopping etc of trees covered by Tree 
Preservation Orders. 

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

50. The determination of planning applications (excluding those 
relating to trees which are dealt with below) except: -  
 
(a) Applications which, in the opinion of the Executive Head of 

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

103



 

3-26                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

Planning & Economy have a significant impact on the 
environment, or are controversial or potentially controversial;  
 
(b) Applications which three members from the Local Area 
Committee require to be submitted to Committee within 21 
calendar days of that application appearing on the weekly list 
of planning applications received;  
 
(c) Any application which the Executive Head of Planning & 
Economy wishes for any reason to submit to the Committee;  
 
(d) Any application where a Councillor has declared or is 
shown to have a disclosable pecuniary interest 
 
(e) Any application where a member of staff would have a 
personal interest in the outcome of the decision.  
 
(f) Any applications submitted by former planners or technical 
staff band 8 or above within one year of leaving the Council's 
service or from applicants or agents employing such former 
members of staff.  

51. The determination of observations on 'County matter' planning 
applications except those within 2(a) - (e) above 

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

52. The determination of observations to neighbouring Planning Executive Head of Planning  

104



 

3-27                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

Authorities in respect of planning applications within their area 
on which the Borough Council has been formally consulted.  

& Economy  

53. The determination of applications for consent to fell, lop or top 
any trees covered by a tree preservation order except where:  
 
(a) three members from the Local Area Committee require the 
matter to be submitted to Committee within 21 calendar days 
of that application appearing on the weekly list of planning 
applications received:  
 
(b) the matter, in the opinion of the Executive Head of 
Planning & Economy, is controversial or potentially 
controversial; or  
 
(c) Any application where a Councillor has declared or is 
shown to have a disclosable pecuniary interest  
 
(d) Any application where a member of staff would have a 
personal interest in the outcome of the decision.  

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

54. The proffering of observations on proposals for buildings 
accommodating apparatus for public undertakings 

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

55. Minor amendments to approved details. Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy 

 

56. Authority to determine prior-approval applications development Executive Head of Planning  

105



 

3-28                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

where the LAC timetable precludes LAC consideration & Economy 

57. Subject to consultation with the Head of Legal Services: 
  
(i) Authorise the issue of Enforcement Notices;  
(ii) Authorise the issue of Stop Notices;  
(iii) Authorise the issue of Breach of Conditions Notices;  
(iv) Authorise the issue of Section 215 Notices;  
(v) Authorise the issue of Section 330 notices 
(vi) Authorise the issue of Tree Replacement Notices;  
(vii) Authorise the issue of Planning Contravention Notices;  
(viii) Authorise the issue of Section 3 Listed Building 
Preservation Notices;  
(ix) Authorise the issue of Section 38 Listed Building 
Enforcement Notices; 
(x) Authorise the issue of Section 54 Listed Building Urgent 
Repairs Notices;  
(xi) Authorise the issue of Section 48 Listed Building Repairs 
Notices;  
(xii) Authorise prosecution for failure to comply with 
requirements of i-x;  
(xiii) Authorise prosecution for illegal advertising;  
(xiv) Authorise prosecution for unauthorised works to protected 
trees;  
(xv) Authorise injunction and similar enforcement proceedings 

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy (in consultation 
with the Head of Legal 
Services) 

 

106



 

3-29                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

in the courts;  
(xvi) Authorise prosecution and committal proceedings for 
breach of orders obtained under any of the foregoing;  
(xvii)   Authorise any other enforcement or remedial action 
including direct action as permitted by statute 

58. To refuse an application not otherwise delegated to them, 
where the applicant has delayed unreasonably provision of 
information needed to facilitate the determination of the 
application.  

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

59. The exercise of power of entry, sampling and inspection given 
by any relevant legislation, including the authority to authorise 
anyone to effect such entry etc, subject to compliance with the 
limits of any enactment.  

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy 

 

60. To determine complaints made by the owner/occupiers of 
domestic property adversely affected by evergreen hedges 
over two metres high (in the case of hedges not owned by the 
Council).  

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

61. (i) To determine whether an environmental assessment and/or 
statement and/or similar appraisal is required under the Town 
and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 or any amended, re-enacted or equivalent 
legislation.  
 
(ii) To decide whether to adopt a screening opinion under the 

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

107



 

3-30                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 or any amended, re-enacted 
or equivalent legislation.  
 
(iii) To give a scoping opinion under the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2017 or any amended, re-enacted or equivalent legislation.  
 
(iv) Determine whether an application should be accompanied 
by an Environmental Statement under the Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2017 or any amended, re- enacted or equivalent legislation. 

62. To determine and/or decide and/or advise about whether or 
not any requirement prerequisite to the proper exercise of any 
of the above functions is fulfilled.  

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

63. To perform or procure the performance of any duties or 
requirements which are necessary, desirable or otherwise 
ancillary to the proper discharge of any of the above functions.  

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

64. Determination of the type of planning appeal and amendments 
to Council’s case during the course of appeal, subject to 
consultation as deemed appropriate with the chair of the 
relevant Local Area Committee and Legal Head of Legal 
Services Manager and representing the Council at appeal as 
necessary. 

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

108



 

3-31                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

65. To carry out all functions and responsibilities associated with 
the Local Land Charges Act 1975, any subsequent legislation 
or regulations and the Council’s responsibilities for maintaining 
and operating the Register of Local Land Charges including, 
but not limited to, the setting of fees. 

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

66. To determine applications for hazardous substances consent 
and related powers under section The Planning (Hazardous 
Substances) Act 1990 

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy 

 

67. The administration of The Building Regulations 2010 and other 
related legislation to include:  
 
(i) Hampshire Act 1980  
(ii) Sustainable and Secure Buildings Act 2004  
(iii) Safety at Sports Grounds Act 1975  
(iv) Disability Discrimination Act 1995  
(v) Licensing Act 2003  
(vi) Local Govt (Misc Provisions) Act 1982  
(vii) Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005  

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

68. Power to deal with dangerous structures.  Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

69. The approval and extension for temporary periods not 
exceeding three years of buildings constructed of short-lived 
materials. The approval of grants for listed buildings in 
accordance with current policy 

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

109



 

3-32                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

70. The service of Hedgerow Retention Notices.  Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

71. The exercise of power of entry, sampling and inspection given 
by any relevant legislation, including the authority to authorise 
anyone to affect such entry etc, subject to compliance with the 
limits of any enactment 

Executive Head of Planning 
& Economy  

 

Functions relating to neighbourhood services  

72. The enforcement of the following legislation, including the 
appointment of named officers or as inspectors, and the 
designation of powers that they may use, including issuing 
fixed penalty notices, directions and orders, serving notices 
and seizure 

Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services  
 

 

73. Environment Protection Act 1990: Part II – Waste on Land; 
Part IV – Litter, Refuse Disposal Amenity Act 1978: Sections 2 
and 3 (abandoned vehicles),   
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005: Part 2 – 
Vehicles; Part 3 – Litter and refuse; Part 4 – Graffiti and other 
defacement; Part 5 – Waste, transport, deposit and disposal; 
Part 9 – Miscellaneous powers  

Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services  

 

74. The maintenance of individual grave spaces, the erection of 
headstones, memorials, inscriptions etc in the Council’s 
cemeteries and burial grounds.  

Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services  

 

75.  The grant, surrender and repurchase of exclusive rights of 
burial in grave spaces.  

Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services  

 

110



 

3-33                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

76. The powers to make, modify, vary, and confirm, not to confirm 
or revoke a Tree Preservation Order except where:  
 
(a) three members from the Local Area Committee require the 
matter to be submitted to Committee;  
 
(b) the matter, in the opinion of the Direct Services Manager, is 
controversial or potentially controversial; or 
 
(c) Any application where a Councillor has declared or is 
shown to have a disclosable pecuniary interest  
(d) Any application where a member of staff would have a 
personal interest in the outcome of the decision.  

Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services 

 

77. The exercise of power of entry, sampling and inspection given 
by any relevant legislation, including the authority to authorise 
anyone to affect such entry etc, subject to compliance with the 
limits of any enactment.  

Executive Heads  

78. The issue and revocation of parking permits for residents, 
businesses, visitors and carers for any resident parking 
scheme in the Borough within the policy of the Council.  

Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services  

Parking & CCTV Manager  

Functions relating to civil parking enforcement  

79. Delegated authority for the following, in conjunction with as 
necessary, the relevant Service Lead to carry out a range of 
tasks such as: 

Executive Heads of 
Customer Care/ 
Neighbourhood Services/ 

Local Response Team 

111



 

3-34                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

 
• Site inspections from public land or where invited onto private 
land 
• Posting site notices and serving notices 
• Initial investigations and assessments, evidence gathering 
and preliminary interviews 
• Monitoring and compliance – contracts, repairs and assets 
• Customer visits 
• Enforcement visits 
• Liaison role 

Planning & Economy   

80. And to be given authority to authorise and determine which 
powers under the relevant legislation are to be exercised by 
particular authorised staff. 

Executive Heads of 
Customer Care/ 
Neighbourhood Services/ 
Planning & Economy   

Local Response Team 

81. The exercise of power of entry, sampling and inspection given 
by any relevant legislation, including the authority to authorise 
anyone to affect such entry etc, subject to compliance with the 
limits of any enactment.  

Executive Heads of 
Customer Care/ 
Neighbourhood Services/ 
Planning & Economy   

Local Response Team 

82. The cancellation, as appropriate, of penalty charge notices 
which have been issued on or off the streets under the Road 
Traffic Act 1991/ Traffic Management Act 2004  

Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services/ 
Parking & CCTV Manager 

Local Response Team 

83. To register any unpaid parking fines from the implementation 
of the Road Traffic Act 1991/ Traffic Management Act 2004 
with the Traffic Enforcement Centre, so as to enforce the 

Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services/ 
Parking & CCTV Manager 

Local Response Team 

112



 

3-35                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

charge by requesting a warrant, and, on issue of that, to 
employ certificated enforcement agents (bailiffs) to execute the 
warrant 

Functions relating to council tax & business rate matters 

84. The demand, collection and recovery of Council Tax, and 
Business Rate. 

Executive Head of Finance & 
Housing Programme 

 

85. The grant of mandatory rate relief under section 43(6) of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988. 

Executive Head of Finance & 
Housing Programme 

 

86. The approval of applications for discretionary rate relief (under 
sections 44A and 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988) and reduction of remission of liability (under section 49 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1988). 

Executive Head of Finance & 
Housing Programme 

 

87. The authorisation of persons to appear in Magistrates’ Court 
on behalf of the Council for the recovery of unpaid Council Tax 
and Non-Domestic Rates and to prove any such sums due to 
the Council, pursuant to Section 223 of the Local Government 
Act 1972. 

Executive Head of Finance & 
Housing Programme 

 

88. The completion and signing off, of all financial and statistical 
returns for Council Tax, National Non-Domestic Rates as 
required by Government, in consultation with the Chief 
Financial Officer. 

Executive Head of Finance & 
Housing Programme 

 

89. To decide whether to apply penalties for non-disclosure or late 
disclosure of change of circumstances for Council Tax in 
accordance with prescribed regulations 

Executive Head of Finance & 
Housing Programme 

 

113



 

3-36                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

90. To authorise the write-off of debts relating to Council Tax and 
Business Rates for debts below £5,000.  

Executive Head of Finance & 
Housing Programme 

 

Functions relating to highways, roads and traffic matters 

91. The numbering and re-numbering of houses. Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services  

 

92. The closure of the use of a highway by vehicles for a period 
not exceeding three months in cases of emergency. 
Subject to reporting to the relevant Ward Councillors.  

Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services 

 

93. Authority to make unopposed Traffic Regulation Orders. Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services 

 

94. The approval of temporary closure of roads. 
Subject to notification of such approvals to the Group 
Spokespersons and Ward Councillors. 

Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services 

 

95. The issue of hazardous substances contravention notices. Executive Head of 
Environment  

 

96. The implementation of disabled drivers bays, subject to no 
objections being received through the statutory process. 

Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services 

 

97. The power to enter land, under Sections 14, 26 and 64 of the 
Land Drainage Act 1991, to enable officers to maintain, 
improve or construct watercourses or drains as defined in the 
legislation.  

Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services 

 

98. The enforcement of any relevant legislation and the 
appointment of named officers or categories of officers as 
authorised officers or as inspectors (including the power to 

Executive Heads of 
Customer Care /Health & 
Wellbeing /Neighbourhood 

 

114



 

3-37                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

designate the powers they may exercise) under any relevant 
legislation including:  
 
• Dogs Act 1871  
• Public Health Act 1875  
• Open Spaces Act 1906  
• Public Health Acts Amendment Act 1907  
• Public Health Act 1936  
• Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 
• Pet Animals Act 1951  
• Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960  
• Public Health Act 1961  
• Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963  
• Riding Establishments Act 1964 and 1970  
• Local Government Act 1972  
• European Communities Act 1972  
o Regulation (EC) 852/2004  
o Regulation (EC) 853/2004  
o Regulation (EC) 854/2004  
• The General Food Regulations 2004  
• The Food Hygiene (England) Regulations 2006  
• Official Control (Animals Food and Feed) (England) 
Regulations 2006  
• Official Feed and Food Controls (England) Regulations 2009  

Services /Environment 

115



 

3-38                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

• Trade in Animals and Related Products Regulations 2011  
• Breeding of Dogs Acts 1973 and 1991  
• Health and Safety at Work Act 1974  
• Control of Pollution Act 1974  
• Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Acts 1976 and 
1982  
• Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976  
• Refuse (Disposal) Amenity Act 1978 
• Animal Health Act 1981  
• Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984  
• Zoo Licensing Act 1981 
• Building Act 1984  
• Housing Act 1985  
• Hampshire Act 1983  
• Local Government and Housing Act 1989  
• Environmental Protection Act 1990  
• Food Safety Act 1990  
• Water Industry Act 1991  
• Dangerous Dogs Act 1991  
• Control of Dogs Order 1992  
• Clean Air Act 1993  
• Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993  
• Sunday Trading Act 1994  
• Environment Act 1995  

116



 

3-39                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

• Noise Act 1996  
• Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996  
• Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999  
• Vehicle (Crime) Act 2001  
• The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and 
Wales) Order 2002  
• Licensing Act 2003  
•   Housing Act 2004  
• Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005  
• Health Act 2006  
• Sunbeds (Regulation) Act 2010  
• Mobile Homes Act 2013  
• The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 and 
regulations made thereunder.  

99. The service of statutory notices under the following legislation:  
 
• the Public Health Acts,  
• the Food Acts and regulations,  
• the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974,  
• the Control of Pollution Act 1974,  
• the Environmental Protection Act 1990,  
• the Refuse (Disposal) Amenity Act 1978,  
• the various Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Acts,  

 Executive Heads of 
Customer Care /Health & 
Wellbeing /Neighbourhood 
Services /Environment 

 

117



 

3-40                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

• the Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949,  
• the Clean Air Acts,  
• the Housing Act 2004,  
• the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005,  
• the Health Act 2006,  
• the Mobile Homes Act 2013,  
• the Building Act 1984,  
• the Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999,  
• the Environment Act 1995  
• the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014  
 
and the determination of any matter, e.g. satisfaction/opinion 
which must precede the service of such notices.  

100. The execution of works required by statutory notice in 
default of compliance by the owner or occupier or person 
responsible.  

 Executive Heads of 
Customer Care /Health & 
Wellbeing /Neighbourhood 
Services /Environment 
 

 

101. Authorisations, variations and revocations of such 
authorisations for prescribed processes under the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990.  

 Executive Heads of 
Customer Care /Health & 
Wellbeing /Neighbourhood 
Services /Environment 
 

 

102. The exercise of all licensing, registration and approval  Executive Heads of  

118



 

3-41                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

functions including revocations, refusals, transfers and 
variations in connection with (subject to consultation with the 
appropriate Cabinet Member in respect of matters not within 
established Council policy):  

 
• pet animals, riding, animal boarding and dog breeding 
establishments, zoos and dangerous wild animals subject to a 
veterinary surgeon's report where appropriate.  
• performing animal exhibition trainers  
• food premises;  
• egg producers;  
• shops or places for Sunday trading;  
• pleasure boats and boatmen's licences;  
• caravan sites;  
• meat preparations and meat products;  
• skin-piercers;  
• rag flock and other filling materials;  
• street trading;  
• certain types of industrial activity.  

Customer Care /Health & 
Wellbeing /Neighbourhood 
Services /Environment 

103. The application of regulations 5 and 6 of the Health and 
Safety (Enforcing Authority) Regulations 1998.  
 

 Executive Heads of 
Customer Care /Health & 
Wellbeing /Neighbourhood 
Services /Environment 

 

104. The appointment and revocation of Proper Officers for public  Executive Head of  

119



 

3-42                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

health functions.  Environment 

105. The response to requests for information under the 
Environmental Information Regulations 1992.  

Head of Legal Services   

106. The maintenance of Public Registers in respect of: -  
 
• Food Premises  
• Health and Safety notices affecting the public  
• Cooling Towers  
• Caravan Sites  
• Prescribed Processes  
• Contaminated Land  
• Radioactive Substances  
• Found Stray Dogs  

 Executive Heads of 
Customer Care /Health & 
Wellbeing /Neighbourhood 
Services /Environment 

 

107. The execution of works required by statutory notice in 
default of compliance by the owner or occupier or person 
responsible.  

 Executive Heads of 
Customer Care /Health & 
Wellbeing /Neighbourhood 
Services /Environment 

 

108. The exercise of power of entry, sampling and inspection 
given by any relevant legislation, including the authority to 
authorise anyone to affect such entry etc, subject to 
compliance with the limits of any enactment.  

 Executive Heads of 
Customer Care /Health & 
Wellbeing /Neighbourhood 
Services /Environment 

 

109. The determination of applications for continuation or 
restoration of services under Section 33 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.   

 Executive Heads of 
Customer Care /Health & 
Wellbeing /Neighbourhood 

 

120



 

3-43                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

Services /Environment 

Functions relating to pay & expenses  

110. Implementation of amendments to car mileage rates in 
accordance with nationally agreed scales. 
In conjunction with the Chief Financial Officer.  

Human Resources Lead  

111. Implementation of nationally and locally agreed amendments 
to salaries, rates of pay and conditions of service. 
In conjunction with the Chief Financial Officer (in terms of 
budgetary considerations) and subject to a report to the 
Cabinet (other than for minor conditions of service changes).  

Human Resources Lead    

Functions relating to legal proceedings, litigation & prosecution  

112. The institution of any legal proceedings in any criminal or 
civil courts or tribunals wherever this is considered appropriate 
and the defence of any proceedings brought against the 
Council, together with authority to take any necessary 
incidental steps connected therewith.  

Head of Legal Services   

113. To instigate, defend, participate in, settle or withdraw a 
prosecution or other legal proceedings where it is in the 
interest of the Council under section 222 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and where the prosecution or other 
legal proceedings can be seen as assisting in fulfilling the 
Council's functions. 

Head of Legal Services   

114. The service of notice to quit where required to protect the 
Council's interest. 

Head of Legal Services   

121



 

3-44                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

After consultation with the Head of Asset Management  

115. The signing of all documents and notices on behalf of the 
Council in relation to any formal or legal proceedings. 

Head of Legal Services   

116. The authorisation of persons:  
 
(a) to prosecute or defend on behalf of the Borough Council 
and appear in proceedings before the Magistrates Court 
pursuant to Section 223 of the Local Government Act 1972;  
 
(b) to appear in the County Court on behalf of the Borough 
Council in actions for the recovery of possessions of housing 
and commercial premises belonging to the Borough Council 
pursuant to Section 60 of the County Court Act 1984; and in 
actions for the recovery of debts and arbitration hearings;  
 
(c) to appear on behalf of the Borough Council at Local 
Inquiries arising under the Town and Country Planning Acts 
and legislation relating to compulsory purchase.  

Head of Legal Services   

117.  The execution of agreements for minor wayleaves over 
Council properties for drainage, gas, electricity and telephone 
facilities. 

Head of Legal Services   

118. The burial of deceased persons for whom no other 
arrangements have been made. 

Head of Environmental 
Health  

 

119. The service of notices under Land Drainage legislation. Head of Legal Services   

122



 

3-45                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

120. The execution of deeds under the Power of Attorney 
contained in the Highways Agency Agreement with the 
Hampshire County Council. 

Head of Legal Services   

121. Authority to affix the Common Seal of the Council to 
mortgage discharge deeds and other miscellaneous legal 
documents without the need for a formal resolution of the 
Council.  

Head of Legal Services   

122. Subject to the restrictions shown at the end of this item, the 
exercise of licensing functions, including the issue, refusal, 
suspension or revocation of licences, permits and registrations 
as follows: -  
 
(a) Permits for amusement with prizes in accordance with 
Council policy.  
 
(b) Registration of organisations for the conduct of small 
lotteries.  
 
(c) Game dealers' licences.  
 
(d) Licences for house to house collections and permits for 
street collections.  
 
(e) Late night refreshment house licences.  

Head of Legal Services   

123



 

3-46                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

 
(f) Registration of scrap metal dealers.  
 
(g) Licences for the use of premises for cinematographic 
purposes.  
 
(h) Theatre licences.  
 
(i) Exercise of the various powers contained in the Local 
Government (Misc Provisions) Act 1976 and the Town Police 
Clauses Act 1847 in connection with licences for hackney 
carriages (and private hire vehicles).  
 
(j) Licences for places of entertainment.  
 
(k) Applications for registration of door supervisors for places 
of public entertainment and public houses.  
 
(l) The determination of applications for track betting licences, 
unless particularly controversial in which case this would be 
dealt with by the licensing panel of the relevant local area 
committee.  
 
(m) The determination of applications under the powers of the 

124



 

3-47                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005.  
 
These matters are dealt with on the Council’s behalf by 
Southampton City Council under a partnership agreement. 
 
Restrictions on delegation  
Subject to:  
For items (a) to (m)  
 
(i) consultation with the Chair of the relevant committee in 
respect of matters not within Council policy  
 
(ii) consultation with the Chair of the relevant committee on 
any proposal to refuse, suspend or revoke a licence (for 
reasons other than the fitness of a vehicle, the non-production 
of documents or in the in the interest of public safety under 
section 61 (2B) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976 in the case of hackney carriage or private hire 
licences {item(i)}) 
 
Additionally, for items (g), (h) and (j):  

123.  After Consultation with the Executive Head of Planning & 
Economy  determination of applications under sections 191 
(as amended) and 192 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

Head of Legal Services   

125



 

3-48                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

1990 (certificates of lawful use or development or proposed 
use or development) and section 64 (applications to determine 
whether planning permission is required).  

124. The consultation processes required by the Highways Act 
1980 and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 in relation to 
public footpaths 

Head of Legal Services   

125. The exercise of power of entry, sampling and inspection 
given by any relevant legislation, including the authority to 
authorise anyone to affect such entry etc, subject to 
compliance with the limits of any enactment.  

Head of Legal Services   

126. To enter into agreements in respect of parking adjudication.  Head of Legal Services   

127. To authorise officers (from this Council or its local authority 
partners or agents) to issue cautions under the Licensing Act 
2003 and the Gambling Act 2005.  

Head of Legal Services   

128. To certificate films, in consultation with the Chair or Vice 
Chair of the Licensing Committee.  

Head of Legal Services   

129. To carry out the duties and responsibilities of the Data 
Protection Officer  

Head of Legal Services   

Functions relating to property & assets 

130. The approval of:  
 
(a) All non-contentious leases, licences, tenancy, rent reviews 
for terms up to 125 years at rentals up to £200,000 a year 
exclusive, where the principle of letting has been approved by 

Head of Asset Management  Senior Asset Managers (MRICS) 

126



 

3-49                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

the Cabinet or relevant Committee and for rents over £200,000 
per annum, where the change in rental is less than 10%, 
following consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member, 
 
(b) The purchase of land required for highway schemes under 
the Highways Agency Agreement up to £50,000 in value 
subject to approval by the Cabinet or relevant Committee and 
the Hampshire County Council, and to the availability of 
finance.  
 
(c) The purchase of land up to £1,000,000 in value, subject to 
Cabinet or Committee approval having been obtained for the 
scheme and the availability of finance. 
 
(d) Disturbance payments up to £50,000 subject to the 
scheme having been approved by the Cabinet or appropriate 
Committee.  
 
(e) Home loss payments complying with the provisions of the 
Land Compensation Act 1973 of 10% of the market value of 
the property, subject to the statutory minimum and maximum 
payments current at the time. 
 
(f) The granting of easements up to £1,000,000 in value, 

127



 

3-50                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

where approved by Cabinet or relevant Local Area Committee 
 
(g) The sale of residential freehold reversions to the 
leaseholders. 
 
(h) The sale of commercial freehold reversions to the 
leaseholders up to £1,000,000 where approved by Cabinet. 
 
(i) To place property on the market in accordance with 
Corporate Standards with a view to disposal. 
 
(j) To appoint external agents or consultants to provide 
specialist services in respect of the Council’s property portfolio 
and land, subject to compliance with Financial Procedure 
Rules and Contract Procedure Rules. 
 
(k) To approve, in consultation with the Chief Financial 
Officer, claims for dilapidations in respect of leasehold 
interests granted to or from the Council, provided the 
consideration does not exceed £1,000,000, and provided 
sufficient finance is available. 
 
(l) To authorise, in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer, 
lease surrenders and/or renewals to Scout or Guide Groups or 

128



 

3-51                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

other community or charitable organisations which include any 
underlet for any purpose authorised by Section 1 Localism Act 
at rents less than best consideration where it is proposed to 
underlet to a nursery provider or similar community use. 
 
(m) To approve lettings or lease renewals at less than best 
consideration where the principle of letting to the organisation 
has already been approved (by virtue of a previous letting or 
other appropriate means) or where the Council is obliged to 
renew a letting by virtue of Landlord or Tenant legislation. 
 
(n) Incidental approvals and consents under conveyances, 
transfers, leases and temporary lettings, to include variations, 
assignments, surrenders, sub-lettings and Landlords' consent 
when the consideration for the variation does not exceed 
£100,000 per annum.  
 
(o) The granting of approvals and consents under 
conveyances, leases, agreements and temporary lettings of 
properties purchased for redevelopment.  
 
(p) To manage the Council’s investment, social and general 
purpose property and land assets 
 

129



 

3-52                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

(q) The acceptance of dedications of land for the improvement 
or construction of highways on payment of surveyors' fees and 
any necessary accommodation works 
  
(r) The conduct of negotiations for the purchase of properties 
in mortgage hardship cases and the making of any necessary 
tenancy arrangements.  
 
(s) Non contentious sales up to £1,000,000 where approved in 
principle by Cabinet 
  
(t) Free dedication to the highway authority of small areas of 
Borough-owned land required for highway purposes in 
connection with schemes approved by the holding Committee. 
 
(u) The submitting of appeals and agreeing proposed 
assessments in respect of the revaluation of non-domestic 
property, including reference to the Upper Chamber in cases 
of ongoing appeals. 
 
(v) The authorising of the service of notices and counter-
notices under Part II of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 and 
to determine the contents thereof. 
 

130



 

3-53                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

(w) The negotiation and agreement of terms for the imposition, 
modification and conveyances on property titles. 
 
(x) The taking of any necessary steps against encroachments 
on Council owned or managed land.  

131. The acquisition and sale of mobile homes at Grange Park at 
market value and the development of plots at Grange Park.  

Head of Asset Management Senior Asset Manager (MRICS) 

132. The approval of assignment and grant of Grange Park 
mobile home site agreements at market value. 

Head of Asset Management  Senior Asset Manager (MRICS) 

133. Authority to make comments on relevant planning 
applications and Listed Building Notifications, as provided for 
in Appendix 1 of Part II of Standing Orders (Proceedings and 
Business of the Cabinet and Committees) (see Part 4 - 
Council and Committee Procedure Rules). 

Head of Asset Management   

134. The making of minor changes to the Asset Management 
Strategy document that do not involve policy and/or financial 
considerations. 

Executive Head of 
Assets/Head of Asset 
Management  

 

Functions relating to elections 

135. The selection of premises as polling stations.  
 
In consultation with Group Leaders and relevant Ward 
Councillors.  

Returning Officer  

Miscellaneous Functions  

136. To act as the proper officer for the purposes of the access to Monitoring Officer  

131



 

3-54                                     May 2021               

SPECIFIC FUNCTION  DELEGATION  INTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
(SEE PARA 1.5 ABOVE) 
Other Officers will be authorised to 
carry out the functions delegated to 
the Accountable Officer named in 
column 2. Notices to be served in 
the name of the Accountable 
Officer as per paragraph 1.5  

information rules, including determination, in consultation with 
the Leader of the Council, of a response to any 
representations received about why a Cabinet meeting, or part 
of a Cabinet meeting, should be held in public following 
publication of a notice to meet in private. 

137. Power to grant dispensations to Councillors in accordance 
with section 33 of the Localism Act 2011 

Monitoring Officer  

 

132



 4-1                                        May 2021202020 

Part 4 
 
 
Rules of Procedure 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

133



 4-2                                               May 2021 

COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE PROCEDURE RULES 

 
(STANDING ORDERS) 
 
The Appendix following this page contains the Council's Standing Orders in relation 
to: 
 

- Proceedings and Business of the Council (Part I) 
 

- Proceedings and Business of the Cabinet and Committees (Part II) 
 

- Miscellaneous Matters (Part III) 
 
 
 
 
  

134



 4-3                                               May 2021 

PART 4 (RULES OF PROCEDURE) 
 
APPENDIX 1: GENERAL STANDING ORDERS 
 
PART I: PROCEEDINGS AND BUSINESS OF THE COUNCIL 
 

MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL 
 
1.0 In a year of ordinary election of Councillors, the annual meeting will take place 

within 21 days of the retirement of outgoing Councillors.  In any other year, 
the annual meeting will take place in March, April or May. 

 
1.1 Ordinary meetings of the Council will be held on such dates and times as the 

Council shall decide. 
 
1.2 Ordinary meetings of the Council can be rescheduled or cancelled by the 

Mayor on the advice of the Leader, the Chief Executive and the Monitoring 
Officer. 

 
EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL 

 
2.0 The following may request an extraordinary meeting of the Council: 
 

(a) the Council by resolution; 
 

(b) the Mayor, or in their absence, the Deputy Mayor; 
 

(c) the Monitoring Officer; 
 

(d) any five Members of the Council if they have signed a requisition 
presented to the Mayor and they have refused or failed to call a 
meeting within seven days of the requisition. 

 
2.1  The meeting will be held only in relation to the business for which the 

extraordinary meeting has been called: 
(i)  To receive any questions, statements or petitions from the public in 
accordance with Public/Stakeholder Participation Rules (appendix F) 

 
(ii) To receive any questions from councillors in accordance with Council and 
Committee Procedure Rules. 
 

2.2  The Mayor may at their absolute discretion permit other items of business to 
be conducted for the efficient discharge of the Council’s business.  

 
 TIME AND PLACE 
 
3.0 Extraordinary meetings shall be held on such days and times as may be 

determined by the Council Resolution or the Monitoring Officer, in consultation 
with the Mayor.  

 
 CHAIR OF MEETING 
 

135



 4-4                                               May 2021 

4.0 Any power or duty assigned to the Mayor in relation to the conduct of a 
meeting may be exercised by the person presiding at the meeting. 

 
QUORUM 

 
5.0 The quorum for a meeting of the Council shall be at least one quarter of the 

Councillors. 
 
5.1 If during any meeting of the Council the Mayor after counting the number of 

persons present declares that there is not a quorum present, the meeting 
shall stand adjourned for fifteen minutes. 

 
5.2 If, after fifteen minutes, the person presiding, after again causing the number 

of persons present to be counted, declares that there is still no quorum 
present, the meeting shall end. 

 
5.3 The consideration of any business not transacted shall be adjourned to the 

next ordinary meeting of the Council unless the Mayor indicates otherwise. 
(Note:  The quorum prescribed by the Local Government Act 1972 is at least 
one quarter of the Councillors). 

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS 

 
Meeting to Elect the Mayor and Deputy Mayor (Mayor-Making) 

 
6.0 The order of business at the Mayor-making meeting of the Council shall be as 

follows:- 
 

(a) To choose a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are 
absent; 

 
 (b) Election of Mayor; 
 
 (c) Election of Deputy Mayor; 
 
 (d) Appointment of Chaplain; 
 

Annual Meeting 
 
6.1 Except as otherwise provided by Standing Order 5.3 below, the order of 

business at the annual meeting of the Council shall be as follows:- 
 

(a) To choose a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are 
absent; 

 
(b) Chief Executive's report upon result of elections of Councillors, where 

appropriate; 
 
 (c) Confirmation of the minutes of the previous meeting; 
 
 (d) To receive communications from the person presiding; 
 
 (e) Apologies from Councillors in respect of absence;  136



 4-5                                               May 2021 

 
(f) To appoint the Leader of the Council if required. The Leader of the 

Council is appointed for their term of office as a Councillor.  
 
(g) To receive a report from the Leader;  

 
(h) To appoint the Committees, Scrutiny Panels and other bodies for the 

ensuing year (excluding Cabinet);  
 

(i) To appoint the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Committees and other bodies 
(excluding Cabinet); 

 
(j) Other business, if any, specified in the summons or matters taken as a 

matter of urgency under 5.4 below. 
 

 Ordinary Meetings 
 
6.2 Except as otherwise provided by Standing Order 5.3 below, the order of 

business at all other meetings of the Council shall be as follows:- 
 

(a) To choose a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are 
absent; 

 
 (b) Apologies from Councillors in respect of absence;  
 

(c)  Declaration of interest (where possible these are circulated in advance 
of the meeting) 

 
(d)  Confirmation of minutes of the previous meeting;  

 
 (e) To receive communications from the person presiding; 
 
 (f) To receive a report from the Leader; 

 
(g) To dispose of any business (if any) outstanding from the previous 

meeting; 
 

(h) To receive any petitions presented under Standing Order 18.0; 
 

(i) (i) To deal with minutes of the Cabinet (in accordance with 
Standing Order 9), including 'called-in' decisions; 

 
(ii) To receive statements (if any) by the Leader/Cabinet Councillors 

on Cabinet matters; 
 

(iii) To deal with questions from Councillors to the Leader and 
Cabinet Members on Cabinet decisions, performance and 
strategy; 

 
(j) To deal with minutes of Committees and Scrutiny Panels in accordance 

with Standing Order 9, including 'called-in' decisions; 
 

(k) Where the meeting is the last ordinary meeting before 11 March in any 137



 4-6                                               May 2021 

year, and where the Council has not set, for the ensuing financial year, 
amounts of Council Tax for each category of dwelling in its area, to set 
such amounts.  Provided that the Council Tax shall not be set before 
1 March prior to the year in question unless all precepts from major 
precepting authorities have been received; 

 
(l) To deal with questions submitted in accordance with standing order 10; 

 
(m) To consider notices of motion in the order in which they were received; 

 
(n) To fill vacancies on Committees or other bodies or to appoint new 

Committees or other bodies as required; 
 
(o) Other business, if any, specified in the summons or matters taken as a 

matter of urgency under 5.4 below. 
 
 Variation of Order of Business 
 
7.1 A motion to vary the order of business: 
 

(a) shall not displace business falling under item (a) of Standing Orders 
5.1 or 5.2; 

 
(b) may at any time when an item of business on the agenda has been 

disposed of, be proposed by the Mayor or any Councillor and shall be 
put to the vote without discussion. 

 
7.2 If the person presiding decides that an item of business not included in the 

agenda for the meeting sent with the summons for the meeting may be taken 
for reasons of urgency, that item shall, subject to any direction or resolution 
under Standing Order 5.3, be taken at the end of the other items of business. 

 
MINUTES 

 
8.0 Minutes of every meeting of the Council shall be submitted to, and signed at, 

that meeting or at the next following meeting provided that, if the next 
following meeting is an extraordinary meeting, the minutes shall be signed 
instead at the next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

 
8.1 As soon as the minutes have been read, or if under standing order 15.1 they 

are taken as read, the Mayor shall put the proposal that the minutes of the 
meeting of the Council held on the _______ day of _______  be  signed as a 
true record. 

 
8.2 No motion or discussion shall take place upon the minutes except upon their 

accuracy, and any question of their accuracy shall be raised by motion.  If no 
such question is raised, or if it is raised, then as soon as it has been disposed 
of, the Mayor shall sign the minutes. 

 
 NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
 Motions Submitted to Council 
 138



 4-7                                               May 2021 

9.0 Any member of the Council may give notice of a motion for consideration at 
any meeting of the Council. 

 
9.1 Except as provided by Standing Order 8, every notice of motion shall be in 

writing, signed by a Councillor or members of the Council giving the notice, 
and delivered at least ten clear calendar days (ie the day before agenda 
publication) before the meeting of the Council at the office of the Monitoring 
Officer. 

 
9.2 The Executive Head shall insert in the summons for every meeting of the 

Council all notices of motion duly given in the order in which they have been 
received, unless the Councillor giving such a notice has, when giving it, 
intimated in writing that they propose to move it at some later meeting or has 
withdrawn it in writing. 

 
9.3 If a motion, notice of which is specified in the summons, be not moved either 

by the Councillor who has given the notice or by such other Councillor duly 
authorised on their behalf it shall, unless postponed by consent of the Council, 
be treated as abandoned and shall not be moved without fresh notice. 

 
 Motions within the domain of Committees, etc 
 
9.4 Subject to 7.5 below, if the subject matter of any motion comes within the 

domain of the Cabinet, a Committee or other body, it shall upon being formally 
moved and seconded stand referred without discussion to such body as the 
Council may determine, for consideration and report. The motion shall be 
further moved and seconded at the meeting to which it has been referred. 

 
9.5 The Proposer of a motion (or another member of Council) if they believe the 

contents of the motion require urgent debate may request that the motion be 
dealt with at the meeting at which it is brought forward. Upon such a request 
being made the Mayor will immediately put before Councillors for 
determination (without further debate) the proposal that the motion be heard.  
If the majority of Councillors present and entitled to vote at the meeting agree 
to the request the motion will be debated as the next item of business at the 
meeting. 

 
9.6 A Councillor whose notice of motion is referred to the Cabinet, a Committee or 

other body for consideration shall, if not a member of that body, be permitted 
to move the motion at the meeting to which it is referred and shall have a right 
of reply in accordance with Standing Order 11.10. These provisions do not 
entitle the member to vote. 

 
 Notices of Motion Out of Order 
 
9.7 Every notice of motion shall be relevant to some question over which the 

Council has power, or which affects the Borough. 
 
9.8 If notice be given of any motion which, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, 

is out of order, illegal, irregular, or improper, the motion shall forthwith be 
submitted to the Mayor and it shall not be placed on the agenda paper without 
the Mayor's sanction.  In the event of non-acceptance of the motion, the 
Monitoring Officer shall forthwith inform the Councillor(s) giving the notice and 139



 4-8                                               May 2021 

a report of the action taken shall be submitted to the next meeting of the 
Council. 

 
 MOTIONS WHICH MAY BE MOVED WITHOUT NOTICE 
 
10.0 The following motions may be moved without notice:- 
 

(a) Election of a Mayor or Deputy Mayor or appointment of a Chair of the 
meeting at which the motion is made; 

 
(b) Motions relating to the accuracy of the minutes, closure, adjournment, 

termination, order of business or next business; 
 
(c) Adoption of reports and recommendations of the Cabinet, Committees 

or staff and any consequent motions; 
 
(d) Reference to the Cabinet, a Committee or Scrutiny Panel, including the 

appointment of a special Committee or other body as necessary; 
 
(e) Appointment of a Committee or members thereof (excluding the 

Leader), so far as arising from an item mentioned in the summons to 
the meeting; 

 
(f) Appointment of representatives to outside bodies; 
 
(g) That leave be given to withdraw a motion; 
 
(h) Amendments to motions; 
 
(i) Extending the time limit for speeches; 
 
(j) That an item of business specified in the summons has precedence; 
 
(k) Suspension of any provisions of the Constitution Rules (where 

permitted in law) in accordance with Standing Order 41; 
 
(l) Exclusion of the public; 
 
(m) That a member named under Standing Order 16.0 be not further heard 

or do leave the meeting; 
 
(n) Inviting a member to remain under Standing Order 19; 
 
(o) Motions to refer a petition to the Cabinet, a Committee or other body 

for consideration; 
 
(p) Giving consent of the Council where the consent of the Council is 

required by standing orders. 
 
 PRESENTATION OF MINUTES 
 
11.0 Minutes of the Cabinet, Committees or other bodies shall be divided as 

between:- 140



 4-9                                               May 2021 

 
(a) recommended items, ie those requiring confirmation of the Council, 

including matters referred under Standing Order 23.2. 
 
(b) resolved, or delegated, items which do not require confirmation by the 

Council. 
 
11.1 The adoption of the recommendations shall be moved by the Chair of the 

body, or in their absence, another member of such body.  Any member of the 
Council may move an amendment (as defined in Standing Order 11.5) to, or 
demand a separate vote on, any of the recommendations contained therein.  
When all such amendments have been dealt with or separate votes have 
been taken, the motion to adopt the recommendations, subject to any 
amendments that may have been made thereto by the Council, shall be put to 
the meeting for adoption without debate. 

 
11.2 On resolved items, Councillors shall be permitted only to ask questions and 

no debate on such items shall be allowed. Questions may be asked in 
accordance with the procedure set out in Standing Order 10.0 below. 

 
 QUESTIONS 
 
12.0 Each Council meeting shall include a session for the Leader and Cabinet 

Councillors to present/be questioned on Cabinet decisions, performance, 
strategy and related matters. Questions on Cabinet matters shall be subject to 
written notice and submitted by 12 noon, 10 calendar days before the Council 
meeting (ie the day before agenda publication). The provisions of Standing 
Orders 10.3 to 10.6 shall apply in relation to such questions, with Councillors’ 
questions lasting no longer than 30 minutes. Questions will be answered in 
the order received with any unanswered questions given a written answer in 
accordance with Standing Order 10.4c.  Where a Councillor submits more 
than one question the order of questions shall be amended so that every 
other Councillor’s first question is taken first. 

 
12.1 A member of the Council may ask a question on any resolved item at a 

meeting of the Council of:- 
 

 (a)  the Mayor; 
 

 (b)  the Leader of the Council (if any); 
 

(c)  the person appointed or chosen to preside in any Committee or 
Scrutiny Panel; 

 

(d) a member of the Council appointed by the authority to any joint 
authority or joint board of which the authority is a constituent authority; 

 

(e) a member of the Council who is, as a result of action taken by or on 
behalf of the authority, a member or director of any company. 

 

12.2 Written questions may be put by a Councillor to the Mayor or other person 
specified in 10.1 above at a meeting of the Council provided the Monitoring 
Officer has had ten clear days' notice of the Councillor's intention to ask such 
questions. The Monitoring Officer shall communicate the questions to the 141



 4-10                                               May 2021 

Mayor, Chairs, and staff concerned and such questions shall be placed on the 
agenda in the order in which they are received. 

 
12.3 Every question shall be put and answered without discussion, but the person 

to whom the question has been put may decline to answer it.  If the person 
presiding permits, the member asking a question may ask one relevant 
supplementary question which shall be put and answered without discussion. 

 
12.4 An answer to a question may be given by the person to whom it is addressed 

or by a person on their behalf, and may take the form of  
 
 (a)   an oral answer; 
 
 (b)  a reference to information contained in some publication; 
 

(c) a written answer, which shall be circulated to members of the Council 
at the latest with the summons for the next meeting of the Council.  

 
12.5 If notice of a question has been given, and that question is not for any reason 

asked orally, and unless the Councillor who gave notice of it withdraws the 
question or the member to whom it is addressed refuses to answer, the 
question shall be given a written answer in the same way as under paragraph 
10.4(c). 

 
12.6 Every question shall be relevant to some matter in relation to which the 

authority has functions, or which affects the area of the authority, or part of it, 
or the inhabitants of that area, or some of them. 

 
 RULES OF DEBATE 
 
 Motions and Amendments 
 
13.0 Subject to Standing Order 8.0, a motion or amendment shall not be discussed 

unless it has already been proposed and seconded and, unless notice has 
already been given in accordance with Standing Order 7, it shall be put into 
writing and handed to the Mayor before it is further discussed or put to the 
meeting, except where the Mayor rules otherwise.  The Mayor may ask for 
copies of a motion or amendment to be supplied to all Councillors present 
before the debate proceeds. 

 
 Seconder's Speech 
 
13.1 A member when seconding a motion or amendment may, by declaring the 

intention to do so at that time, reserve their speech until a later period of the 
debate. Every motion should have a definitive outcome including where 
appropriate deferral. 

 
 Councillor to Stand 
 
13.2 A Councillor shall stand when speaking, unless prevented from doing so by 

an impairment, and shall address the Mayor. While a Councillor is speaking, 
the other Councillors shall remain seated unless rising to a point of order or in 
personal explanation. If two or more Members rise, the Mayor shall call on 142



 4-11                                               May 2021 

one to speak. 
 
 Content and Length of Speeches 
 
13.3 A Councillor shall direct a speech to the question under discussion or to an 

explanation or to a question of order. Except by consent of the Council, 
signified without comment, no speech shall exceed five minutes or, in the 
case of the speech of a proposer of a motion, ten minutes. The time limits 
contained in this paragraph shall not apply to the Leader. 

 
 

When a Councillor May Speak Again 
 
13.4 A Councillor who has spoken on any motion shall not speak again whilst it is 

the subject of debate, except:- 
 
 (a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another Councillor; 
 

(b) if the motion has been amended since they last spoke to move a 
further amendment; 

 
 (c) if their first speech was on an amendment moved by another 

member, to speak on the main issue, whether or not the amendment 
on which they spoke was carried; 

 
(d) in exercise of a right of reply given by Standing Order 11.10; 
 
(e) on a point of order; 
 
(f) by way of personal explanation. 
 
(g) the Leader where speaking in reply to the debate or matters raised 

during public participation.  
 
 Amendments to Motions 
 
13.5 An amendment shall be either:- 
 
 (i) to leave out words; 
 
 (ii)  to leave out words and insert or add others; 
 
 (iii) to insert or add words; 
 

but such omission or insertion of words shall not have the effect of introducing 
unrelated matter into or of negating i.e. being the direct opposite of the 
substance of the motion before the Council.  Provided that the substitution by 
amendment of a positive course of action for a proposal involving no action 
shall be valid. The Mayor’s judgement is final. 

 
13.6 If an amendment is not carried, other amendments may be moved on the 

original motion.  If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended shall 
take the place of the original motion and shall become the motion upon which 143



 4-12                                               May 2021 

any further amendment shall be moved. 
   
13.7 A further amendment shall not be moved until the Council shall have disposed 

of every amendment previously moved. 
 
13.8 Appendix ? details the process to follow when dealing with amendments to 

motions. Refer to appendix A – Dealing with amendments 
 
 Alteration of Motion 
 
13.9 A Councillor may, with the consent of the seconder, alter a motion which they 

have proposed or of which notice has been given if the alteration is one which 
could have been moved as an amendment thereto. 

 
 Withdrawal of Motion 
 
11.9 A motion or amendment may be withdrawn by the proposer with the 

concurrence of the seconder and it shall not be competent for any Councillor 
to speak upon it after the proposer has asked permission for its withdrawal, 
unless such permission shall have been refused. 

 
Right of Reply 

 
11.10 The proposer of a motion but not of an amendment shall have a right to reply 

(but for not more than five minutes) at the close of the debate upon such 
motion, immediately before it is put to the vote, or before the motion "That the 
Council proceed to the next business" is put, or after the motion "That the 
question be now put".  If an amendment is proposed they shall be entitled also 
to reply at the close of the debate upon the amendment. A Councillor 
exercising a right of reply shall not introduce new matter. After every reply to 
which this standing order refers a decision shall be taken without further 
discussion. 

 
Motions Which May be Moved During Debate 

 
11.11 When a motion is under debate no other motion shall be moved except the 

following:- 
 

(a) to amend the motion;  
 
(b) to postpone consideration of the motion; 
 
(c) to adjourn the meeting (see 11.12); 
 
(d) to adjourn the debate (see 11.12); 
 
(e) to proceed to the next business (see 11.12); 
 
(f) that the question be now put (see 11.12); 
 
(g) that a Member be not further heard (see 16.0); 
 
(h) that a Member do leave the meeting (see 16.0); 144



 4-13                                               May 2021 

 
(i) that the subject of debate be referred back to the Cabinet, a Committee 

or Scrutiny Panel; 
 
(j) to exclude the public; 
 
(k) to suspend procedural rules under the Constitution (including standing 

orders) (see standing order 41). 
 

 Closure Motions 
 
11.12 A Councillor may move without comment on the conclusion of a speech of 

another Councillor:- 
 
 "That the Council proceed to the next business",  
 
 "That the question be now put", 
 
 "That the debate be now adjourned", 
 
 "That the Council do now adjourn", 
 
 on the seconding of which the Mayor shall proceed as follows:- 
 
 (a) On a motion to proceed to next business 
 

unless in their opinion the matter before the meeting has been 
insufficiently discussed, the Mayor shall first give the mover of the 
original motion a right of reply, and then put to the vote the motion to 
proceed to the next business.  
 

(b) On a motion that the question be now put 
 
 unless in their opinion the matter before the meeting has been 

insufficiently discussed, the Mayor shall first put to the vote the motion 
that the question be now put, and if it is passed then give the mover of 
the original motion a right of reply before putting the motion to the vote. 

 
(c) On a motion to adjourn the debate or the meeting 

 
if the person presiding is of the opinion that the matter before the 
meeting has  been sufficiently discussed, they may refuse  to accept 
either of these motions, and instead put the motion that the question be 
now put: if in their opinion the matter before the meeting has not been 
sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably be sufficiently discussed 
on that occasion the Mayor shall put the adjournment motion to the 
vote without giving the mover of the original motion a right of reply on 
that occasion. 

 
(d)  The Mayor if they consider it appropriate can close the debate on any 

motion and move to the vote. 
 
Points of Order 145



 4-14                                               May 2021 

 
11.13 A Councillor may speak for no more than 2 minutes in personal explanation, 

but such explanation shall be confined to some material part of a former 
speech by the Councillor at the same meeting which may have been 
misunderstood. The Councillor shall be entitled to be heard forthwith. 

 
11.14 A Councillor may raise to a point of order but in so doing shall intimate to the 

Mayor the particular standing order under which such point arises. 
 
 Mayor's Ruling  
 
11.15 The ruling of the Mayor on a point of order or on the admissibility of a 

personal explanation shall not be open to discussion. 
 
 Respect for the Mayor 
 
11.16 Whenever the Mayor rises during a debate a Councillor then speaking or 

standing shall resume their seat and the Council shall be silent. 
 
 RESCISSION AND ALTERATION OF RESOLUTIONS 
 

Rescission of Preceding Resolution 
 
12.0 At a meeting of the Council, no motion or amendment shall be moved to 

rescind any resolution of the Council which was passed within the preceding 
six months or which is to the same effect as one which has been rejected 
within that period. Provided that such a motion may be moved if 

 
(a) it is recommended by the Cabinet or a Committee; or  
 
(b) notice of such motion has been given by as many members as would 

constitute a quorum of the Council. 
 
Rescinding Motion 

 
12.1 Notice of motion to rescind a previous decision shall set out the whole or such 

part of the resolution which it is proposed to rescind and shall specify the date 
on which the resolution was passed by the Council. 

 
Alteration to Resolution at Same Meeting  

 
12.2  No resolution or other act of the Council shall be revoked or altered at the 

meeting at which such resolution was made or such act done, except with 
unanimous consent of the members of the Council who passed such 
resolution, in order to correct some manifest error. 

 
 VOTING 
 
 General Provisions 
 
13.0 Except where otherwise requested, and subject to 13.1 below, the method of 

voting at meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Scrutiny Panels 
shall be by show of hands.  146



 4-15                                               May 2021 

 
13.1 On the request of any Councillor, made before the vote is taken and 

supported by three other Councillors who signify their support by rising in their 
place, the voting on any question shall be recorded so as to show whether 
each Councillor present gave their vote for or against that question or 
abstained from voting.  Unless the Mayor indicates otherwise, Councillors 
shall indicate orally their voting preference, "For", "Against" or "Abstain", 
which shall be recorded appropriately. 

 
13.2 If a vote is taken by show of hands, any Councillor who is present when the 

vote was taken may require that their vote or abstention shall be recorded in 
the minutes by notifying the proper officer of their wish immediately after the 
vote has been taken. 

 
 Casting Vote 
 
13.3 In the event of a motion being tied the Mayor may exercise a casting vote. If 

declining to give a second or casting vote, the motion, amendment, or other 
matter under consideration shall be declared to be "not carried" and shall 
thereupon fall. 

 
 Voting on Appointments 
 
13.4 Where a vote is required on a motion to appoint or elect a member of the 

Council to a position to be filled by the authority, and there are two or more 
Councillors nominated for that position, the names of all those nominated 
shall be put to the meeting in alphabetical order of surname.  Those entitled to 
vote shall each vote for only one person.  If there is not a majority of those 
voting in favour of one person, the name of the person having the least 
number of votes shall be struck off the list and a fresh vote shall be taken, and 
so on until a majority of votes is given in favour of one person. 

 
13.5 In the case of nominations for more than one vacancy, a simple majority of 

votes shall suffice. 
 
 MOTIONS AFFECTING PERSONS EMPLOYED BY THE COUNCIL 
 
14.0 If any question arises at a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Committee or 

Scrutiny Panel as to the appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary, 
superannuation or conditions of service or as to the conduct of any person 
employed by the Council, a motion under section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 to exclude the public shall be moved forthwith by the 
Mayor or Chair of the meeting and, upon being formally seconded, shall be 
put to the meeting without debate. 

 
GENERAL PROVISIONS CONCERNING MINUTES AND REPORTS 

 
15.0 Officers’ reports to the Council, Cabinet, Panels and Committees shall, as far 

as practicable, be presented in writing, unless the Chair considers it 
conducive and convenient to the despatch of business to receive an oral 
report. 

 
15.1 Reports, minutes or other documents shall, unless the meeting otherwise 147



 4-16                                               May 2021 

requires, be taken as read when presented thereto, provided they have been 
made available at least five clear days before the meeting. 

 
 DISORDERLY CONDUCT 
 

Misconduct by a Councillor 
 
16.0 If the person presiding is of the opinion that a Councillor has misconducted, or 

is misconducting themselves by persistently disregarding the ruling of the 
Mayor, or by behaving irregularly, improperly or offensively, or by wilfully 
obstructing the business of the Council, they may notify the meeting of that 
opinion, and may take any of the following courses, either separately or in 
sequence:  

 
(a) they may move that the Councillor named be not further heard; this 

motion shall not require to be seconded, but shall be put and decided 
without comment; if it is carried, the Councillor named shall not speak 
further at that meeting; 

 
(b) they may move that the Councillor named shall leave the meeting; this 

motion shall not require to be seconded, but shall be put and decided 
without comment; if it is carried, the Councillor named shall forthwith 
leave the meeting; 

 
(c) they may adjourn the meeting for fifteen minutes or such period as 

shall seem expedient to them. 
 
Disturbance by Members of the Public 

 
16.1 If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting the Mayor 

shall warn the person concerned.  If the interruption continues the Mayor shall 
order the person to leave the room.  If they do not leave the Mayor shall order 
the person's removal.  If a member of the public persistently creates a 
disturbance, the Mayor may adjourn the meeting for fifteen minutes or such 
other period as may seem expedient. 

 
Adjournment or Suspension of Sitting 

 
16.2 In the event of a general disturbance in any part of the room where any 

meeting is being held which is open to the public, the Mayor shall order that 
part to be cleared and may: - 

 
(a) suspend or adjourn the sitting of the Council for such period as the 

Mayor in their discretion shall consider expedient; or 
 
(b) transfer the meeting to some other convenient location where the 

business may be conducted without hindrance. 
 
16.3 The powers conferred by this Standing Order are in addition to any other 

powers which the person presiding may lawfully exercise. 
 
  

148



 4-17                                               May 2021 

 PETITIONS 
 
 Petitions Presented by Councillors 
 
18.0 At a meeting of the Council (other than the annual meeting or a meeting 

convened for a specific purpose) any Councillor may present a petition which 
is relevant to some matter in relation to which the authority has functions, or 
which affects the area of the authority, or part of it, or the inhabitants of that 
area, or some of them. A guide to the Councils Petition Scheme will be found 
as an appendix to Part 4 of the Constitution (see Page 116) 

 
18.1 No notice shall be required but the presentation shall not be accompanied by 

any speech or comment other than in the course of the Councillor's 
contribution to a relevant debate at that meeting. 

 
18.2 Any petition presented to a Council meeting shall stand referred to the 

Cabinet, Committee or Scrutiny Panel within whose terms of reference it falls, 
who shall report to the Council thereon, unless the matter the subject of the 
petition has already been considered and determined by the Council. 

 
Petitions Presented by a Member of the Public 

 
18.3 At any meeting of the Cabinet, a Committee or Scrutiny Panel (other than a 

meeting convened for a specific purpose) a member of the public may present 
a petition which is relevant to some matter in relation to which the authority 
has functions or which affects the area of the authority, or part of it, or the 
inhabitants of that area or some of them. 

 
18.4 The person wishing to present the petition shall give at least ten days' notice 

of their intention to do so to the Monitoring Officer and shall show the petition 
to them.  The petition shall not be accepted unless the Monitoring Officer is 
satisfied that the petition is proper to be presented. In consultation with the 
Mayor or Chair, a decision will be made as to whether the presentation of the 
petition shall form an item on the agenda for the relevant body. 

 
18.5 The presentation of the petition shall be limited to not more than five minutes, 

and shall be confined to reading out, or summarising, the subject matter of the 
petition, indicating the number and description of the signatories, and making 
such further supporting remarks relevant to the petition as the person 
presenting it shall think fit. 

 
18.6 No more than one petition from a member of the public shall be submitted to 

the Cabinet, Committee or Scrutiny Panel at any one meeting. 
 
18.7 On receipt of a petition, the relevant body shall proceed to discuss the matter 

or matters raised by the petition unless the matter the subject of the petition 
has already been considered and determined by the Council within the 
previous twelve months.  In every case, the body shall have the discretion to 
defer all debate and decision on a petition to a subsequent meeting. 

 
 
 

INTEREST OF COUNCILLORS IN CONTRACTS AND OTHER MATTERS 149



 4-18                                               May 2021 

 

Disclosure of Personal Interests at Meetings 
 

19.0 Subject to the generality of the Code of Conduct (reproduced in full in Part 5 
of the Constitution), a Councillor with a non-disclosable pecuniary interest or a 
non-pecuniary interest in a matter who attends a meeting of the authority at 
which the matter is considered must disclose to that meeting the existence of 
that interest at the commencement of that consideration, or when the interest 
becomes apparent. 

 

For the purposes of clarification, “meeting” in this context means any meeting 
organised by or on behalf of the authority, including: 

 

(i) Any meeting of the Council, or a Committee or sub-committee of 
Council 

(ii) In taking a decision as a ward councillor or as a member of any body of 
the Council; and  

(iii) At any site visit to do with business of the authority 
 

19.1 Subject to the requirements set out in the Code of Conduct, a Councillor with 
a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter must: 

 

(i) withdraw from the room or chamber where the meeting is being held 
whenever it becomes apparent that the matter is being considered at 
that meeting, unless they have obtained a dispensation from the 
authority’s Monitoring Officer or Administration Committee; and 

(ii) not seek improperly to influence a decision about that matter. 
 

* The circumstances in which a dispensation may be obtained are prescribed 
in Section 33 of the Localism Act 2011 
 

Register of Councillors’ Interests 
 

19.2 A Councillor or Co-opted Councillor must, before the end of 28 days 
beginning with the day on which the councillor becomes a councillor or co-
opted councillor of the authority, notify the Monitoring Officer, in writing, of any 
disclosable pecuniary interests as set out in the Code of Conduct, or of any 
changes to those interests. 

 

19.3 Councillor, and Co-opted Councillors entitled to vote, must within 28 days of 
receiving any gift, benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £50, provide 
written notification to the Monitoring Officer of the existence and nature of that 
gift or hospitality. 

 

19.4 The Monitoring Officer must maintain a register of the financial and other 
interests specified in the Code of Conduct, which must be available for 
inspection by members of the public at all reasonable hours. 

 

150



 4-19                                            May 2021 

APPENDIX D (Part 4 – Rules of Procedure) 
 
 

COUNCIL NON-BUDGET DEBATING PROCESS 
 
 

DEALING WITH AMENDMENTS 
 

 Councillor moves the original motion (has 10 minutes to speak).  The 
seconder can then speak (5 minutes) or reserve their right to speak later in 
the debate. 

 

 Amendments can be moved at any point after the original motion is 
moved and seconded. 

 

 The motion is then debated and Councillors can speak for a maximum of 5 
minutes.  Councillors cannot then speak again on the original motion. 

 The Amendment is then moved.  Then proposed and seconded (the seconder 
can reserve their right to speak later in the debate); both can speak for 5 
minutes.   

 The amendment is then debated by Councillors who can speak for 5 minutes.  
(Councillors who have already spoken on the original motion can also speak 
on the amendment) 

 The mover of the Original Motion has a right of replay and sums up (5 
minutes) – For the avoidance of doubt the mover of the amendment has no 
right of reply 

 Vote on the Amendment – FOR, AGAINST, ABSTAIN. Motion Carried/lost  

 If the amendment is lost then the debate continues on the original motion as 
normal 

 (Any Councillor who has spoken on original motion before the amendment 
was proposed is not permitted to speak again) 

 After the proposer has had the opportunity for a further right to reply the vote 
is then moved on the ORIGINAL MOTION - FOR, AGAINST, ABSTAIN.  
Motion Carried/lost 

 If the amendment is carried then the vote moves to VOTE ON THE 
ORIGINAL MOTION AS AMENDED - FOR, AGAINST, ABSTAIN.  Motion 
Carried/lost 

 Multiple amendments to motions can be made but only one amendment can 
be tabled/debated at a time. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

151



 4-20                                            May 2021 

PART II: PROCEEDINGS AND BUSINESS OF THE CABINET, COMMITTEES 
AND PANELS 
 

APPOINTMENT OF THE COMMITTEES AND PANELS, CHAIRS AND 
VICE-CHAIRS 

 
20.0 Appointment 

 
The Council shall at the annual meeting appoint such Committees (excluding 
Cabinet) and Scrutiny Panels as they are required to appoint by statute, and 
may at any time appoint such other Committees or Panels as are necessary 
to carry out the work of the Council but, subject to any statutory provisions in 
that behalf and to the provisions of Standing Order 22: 

 

 (a) shall not appoint any member of a Committee (excluding 
Cabinet) or Panel so as to hold office later than the next annual 
meeting of the Council; 

 

 (b) may at any time dissolve or alter the membership of a 
Committee (excluding Cabinet) or Panel. 

 
 Appointment of the Leader of the Council, Chairs and Vice-Chairs 
 

20.1 The Council shall at the annual meeting elect the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of 
Committees (excluding Cabinet) and Scrutiny Panels and such other bodies 
as it may decide. 

 
20.11 The Leader will be elected to the position by the Council. The term of office of 

the Leader starts on the day of their election as Leader and ends on the day 
when the Council holds its first annual meeting after the Leader's normal day 
of retirement as a Councillor unless they:  
 

(a) are removed from Office by resolution of the Council (see Standing 
Order 20.13 or resigns; 

 
(b) ceases to be a Councillor; or  

 
(c) is disqualified from being a Councillor before that day. 

 
20.12 The Leader will appoint one of the Members of the Cabinet to be their deputy, 

to hold office until the end of the term of office as Leader (unless the person 
resigns as Deputy Leader, ceases to be a Councillor or is disqualified or 
removed from office by the Leader). The Leader may, if they think fit, remove 
the Deputy Leader from office, but must then appoint another person in their 
place. The Deputy Leader will carry out the functions of the Leader when they 
are absent (including any portfolio functions). 

 

20.13 The Council can remove the Leader by way of resolution by a simple majority 
provided that no such resolution may be moved unless a notice of motion is 
given in accordance with Standing Order 7 of Part 4 of this Constitution.  

 

20.2 In the event of a vacancy occurring in the office of the Leader of the Council, 
the vacancy shall be filled at the meeting at which the Leader was removed 
from office or at the next meeting or a subsequent meeting of the Council.  A 
vacancy occurring in the office of a Chair or Vice-Chair of a Committee 152



 4-21                                            May 2021 

(excluding Cabinet) or Scrutiny Panel shall be filled at a subsequent Council 
meeting. 

 
 
 Membership 
 
20.3 Membership of the Cabinet, Area Committees, Administration Committee, 

Audit and Resources Committee, Licensing Committee and Policy & 
Performance Scrutiny Panel shall be as contained in the relevant Article of the 
Constitution. Membership of the Cabinet is subject to change by the Leader. 

 
20.4 Membership of any other Committees or Panels shall be as determined by the 

Council. 
 
 Deputies 
 
20.5 Political groups may appoint or send deputies or substitutes for meetings of 

Scrutiny Panels. Such deputy shall be allowed to attend in the place of one of 
the appointed members of that group on the respective body and with full 
powers to speak and vote.  Provided that such powers of a deputy shall lapse 
on the attendance of the appointed member. 

 
 Terms of Reference 
 
20.6 Except as the Council otherwise determine, the terms of reference of the 

Cabinet, Committees and Scrutiny Panels shall be as contained in the 
relevant Article of the Constitution. 

 
20.7 The terms of reference and powers of such other Committees or Panels as 

the Council may appoint shall be as ordered by the Council. 
 

PANELS 
 

Appointment 
 
21.0 The Council, Cabinet or any of its Committees may appoint panels as 

required for particular functions.  Any panels as are in existence at the annual 
meeting each year shall be re-appointed at such meeting unless, for reasons 
specified by the council or relevant body, the panel is no longer required. 

 
21.1 Such panels as are currently in existence, together with their terms of 

reference, appear in Appendix C at the end of this section. 
 
21.2 The term 'panel' in 21.0 and 21.1 above shall exclude 'Scrutiny Panels', 

provision for which is made elsewhere in the Constitution. 
 

REVIEW OF ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO COMMITTEES AND SCRUTINY 
PANELS 

 
22.0 Except in relation to the appointment of members to the Cabinet or Local Area 

Committees, whenever 
 

 (a) the Council is required to review the allocation of seats on 
153



 4-22                                            May 2021 

Committees or Scrutiny Panels between political groups, or 
 

 (b) the Council resolves to carry out such a review, 
 

the Monitoring Officer shall submit a report, first to the relevant body and then 
to the Council, showing what allocation of seats would, in their opinion, best 
meet the requirements of section 15(4) of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989. 

 
22.1 In the light of such a report, the Council shall determine the allocation of seats 

to political groups. 
 
22.2 Whenever an appointment of a voting member of the Cabinet, a Committee or 

Scrutiny Panel falls to be made in accordance with the wishes of a political 
group to whom the seat has been allocated, and whenever such an 
appointment falls to be terminated in accordance with such wishes, then the 
Monitoring Officer shall make or terminate the appointment accordingly. 

 
 DELEGATION SCHEME 
 
 Delegation to the Cabinet and Committees 
 
23.0 Subject to these Standing Orders and to any direction of the Council, the 

Cabinet, Committees and Panels shall have delegated powers as specified in 
their terms of reference.  Such delegated powers shall be executed and 
performed on behalf of the Council until such time as the delegation shall be 
varied or revoked, provided that the Cabinet, Committee or a Panel may not 
exercise any function specifically referred by statute to the whole Council 
including (but not limited to):- 

 

 (a) A local authority’s functions with respect to levying or issuing a 
precept for a rate (s101(6) Local Government Act 1972); 

 

 (b) The approval of schemes for local lotteries (Gambling Act 2005); 
 

 (c) The consideration of an Auditor’s Report or recommendation (s5 
Local Government Act 1992); 

 

 (d) The consideration of a Report of the Council’s Chief Financial 
Officer under s114 Local Government Finance Act 1988; 

 

 (e) The removal of a councillor from a Committee (s102 LGA 1972); 
 

 (f) The consideration of a Report of the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
(s5 Local Government & Housing Act 1989); 

 

 (g) The consideration of a Report of the Council’s Head of Paid 
Service (s4 Local Government & Housing Act 1989); 

 

(h) The following duties/powers under the Local Government Finance Act 
1992: - 

 

(i) s8(2) - to make owners of specified dwellings, rather than 
residents, liable to pay Council Tax; 

 

  (ii) ss 32-37 and 60 - calculating the budget 
requirement, the basic amount of Council Tax, special items, tax 154



 4-23                                            May 2021 

for different valuation bands etc; and 
 

  (iii) Setting an amount of Council Tax for a financial 
year under Chapter III of Part I; 

 

(i) Power to promote or oppose local or personal Bills of Parliament (s239 
Local Government Act 1972); and 

 

 (j) Proposals for the discharge of functions, by or on behalf of 
another local authority. 

 
23.1 The Cabinet or any Committee or Panel to which a matter has been delegated 

may decline to act under the delegated power and choose instead to make a 
recommendation to the Council. 

 
 Call In/Minority Order Arrangements 
 
23.2 Where a matter has been determined by the Cabinet or a Committee or Panel 

in accordance with delegated powers then, subject to the provisions in 23.3 
below, such matter may be referred to Council for determination/review.  In 
the case of a Committee decision, the matter may be referred back to the 
Committee if the Committee is to meet earlier than the Council.  The 
requirements for referral are: 

 
(i) In the case of the Cabinet or after a delegated Cabinet decision being 

made by a Local Area Committee: 
 

The request may be made by any five Councillors of the Council or the 
relevant Scrutiny Panel.  Such request shall be made in writing and be 
delivered to the Monitoring Officer not later than 5.00 pm on the fifth 
working day after the meeting. 

 
 (ii) In the case of Area or other Committees: 
 

(a) Dealing with a non regulatory matter 
 

The request may be made by any two Members (one of whom 
shall be a member of the Committee).  Any such request shall 
be made in writing and be delivered to the Monitoring Officer not 
later than 5.00 pm on the second working date after the 
meeting. 
 

(b) In respect of a regulatory matter 
 

The request may be made by such number of members of the 
Committee making the decision who comprises at least 50% of 
the total number of members appointed to that Committee. 

 
23.3 The provisions of 23.2 above shall not apply in the following circumstances: 
 

(a) where the matter has been delegated by express resolution of the 
Council; or 

 

(b) where a Committee has met in quasi-judicial mode (eg certain licensing 
issues) as determined by the Monitoring Officer (see paragraph 11.03 

155



 4-24                                            May 2021 

of Article 11); or 
 

(c) where 'special urgency' conditions apply in the case of a key 
decision 

(see paragraphs 15 and 16 of the Access to Information Procedure 
Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution). 

 
 
23.4 The Provisions of Paragraph 23.2 above shall be amended to provide that in 

the case of a non Cabinet function of a regulatory nature be referred back, in 
any event, to the decision making Committee for further consideration rather 
than to Council. 

 
23.5 In referring a matter under this Standing Order, the Councillors concerned 

shall give notice of any proposed amendment to the relevant 
recommendation(s) at the same time as they request referral.  Details of the 
amendment shall be circulated with the agenda for the meeting at which the 
referred item will be discussed. 

 
23.6 Where a matter has been referred up under the provisions of Standing Order 

23.2, the original resolution of the Cabinet or Committee shall be deemed a 
recommendation and form part of the recommendations of that body.  Any 
alteration to the recommendation shall be dealt with by way of an amendment 
to which the Chair of the Cabinet or Committee shall have a right of reply at 
the end of the amendment debate. 

 
Delegation to Staff 

 
23.7 The persons referred to in Part 3 of the Constitution shall have powers to deal 

with such matters as are so listed and these matters shall be executed and 
performed on behalf of the Council as delegated powers until such time as the 
delegation is revoked or varied by resolution of the Council. 

 
23.8 Any person or persons to whom a matter has been delegated may decline to 

act under the delegated power and choose instead to make a 
recommendation to the Council, Cabinet or Committee as the case may be. 

 
MEETINGS OF THE CABINET, COMMITTEES AND SCRUTINY PANELS 

 
 Date and Time of Meetings 
 
24.0 Subject to the relevant statutory provisions, the ordinary meetings of the 

Cabinet, Committees and Scrutiny Panels shall be held on such days and at 
such hours as the Council or relevant body shall fix or, if none are so fixed, as 
the respective Chair or Vice-Chair thereof may determine. 

 
24.1 Subject to the relevant statutory provisions, the Chair of the Cabinet, 

Committee or Scrutiny Panel or the Mayor may direct the Monitoring Officer to 
summon a special meeting of the Cabinet, Committee or Scrutiny Panel at 
any time.  A special meeting shall also be summoned by the Monitoring 
Officer on the requisition in writing of three members of the Cabinet, 
Committee or Scrutiny Panel.  

 
156



 4-25                                            May 2021 

Quorum 
 
24.2 Except where authorised by statute or ordered by the Council, business shall 

not be transacted at a meeting of the Cabinet or any Committee or Scrutiny 
Panel unless at least one-quarter of the whole number of the body is present.  
Provided that the quorum in either case shall not be less than three members. 

 
 Attendance by Non-Members 
 
24.3 Any member of the Council may attend a meeting of the Cabinet, Committee 

or Scrutiny Panel of which they have received notice, but if they are not a 
member of the body then, except as provided in 24.4 below, they shall take no 
part in the proceedings save with the consent of the Chair.  In any case, they 
shall not be entitled to vote. 

 
Attendance of Proposer of Motion 

 
24.4 In the case of a member of the Council who has proposed a motion which has 

been referred to a body of which they are not a member, then the provisions 
of standing order 7.6 shall apply. 

 
Adjournment of Meetings 

 
24.5 A meeting of the Cabinet, Committee or other body may, by virtue of a simple 

majority vote, be adjourned, either for a short period or to such other time and 
date as may be agreed. 

 
Recording Support or Objection 

 
24.6 Councillors who speak at a Cabinet/Scrutiny/Committee meeting, where they 

are a member of that body can request that their support or objection to a 
decision be recorded and this will be subject to the agreement of the Chair of 
the meeting. Where a councillor is not attending a meeting as a member of 
the committee, their support or objection will not normally be recorded.   

 
RESIGNATION FROM THE CABINET, COMMITTEES, ETC 

 
25.0 Any member of the Cabinet, a Committee or Scrutiny Panel desiring to resign 

therefrom shall signify their resignation in writing to the Monitoring Officer 
 

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT PROCEEDINGS 
 
26.0 Business transacted by the Cabinet, a Committee or Scrutiny Panel from 

whose meeting the press and public have been excluded, and all documents 
relating thereto, shall be regarded as private until such business or 
documents have been disclosed to the Council or unless a specific or general 
permission has been given by the Council for prior disclosure.  No information 
relating to business transacted at such meeting shall be communicated to the 
press before it has been reported to the Council, unless, in any specific case, 
the Cabinet, a Committee or Scrutiny Panel otherwise direct, when the Chief 
Executive will be authorised to communicate such information to the press as 
directed. 

 157



 4-26                                            May 2021 

 PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
27.0 Planning applications will be determined in accordance with the procedure set 

out in Appendix E following this section. 
 
 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
28.0 A scheme of public participation shall apply to meetings of the Council, 

Cabinet, Committees and Scrutiny Panels in accordance with the provisions 
of Appendix c following this section. 

 
STANDING ORDERS TO APPLY TO THE CABINET, COMMITTEES AND 
PANELS 

 
29.0 In addition to Standing Orders expressly stated to refer to Committee 

proceedings, the following Standing Orders shall, with the necessary changes 
to take account of different situations but ensuring the main point remains the 
same, apply to the Cabinet and Committee meetings: - 

 
 7 (Submission of Motions) 
 
 8 (Motions which may be moved without notice) 
 
 11 (Rules of Debate) (except that these Rules may be relaxed by 

the Cabinet to facilitate the effective conduct of business). 
 
 12.2 (Alteration to Resolution at Same Meeting) 
 
 13 (Voting) 
 
 16 (Disorderly conduct, disturbance by members of the public and 

suspension of sittings) 
 
 18 (Petitions presented by members of the Council but not those 

presented by members of the public) 
 
 19 (Interest of members in contracts and other matters) 
 
 41 (Suspension of provisions of Procedural Rules in Constitution 

(including standing orders) 
 

158



 4-27                                            May 2021 

APPENDIX E – (Part 4 – Rules for Procedure) 
 
 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
 
It is important to separate the decision making process leading to the resolution to 
seek planning permission from the decision making process on the planning 
application itself. 
 

Accordingly, the following is the agreed procedure for planning applications under 
the Council’s Constitution. See also the delegations to the Executive Head of 
Planning & Economy on page 3-16.  
 

(a) Where the Council’s only interest is as landowner and the application is made 
by a third party, then the application will be referred by the Executive Head of 
Planning & Economy to the Executive Head of Assets for comment and may 
be determined by the Executive Head of Planning & Economy or Local Area 
Committee as appropriate. 

  
(b) (Save where paragraph c applies) Where the development is wholly within the 

geographical area of the Local Area Committee the decision to seek planning 
permission in respect of Borough Council promoted development will be made 
by the relevant Service Lead, Area Manager or by the Cabinet as appropriate. 

 
The application will be determined by the Executive Head of Planning & 
Economy or Local Area Committee as appropriate. 

 

(c) Where Council development is being promoted in relation to a borough-wide 
asset, which is an asset provided for the whole borough, the decision to 
submit a planning application will be authorised by the Cabinet. 

 

(d) Where third party development is being promoted in relation to a Council 
owned borough-wide asset, the application will be determined by the Local 
Area Committee. 

 

(e) Development which is likely to cause wide public controversy extending into 
the area of an adjoining Local Area Committee, or which has a clear impact 
beyond the boundaries of a single area, the Local Area Committee in which 
the development would be situated can determine in consultation with the 
Members of any other interested Local Area Committee. 

 

(f) The following categories of development applications shall remain for 
determination by the Council: 

 

(i) Development constituting a substantial departure from any approved 
statutory or non statutory plan where the Local Area Committee wishes 
to take a decision contrary to the recommendation of the Executive 
Head of Planning & Economy 

 

(ii) Development which has a borough-wide significance where the Local 
Area Committee wishes to take a decision contrary to the 
recommendation of the Executive Head of Planning & Economy 

 

159



4-28   May 2021  

APPENDIX F – (Part 4 – Rules of Procedure) 
 
 
PUBLIC & STAKEHODLER PARTICIPATION 
 
A. Cabinet, Committee and Scrutiny Panel Meetings 
 
 1. Members of the public & stakeholders shall be entitled to speak at 

all meetings of the Cabinet, Committees and Scrutiny Panels.  The Council 
has approved the following procedure to guide and control this process: 

 
Acknowledging the need for the public & stakeholder participation process 
to be fair, properly structured and well-ordered the following framework 
shall apply for public participation at all relevant meetings. 

 
  (a) At the beginning of each meeting the Chair should 

welcome those attending and outline the approach to public 
participation.  In this way the expectations of the public are placed 
immediately into the context of Borough Council committee 
meetings at which decisions of the Council are to be made.  They 
will know that the same guidelines will apply to them as to others. 
Indeed the public may themselves be encouraged to monitor those 
who unreasonably abuse the process. 

 
  (b) A general public session should take place during the 

first 15 minutes of the meeting.  Speakers will be called in the order 
that names and addresses are received by the Democratic Services 
Officer.  A statement or question should not exceed three minutes. 
The issues raised will not be discussed by Councillors but will be 
answered by the Chair or officers if possible.  A written answer will 
be provided where a satisfactory verbal response cannot be given.  

 
(c) The Cabinet, Committees and Scrutiny Panels should encourage 

public participation on any agenda item when the item is reached. 
 
  (d) Such participation should be limited to an appropriate 

length of time to be determined by the Chair with equal time allowed 
for persons wishing to express opposing views, ie. 5 minutes for, 5 
minutes against.  Parish Council contributions should be made 
within the 10 minute slot. 

 
  (e) Those wishing to speak should wherever possible 

advise the Democratic Services Officer before the meeting 
commences. (democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk) 

 
  (f) Nobody should normally be permitted to speak more 

than once and individuals should address the meeting only when 
called by the Chair. The Chair has the discretion to allow a person 
to speak again. 

 
  (g) Where it is apparent that a number of people wish to 

160

mailto:democraticservices@eastleigh.gov.uk


4-29   May 2021  

express a common view, they should be encouraged to nominate a 
spokesperson.  In such circumstances the Chair will ask members 
of the public to express their support for a particular speaker by a 
show of hands. 

 
  (h) Repetition of points made by previous speakers 

should be discouraged. 
 
 2. These guidelines should be fairly and sensibly applied by Chairs.  

Rigid and inflexible application cannot be justified: neither can disregard. 
 
 3. It is imperative that these guidelines are presented in a manner 

which encourages people to participate in a productive and orderly fashion. 
 
B. Council Meetings 
 

At Council meetings, members of the public shall be entitled to speak on any 
recommended item, including those referred under minority order provisions 
(Standing Order 23.2). Public Participation will follow the Proposing and 
Seconding of any motion.  The guidelines approved for Cabinet, Committee and 
Scrutiny Panel meetings shall apply in all other respects. Public Participation 
will follow the proposal and seconding of any motion. 

  

161



4-30   May 2021  

PART III MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 CUSTODY OF SEAL 
 
31.0 The Common Seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place in the custody of 

the Head of Legal Services. 
 

SEALING OF DOCUMENTS 
 
32.0 The Common Seal of the Council shall not be affixed to any document unless the 

sealing has been authorised by a resolution of the Council, Cabinet or 
Committee, or officer to whom the Council has delegated its powers in this behalf, 
but a resolution of the Council (or of the Cabinet or a Committee where that body 
has the power) authorising the transaction shall be a sufficient authority for 
sealing any document necessary to give effect to the resolution. 

 
32.1 The seal shall be attested by one at least of the following persons present at the 

sealing, namely, the Mayor or Deputy Mayor, the Chief Executive, the Head of 
Legal Services, Monitoring Officer, Senior Solicitor or Senior Chartered Legal 
Executive  and an entry of every sealing of a document shall be made and 
consecutively numbered in a book to be provided for the purpose and shall be 
signed by the person or persons who shall have attested the seal. 

 
SIGNATURE OF DOCUMENTS 

 
33.0 Where any document will be a necessary step in legal proceedings on behalf of 

the Council it shall, unless any enactment otherwise requires or authorises or the 
Council shall have given the necessary authority (either specifically or by virtue of 
the delegation scheme) to some other person for the purpose of such 
proceedings, be signed by the Head of Legal Services or in their absence, the 
Chief Executive or Monitoring Officer 

 
ADVERTISEMENTS AND PUBLIC NOTICES 

 
34.0 All press advertisements and public notices, statutory or otherwise, on behalf of 

the Council, the Cabinet or any Committee, shall be issued in the name of one or 
other of the Chief Executive, Head of Legal Services or relevant Service 
Manager. 

 
CONDUCT OF NEGOTIATIONS RELATING TO LAND 

 
35.0 All negotiations for the acquisition, appropriation, exchange, lease or sale of land 

(other than the management of Grange Park (Mobile Homes) and other matters 
specifically assigned by the Council to other officers) shall be conducted on 
behalf of the Council by, or under the supervision of, the Head of Asset 
Management who shall report initially on the proposal to the Cabinet and relevant 
Committee. 

 
35.1 Before entering into any contract, lease agreement or other document relating to 

such a transaction (other than as specifically authorised within these Standing 
Orders) the Head of Asset Management shall report upon the terms provisionally 

162



4-31   May 2021  

negotiated to the Cabinet. 
 
35.2 For the purposes of this standing order "land" shall include the rights in land and 

buildings erected thereon. 
 
 INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS 
 
36.0 A Councillor of the Council may, for the purpose of their duty but not otherwise, 

inspect any document which has been or is to be considered by the Council, the 
Cabinet, a Committee or Scrutiny Panel, and if copies are available shall on 
request be supplied for the like purpose with a copy of such document.  Provided 
that:- 

 
(a) The provision described above shall not apply to categories of exempt 

information contained in paragraphs 1-6, 9, 11, 12 and 14 of Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  

 
(b) A Councillor shall not knowingly inspect and shall not call for a copy of any 

document relating to a matter in which they are professionally interested or 
in which they are directly or indirectly any pecuniary interest within the 
meaning of sections 94 and 95 of the Local Government Act 1972; and 

 
(c) This Standing Order shall not preclude the Head of Legal Services from 

declining to allow inspection of any document which is or in the event of 
legal proceedings would be protected by privilege arising from the 
relationship of solicitor and client. 

 
INSPECTION OF WORKS 

 
37.0 A Councillor, subject to any restrictions necessary in the interests of health and 

safety and the legal rights of third parties, may inspect any property or works 
carried out by the Council.  Before doing so, as a matter of courtesy, the 
Councillor shall first inform the Head of Service or other accredited person 
concerned of their intention. 

 
37.1 Suitable identification shall be produced to a responsible person on the site of any 

such property or works before the inspection is commenced. 
 
37.2 No member of the Council shall be allowed to give direct or indirect instructions to 

any officer or workman of the Council, unless specifically authorised by the 
Council or a Committee to do so. 

 
 INTERESTS OF STAFF IN CONTRACTS 
 
38.0 The Head of Legal Services shall keep a record for the purpose particulars of any 

notice given by an officer of the Council under section 117 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, of an interest in a contract and shall be available during 
office hours to the inspection of any member of the Council. 

 
 INTERPRETATION OF STANDING ORDERS 
 

163



4-32   May 2021  

39.0 In the event of a difference arising as to the interpretation of any Standing Order, 
an appeal shall lie: - 

 
(a) at a meeting of the Council to the Mayor; and 
 
(b) at a meeting of the Cabinet or a Committee to the Chair of that body and in 

each case the decision of the Mayor or Chair shall be final. 
 
 VARIATION AND REVOCATION OF STANDING ORDERS 
 
40.0 Any motion made at a Council meeting to vary or revoke Standing Orders shall 

when proposed and seconded stand adjourned without discussion to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Council. 

 
 SUSPENSION OF STANDING ORDERS 
 
41.0 Subject to 41.1 below any Standing Orders may be suspended so far as regards 

any business at the meeting where its suspension is moved. 
 
41.1 Except in the case of a motion under Standing Order 23.5, a motion to suspend 

Standing Orders shall not be moved under Standing Order 8 - that is without 
notice given in pursuance of Standing Order 7 - unless there shall be present at 
least a quarter of the members of the Council, or in the case of the Cabinet or a 
Committee, at least three members. 

 
WAIVER OF STANDING ORDERS - PROCUREMENT 

 
42.0 On behalf of the Council’s Procurement Executive Group which has been granted 

delegated authority to consider and decide on requests to waive Standing Orders 
in relation to procurement. 

 
42.1 The terms of reference of the Procurement  Executive Group follow as Appendix 

1. 
 

USE OF EMAIL 
 

43.0 Where the context allows, and subject to no legal requirement to the contrary, a 
reference in this Constitution to the submission of documents in writing and/or to 
the Monitoring Officer shall be construed as including the use of email. 

 

164



4-33   May 2021  

APPENDIX G – (Part 4 – Rules of Procedure) 
 
 
PROCUREMENT EXECUTIVE GROUP   

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

Aims and Purpose 

The Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) Procurement Executive Group aims to ensure 

that the procurement of goods services and works achieves value for money in 

delivering the Council’s corporate strategy and strategic priorities through fair and proper 

processes. 

 

Objectives 

To achieve this aim the Group will: 

 

1. Keep the EBC Procurement Policy up-to-date and in line with legislation, 
Government requirements, national guidance and best practice. 

 
2. Ensure that the EBC Procurement Policy is up-to-date and in line with EBC Strategy, 

legislation, Government requirements, national guidance and good practice. 
 
3. Ensure congruence between EBC Procurement Policy, EBC Constitution, Contracts 

Procedure Rules and Financial Regulations, and project management arrangements. 
 
4. Ensure that Procurement Policy, and procurement activities reflect sustainability 

including, environment, community development, community safety, diversity, 
economic development, equalities and health. 

 
5. Ensure that the Code of Practice includes use of e-procurement where this adds to 

value for money. 
 
6. Provide a source of expertise to programme boards and informed support to staff. 
 
7. Provide a forum for debate about good practice, to resolve internal conflicts about 

interpretation of procurement guidance. 
 
8. Promote and monitor compliance with Procurement Policy, and identify actions to be 

taken in response to non-compliance. 
 
9. Resolve any problems or conflicts about EBC Procurement Policy or process, 

including consultation and debate with relevant stakeholders.  
 
10.  Discuss and make decisions on behalf of Cabinet regarding any requests to waive 

Contracts Procedure Rules. 
 
Responsibilities of the Procurement Executive Group 
The Group considers both strategic and operational procurement matters. The principal 
responsibilities are: 
 

165



4-34   May 2021  

1. To identify where changes are needed to Constitution, Contracts Procedure Rules 
(Standing Orders), Financial Regulations, Procurement Strategy and Code of 
Practice and to recommend new wording to the officer or body responsible for 
authorising that change. 

 
2. To respond to any procurement issues identified by internal or external audit.  To 

ensure recommendations in Procurement Audit Reviews are reviewed and monitored 
through to implementation. 

 
3. To refer examples of non-compliance to relevant managers with a recommendation 

for action. 
 
4. To ensure that the Council provides opportunities for staff to learn about procurement 

systems and procurement skills. This includes publishing Procurement Policy on the 
Intranet, and training staff in their use. 

 
5. To consider performance monitoring data on compliance and non-compliance trends; 

to identify and investigate specific examples and the action required to avoid 
recurrence; to ensure that gateway procedures are followed in respect of 
procurement which is significant in terms of cost or risk. 

 
6. To consider updates on the spend analysis and review expenditure category 

management. 
 
7. To ensure, through options appraisal, that adequate consideration is given to the 

different approaches to provision of services – normally when a contract is due for 
renewal. 

 

For all these, “consider” includes debate (involving relevant colleagues) and 
recommending actions to Management Team or whatever other person or body is 
appropriate. 
 
Scope and Constraints 
The Procurement Executive Group’s scope includes all procurement carried out by EBC 
from external suppliers, including joint procurement with other authorities. 
 
The scope does not include: 
 

 externalisation of in-house services 

 collaborative arrangements to provide services with other public sector agencies 

 membership or work of partnerships set up as a result of national guidance.  
 

The Group makes recommendations to Council or Cabinet and does not have the power 
to make decisions itself, in relation to amending the Constitution, Standing Orders or 
Financial Regulations. It has delegated power to define the Procurement Policy and to 
waive Contracts Procedure Rules; this decision should be made by a majority of elected 
members of the group. 
 
The Group does not have the power to take disciplinary action against any officer for 
procurement non-compliance, but can recommend to management that disciplinary 
action be considered. 

166



4-35   May 2021  

 
The Group has no powers to make decisions that commit resources. It may make 
recommendations to Cabinet about level of budget or to the individual budget holder 
about expenditure. 
 
Structure and Membership 
The Group’s membership is: 
 
1. Corporate Director (Support Services) or nominee (Chair) 
2. Head of Finance or nominee 
3. Head of Operations - Support Services  
4. Head of Internal Audit (Chief Internal Auditor) or nominee  
5. Head of Legal Services or nominee 
6. Strategy Lead (Environment)  
7. Lead Building Surveyor 
8. Four Members: two appointed by Cabinet including the relevant Portfolio 
lead and two appointed by Audit and Resources Committee. Elected Members should 
aim to reflect the political make-up of the Council. 
 
Secretariat to the Group will be provided by Case Management or Democratic Services. 
 
The Group may co-opt other people for their specialist expertise for one or more 
meetings e.g. Facilities Manager 
 
To maintain their independence as per the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 2017, 
the Chief Internal Auditor or Nominee shall not have any voting rights but will take an 
advisory/consultative role in any decision making. 
 
The Group may invite but cannot require any other Member or officer to join them for 
whole or part of any meeting. 
 
The Board may set up short-term ‘Task and Finish’ groups for any related purpose, with 
membership drawn from a wider group than Board membership if necessary. 
 
Protocols 
The Procurement Executive Group will meet on at least an 8 weekly basis at which the 
following protocols will apply: 
 
1. Agendas for meetings will be drawn up by the Democratic Services Officer in 

consultation with the Chair and circulated at least 7 days before the meeting. 
 
2. In the absence of the Chair, meetings will be chaired by the most senior officer 

present. 
 

3. A Declaration of Pecuniary Interests be sought prior to any meeting particularly when 
a waive of Contract Standing Orders is being requested. 

 
4. Minutes will be taken by the Democratic Services Officer and approved by whoever 

chaired the meeting before circulation. 
 
5. Email will be the main method of communication outside meetings. 

167



4-36   May 2021  

 
6. These Terms of Reference are reviewed annually and are dated accordingly. 

 
 
Decision-Making and Reporting  
Decisions are taken by consensus.  If this is impossible to achieve, a report will be 
submitted to Cabinet seeking a decision. The Group will be considered quorate with a 
minimum of one quarter of the membership i.e.3 people (either officers or members). 
 
The Group will produce an annual report on procurement which it will make available to 
members of Management Team, Cabinet, and Audit and Resources Committee. The 
report will include details of decisions taken by the Group during the year – including 
waiving of Contracts Procedure Rules. 
  
Where appropriate, Minutes are put on Management Team agenda, alongside any 
report(s) giving the reasons for any recommendations to Management Team.   
 
Inter-dependencies with other Groups, Boards, Committees etc. 
1. Cabinet, Audit and Resources Committee and Council (constitution, Standing Orders 

and financial regulations). 
 
2. Programme Boards (guidance/gateways on procurement). 
 
3. Management Team (in relation to financial management and performance 

management). 
 
4. Finance Specialist Team (to receive recommendations about audit, financial 

regulations and Contracts Procedure Rules). 

168



4-37   May 2021  

ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. SCOPE 
 

CABINET ARRANGEMENTS 

 
These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, the Cabinet, Committees and 
Scrutiny Panels (together called meetings). 
 

2. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 

 
These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained 
elsewhere in this Constitution or the law. 
 

3. RIGHTS TO ATTEND MEETINGS 

 
Members of the public may attend all meetings (subject only to the exceptions in 
these rules) and may contribute to debates at meetings (subject to the 
public/stakeholder participation rules in Part 4). 
 

4. NOTICES OF MEETINGS 
 

The Council will give at least five clear days' notice of any meeting by posting 
details of the meeting at Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh. 

 
5. ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 
 

The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public 
available for inspection at Eastleigh House at least five clear days before the 
meeting.  If an item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda (where 
reports are prepared after the summons has been sent out, the designated officer 
shall make each such report available to the public as soon as the report is 
completed and sent to Councillors) will be open to inspection from the time the 
item was added to the agenda. 

 
6. SUPPLY OF COPIES 
 

The Council will supply copies of: 
 

(a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
 
(b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of 

the items in the agenda; and 
 
(c) if the Executive Head of Governance thinks fit, copies of any other 

documents supplied to Councillors in connection with an item 
 

to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs. 

169



4-38   May 2021  

7. ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC AFTER THE MEETING 
 

The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a 
meeting: 

 

(a) the minutes of the meeting (or records of decisions taken, together with 
reasons, for all meetings of the Cabinet), excluding any part of the minutes 
of proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public or which 
disclose exempt or confidential information; 

 
(b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes 

open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent 
record; 

 
(c) the agenda for the meeting; and 

 

(d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 
 
8. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
8.1 List of Background Papers 
 

The report author will set out in every report a list of those documents (called 
background papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in their 
opinion: 

 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of 

the report is based; and 
 

(b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report 
 

but does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or 
confidential information (as defined in Rule 10). 

 
8.2 Public Inspection of Background Papers 
 

The Council will make available for public inspection at Eastleigh House and on 
its website, for four years after the date of the meeting, one copy of each of the 
documents on the list of background papers. 
 

9. SUMMARY OF PUBLIC'S RIGHTS 
 

A written summary of the public's rights to attend meetings and to inspect and 
copy documents must be kept at and available to the public at Eastleigh House. 

 
As the Constitution must be available to the public, these Rules will constitute the 
written summary. 

 

170



4-39   May 2021  

10. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO MEETINGS 
 
10.1 Confidential Information - Requirement to Exclude Public 
 

The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the 
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that 
confidential information would be disclosed.  

 
10.2 Meaning of Confidential Information 
 

Confidential information means information given to the Council by a Government 
Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure or information which 
cannot be publicly disclosed by Court Order. 

 
10.3 Exempt Information - Discretion to Exclude Public 
 

The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the 
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that 
exempt information would be disclosed. The meeting must first consider the 
“public interest test” to ascertain whether disclosing the information contained in 
those items of business deemed exempt are outweighed by the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption. 

 
Where the meeting will determine any person's civil rights or obligations, or 
adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 
establishes a presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private 
hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in the said Article 6. 

 
10.4 Meaning of Exempt Information 
 

Exempt information means information falling within the following 7 categories 
(subject to any condition): 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

171



4-40   May 2021  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
SCHEDULE 12 A 
 
Note: Schedule 12A was substituted by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006. 
 
ACCESS TO INFORMATION: EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
PART 1: 
 
DESCRIPTION OF EXEMPT INFORMATION: ENGLAND 
 
1. Information relating to any individual 
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information) 
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 
consultations or negotiations in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office 
holders under, the Authority 
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings 
6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes  

a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements 
are imposed on a person; or  
b) to make an order or direction under any enactment 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 
 
PART 2: 
 
QUALIFICATIONS: ENGLAND 
 
8. Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information by virtue of that 
paragraph if it is required to be registered under— 

(a) the Companies Act 1985; 
(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974; 
(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992; 
(d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978; 
(e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or 
(f) the Charities Act 1993. 

9. Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for 
which the local planning authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant 
to regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992[ 
10. Information which— 

(a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and 
(b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph 8 or 9 above, 

is exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 

172



4-41   May 2021  

PART 3 
 
INTERPRETATION: ENGLAND 
 
11. —(1) In Parts 1 and 2 and this Part of this Schedule— 

"employee" means a person employed under a contract of service; 
"financial or business affairs" includes contemplated, as well as past or current, 
activities; 
"labour relations matter" means— 

(a) any of the matters specified in paragraphs (a) to (g) of section 218(1) of 
the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 (matters 
which may be the subject of a trade dispute, within the 
meaning of that Act); or 
(b) any dispute about a matter falling within paragraph (a) above; 
and for the purposes of this definition the enactments mentioned in 
paragraph (a) above, with the necessary modifications, shall apply in relation 
to office-holders under the authority as they apply in relation to employees of 
the authority; 

"office-holder", in relation to the authority, means the holder of any paid office 
appointments to which are or may be made or confirmed by the authority or by 
any joint board on which the authority is represented or by any person who holds 
any such office or is an employee of the authority; 

"registered" in relation to information required to be registered under the Building 
Societies Act 1986, means recorded in the public file of any building society 
(within the meaning of that Act). 

(2) Any reference in Parts 1 and 2 and this Part of this Schedule to "the authority" is a 
reference to the principal council or, as the case may be, the committee or 
subcommittee in relation to whose proceedings or documents the question whether 
information is exempt or not falls to be determined and includes a reference— 

(a) in the case of a principal council, to any committee or sub-committee of the 
council; and  
(b) in the case of a committee, to— 
(i) any constituent principal council; 
(ii) any other principal council by which appointments are made to the 
committee or whose functions the committee discharges; and 
(iii) any other committee or sub-committee of a principal council falling 
within sub-paragraph (i) or (ii) above; and 
(c) in the case of a sub-committee, to— 
(i) the committee, or any of the committees, of which it is a sub-committee; 
and 
(ii) any principal council which falls within paragraph (b) above in relation to that 
committee. 

 
Information falling within any of paragraphs 1-7 is not exempt by virtue of that 
paragraph if it relates to proposed development for which the local planning 
authority can grant itself planning permission under Regulation 3 of the Town and 
Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 

 
11. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS 
 

If the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public to 

173



4-42   May 2021  

reports which in his or her opinion relate to items during which, in accordance 
with Rule 10, the meeting is likely not to be open to the public (subject to the 
“public interest test” referred to earlier).  Such reports will be marked "Not for 
publication" together with the category of information likely to be disclosed. 

 
12. APPLICATION OF RULES TO THE CABINET 
 

Rules 13 - 24 apply to the Cabinet and its Committees.  If the Cabinet or its 
Committees meet to take a key decision then it must also comply with Rules 1 - 
11 unless Rule 15 (general exception) or Rule 16 (special urgency) apply.  A key 
decision is defined in Article 16.04 of this Constitution. 

 
If the Cabinet or its Committees meet to discuss a key decision to be taken 
collectively, with a member of staff other than a political assistant present, within 
28 days of the date according to the forward plan by which it is to be decided, 
then it must also comply with Rules 1 - 11 unless Rule 15 (general exception) or 
Rule 16 (special urgency) apply.  A key decision is defined in Article 16.04 of this 
Constitution.  This requirement does not include meetings, whose sole purpose is 
for staff to brief members. 

 
13. PROCEDURE BEFORE TAKING KEY DECISIONS 
 

Subject to Rule 15 (general exception) and Rule 16 (special urgency), a key 
decision may not be taken unless: 

 
(a) a notice (called here a forward plan) has been published in connection with 

the matter in question; 
 

(b) at least 28 clear days have elapsed since the publication of the forward 
plan; and 

 
(c) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet or its 

Committees, notice of the meeting has been given in accordance with Rule 
4 (notice of meetings). 

 
14. THE FORWARD PLAN 
 
14.1 Period of Forward Plan 
 

Forward plans will be prepared on a monthly basis by the Leader to cover a 
period of four months.   

 
14.2 Contents of Forward Plan 

 
The forward plan will contain matters which the Leader has reason to believe will 
be the subject of a key decision to be taken by the Cabinet, a Committee of the 
Cabinet, individual members of the Cabinet, staff, Area Committees or under joint 
arrangements in the course of the discharge of a Cabinet function during the 
period covered by the plan.  It will describe the following particulars in so far as 
the information is available or might reasonably be obtained: 

 

174



4-43   May 2021  

(a) the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made; 
 
(b) where the decision taker is an individual their name and title, if any and 

where the decision taker is a body, its name and details of membership; 
 

(c) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision will be taken; 
 
(d) a list of the documents submitted to the decision maker for consideration in 

relation to the matter in respect of which the decision is to be made; 
 
(e) the address from which, subject to any prohibition or restriction on their 

disclosure, copies of, or extracts from, any document listed is available; 
 
(f) that other documents relevant to those matters may be submitted to the 

decision maker;  
 
(g) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they 

become available. 
 

Exempt information need not be included in a forward plan and confidential 
information cannot be included. 

 
15. GENERAL EXCEPTION 
 

If a matter which is likely to be a key decision has not been included in the 
forward plan, then subject to Rule 16 (special urgency), the decision may still be 
taken if: 

 
(a) where the Monitoring Officer has informed the chairperson of the relevant 

overview and scrutiny committee or, if there is no such person, each 
member of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee by notice in 
writing, of the matter about which the decision is to be made;  
 

(b) where the proper officer has made available at Eastleigh House for 
inspection by the public and published on the Council’s website a copy of 
the notice given pursuant to sub-paragraph (a); and  

 
(c) after five clear days have elapsed following the day on which the proper 

officer made available the notice referred to in sub-paragraph (b).  
 

As soon as reasonably practicable after the proper officer has complied with the 
above they must—  
 
(a) make available at the offices of the relevant local authority a notice setting 

out the reasons why compliance with Rule 13 is impracticable; and  
 

(b) publish that notice on the Council’s website. 
 

16. SPECIAL URGENCY 
 

If by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken Rule 15 (general 

175



4-44   May 2021  

exception) cannot be followed, then the decision can only be taken if the decision 
taker (if an individual) or the Chair of the body making the decision, obtains the 
agreement of the Chair of a relevant Scrutiny Panel that the taking of the decision 
cannot be reasonably deferred.  If there is no Chair of a relevant Scrutiny Panel, 
or if the Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Panel is unable to act, then the agreement 
of the Mayor, or in their absence the Deputy Mayor will suffice. 
 
As soon as is reasonably practicable after the decision taker has obtained the 
agreement, as above, that the making of the decision is urgent and cannot 
reasonably be deferred, the decision maker must –  
 
(a) make available at Eastleigh House a notice setting out the reasons that the 

meeting is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred; and  
 

(b) publish that notice on the Council’s website. 
 

 
17. REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
17.1 When a Scrutiny Panel can Require a Report 
 

If a Scrutiny Panel thinks that a key decision has been taken which was not: 
 

(a) included in the forward plan; or 
 

(b) the subject of the general exception procedure; or 
 

(c) the subject of an agreement with a relevant Scrutiny Panel Chair, or the 
Mayor/Deputy Mayor under Rule 16; 

 
The Panel may require the Cabinet to submit a report to the Council within such 
reasonable time as the Panel specifies.  The power to require a report rests with 
the Panel, but is also delegated to the Monitoring Officer, who shall require such 
a report on behalf of the Panel when so requested by the Chairman or any five 
members.  Alternatively, the requirement may be raised by resolution passed at a 
meeting of the relevant Scrutiny Panel. 
 

17.2 Cabinet's Report to Council 
 

The Cabinet will prepare a report for submission to the next available meeting of 
the Council.  However, if the next meeting of the Council is within seven days of 
receipt of the written notice, or the resolution of the Panel, then the report may be 
submitted to the meeting after that.  The report to Council will set out particulars 
of the decision, the individual or body making the decision, and if the Leader is of 
the opinion that it was not a key decision the reasons for that opinion. 

 
17.3 Quarterly Reports on Special Urgency Decisions 
 

In any event the Leader will submit at least annually a report to the Council on the 
Cabinet decisions taken in the circumstances set out in Rule 16 (special urgency) 
in the preceding year.  The report will include the number of decisions so taken, 

176



4-45   May 2021  

the particulars of each decision made and a summary of the matters in respect of 
which those decisions were taken. 

 
18. RECORD OF DECISIONS 
 

After any meeting of the Cabinet or any of its Committees, whether held in public 
or private, the Monitoring Officer will produce a record of every decision taken at 
that meeting as soon as practicable.  The record will include a statement of the 
reasons for each decision, details of any alternative options considered and 
rejected at that meeting, a record of any conflict of interest declared at the 
meeting and a note of any dispensation given by the Head of Paid Service. 

 
19. DECISIONS BY INDIVIDUAL MEMBERS OF THE CABINET 
 
19.1 Reports Intended to be Taken into Account 
 

Where an individual member of the Cabinet receives a report which they intend to 
take into account in making any key decision, then they will not make the decision 
until at least five clear days after receipt of that report. 

 
19.2 Provision of Copies of Reports to Scrutiny Panels 
 

On giving of such a report to an individual decision maker, the person who 
prepared the report will give a copy of it to the Chair of every relevant Scrutiny 
Panel as soon as reasonably practicable and make it publicly available at the 
same time. 

 
19.3 Record of Individual Decision 
 

As soon as reasonably practicable after a Cabinet decision has been taken by an 
individual member of the Cabinet they will prepare, or instruct the Monitoring 
Officer to prepare, a record of the decision, a statement of the reasons for it, any 
alternative options considered and rejected, details of any conflict of interest 
declared and a note of any dispensation given for that conflict of interest by the 
Head of Paid Service.  The provisions of Rules 7 and 8 (inspection of documents 
after meetings) will also apply to the making of decisions by individual members 
of the Cabinet.  This does not require the disclosure of exempt or confidential 
information. 
 

20. SCRUTINY PANELS ACCESS TO DOCUMENTS 
 
20.1 Rights to Copies 
 

Subject to Rule 20.2 below, a Scrutiny Panel will be entitled to copies of any 
document which is in the possession or control of the Cabinet or its Committees 
and which contains material relating to: 

 
(a) any business transacted at a meeting of the Cabinet or its Committees; or 

 
(b) any decision taken by an individual member of the Cabinet. 
 

177



4-46   May 2021  

The documents must be provided as soon as practicable but no later than 10 
clear days after the request is received. 

 
20.2 Limit on Rights 
 

A Scrutiny Panel will not be entitled to: 
 

(a) any document that is in draft form (unless the Cabinet or a Committee has 
considered the document in its draft form); 

 
(b) any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential information, 

unless that information is relevant to an action or decision it is reviewing or 
scrutinising or intends to scrutinise. 

 
Where the Cabinet determines that a member of Scrutiny Panel is not entitled to a 
copy of a document or part of a document that has been requested for the 
reasons set out in 20.1 above, the Cabinet must provide the relevant Scrutiny 
Panel with a written statement setting out its reasons for that decision. 

 
21. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS FOR MEMBERS 
 
21.1 Material Relating to Previous Business 
 

All members will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the possession 
or under the control of the Cabinet or its Committees and contains material 
relating to any business previously transacted unless it contains exempt 
information falling within paragraphs 1 to 6, 9, 11, 12 and 14 of the categories of 
exempt information. Such documents will be made available for inspection at 
least five clear days before the meeting except where an item is added to the 
agenda at shorter notice when the document must be made available as soon as 
it is added to the agenda. 
 
Any document which is in the possession or control of the Cabinet and contains 
material relating to business transacted at a private meeting must be available for 
inspection by any Member when the meeting concludes, except where that 
information falls within the description of paragraph 3 or 6 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972. 

 
21.2 Material Relating to Key Decisions 
 

All members of the Council will be entitled to inspect any document (except those 
available only in draft form) in the possession or under the control of the Cabinet 
or its Committees which relates to any key decision unless it contains exempt or 
confidential information. 

 
21.3 Nature of Rights 
 

These rights of a member are additional to any other right they may have. 

178



4-47   May 2021  

Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 

 
1. The Framework for Cabinet Decisions 
 

The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget and policy 
framework as set out in Article 4.  Once a budget or a policy framework is in 
place, it will be the responsibility of the Cabinet to implement it. 

 
2. Process for Developing the Framework 
 

The process by which the budget and policy framework shall be developed is: 
 

(a) The Cabinet will publicise a timetable for making proposals to the Council 
for the adoption of any plan, strategy or budget that forms part of the 
budget and policy framework, and its arrangements for consultation.  The 
Chairs of the Scrutiny Panels will also be notified.  The consultation period 
shall in each instance be not less than two weeks. 

 
(b) At the end of that period, the Cabinet will then draw up firm proposals 

having regard to the responses to that consultation.  If a relevant Scrutiny 
Panel wishes to respond to the Cabinet in that consultation process then it 
may do so.  The Cabinet will take any response into account in drawing up 
firm proposals for submission to the Council, and its report to Council will 
reflect the comments made by consultees and the Cabinet's response. 

 
(c) Once the Cabinet has approved the firm proposals, the minutes setting out 

the recommendations will be referred at the earliest opportunity to the 
Council for decision. 

 
(d) In reaching a decision, the Council may adopt the Cabinet's proposals, 

amend them, refer them back to the Cabinet for further consideration, or in 
principle, substitute its own proposals in their place. 

 
(e) If it accepts the recommendation of the Cabinet without amendment, the 

Council may make a decision which has immediate effect.  Otherwise, it 
may only make an in-principle decision.  In either case, the decision will be 
made on the basis of a simple majority of votes cast at the meeting. 

 
(f) The Monitoring Officer shall supply to the Leader a copy of the minute of 

the Council's decision. 
 

(g) An in-principle decision will automatically become effective within five 
working days from the date of the Council's decision, unless the Leader 
informs the Monitoring Officer in writing within that period that they objects 
to the decision becoming effective and provides reasons why. 

 

179



4-48   May 2021  

(h) In that case, the Monitoring Officer will call a Council meeting within a 
further 20 working days.  The Council will be required to re-consider its 
decision and the Leader's written submission. 

 
The Council may, by a simple majority of votes cast at the meeting: 

 
(i) approve the Cabinet's recommendation; or 

 
(ii) approve a different decision which does not accord with the 

recommendation of the Cabinet. 
 

(i) The decision shall then be made public and shall be implemented 
immediately. 

 
(j) In approving the budget and policy framework, the Council will also specify 

the extent of virement within the budget which may be undertaken by the 
Cabinet, in accordance with paragraph 5 of these Rules.  Any other 
changes to the policy and budgetary framework are reserved to the 
Council. 

 
3. Decisions Outside the Budget or Policy Framework 
 

(a) Subject to the provisions of paragraph 5 (virement) the Cabinet, any 
Committees appointed by the Cabinet, individual members of the Cabinet 
or any staff, Area Committees, other Committees or joint arrangements 
discharging Cabinet functions may only take decisions which are in line 
with the budget and policy framework.  If any of these bodies or persons 
wishes to make a decision which is contrary to the policy framework, or 
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the budget approved by full 
Council, then that decision may only be taken by the Council, subject to 4 
below. 

 
(b) If the Cabinet, any Committees appointed by Cabinet, individual members 

of the Cabinet or any staff, Area Committees, other Committees or joint 
arrangements discharging Cabinet functions want to make such a 
decision, they shall take advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Chief Financial Officer as to whether the decision they want to make would 
be contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the budget.  If the advice of either of those officers is that 
the decision would not be in line with the existing budget and/or policy 
framework, then the decision must be referred by that body or person to 
the Council for decision, unless the decision is a matter of urgency, in 
which case the provisions in paragraph 4 (urgent decisions outside the 
budget and policy framework) shall apply. 

 
4. Urgent Decision Outside the Budget or Policy Framework 
 

(a) The Cabinet, any Committees appointed by Cabinet, an individual member 
of the Cabinet or staff, Area Committees, other Committees or joint 
arrangements discharging Cabinet functions may take a decision which is 
contrary to the Council's policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in 

180



4-49   May 2021  

accordance with the budget approved by full Council if the decision is a 
matter of urgency.  However, the decision may only be taken: 

 
(i) if it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the full Council; 

and 
 

(ii) if the chair of a relevant Scrutiny Panel agrees that the decision is a 
matter of urgency. 

 
The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of full 
Council and the chair of the relevant Scrutiny Panel's consent to the 
decision being taken as a matter of urgency must be noted on the record 
of the decision.  In the absence of the chair of a relevant Scrutiny Panel 
the consent of the Mayor, and in the absence of both the Deputy Mayor, 
will be sufficient. 

 
(b) Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the 

next available Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it 
and why the decision was treated as a matter of urgency. 

 
5. Virement 
 

Steps taken by the Cabinet, any Committees appointed by Cabinet, an individual 
member of the Cabinet or staff, Area Committees, other Committees or joint 
arrangements discharging Cabinet functions to implement Council policy shall not 
exceed those budgets allocated to each budget head.  However, virement across 
budget heads will be allowed in accordance with the Council's financial 
regulations contained in the Financial Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 
6. In-year Changes to Policy Framework 
 

The responsibility for agreeing the budget and policy framework lies with the 
Council, and decisions by the Cabinet, any Committees appointed by Cabinet, an 
individual member of the Cabinet or staff, Area Committees, other Committees or 
joint arrangements discharging Cabinet functions must be in line with it.  No 
changes to any policy and strategy which make up the policy framework may be 
made by those bodies or individuals, except those changes which are necessary 
to ensure compliance with the law, Ministerial direction or Government guidance. 

 
7. Call-in of Decisions Outside the Budget or Policy Framework 
 

(a) Where a Scrutiny Panel is of the opinion that a Cabinet decision is contrary 
to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
Council's budget, then it shall seek advice from the Monitoring Officer 
and/or Chief Financial Officer. 

 
(b) In respect of functions which are the responsibility of the Cabinet, the 

Monitoring Officer's report and/or Chief Financial Officer's report shall be to 
the Cabinet with a copy to every member of the Council.  Regardless of 
whether the decision is delegated or not, the Cabinet must meet to decide 

181



4-50   May 2021  

what action to take in respect of the Monitoring Officer's report and to 
prepare a report to Council in the event that the Monitoring Officer or the 
Chief Financial Officer conclude that the decision was a departure, and to 
the Scrutiny Panel if the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Financial Officer 
conclude that the decision was not a departure. 

 
(c) Following a report to the Council, the Council may either: 

 
(i) endorse a decision of the Cabinet decision taker as falling within the 

existing budget and policy framework.  In this case no further action 
is required, save that the decision of the Council be minuted and 
circulated to all Councillors in the normal way; 

 
Or 
 
(ii) amend the Council's financial regulations or policy concerned to 

encompass the decision of the body or individual responsible for 
that Cabinet function and agree to the decision with immediate 
effect.  In this case, no further action is required save that the 
decision of the Council be minuted and circulated to all Councillors 
in the normal way; 

 
Or 

 
(iii) require the Cabinet to reconsider the matter in accordance with the 

advice of either the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Financial Officer 
where the Council accepts that the decision is contrary to the policy 
framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
budget, and does not amend the existing framework to 
accommodate it. 

 

182



4-51   May 2021  

Cabinet Procedure Rules 

 
1. How Does the Cabinet Operate? 
 
1.1 Who May Make Cabinet Decisions? 
 

The arrangements for the discharge of Cabinet functions are set out in the 
Cabinet arrangements adopted by the Council.  The arrangements provide for 
Cabinet functions to be discharged by: 

 
(i) the Cabinet as a whole; 
(ii) a Committee of the Cabinet; 
(iii) an individual member of the Cabinet; 
(iv) a member of staff; 
(v) an Area Committee; 
(vi) joint arrangements; or 
(vii) another local authority 

 
1.2 Sub-Delegation of Cabinet Functions 
 

(a) Where the Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet or an individual member of 
the Cabinet is responsible for a Cabinet function, they may delegate further 
to an Area Committee, joint arrangements or a member of staff. 

 
(b) Even where Cabinet functions have been delegated, that fact does not 

preclude the discharge of delegated functions by the person or body who 
delegated. 

 
1.3 The Council's Scheme of Delegation and Cabinet Functions 
 

The Council's scheme of delegation will be subject to adoption by the Council and 
may only be amended by the Council.  It will contain the details required in Article 
7 and set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 
1.4 Conflicts of Interest 
 

(a) Where the Leader has a conflict of interest this should be dealt with as set 
out in the Council's Code of Conduct for Councillors in Part 5 of the 
Constitution. 

 
(b) If every member of the Cabinet has a conflict of interest this should be 

dealt with as set out in the Council's Code of Conduct for Councillors in 
Part 5 of the Constitution. 

 
(c) If the exercise of a Cabinet function has been delegated to a Committee of 

the Cabinet, an individual councillor or a member of staff, and should a 
conflict of interest arise, then the function will be exercised in the first 
instance by the person or body by whom the delegation was made and 
otherwise as set out in the Council's Code of Conduct for Councillors in 
Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 

183



4-52   May 2021  

 
 
1.5 Cabinet Meetings - When and Where? 
 

The Cabinet will meet as required for the purpose of conducting its business.  The 
Cabinet shall meet at the Council's main offices or another location to be agreed 
by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Leader. 

 
1.6 Public or Private Meetings of the Cabinet? 
 

All meetings of the Cabinet shall be open to the public unless the items under 
discussion would involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential information. 

 
1.7 Quorum 
 

The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet, or a Committee of it, shall be one 
quarter of the members.  Provided that a quorum shall not be less than three 
members. 

 
1.8 How are Decisions to be taken by the Cabinet? 
 

(a) Cabinet decisions which have been delegated to the Cabinet as a whole 
will be taken at a meeting convened in accordance with the Access to 
Information Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 
(b) Where Cabinet decisions are delegated to a Committee of the Cabinet, the 

rules applying to Cabinet decisions taken by them shall be the same as 
those applying to those taken by the Cabinet as a whole. 

 
2. HOW ARE CABINET MEETINGS CONDUCTED? 
 
2.1 Who Presides? 
 

If the Leader (or in their absence the Deputy Leader) is present they will preside.  
In their absence, then a person appointed to do so by those present shall preside. 

 
2.2 Who May Attend? 
 

A Councillor other than a Cabinet member may attend a meeting of the Cabinet 
and may speak in the circumstances described in the Council and Committee 
Procedure Rules in Part 4.  Cabinet meetings are also open to members of the 
public, subject to paragraph 1.6 above. 

 
2.3 What Business? 
 

At each meeting of the Cabinet the business shall include: 
 

184



4-53   May 2021  

(i) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 
 

(ii) declarations of interest, if any; 
 

(iii) matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by a Scrutiny Panel or by 
the Council) for reconsideration by the Cabinet in accordance with 
the provisions contained in the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 
Rules or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules set out 
in Part 4 of the Constitution; 

 
(iv) consideration of reports from Scrutiny Panels; and 

 
(v) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, and which shall 

indicate which are key decisions and which are not in accordance 
with the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of 
the Constitution. 

 
2.4 Consultation 
 

All reports to the Cabinet from any member of the Cabinet or a member of staff 
on proposals relating to the budget and policy framework must contain details of 
the nature and extent of consultation with stakeholders and relevant Scrutiny 
Panels and the outcome of that consultation.  Reports about other matters will set 
out the details and outcome of consultation as appropriate.  The level of 
consultation required will be appropriate to the nature of the matter under 
consideration. 

 
2.5 Who Can Put Items on the Cabinet Agenda? 
 

(a) The Leader may put on the agenda of any Cabinet meeting any matter 
which  they wish, whether or not authority has been delegated to the 
Cabinet, a Committee of it or any Councillor or member of staff in respect 
of that matter.  The Monitoring Officer will comply with the Leader's request 
in this respect. 

 
(b) The Monitoring Officer will make sure that an item is placed on the agenda 

of the next available meeting of the Cabinet where a relevant Scrutiny 
Panel or the full Council so request. 

 
(c) The Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Financial 

Officer may include an item for consideration on the agenda of a Cabinet 
meeting and may require the proper officer to call such a meeting in 
pursuance of their statutory duties.  In other circumstances, where any two 
of the Head of Paid Service, Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer 
are of the opinion that a meeting of the Cabinet needs to be called to 
consider a matter that requires a decision, they may jointly include an item 
on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting.  If there is no meeting of the Cabinet 
soon enough to deal with the issue in question, then the person(s) entitled 
to include an item on the agenda may also require that a meeting be 
convened at which the matter will be considered. 

 

185



4-54   May 2021  

 

 
Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 
1. Arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny 
 

The Council will have the Scrutiny Panels set out in Article 6 and will appoint to 
them as it considers appropriate from time to time. 

 
1.1 Panels of eight non-Cabinet Councillors will be the normal size (enabling all such 

Councillors to be on one Panel), but the Council retains the flexibility to vary 
Panel size if considered appropriate. 

 
2. Who May Sit on Scrutiny Panels? 
 

All Councillors, except members of the Cabinet, may be members of a Scrutiny 
Panel.  However, no member may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which 
they have been directly involved. 

 
3. Co-optees 
 

Each Scrutiny Panel shall be entitled to include third parties in their meetings in a 
non-voting capacity. 

 
4. Meetings of Scrutiny Panels 
 

Scrutiny Panels will determine their own frequency of meetings.  A Panel meeting 
may be called by the Chair of the Panel or by the Monitoring Officer if  they 
consider it necessary or appropriate. 

 
5. Quorum 
 

The quorum for a Scrutiny Panel shall be as set out for Committees in the Council 
and Committee Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 
6. Who Chairs Scrutiny Panel Meetings? 
 

The Panel Chairs and Vice-Chairs will be appointed annually by the Council. 
 
7. Work Programme 
 

The Scrutiny Panels will be responsible for setting their own work programme and 
in doing so they shall take into account wishes of members on that Panel who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council.  Panels will also receive 
staff support to assist with their work. 

 
8. Agenda Items 
 

The Scrutiny Panels shall respond, as soon as their work programme permits, to 
requests from the Council, and if it considers it appropriate the Cabinet, to review 

186



4-55   May 2021  

particular areas of Council activity.  Where they do so, the Scrutiny Panel shall 
report its findings and any recommendations back to the Cabinet and/or Council 
for consideration as soon as reasonably possible. 

 
9. Policy Review and Development 
 

(a) The role of the Scrutiny Panels in relation to the development of the 
Council's budget and policy framework is set out in detail in the Budget 
and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 

 
(b) In relation to the development of the Council's approach to other matters 

not forming part of its policy and budget framework, a Scrutiny Panel may 
make proposals to the Cabinet for developments insofar as they relate to 
matters within its terms of reference. 

 
(c) Scrutiny Panels may hold enquiries and investigate the available options 

for future direction in policy development and may appoint advisers and 
assessors to assist them in this process.  They may go on site visits, 
conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, commission research and do 
all other things that they reasonably consider necessary to inform their 
deliberations.  They may ask witnesses to attend to address them on any 
matter under consideration and may pay to any advisers, assessors and 
witnesses a reasonable fee and expenses for doing so.  Such activities as 
are mentioned in this paragraph shall be carried out within the limits of the 
budget established for this purpose. 

 
10. Reports from Scrutiny Panels 
 

(a) Once it has formed recommendations on proposals for policy 
development, the relevant Scrutiny Panel will prepare a formal report and 
submit it to the Monitoring Officer for consideration, as appropriate, by the 
Cabinet, an Area Committee or the Council. 

 
(b) The relevant body shall consider the report at the next available meeting. 

 
11. Making sure that Scrutiny Reports are Considered by the Cabinet 
 

(a) Once a scrutiny report on any matter which is the responsibility of the 
Cabinet has been completed, it shall be included on the agenda of the next 
available meeting of the Cabinet, unless the matter which is the subject of 
the report is scheduled to be considered by the Cabinet within a period of 2 
months.  In such cases, the report of the Scrutiny Panel shall be 
considered by the Cabinet when it considers that matter.  If for any reason 
the Cabinet does not consider the scrutiny report within 3 months then the 
matter will be referred to Council for review, and the Monitoring Officer will 
call a Council meeting to consider the report and make a recommendation 
to the Cabinet. 

 
(b) Scrutiny Panels will in any event have access to the Cabinet's forward plan 

and timetable for decisions and intentions for consultation.  Even where an 
item is not the subject of detailed proposals from a Scrutiny Panel following 

187



4-56   May 2021  

a consideration of possible policy/service developments, the Panel will at 
least be able to respond in the course of the Cabinet's consultation 
process in relation to any key decision. 

 
12. Rights of Scrutiny Panel Members to Documents 
 

(a) In addition to their rights as Councillors, members of Scrutiny Panels have 
the additional rights to documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in 
the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.  In 
particular, they will have access to all Council papers, including Internal 
and External Audit reports relevant to their theme areas, subject to 
preserving the confidentiality of those relating to exempt business of the 
kind referred to in legislation. 

 
(b) Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the 

Cabinet and Scrutiny Panels as appropriate depending on the particular 
matter under consideration. 

 
13. Members and Staff Giving Account 
 

(a) Any Scrutiny Panel may scrutinise and review decisions made or actions 
taken in connection with the discharge of any Council functions.  As well as 
reviewing documentation, in fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any 
member of the Cabinet, the Head of Paid Service and/or any member of 
staff to attend before it to explain in relation to matters within their remit: 

 
(i) any particular decision or series of decisions; 
(ii) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; 

and/or 
(iii) their performance; 

 
and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 

 
(b) Where any Councillor or member of staff is required to attend a Scrutiny 

Panel under this provision, the Chair of that Panel will inform the 
Monitoring Officer.  The latter shall inform the Councillor or member of staff 
in writing giving at least 5 working days notice of the meeting at which they 
are required to attend.  The notice will state the nature of the item on which 
they are required to attend to give account and whether any papers are 
required to be produced for the Panel.  Where the account to be given to 
the Panel will require the production of a report, then the Councillor or 
member of staff concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for 
preparation of that documentation. 

 
(c) Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Councillor or member of staff is 

unable to attend on the required date, then the Scrutiny Panel shall in 
consultation with the person concerned arrange an alternative date for 
attendance. 

188



4-57   May 2021  

14. Attendance by Others 
 

A Scrutiny Panel may invite people other than those people referred to in 
paragraph 13 above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer 
questions.  It may for example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and 
Councillors and staff in other parts of the public sector and may invite such 
people to attend. 

 
15. Call-in 
 

Provisions enabling members to call-in decisions of the Cabinet, Local Area 
Committees or other Committees of the Council are included in the Council and 
Committee Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution.  These are available to 
all Councillors and not reserved exclusively to members of Scrutiny Panels. 

 
16. The Party Whip 
 

No party whip shall be applied to the proceedings of Scrutiny Panels. 
 
17. Procedure at Scrutiny Panel Meetings 
 

(a) Scrutiny Panels shall consider the following business: 
 

(i) minutes of the last meeting; 
(ii) declarations of interest; 
(iii) responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Panel; 
(iv) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting. 

 
(b) Where the Panel conducts investigations (for example with a view to policy 

development), the Panel may also ask people to attend to give evidence at 
Panel meetings which are to be conducted in accordance with the 
following principles: 

 
(i) that the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the 

Panel be given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to 
contribute and speak; 

 
(ii) that those assisting the Panel by giving evidence be treated with 

respect and courtesy; and 
 

(iii) that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency 
of the investigation or analysis. 

 
(c) Following any investigation or review, the Panel shall prepare a report, for 

submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate and shall make its 
report and findings public. 

 
18. Matters Within the Remit of More Than One Scrutiny Panel 
 

Where a matter for consideration by a Scrutiny Panel also falls within the remit of 
one or more other Scrutiny Panels the decision as to which Panel will consider it 
will be resolved by the Cabinet or Council as appropriate.  In any event, the 
Chair(s) of the other Panel(s) will be invited to attend meetings at which the 
matter is being discussed. 

189



4-58   May 2021  

Procedure Rules for Area Committees and the 
Administration Committee 

 
1. How Do the Committees Operate? 
 
1.1 Committee Meetings - When and Where? 
 

Area Committees and the Administration Committee will meet in accordance with 
a timetable or at such other times as may be agreed by the relevant Committee 
Chair.  Area Committees shall determine their own meeting places and shall 
publicise details of the venues and meeting dates accordingly.  The 
Administration Committee will meet at the Council's main offices or another 
location to be agreed by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Committee 
Chair. 

 
1.2 Public or Private Meetings? 
 

All meetings of Area Committees and the Administration Committee shall be open 
to the public unless the items under discussion would involve the disclosure of 
exempt or confidential information. 

 
1.3 Quorum 
 

The quorum for a meeting of an Area Committee or the Administration Committee 
shall be one quarter of the number of the whole body.  Provided that a quorum 
shall not be less than three members. 

 
1.4 How are Decisions to be Taken? 
 

Cabinet decisions which have been delegated to an Area Committee or the 
Administration Committee will be taken at a meeting convened in accordance with 
the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 
2. HOW ARE COMMITTEE MEETINGS CONDUCTED? 
 
2.1 Who Presides? 
 

The Chair of the Committee (or in their absence the Vice-Chair) will preside.  In 
their absence, then a person appointed to do so by those present shall preside.  
The Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Area Committees and the Administration 
Committee are appointed annually by the Council. 

 
2.2 Who May Attend? 
 

A Councillor other than a Committee member may attend a meeting and may 
speak in the circumstances described in the Council and Committee Procedure 
Rules in Part 4.  Committee meetings are also open to members of the public 
(subject to paragraph 1.2 above) and may speak in accordance with the public 
participation rules in Part 4. 
 

190



4-59   May 2021  

2.3 What Business? 
 

At each meeting of a Committee the business shall include: 
 

(i) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 
 

(ii) declarations of interest, if any; 
 

(iii) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting, which shall indicate 
which are key decisions and which are not, and also (in the case of 
Area Committees) which are functions of the Cabinet and which are 
not, in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules 
set out in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 
The Chair of the Committee may, at their discretion, alter the order of business 
shown on the agenda. 

 
2.4 Who Can Put Items on a Committee Agenda? 
 

(a) The Chief Executive, a Corporate Director or an appropriate Service 
Manager may ask the Monitoring Officer to include in an agenda for a 
meeting of an Area Committee or the Administration Committee any item 
requiring a Cabinet decision. 

 
(b) The Leader or the Chair or Vice-Chair of an Area Committee or the 

Administration Committee may put on the agenda of a relevant Committee 
meeting any matter which they wish, whether or not authority has been 
delegated to the Committee or any Councillor or member of staff in respect 
of that matter.  The Monitoring Officer will comply with the member's 
request in this respect. 

 
(c) The provisions in paragraph (b) above are in addition to the right of 

members to submit a Notice of Motion to a Committee on any matter 
relevant to that Committee, in accordance with standing order 7 (in Council 
and Committee Procedure Rules in Part 4). 

 
(d) The Monitoring Officer may request an item related to a standards matter 

be added to the agenda for the Administration Committee. 
 

2.5 Sub-Committees 
 
The Administration Committee may appoint sub-committees for the purpose of 
considering a complaint(s) that a Member has breached the Council’s Code of 
Conduct referred to the sub-committee by the Monitoring Officer. The procedure 
for these meetings will be in accordance with the procedure agreed by the 
Council on 26 July 2012.  

191



4-60   May 2021  

Financial Procedure Rules 

 
The Appendix following this page contains the Council's Financial Regulations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

192



4-61   May 2021  

APPENDIX H (Part 4 – Rules of Procedure) 
 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

INDEX 

1. Status of Financial Regulation 
 

2. Financial Management 
2.2      The Full Council 
2.3     Cabinet 
2.5     Key Decisions 
2.8       Scrutiny Panels 
2.9   Local Area Committees 
2.10    Statutory Officers 
2.26    Accounting  

 
3. Financial Planning 

3.3       Budgetary Control 
3.15     Capital Programme 
3.19     Virement and Supplementary Estimates 

 
4 Risk Management and Control of Resources 

4.2 Risk Management 
4.7 Internal Control 
4.11 Internal Audit 
4.18 External Audit 
4.20    Preventing Fraud and Corruption 
4.22     Assets 
4.30     Treasury Management 
4.37     Borrowing and Investments 
4.42     Security 
4.49      Information Technology 
4.56      Stores and Stocks 
4.63      Inventories 

 
5 Systems and Procedures 

5.6        Income and Expenditure 
5.7    Banking Arrangements and Cheques 
5.14       Income Collection 

    5.20       Income Records  
    5.26       Bad debts 
    5.28       Supplies and Official Orders 
    5.32       Payment of Accounts 
    5.42       Procurement Cards 

5.43    Petty Cash 
5.49    Contracts 
5.55    Staffing 
5.58    Payments to Employees and Councillors 
5.70    Travel and Subsistence 

193



4-62   May 2021  

5.75  Car Loans 
5.79        Taxation 
5.82        Trading Accounts 

 
6 External Arrangements 

6.2        Partnerships and External Funding 
6.11        Work for Third Parties 

194



4-63   May 2021  

1 STATUS OF FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 
 

1.1 Financial regulations provide the framework for managing the Council’s financial 
affairs. They apply to every member, all staff of the Council and anyone acting 
on its behalf.  Failure to comply with these regulations could result in 
disciplinary action being taken. 

 
1.2 The regulations identify the financial responsibilities of the full Council, the 

Cabinet, Local Area Committees and Scrutiny Members, the Head of Paid 
Service, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Deputy 
CFO, Corporate Directors, Executive Heads and budget holders. 

 
1.3 Unless specifically stated, for the purpose of these regulations the Chief 

Executive is deemed to be the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer is 
deemed to be the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Financial Officer is deemed to 
be the Council’s Chief Financial Officer or Deputy Chief Financial Officer. Any 
reference to a budget holder is deemed to include any staff holding a 
designated position of financial responsibility. 

 
1.4 All reference to “Scheme of Delegation to Staff” refers to the latest approved 

Management Scheme of Delegation. 
 

1.5 All reference to “The Constitution” refers to the current Eastleigh Borough 
Council Constitution. Reference is included in this document as necessary to 
reflect financial management issues.   

 
1.6 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for maintaining a continuous review of 

the financial regulations and submitting any additions or changes necessary to 
the Full Council for approval. The Chief Financial Officer is also responsible 
for reporting, where appropriate, breaches of the financial regulations to the 
Council and/or to the Cabinet Members. The Chief Financial Officer is 
responsible for issuing advice and guidance to underpin the financial 
regulations that Councillors, staff and others acting on behalf of the Council 
are required to follow. 

 
1.7 Managers are responsible for ensuring that all staff for whom they are 

responsible are aware of the existence and content of the Council’s Financial 
Regulations and other internal regulatory documents and that they comply 
with them. They must also ensure that the financial regulations are available 
for reference to their sections. All Councillors and staff have a general 
responsibility for taking reasonable action to provide for the security of the 
assets under their control, and for ensuring that the use of these resources is 
legal, properly authorised, provides value for money and achieves best value. 

 
1.8 These regulations are effective from 22 July 2021. 

  

195



4-64   May 2021  

2 FINANCIAL REGULATIONS – FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 

INTRODUCTION 

2.1 Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the 
running of the Council, including the policy framework and budget and should be 
read in conjunction with the Council’s Constitution. 

 
THE FULL COUNCIL 

2.2 The Full Council is responsible for adopting and changing the Council’s 
constitution and Councillors’ Code of Conduct and for approving or adopting 
the policy framework, the budget and budget strategy within which the Cabinet 
operates. 

 
THE CABINET 

2.3 The Cabinet is responsible for proposing the policy framework, its overall 
community and corporate strategies and budget strategy to the Full Council, 
and for discharging Cabinet functions in accordance with the policy framework 
and budget. 

 
2.4 Cabinet decisions, excluding key decisions, can be delegated to a committee of 

the Cabinet, an individual Cabinet member (Cabinet Lead), an Area or other 
Constituted committee or to a member of staff. 

 

Key Decisions 

2.5 A key decision means a Cabinet decision which is likely: 
 

(a) to result in income, expenditure or savings which amount to greater than 
£50,000 of the gross expenditure or income budget for the service or 
general function to which the decision relates; or 

 
(b) to be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an 

area comprising two or more wards within the Borough of Eastleigh. 
 

2.6 Paragraph 2.5 above shall not apply: 

 
(a) if the expenditure or savings are part of a programme already approved; 

or 
 

(b) if it is a decision taken by the Chief Financial Officer in accordance with 
the approved Treasury Management Policy. 

 
(c) a decision-taker may only make a key decision in accordance with the 

requirements of the Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the 
Constitution. 

 
2.7 The Cabinet is responsible for establishing protocols to ensure that individual 

Cabinet Members consult with relevant officers before taking a decision within 
his or her delegated authority. In doing so, the individual member must take 
account of legal and financial liabilities and risk management issues that may 
arise from the decision. 

196



4-65   May 2021  

SCRUTINY PANELS 
 

2.8 The Scrutiny Panels are responsible for the review and/or scrutiny of decisions of 
the Cabinet and Local Area Committees. Scrutiny Panels are also responsible 
for making recommendations on future policy development, overview or scrutiny 
and for reviewing the general policy and service delivery of the Council. The 
Audit and Resources Committee will agree and oversee the Council’s Internal 
Audit Plan. 

 
LOCAL AREA COMMITTEES 

 
2.9 Local Area Committees are responsible for taking Cabinet decisions within policy 

framework and budget on locally provided services and the local Community 
Investment Programme (including matters delegated to them by either the 
Council or the Cabinet). 

 
STATUTORY OFFICERS 

 
Head of Paid Service 

2.10 The Head of Paid Service is responsible for overall corporate management and 
operational responsibility for the management of the Council as a whole. They 
must report as necessary to the Council and Cabinet. They are responsible for 
the provision of professional advice to all parties in the decision-making process. 
The Head of Paid Service is also responsible, together with the Monitoring 
Officer, for the system of record keeping in relation to all the full Council’s 
decisions. 

 
Monitoring Officer 

2.11 The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high 
standards of conduct through provision of support to the Administration 
Committee. The Monitoring Officer is also responsible for reporting any actual or 
potential breaches of the law or maladministration to the full Council and/or to the 
Cabinet, and for ensuring that procedures for recording and reporting key 
decisions are operating effectively 

 

2.12 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that Cabinet decisions, together with the 
reasons for those decisions, and relevant staff reports and background papers 
are made publicly available as soon as possible. 

 

2.13 The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the Cabinet are in 
accordance with the budget and policy framework. 

 
2.14 The Monitoring Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers and authority 

to take decisions, maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget 
and policy framework issues. 

 
2.15 After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Financial Officer, the 

Monitoring Officer will report to the Full Council (or to the Cabinet in relation to a 
Cabinet function) if they consider that any proposal, decision or omission would 
give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise to 
maladministration. Such a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or 

197



4-66   May 2021  

decision being implemented until the matter has been resolved. 
 

2.16 The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and 
will ensure that it is widely available for consultation by Councillors, staff and 
the public. 

 
Chief Financial Officer 

2.17 The Chief Financial Officer has statutory duties in relation to the financial 
administration and stewardship of the Council. This statutory responsibility 
cannot be overridden. The statutory duties arise from: 

 

(a) Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 amended 2003 

(b) The Local Government Finance Act 1988 

(c) The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

(d) The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 
2.18 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for: 

 

(a) the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs 

(b) setting and monitoring compliance with financial management standards 

(c) advising on the corporate financial position and on the key financial 

controls necessary to secure sound financial management 

(d) providing financial information 

(e) preparing the revenue budget and Capital Strategy  

(f) Treasury Management 

(g) maintaining an adequate and effective system of internal audit in 

accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

 
2.19 The Chief Financial Officer shall make a report to the Council under sub-section 

2 of S114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 where the Council, a 
Committee or a member of staff, or a Joint Committee on which the Council is 
represented: 

 
(g) has made or is about to make a decision which involves or would involve 

the Council incurring unlawful expenditure; 
 

(h) has taken, or is about to take, a course of action which if pursued to its 
conclusion would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

 
(b) is about to enter an item of account which is unlawful. 

 
In preparing a report the Chief Financial Officer shall consult as far as practicable 
with the person designated as the Head of the Council’s Paid Service and with 
the person responsible for performing the duties of the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
 
The Chief Financial Officer shall make a report under sub-section 3 of S114 of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1988 if it appears to them that the 
expenditure of the Council incurred (including expenditure it proposes to incur) in 
a financial year is likely to exceed the resources (including sums borrowed) 
available to it to meet that expenditure. 

198



4-67   May 2021  

 
2.20 Members and Officers shall draw to the attention of the Chief Financial Officer, at 

the earliest opportunity, any subject which may lead to a formal report. 
 

2.21 Section 114 of the 1988 Act also requires: 
 

(a) the Chief Financial Officer to nominate a properly qualified member of 
staff to deputise should he or she be unable to perform the duties under 
section 114 personally 

 
(b) the Council to provide the Chief Financial Officer with sufficient staff, 

accommodation and other resources (including legal advice where this is 
necessary) to carry out the duties under section 114. 

 
Other Staff 

2.22 The Chief Executive, Corporate Directors and Executive Heads will exercise 
an overview of the activity of services and capital schemes within their 
respective portfolio. They will ensure that managers consult with the Chief 
Financial Officer and seek approval on any matter liable to affect the Council’s 
finances materially, before any commitments are incurred. 

 
2.23 Budget holders are responsible for ensuring that Cabinet Members are advised 

of the financial implications of all proposals and that the financial implications 
have been agreed by the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
2.24 All staff are responsible for the financial processes under their control, or 

influence. In order to fulfil this duty, budget holders, in consultation as necessary 
with the responsible Executive Head and Corporate Director, shall have a 
primary responsibility for the observance of the Council’s Financial Regulations 
throughout the area under their control and ensure that adequate operational 
controls are in place. 

 
2.25 Staff shall comply with all financial principles and policies, contained within any 

Management Scheme of Delegation or Empowerment, which the Council may 
introduce, whether specific reference is contained within these Financial 
Regulations or not. 

 
ACCOUNTING 

 
2.26 All prime accounting forms, records, systems (including financial systems 

operated on PC software) and procedures of the Council shall be subject to the 
approval of the Chief Financial Officer. Such procedures shall have regard to 
S115 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015 and appropriate accounting Standards. 

 
2.27 A budget holder shall consult the responsible Executive Head and Chief 

Financial Officer before introducing, amending or discontinuing any record or 
procedure related to accounting for cash, stores or equipment, or dealing with 
income, expenditure or other financial transactions in the area under their 
control. 

 

199



4-68   May 2021  

2.28 The following principles shall be observed in the allocation of accounting duties 
and responsibilities: 

 
(a) So far as it is practicable, the duties of providing information on, 

calculating, checking and recording sums due to or from the Council shall 
be separated from duties of collection or disbursement. 

 
(b) Staff responsible for the examination and checking of cash transactions 

shall not themselves be engaged in any such collection procedures. 
 
  

200



4-69   May 2021  

3 FINANCIAL REGULATIONS – FINANCIAL PLANNING 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

3.21 The Full Council is responsible for agreeing the policy framework and budget, 
which will be proposed by the Cabinet. In terms of financial planning, the key 
elements are: 

 

 Corporate Strategy 

 

 the Medium-Term Financial Plan 
 

 the Capital, Investment and Treasury Management Strategy 

 
3.22 The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget and policy 

framework. Once a budget or policy framework is in place, it will be the 
responsibility of the Cabinet to implement it. 

 
BUDGETARY CONTROL 

 
Budget format 

3.23 The general format of the budget will be prepared in accordance with appropriate 
legislation and codes of practice. It will be approved by the full Council and 
proposed by the Cabinet on the advice of the Chief Financial Officer. The draft 
budget should include allocation to different services and projects, proposed 
taxation levels and reserve funds. 

 
Budget preparation 

3.24 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring that the following is 
prepared on an annual basis for consideration by the Cabinet, before submission 
to the full Council. 

 

 a revenue budget 

 

 a capital budget (Community Investment Programme) 

 

 a rolling medium term financial plan of at least 3 years for presentation to 
the Cabinet  

 
The full Council may amend the budget or ask the Cabinet to reconsider it before 
approving it. 

 
3.25 It is the responsibility of budget holders to ensure that budget estimates submitted 

to the Cabinet in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer reflect agreed plans 
and that these estimates are prepared in line with guidance issued by the 
Cabinet. 

 
Budget monitoring and control 

3.26 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for providing appropriate financial 
information systems to enable budgets to be monitored effectively. The Chief 
Financial Officer must monitor and exercise overall control of expenditure and 

201



4-70   May 2021  

income against budget allocations and report to the Cabinet on the overall 
position quarterly. 

 
3.27 Budget Holders are accountable for the control of income and expenditure within 

their area and to monitor performance, taking account of the financial information 
available. They should report actual and forecast variances within their own 
areas. They should also take appropriate action necessary to avoid exceeding 
their budget allocation and alert the responsible Executive Head and Chief 
Financial Officer to any problems. 

 
3.28 All Budget Holders are required to comply with the Council’s Corporate Financial 

Monitoring process as directed by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 

3.29 Where it appears that the approved budget on any element of revenue or capital 
expenditure is likely to be exceeded or that the amount of expected income may 
not be received, it shall be the duty of the budget holder concerned, to inform 
the Chief Financial Officer, who may then inform the Cabinet or appropriate 
Local Area Committee.  

 
3.30 Budget Holders may delegate authority to other staff to act on their behalf in 

sanctioning orders for payment, but such delegation shall not in any way reduce 
the accountability of the Manager. 

 
3.31 No expenditure may be incurred unless it has been included in budgets approved 

by the Cabinet and Council. Subject to the virement limits in regulation 3.26 any 
proposed new policy or any changes in policy likely to affect the financial 
resources of the Council shall be proposed to the Cabinet who shall make 
recommendations to the Council. 

 
3.32 Where expenditure or income involves a contract with a third party Budget 

Holders must follow procedures laid down in Contract Standing Orders. 
 

3.33 Where service areas operating under an approved Scheme of Management 
Delegation are able to generate additional income from external sources, which 
does not impact upon the parameters or policies agreed by the Council, the 
income can be reinvested in the service with the agreement of the relevant 
Portfolio Lead, Corporate Director, Executive Head and subsequent 
approval from the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
Resource allocation 

3.34 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for developing and maintaining a 
financial resource allocation process that ensures due consideration of the full 
Council’s policy framework. 
 
Capital Programme (Community Investment Programme) 

3.35 Draft estimates for the ensuing year, together with a financial report shall be 
presented to the Cabinet so that provision for approved items may be made in 
revenue estimates. The budget process shall be as follows: 

 
(a) The CIP shall be prepared by the Chief Financial Officer who shall identify 

appropriate sources of funding. 

202



4-71   May 2021  

 
(b) The Chief Financial Officer shall prepare revenue budgets in consultation 

with each budget holder consistent with the general directions of the 
Cabinet. Such budgets must take account of the revenue effects of any 
capital expenditure. Budget holders should be confident that their budgets 
can bear the longer term consequences of any expenditure that they 
authorise. 

 
(c) The Cabinet shall consider the aggregate effect of the programmes and 

budgets upon the resources of the Council and will submit these to 
Council for approval. 

 
3.36 A forward provisional programme of at least three years shall be maintained. 

 
3.37 Before any scheme can be added to the CIP the following criteria must be met: 

 
(a) The nature of the project and its links to the Corporate Strategy and 

Portfolio/Local Area Committee/Service Plans must be identified. 
 

(b) The project has been subject to an appropriate feasibility study (the level 
depends on the nature of the project). 

 
(c) The structure, delivery and monitoring of the project is in line with the 

Council’s Project Management Methodology. 
 

3.38 Subject to paragraph 5.54 no expenditure may be incurred upon a capital 
scheme until it has been included in the capital programme approved as follows: 

 
(a) if within an existing budget, up to a set sum of £50,000, agreement by 

the relevant Executive Head in conjunction with the Chief Financial 
Office. 

 
(b) if a new budget, up to a set sum of £50,000, agreement by Local Area 

Committee or Cabinet, subject to the identification of financing. 
 

(c) if over £50,000 agreement by Council. 
 

A scheme may only be committed when an estimate of the associated revenue 
expenditure and income has been approved by the relevant committee. 

 
Virement and Supplementary Estimates 

3.39 Expenditure shall not be incurred, or a voluntary reduction of income 
authorised, unless it is covered by the annual budget, special financial 
provision or a supplementary estimate. 

 
3.40 When it is desired to direct a budget to a purpose other than that for which it has 

been approved, as part of the budgetary process, virement will be permitted 
subject to the limits detailed below. 

 
3.41 Virement within any controllable individual portfolio budget (as defined by the 

Chief Financial Officer), whether capital or revenue is permitted subject to the 

203



4-72   May 2021  

financial limits and virement authority levels contained in paragraph 3.24 below. 
 

Note: This will allow virement between services provided they are within the same 
portfolio. Virement between portfolios are the subject to approval from all relevant 
portfolio leads.  

 
3.42 Virement of any budget within a service is permitted, with the exception of 

internal recharges, subject to the financial limits and virement authority levels 
contained in paragraph 3.24 below. 

 
3.43 Virement between any service within a LAC budget will be permitted with the 

exception of internal recharges, subject to the financial limits and virement 
authority limits contained in paragraph 3.24 below. 

 
Virement Limits and Authority Levels 

3.44 The following financial limits shall apply in respect of any virement. Such limits 
are to be viewed per transaction. If any virement affects the level of service 
provided for a devolved function approval must also be gained from the relevant 
LAC Chair. 

 
(a) Between service budgets within portfolio (revenue or CIP) 

 
Up to £50,000, at the discretion of the appropriate Executive Head(s) in consultation with 
the relevant Budget Holder(s). 
 
Any virement above £50,000 shall further require the approval of the relevant Portfolio Lead. 
  
For the avoidance of doubt, “Service” means an individual page of the budget book, e.g. 
Car parks. 
 

(b) Within a Service 
 
Any sum within the approved budget (excluding internal recharges) at the discretion of 
the Budget Holder. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, “Within a Service” means a virement between subjective 
headings, e.g. supplies and services to property within the same Service. 
 

(c) Between services within a LAC budget (capital or revenue) 
 
Up to £25,000 at the discretion of the LAC Chair in consultation with the relevant Executive 
Head and relevant Budget Holders.  
 
For the avoidance of doubt, “Between Services”, is as per the principle in b) above, but 
relates to virements between subjective headings in different Services, but within the 
same LAC budget. 
 

(d) Between portfolios 
 
Virement between portfolios are the subject to approval from all relevant budget holders, 
Executive Heads and Portfolio Leads. 

204



4-73   May 2021  

 
For the avoidance of doubt, “Service” means an individual page of the budget book, e.g. 
Car parks. 

3.45 Any virement which is undertaken within the parameters of these regulations 
must also reflect the Corporate Strategy and policy decisions of the Council. 

 
3.46 Where a supplementary estimate is required, a request will be made to the Chief 

Financial Officer in accordance with the procedures laid down from time to time. 
Such requests shall be considered by the Chief Financial Officer and the 
Cabinet. All requests must identify the following: 

 
(a) Nature and reason for growth 
(b) Cost (including 5 year projection) 
(c) Link to Portfolio and Corporate Strategy 
(d) Proposed source of funding 

 
3.47 Where virement is not possible a Cabinet Member or LAC must seek the 

approval of the Cabinet for a supplementary estimate. The Cabinet will consider 
the reasons why a supplementary estimate is required which may include: - 

 
(a) circumstances of an exceptional nature which could not have been 

foreseen. 
 

(b) a change in Council or National Policy, in providing a new service or 
altering an existing one which was not known at the time budgets were 
proposed. 

 
Maintenance of Reserves 

3.48 It is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer to advise the Cabinet and/or 
the full Council on prudent levels of reserves for the Council. 

205



4-74   May 2021  

4 RISK MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF RESOURCES 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

4.21 It is essential that robust, integrated systems are developed and maintained for 
identifying and evaluating all significant operational risks to the Council. This 
should include the proactive participation of all those associated with planning 
and delivering services. 

 
RISK MANAGEMENT  

 
4.22 The Cabinet is responsible for approving the Council’s policy on risk 

management and for defining the member, staff and committee structure through 
which risk management will be planned and monitored. 

 
4.23 The Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer are accountable for preparing 

the Council’s risk management policy statement for submission to the Cabinet.  
 

4.24 The Chief Financial Officer shall consider and advise the Cabinet on those risks 
which are to be covered by a policy of insurance, which have been identified to 
them, and shall advise relevant Managers of any changes in such cover. 

 
4.25 Managers shall give prompt notification to the Chief Financial Officer of: 

 
(a) All risks in the control of their unit or area, covered by such a policy of 

insurance, with the estimate of value in the case of property, vehicles or 
plant or other intangible assets. 

 
(b) Any alteration which may affect existing insurances. 

 
(c) Any loss, liability or damage, or any event likely to lead to a claim. 
 
(d) All leases of property granted by or to the Council which involve a transfer 

of insurance cover. 
 
(e) The terms of any indemnity which the Council is requested to give. 

 
4.26 The Chief Financial Officer shall periodically review insurances in consultation 

with other Managers as appropriate. 
 

INTERNAL CONTROL 
 

4.27 Internal control refers to the systems of control devised by management to help 
ensure the Council’s objectives are achieved in a manner that promotes 
economical, efficient and effective use of resources and that the Council’s assets 
and interests are safeguarded. 

 
4.28 The authority must ensure that it has a sound system of internal control which: 

 
(a) facilitates the effectiveness of its functions and the achievements of its 

206



4-75   May 2021  

aims and objectives 
(b) ensure that the financial and operational management of the authority is 

effective 
(c) includes effective arrangements for the management of risk. 

 
4.29 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for advising on effective systems of 

internal control. These arrangements need to ensure compliance with all 
applicable statutes and regulations, and other relevant statements of best 
practice. They should ensure that public funds are properly safeguarded and 
used economically, efficiently, and in accordance with the statutory and other 
authorities that govern their use. 

 
4.30 It is the responsibility of Managers to maintain internal control and to establish 

sound arrangements for planning, appraising, authorising and controlling their 
operations in order to achieve continuous improvement, economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness and for achieving their financial performance targets. 

 
AUDIT REQUIREMENTS 

 
Internal Audit 

4.31 These regulations are supplemented to the powers and duties of the Chief 
Financial Officer imposed by Regulation 5 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2015. 

 
4.32 The Council shall be responsible for maintaining an adequate and effective 

internal audit service. This shall be delegated to the Head of Internal Audit in 
accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. This shall enable 
an independent, continuous examination of the internal control systems, all 
accounts, records and terms of the Council and the achievement of economic, 
efficient and effective use of resources, and the Council shall make sufficient 
resources available for this. 

 
4.33 Internal Audit will comply with the requirements of the Public Sector Internal 

Audit Standards and any subsequent amendments. Compliance with the 
Standards will be reviewed through self-assessment every 2 years and by 
external assessment every 5 years in line with the Internal Audit Charter and 
Internal Audit Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme. 

 
4.34 The Chief Financial Officer and Head of Internal Audit or their authorised 

representatives shall have authority to: 
 

(a) Enter at all times any Council premises land. 
 

(b) Have access to any information from the Council which they require in 
order to carry out their duties. 

 
(c) Require and receive any such explanations as the Chief Financial 

Officer/Head of Internal Audit deems necessary concerning any matter 
under examination; 

 
(d) Require any employee of the Council to produce cash, or other Council 

207



4-76   May 2021  

property, records or data under their control upon request; and 
 

(e) Undertake planned observation or surveillance in accordance with 
relevant legislation following authorisation by the Authorised Officer, 
who shall be the Chief Financial Officer or in their absence the Head of 
Legal Services. 

4.35 When any matter arises which involves, or is thought to involve, irregularities or 
theft concerning cash, stores, data or other property or functions of the Council, 
the appropriate Manager shall forthwith notify the Head of Internal Audit who 
shall take such steps as they consider necessary by way of investigation and 
report. If there is evidence or strong suspicion of fraud the Head of Internal 
Audit will normally bring the matter to the attention of the Chief Financial Officer 
and/or Chief Executive. 

 
4.36 The Head of Internal Audit shall report promptly and fully to the Chief 

Financial Officer and Chief Executive and, if appropriate to the Chair of the 
Audit and Resources Committee, on the results of an investigation into an 
irregularity or suspected irregularity. 

 
4.37 The Head of Internal Audit shall submit a report to the Audit and Resources 

Committee on the performance of Internal Audit activity for the financial year, by 
the 31 July of the following year and at other times as circumstances dictate. 

 
External Audit 

4.38 The Council have chosen to appoint Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited 
(PSAA) to appoint external auditors for the audit of accounting statements. The 
basic duties of the external auditor are governed by the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. The external auditor of Housing Benefit claims is 
appointed separately by the Council. 

 
4.39 The Council may, from time to time, be subject to audit, inspection or 

investigation by external bodies such as HM Revenue and Customs Excise, who 
have statutory rights of access. 

 
PREVENTING FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 

 
4.40 The Head of Internal Audit is responsible for the development and maintenance 

of the policy on the Prevention of Fraud and Corruption. All staff are to comply 
with these policies. 

 
4.41 Managers are responsible for ensuring compliance with the above policies by the 

staff, including any temporary staff, under their control and by external 
contractors/consultants employed by the Council from time to time. 
 
ASSETS 

 
4.42 The Chief Financial Officer should ensure that asset registers are maintained by 

designated Managers in accordance with good practice for all fixed assets with a 
value in excess of £5,000, with the exception of IT equipment which is the 
responsibility of the Head of IT. Where a record must be maintained of all 

208



4-77   May 2021  

assets held. The Chief Financial Officer can request information for 
accounting, costing and financial management from each Manager charged 
with maintaining an asset register. 

 
4.43 Managers should ensure that records and assets are properly maintained and 

securely held. They should ensure that information is supplied to the Chief 
Financial Officer when requested, to support the valuations contained the 
accounts of the Council. They should also ensure that contingency plans for 
the security of assets and continuity of service in the event of a disaster or 
system failure are in place.  

 
4.44 The Lead Asset Manager in liaison with the relevant Cabinet Lead, is 

responsible for the development and review of a strategy to encourage the 
efficient use of land and buildings and to secure the proper maintenance of 
buildings. This strategy will have regard to the effect of acquisition, disposal and 
long-term lettings on the Council’s capital programme and revenue budget. 

 
4.45 The Head of Asset Management will be responsible for the maintenance of a 

property data management systemfor all properties owned by the Council, the 
purpose for which held, the location, the extent and plan reference, purchase 
details, particulars of nature of interest and rents payable and particulars of 
tenancies granted. 

 
4.46 Disposals must be recorded in the record and reference made to the Council for 

disposal, together with details of purchaser, income received and any other 
details relevant to the disposal. 

 
4.47 The Head of Legal Services shall have the custody of all title deeds under secure 

arrangements and shall, on completion of any deed or agreement, notify the 
Chief Financial Officer of any financial rights or liabilities arising therefrom. 

 
4.48 All negotiations for the purchase, occupation and development of land or 

buildings owned by third parties, or for the sale to, or use of Council land or 
buildings by third parties (with the exception of casual lettings) will be carried out 
by the Head of Asset Management in consultation with the relevant managers. 

 
4.49 Managers will be responsible for the maintenance of a register of all vehicles, 

plant and equipment owned and recorded by the Council as a fixed asset, or 
held under a lease arrangement, or sub-leased to an external contractor. 
Information held must include the identification of each asset by a unique 
number and by registration (if applicable), the description of the asset together 
with the details and dates of purchase, disposal details and lease 
arrangements.  

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

 
4.50 The Council has adopted CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 

Local Authorities. 
 

4.51 The full Council is responsible for approving the Treasury Management Policy 
statement setting out the matters detailed in section 6 of CIPFA’s Code of 

209



4-78   May 2021  

Practice for Treasury Management in Local Authorities 2017. The policy 
statement is proposed to the full Council by the Cabinet. The Chief Financial 
Officer has delegated responsibility for implementing and monitoring the 
statement. 

 
4.52 All money in the hands of the Council is to be aggregated for the purpose of 

Treasury Management and controlled by the officer designated for the purposes 
of section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, referred to in the code as the 
Chief Financial Officer. 

4.53 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for reporting to the Cabinet a proposed 
Treasury Management Strategy for the coming year at or before the start of each 
financial year. 

 
4.54 All Cabinet decisions on borrowing, investment or financing shall be delegated to 

the Chief Financial Officer or a staff member nominated by them who is required 
to act in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 
Local Authorities. 

 
4.55 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for reporting to the Cabinet not less 

than twice in each financial year on the activities of the treasury management 
operation and on the exercise of their delegated treasury management powers. 
One such report will comprise an annual report on treasury management for 
presentation by 30 September of the succeeding financial year. 

 
4.56 If the Chief Financial Officer wishes to depart in any material respect from the 

main principles of the CIPFA Code, the reasons should be disclosed in the report 
to the Cabinet. 

 
BORROWING & INVESTMENTS 

 
4.57 All borrowing shall be affected in the name of the Council and shall have regard 

to the Council’s statement on Treasury Management in paragraphs 4.30 – 4.36 
of these regulations. 

 
4.58 The Chief Financial Officer shall have authority within any declared policy of the 

Council to raise loan monies to meet the expenses of the Council and to make 
and realise investments. 

 
4.59 The Chief Financial Officer shall be the Council’s Registrar of stocks, bonds and 

mortgages, and shall maintain records of all borrowing and lending of money by 
the Council. 

 
4.60 The Chief Financial Officer shall be authorised to arrange such overdraft facilities 

and other borrowing as they consider reasonable as long as it: 
 

(a) is in accordance with the Local Authorities (Borrowing) Regulations 1990; 
and 

(b) is within the borrowing limits approved by the Council. 
 

210



4-79   May 2021  

4.61 In accordance with S45 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 the 
Chief Financial Officer shall make recommendations to the Cabinet by the 31 
March each year on the borrowing limits to be set for the following financial year, 
which are to include: 

 
(a) an amount of money (the “overall borrowing limit”) which is for the time 

being the maximum amount which the Council may have outstanding by 
way of borrowing; 

 
(b) an amount of money (the “short term borrowing limit”) being a part of the 

overall borrowing limit, which is for the time being the maximum amount 
which the Council may have outstanding by way of short term borrowing; 
and 

 
(c) a limit on the proportion of the total amount of interest payable by the 

Council where the rate is variable by the lender or external factors. 
 

SECURITY 
 

4.62 Managers shall be responsible for maintaining proper security at all times of all 
assets and resources of the Council, both tangible and intangible which are 
under their control. 

 
4.63 The Lead Asset Manager be informed of any building where security is thought 

to be defective or where it is considered that special security arrangements may 
be needed. 

 
4.64 The Chief Financial Officer shall be informed, as soon as possible, of any break- 

in, theft or attempt at such, and any loss otherwise suffered together with the 
estimated value of such loss. 

 
4.65 The Chief Financial Officer shall inform the Chief Executive, Head of Internal 

Audit and the appropriate Manager of any such loss and shall submit a 
statement of the circumstances and the loss sustained to the Council’s 
insurers. 

 
4.66 Each Manager shall be responsible for maintaining proper security and 

privacy with respect to information held within their department and have 
particular regard to the requirement of the Data Protection Act 2018 and 
General Data Protection Regulations 2018. 

 
4.67 Maximum limits for cash holdings shall be agreed with the Chief Financial Officer 

and shall not be exceeded without their permission. Staff responsible for the 
collection and custody of cash shall apply the same security over the latter as 
they would their own monies. 

 
4.68 In addition to the requirement of paragraph 5.14 staff responsible for the 

collection and custody of cash outside Eastleigh House shall bank such 
monies when the limit reaches the maximum cash holding as advised the 
above paragraph or weekly, whichever is the sooner.  

 

211



4-80   May 2021  

 
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

 
4.69 The Information Technology Board, in liaison with the relevant Cabinet Lead, is 

responsible for overseeing the development, review and compliance with Digital 
Strategy. 

 

4.70 The Information Technology Board are authorised to make minor changes to the 
Digital Strategy in the light of changing circumstances, and in particular to keep it 
up to date. 

 
4.71 The Information Technology Board are authorised to agree and amend the 

annual investment programme within the CIP, in consultation with the Leader, 
subject to the Council’s normal budgetary processes, including the consideration 
of ongoing revenue costs. 

 
4.72 The Head of IT is responsible for the development and implementation of 

Information Technology standards drawing on guidance from Government 
Digital Services and ISO 27000 series. 

 
4.73 The Head of IT in liaison with Management Team, is responsible for ensuring 

that computing is approached in a uniform and professional manner by 
providing detailed guidance to staff and members as appropriate. 

 
4.74 Each Manager or Councillor, shall: 

 
(a) Liaise with the Head of IT to ensure compliance with the Council’s Digital 

Strategy and ensure that technical expertise is utilised to the fullest 
extent. 

 
(b) Be responsible for maintaining security systems which prevent 

unauthorised access to all data held by computer or other methods of 
storage, and in particular financial and personal data, and have particular 
regard to the requirements of the General Data Protection Regulations 
2018, the Computer Misuse Act 1990 and the Council’s Internet, E-Mail 
and Social Media Acceptable Usage policy. 

 
Note: All IT hardware and software which is to be used by Council staff must be 
purchased via Support Services. 

 
(c) In liaison with the Head of IT, develop and maintain a contingency plan for 

implementation in the event of a disaster for the restoration of systems at 
each installation under their control. Such plans are to include a periodic 
backup of system information and programs in a form agreed by the Head 
of IT. Contingency plans must be drawn up in consultation with the Head 
of IT and the relevant Business Lead. 

 
4.75 Each Manager shall ensure that only licensed software is used in systems under 

their control and shall seek advice from the Head of IT as necessary.  
 

212



4-81   May 2021  

 
  STORES & STOCKS 
 

4.76 Managers shall be responsible for the care and safe custody of the stocks and 
stores under their control. 

 
4.77 Stock levels shall not be in excess of reasonable requirements consistent with 

operational needs. 

 
4.78 Managers shall maintain a system of continuous stocktaking of stores under 

their control, with periodical test examination by persons other than those who 
have a responsibility for the stock control system. All managers shall ensure 
that the total stock is checked annually at 31 March and certified as correct, 
under the supervision of the relevant Manager. 

 
4.79 Any adjustment of stores records to account for a variance between physical and 

book stock shall be authorised by the appropriate Manager and shall be 
reported to the Chief Financial Officer. Where a deficiency occurs or obsolete 
stock is identified a Manager may write off such amounts and advise the Chief 
Financial Officer who will report such sums to the Cabinet if considered 
significant. 

 
4.80 Stores records shall be maintained in a form agreed by the Chief Financial 

Officer. Details of stores received, returned or issued shall be entered promptly 
in the store’s records. Stores issues and returns shall be made against 
properly completed issue notes. 

 
4.81 Managers may sell obsolete or surplus equipment of a “revenue nature” to 

other units (of the Council) at an agreed price, or to third parties by competitive 
tender or public auction except where the anticipated value of the item or lots is 
less than £100 in which case a sealed bid method can be used. The process 
for disposal must be agreed by the Chief Financial Officer.  Proceeds can be 
devoted to services under their control. The appropriate Manager shall 
dispose of the equipment in an effective and fair manner and shall keep 
adequate records of such disposals. 

 
4.82 Managers are not free to spend the proceeds from the sale of capital equipment 

and should consult the Chief Financial Officer where such a sale is anticipated 
or effected. 

 
INVENTORIES 

 
4.83 Inventories of the Council’s property other than land and buildings shall be 

maintained for each department by the accountable manager for all items of 
moveable equipment, furniture, vehicles, plant and machinery, where the 
value exceeds £100. 

 
4.84 Inventories shall be checked annually at 31 March and be certified as correct, 

under the supervision of the appropriate Managers. The form in which the 
inventories shall be kept is to be determined by the appropriate Manager, with 
the agreement of the Chief Financial Officer. 

4.85 Disposal of any items which are no longer serviceable or are obsolete shall be in 

213



4-82   May 2021  

accordance with paragraph 4.61 of these regulations and the inventory shall be 
endorsed accordingly. 

 
4.86 The Council’s property shall not be removed other than in the ordinary course of 

the Council’s business except in accordance with directions issued by 
Manager concerned. 

 
4.87 The Chief Financial Officer and Head of Internal Audit shall have access to all 

property and may audit the inventories at any time. 

214



4-83   May 2021  

5 SYSTEMS AND PROCEDURES 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

5.21 Sound systems and procedures are essential to an effective framework of 
accountability and control. 

 
GENERAL 

 
5.22 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the operation of the Council’s 

accounting systems, the form of accounts and the supporting financial records, 
budgetary control and paymaster functions. Any changes made to the existing 
financial systems or the establishment of new systems must be approved by the 
Chief Financial Officer. However, Managers are responsible for the proper 
operation of financial processes in their own areas. 

 
5.23 Any changes to agreed procedures by Managers to meet their own specific 

service needs should be agreed with the Chief Financial Officer. 
 

5.24 Managers should ensure that their staff receive relevant financial training that 
has been approved by the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
5.25 Managers must ensure that, where appropriate, computer and other systems 

are registered in accordance with data protection legislation. Managers must 
ensure that staff are aware of their responsibilities under freedom of 
information legislation. 

 
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

 
5.26 It is the responsibility of Managers to ensure that proper delegation has been 

established within their area and is operating effectively. The nature of the 
delegation should identify staff authorised to act on the Manager’s behalf, or 
on behalf of the Cabinet, in respect of payments, income collection and 
placing orders, together with the limits of their delegation. The Cabinet is 
responsible for approving procedures for writing off debts as part of the overall 
control framework of accountability and control. 

 
BANKING ARRANGEMENTS & CHEQUES 

 
5.27 All arrangements with the Council’s bankers shall be made by the Chief Financial 

Officer who shall be authorised to operate such banking accounts, as they may 
consider necessary. 

 
5.28 All forms of cheque shall be ordered, issued and controlled by the Chief Financial 

Officer who shall make proper arrangements for their safe custody. 
 

5.29 Cheques or other authorities for payment made on the Council’s main banking 

215



4-84   May 2021  

accounts shall bear the facsimile signature of the Chief Financial Officer or be 
signed by them or by an officer nominated by them. They shall also sign all 
alterations and amendments to cheques. 

 
5.30 All cheques which are manually produced or are for a value of £20,000 or more, 

shall be countersigned by an officer nominated by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 

5.31 Where payments are to be transmitted electronically the transactions shall be 
countersigned by two independent officers. 

 
5.32 Managers shall ensure that any imprest/petty cash accounts issued to them 

are operated in accordance with the criteria specified by the Chief Financial 
Officer, in these and any other regulations produced for that purpose. See 
paragraphs 5.43-5.48. 

 
5.33 Where an officer in their official capacity is required to operate a bank account for 

the control of charitable, community or other funds not belonging to the Council, 
then the operation of that account shall be notified to the Chief Financial Officer. 
The operator of the account shall have regard to any guidance given by the Chief 
Financial Officer. 

 
INCOME COLLECTION 

 
5.34 The arrangement for the collection and receipt of all monies due to the Council 

shall be approved by the Chief Financial Officer. All monies received on behalf 
of the Council shall be receipted without delay and paid direct to the Council’s 
banking account. No deduction therefrom may be made, save to the extent that 
the Chief Financial Officer may specifically authorise and documented 
evidence of the approval of this transaction must be retained.  

 
5.35 Except where the Council has no discretion, all scales of charges or other levels 

of income shall be reviewed at least annually and approved by the Cabinet or the 
relevant Local Area Committee. 

 
5.36 Each collecting officer shall be responsible for taking all necessary precautions to 

safeguard money whilst it is within their charge. Personal cheques must not be 
cashed out of monies held on behalf of the Council. All cheques and postal 
orders shall be crossed to the Council’s bank account as soon as they are 
received. 

 
5.37 Every transfer of official money from one member of staff to another must be 

recorded and signed for by the receiving officer. 
 

FORMS OF RECEIPT 
 

5.38 The format of all official receipts, other forms, tickets, and documents 
representing money’s worth shall be approved by the Chief Financial Officer who 
shall be satisfied as to the arrangements for their order, control and issue. 
Officers in possession of such forms shall be responsible for the safe custody 
and proper use thereof. 

 

216



4-85   May 2021  

5.39 Official receipts or receipting arrangements in a form approved by the Chief 
Financial Officer, shall be used to acknowledge receipt of all income received. 
Receipts or tickets of the prescribed type shall be issued at the time payment is 
received and daily takes shall be reconciled and properly recorded. 

 
INCOME RECORDS 
 

5.40 Records relating to income maintained in any Service of the Council shall be in a 
form approved by the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
INCOME DUE 
 

5.41 Managers shall supply the Chief Financial Officer with all information 
necessary for them to secure promptly the complete and accurate recording, 
collection, and recovery of all sums due to the Council. 

 
5.42 Debts shall be recovered in line with the relevant Council Debt Recovery Policy 

which is published on the Staff Hub and Website. 
 

5.43 Managers are responsible for ensuring the prompt and regular reconciliation of 
income received and recorded in services to the Council’s financial systems. 
Managers shall supply the Chief Financial Officer with details of the 
reconciliations on request and at a minimum at the end of each financial year. 

 
5.44 In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, every officer of the 

Council who pays money into a banking account of the Council, shall enter on 
the paying-in-slip and on the counterfoil or duplicate particulars of such payment 
including: 

 
(a) amount of cash & cheque 

 
(b) a reference connecting the cash/cheque with the debt or debts in 

discharge.  
 

CHEQUES etc. - ENDORSEMENT 
 

5.45 Cheques or other forms of orders payable to the Council and requiring 
endorsement shall be endorsed by the Chief Financial Officer or such other 
officer of their department so authorised by the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
 BAD DEBTS 

 
5.46 Any debt which is deemed to be irrecoverable and which is to be the subject of a 

write-off is to be notified to the Chief Financial Officer in writing. The Chief 
Financial Officer may write off debts due to the Council not exceeding £5,000 in 
any individual case where they are satisfied there are sound reasons therefore, 
and any balance outstanding where bankruptcy or liquidation proceedings have 
been instituted. In all other cases the approval of the Cabinet shall be obtained. 

 
5.47 A record of all such sums written off shall be maintained by the Chief Financial 

Officer in a register kept by them for that purpose and a report shall be made, at 

217



4-86   May 2021  

least annually, to the Cabinet of the value of debts written off by the Chief 
Financial Officer under delegated powers. 

 
SUPPLIES AND OFFICIAL ORDERS 

5.48 Official orders in a form approved by the Chief Financial Officer shall be used for 
all goods, works and services required by the Council with the exception of: 

 
(a) items of a recurring nature – e.g. gas, electricity, telephone. 

 
(b) purchases from Petty Cash. 

 
(c) such exceptions as the Chief Financial Officer may approve 

 
5.49 Subject to Part III (Contracts) of Standing Orders official orders for supplies shall 

be made using the electronic ordering system, and shall not be issued unless: 
 

(a) proper financial provision has been made in approved estimates; 
 

(b) they are authorised by the Manager as approved; 
 

(c) they indicate the nature and quality of the work, goods or services in 
sufficient detail to enable its complete identification; 

 
(d) reasonable endeavours have been made to obtain the most favourable 

terms for price, quality and delivery; 
 

(e) an estimate of the cost of supply or service is detailed on the order. 
 

5.50 A list of officers authorised shall be supplied to the Chief Financial Officer by 
Managers who must advise of any amendments regarding authority levels or 
staff movements. An officer so authorised shall sign in their own name for the 
appropriate Manager. 

 
5.51 All orders shall comply with any directions the Council may make with respect to 

central purchasing arrangements and annual quotations. The provisions of 
Standing Orders relating to contracts should be followed for obtaining tenders 
and quotations, and the tendered or quoted price of the work, goods or services 
shall be stated on the order. 

 
PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

 
Payment 

5.52 The Chief Financial Officer is authorised to pay all properly certified accounts 
payable by the Council provided they are satisfied that Managers have an 
adequate system to ensure that payment is legally due and within estimates. 
Managers shall ensure that all sums due are paid in accordance with local 
agreements or terms of trade. 

 
Invoices – Checking and Certification 

5.53 All payments for goods, supplies and services shall be supported by invoices or 
proper accounts. Prior to an invoice being passed for payment the authorising 

218



4-87   May 2021  

officer concerned shall be responsible for the examination, and certification of 
the invoice. 

 
5.54 Any amendment to the above authorisation including the termination of 

employment of any authorised signatory, shall be notified promptly to the Chief 
Financial Officer by the Manager. 

 
5.55 Certification by an authorised officer means that they are certifying following 

has been checked: 
 

(a) The correct expenditure code and job code has been allocated for each 
item and VAT has been properly accounted for and coded; 

 
(b) That the goods or services received correspond to the requirements of 

any official order and have been examined as to quantity and quality; 
 

(c) Any special discount or allowance available has been accepted; 
 

(d) Income tax has been deducted from payments to sub-contractors of the 
Council unless current documentary evidence has been sighted of the 
arrangements made with HMRC for the payment of such tax; 

 
(e) All expenditure has been properly incurred and is within current estimates; 

 
(f) All prices, charges and arithmetic are correct; 

 
(g) No account for the goods, or services supplied has been previously 

certified. 
 

(h) Any payment complies with contract terms where appropriate.  
 

5.56 No member of staff shall certify an invoice or claim form for the reimbursement of 
expenditure to himself/herself. Certification shall be provided by a more senior 
member of staff. 

 
5.57 Managers shall ensure wherever possible that a division of duties exists 

between the person ordering the goods, receiving the goods and authorising 
the invoice. 

 
5.58 Certification of the invoice should be completed by the authorised officer for 

payment in sufficient time to comply with terms of trade or local agreement. 
 

Invoices - Verification 
5.59 The Chief Financial Officer shall implement a system to ensure that all 

invoices passed for payment have been certified in accordance with paragraph 
5.35 and shall make such checks and impose such further examinations as 
they consider necessary. 

 
5.60 The Chief Financial Officer shall implement a system to verify that the 

registered invoice details agree to the details on the actual invoice and that the 
correct supplier is to be paid. 

219



4-88   May 2021  

 
5.61 Cheques, once produced, must not be passed to Case Management Officers 

operating the accounts payable system or to the originator of the payment, 
unless a specific request is made to and approved by the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
PROCUREMENT CARDS 

 
5.62 Procurement cards shall be issued and managed in line with the Council’s 

procurement card policy published on the staff hub. 
 

PETTY CASH 
 

5.63 The Chief Financial Officer shall provide imprest accounts as they consider 
appropriate for such staff of the Council. 

 
5.64 Income received on behalf of the Council must not be paid into an imprest 

account but paid to the Council as provided elsewhere in these Regulations. 
 

5.65 Petty Cash disbursements shall be limited to minor items of expenditure not in 
excess of £25 and shall always be supported by receipts. Payments of 
salaries or wages shall not be made from petty cash except as may be 
authorised by the Chief Financial Officer to cover emergency arrangements. 

 
5.66 Any staff member responsible for an imprest account shall, if so requested, give 

to the Chief Financial Officer a statement of their account. An annual certificate 
to this effect should also be included in the end of year accounts. 

 
5.67 All claims for petty cash should be made on the official form and signed by a staff 

member duly authorised to certify such documents. The claimant should sign for 
receipt of cash, and all payments made out of the imprest should be recorded in 
a format approved by the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
5.68 Managers shall ensure that any staff member has accounted to the Chief 

Financial Officer for the amount advanced prior to that staff member leaving 
the employment of the Council, or otherwise ceasing to be entitled to hold an 
imprest account. 

 
CONTRACTS 

 
5.69 All contracts shall be subject to the procedures prescribed in Part III of the 

Council’s Standing Orders on contracts and Financial Regulations. Where 
contracts are controlled or supervised by private consultants, they shall be made 
aware of these Financial Regulations and shall comply with them. 

 
5.70 Stage payments to contractors shall be made only to the Council of a certificate 

issued and signed by the appropriate Manager or a staff member approved by 
that Manager in writing. Such payments shall be authorised by the appropriate 
Manager or by a senior staff member authorised by the Manager in writing. 

 
5.71 Where contracts provide for payment to be made in instalments the Chief 

Financial Officer shall arrange for the keeping of an appropriate record to show 

220



4-89   May 2021  

the state of account on each contract, together with fees for all consultants and 
relevant minute references for committee approvals. 

 
5.72 The final payment certificate shall not be issued until the Chief Financial 

Officer, or their delegated representative, has completed an examination of the 
contract final account and has reported to the appropriate authorised officer on 
such examination. For this purpose, such final accounts and all supporting 
documents shall be made available to the Chief Financial Officer, or their 
representative, sufficiently early to enable them to examine the final account 
before the date agreed for the release of the final retention monies, or in any 
case when the final account has been prepared, which ever date is the earlier. 

 
5.73 Every variation of a contract for building or construction work, including any 

extension of time, shall be authorised in writing on an official variation order 
signed by the appropriate contract supervisor together with a reasonable 
valuation of the cost following consultation with the Contractor. Variation orders 
shall normally be issued prior to the work being carried out, or in confirmation of 
a site instruction. 

 
5.74 Subject to financial regulation 3.19 the approval of the appropriate committee 

shall be obtained for variations in accordance with paragraphs 5.54 (a) and 
5.54 (b) below. 

 
(a) Variations arising as a result of: 

 
- unforeseen circumstances disclosed during the period of the 

contract 
- errors in the preparation of the contract documents 
- subsequent legislation 

 
will be deemed essential works, necessary for the completion of the original 
contract as specified, and will be subject to reporting to the Cabinet or Local 
Area Committee as soon as practicable, if it is estimated that the total net value of 
such variations will cause the contract sum to be exceeded by 10% or £25,000, 
whichever is the lower (subject to a minimum threshold of £10,000). Between 
£10,000 and £25,000 the approval of the relevant Portfolio lead is required. 

 
(a) Variations which fall outside of the above category including those relating 

to additional works or enhancements to the original specification, shall 
require the prior approval of the appropriate committee for each individual 
variation to the contract sum which involves estimated additional 
expenditure exceeding 2% or £5,000 whichever is the greater. Where this 
would cause unnecessary delay, the delegated powers of the Chief 
Executive in consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member or LAC 
Chair shall be used. Savings and additions of a similar nature may be 
netted off for the purpose of calculating the value of the net variation. 

 
(b) In any event, where the total cost of any work carried out under a 

contract exceeds the approved contract sum by 5% or £10,000 
whichever is the greater, the final costs shall be reported to the Cabinet 
or appropriate LAC. 

221



4-90   May 2021  

 
(c) Any claim, or notice of claim, against the Council which is likely to exceed 

£2,000 can only be agreed by the appropriate Manager after they have 
brought the matter to the attention of the Monitoring Officer, or an officer 
authorised by them, for consideration of the Council’s legal liability. If the 
claim is likely to exceed £5,000 then the matter shall be referred to the 
Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer before a settlement is 
reached. 

 
(d) When the completion date of a contract is delayed through the fault of a 

contractor, it shall be the duty of the Manager concerned to determine 
whether a claim for liquidated damages is to be made against that 
contractor. 

 
STAFFING 

 
5.75 The full Council is responsible for determining how staff support for Cabinet and 

non-Cabinet roles within the Council will be organised. 
 

5.76 The Head of Paid Service is responsible for providing overall management to 
staff. They are also responsible for ensuring that there is proper use of the 
evaluation or other agreed systems for determining the remuneration of a job. 

 
5.77 Heads of Service and Managers are responsible for controlling total staff 

numbers by: 
 

(a) advising the Cabinet on the budget necessary in any given year to cover 
estimated staffing levels 
 

(b) adjusting the staffing to a level that can be funded within approved budget 
provision, varying the provision as necessary within that constraint in 
order to meet changing operational needs 

 
(c) the proper use of appointment procedures. 

 
PAYMENTS TO EMPLOYEES AND COUNCILLORS 
 

5.78 The Chief Financial Officer is accountable for all payments of salaries to all 
staff, including payments for overtime, and for payment of allowances to 
members. Responsibility for this function has been delegated to the Head of 
Human Resources.  

 
Salaries 

5.79 The payment of all salaries, compensation and other emoluments to employees 
of the Council or agency employees shall be made by the Chief Financial Officer 
or under arrangements approved by them. 

 
5.80 All time records or other pay documents shall be in a form prescribed or 

approved by the Chief Financial Officer and shall be certified by or on behalf of 

222



4-91   May 2021  

a Manager. 
 

5.81 The Head of HR shall be notified immediately by: 
(a) Managers or the relevant staff member under an approved Scheme of 

Management Delegation of all appointments, dismissals, resignations, 
suspensions, absence from duty (other than annual or special leave), 
secondments, transfers, changes in remuneration (other than normal 
increments) and 

(b) any change of circumstances affecting remuneration. 
 

5.82 These staff members shall supply the information required to maintain all 
necessary records. 

 
5.83 The Chief Financial Officer shall maintain all necessary personal records 

concerning pay; earnings related contributions, income tax and superannuation 
contributions and make all relevant payments on behalf of both employees and 
the Council to the appropriate agencies. 

 
5.84 All employees paid by reference to hourly rates, schedule of rates or piecework 

and such other employees as may be required from time to time shall complete 
and sign documentation as agreed by the Chief Financial Officer. Managers 
shall ensure that these are properly completed and are examined and certified 
by a responsible member of their staff and costs are properly allocated to job 
codes. 

 
5.85 In applying conditions of service, the Head of HR or appropriate officer under an 

approved Scheme of Management Delegation shall confer with the Chief 
Financial Officer on any financial implications. 

 
5.86 Appointments of all employees shall be made in accordance with the regulations 

of the Council and the approved establishments and annual estimates, grades 
and rate of pay, and shall not subsequently be altered without approval of the 
Cabinet or Chief Executive in consultation with its Chair in cases of urgency. 
Except under a Scheme of Management Delegation where the relevant staff 
member may make changes to the establishment, following consultation with the 
Head of HR and make appointments in accordance with the revised 
establishment and within existing budget. 

 
5.87 Managers have the ability to award salary increases from specific funds set 

aside for that purpose in liaison with the relevant Corporate Director. 
 

5.88 No employment of temporary or casual staff shall take place without the approval 
of the Manager, Head of HR Executive Head and Chief Financial Officer. 
Verbal approval may be given by the above to cover emergency arrangements 
but this must be confirmed in writing within 7 days. The relevant staff member 
under a Scheme of Management Delegation may employ temporary or casual 
staff so long as the financial rules applying to the scheme are observed. 

223



 4-93   May 2021 

5.89 All direct payments to casual or temporary staff shall be processed through the 
Payroll system and an appropriate contract issued. 

 
TRAVELLING, SUBSISTENCE AND OTHER ALLOWANCES 

 
5.90 Travelling, subsistence and other allowances shall be managed in line with the 

Council’s Travel and Subsistence policy as agreed at Joint Consultative 
Committee and published on the staff hub. 

 
5.91 Travelling, subsistence and other allowances shall be processed through the 

Council’s HR system. 
 

5.92 No expenses will be paid without appropriate receipts and proofs of purchase. 
 

5.93 Staff using a private vehicle on council business must ensure that they have 
appropriate business use insurance, an MOT if required and that the car is well 
maintained. 

 
5.94 Authorising officers are responsible for checking that all receipts, documents 

and relevant insurance cover is place prior to approving any expenses. 
 

 CAR LOANS 
 

5.95 All car loans shall be the subject of a written agreement between the employee 
and the Council, signed by both parties. The agreement shall specify the terms 
and conditions surrounding repayment other than over the period specified in the 
contract. 

 
5.96 The Chief Financial Officer shall make arrangements for the deduction from 

salary of all costs payable by the employee under any loan agreement and shall 
make the necessary declarations in respect of income tax, national insurance or 
any other such cost to the appropriate authorities. 

 
5.97 The total amount and period of any car loan shall not exceed that approved from 

time to time by the Cabinet, as recorded in the car loan policy. 
 

5.98 Interest shall be charged on all car loans in accordance with the policies agreed 
by the Cabinet. 

 
TAXATION 
 

5.99 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for advising Managers, in the light of 
guidance issued by appropriate bodies and relevant legislation as it applies, 
on all taxation issues that affect the Council. 

 
5.100 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for maintaining the Council’s tax 

records, making all tax payments, receiving tax credits and signing and 
submitting tax returns by their due date as appropriate. 

 
 

224



 4-94   May 2021 

 
5.101 Managers are responsible for the correct attribution of VAT on any payment, 

fee or charge authorised, or collected by them or their staff, subject to 
paragraph 5.79. 

 
TRADING ACCOUNTS/SERVICE UNITS & PARTNERSHIPS 

 
5.102 It is the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer to advise on the 

establishment and operation of trading accounts, service units and 
partnerships. These responsibilities may be delegated to a Management 
Board, but their terms of reference must define the responsibilities laid down 
by the Council and detail the arrangements for sufficient record keeping and 
performance monitoring. 

 
 

6 EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

6.21 The Council provides a distinctive leadership role for the community and brings 
together the contributions of the various stakeholders. It must also act to achieve 
the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well- 
being of its area. 

 
PARTNERSHIPS AND EXTERNAL FUNDING 

 
6.22 The Cabinet is responsible for approving delegations, including frameworks for 

partnerships. The Cabinet is the focus for forming partnerships with other local 
public, private, voluntary and community sector organisations to address local 
needs. 

 
6.23 The Cabinet can delegate functions (including those relating to partnerships) to 

members of staff. These are set out in the scheme of delegation that forms part 
of the Council’s constitution. Where functions are delegated, the Cabinet 
remains accountable for them to the Full Council. 

 
6.24 The Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining the same 

high standards of conduct with regard to financial administration in partnerships 
that apply throughout the Council. 

 
6.25 The Chief Financial Officer must ensure that the accounting arrangements to 

be adopted relating to partnerships and joint ventures are satisfactory. They 
must also consider the overall corporate governance arrangements and legal 
issues when arranging contracts with external bodies. They must ensure that 
the risks have been fully appraised before arrangements are entered into with 
external bodies.  

 
6.26 Managers are responsible for ensuring that appropriate approvals are 

obtained before any negotiations are concluded, or commitment is made, in 
relation to work with external bodies. 

225



 4-95   May 2021 

6.27 Where sponsorship or grant funding is being sought which does not involve a 
formal application for funding, a written notification should be kept. This applies 
where such sponsorship exceeds £1,000 but is less than £10,000 in total for 
any one initiative. Below this sum, Heads of Service and other managers are 
expected to exercise adequate control over these monies. 

 
6.28 In circumstances where the Council is to go through a formal bidding or 

application process for external funding, the application form together with all 
associated paperwork is to be sent to the Chief Financial Officer to satisfy 
themselves of the stipulated financial arrangements and verify or supply the 
financial information required in support of the application. Managers are to 
notify the Chief Financial Officer of the success of any application. 

 
6.29 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring that all funding notified by 

external bodies is received and properly recorded in the Council’s accounts. 
 

6.30 The budget holder of the service receiving the external funding is responsible 
for ensuring that all financial conditions are complied with during the currency of 
this agreement, including any audit arrangements, and for ensuring that all 
financial information is supplied in accordance with the terms of the agreement. 

 
WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES 

 
6.31 The Cabinet is responsible for approving the contractual arrangements for any 

work for third parties or external bodies where net income will exceed £10,000 
per annum. All such arrangements shall have regard to the terms and provisions 
of the relevant legislation. 

 
PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS 

 
6.32 The Cabinet is responsible for approving partnership arrangements which the 

Council enters into. A partnership is defined as: 
 

(a) An agreement between two or more independent bodies to work 
collectively to achieve an objective. 

 
It should not be confused with contracts – see Part III of the Council’s 
Standing Orders on contracts and paragraph 5.49 of these Financial 
Regulations.  

 
 
END 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

226



 4-96   May 2021 

 

Contracts Procedure Rules 
 
The Appendix following this page contains the Council’s Standing Orders relating to 
Contracts. 

 

NOTE: PROVISIONS RELATING TO CCT NO LONGER APPLY AND HAVE 
THEREFORE BEEN DELETED 

227



 4-97   May 2021 

APPENDIX I – (Part 4 – Rules of Procedure) 

 

 

STAFF EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES 
 
 

1. Recruitment and Appointment 

(a) Declarations: 
 

(i) The Council’s application process will include a statement requirement 
on any candidate for appointment as a member of staff to declare in 
writing whether they are a family relation or have a close personal 
relationship with an existing Councillor or member of staff of the 
Council. 

(ii) No candidate so related to a Councillor or an existing member of staff 
will be appointed without the authority of the relevant recruiting 
manager and Executive Head. 

(iii) No existing member of staff should be involved as the sole decision-
maker in the selection or appointment of an individual with whom they 
have a close relationship. 

 

(b) Seeking support for appointment: 
 

(i) The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly seeks 
the support of any Councillor of existing member of staff for any 
appointment with the Council. The content of this paragraph will be 
included in any recruitment information 

(ii) Subject to paragraph (iii), no Councillor will seek support for any 
person for any appointment with the Council 

(iii) Paragraph (ii) above shall not preclude a Councillor from giving a 
written testimonial of a candidate's ability, experience or character, for 
submission to the Council with an application for appointment 

 

(c) Every member and officer of the Council taking part in a staff appointment 
process shall disclose to the recruiting manager any relationship known to 
them to exist between themselves and a candidate for an appointment of 
which they are aware.  

 
 

(d)  Where relationship to a member of the Council is disclosed the standing 
order headed "Interests of members in contracts and other matters" (Standing 
Order 19) shall apply (Part 4 - Council and Committee Procedure Rules). 

 
Candidates who are identified as the preferred candidate   for appointment 
following a selection process shall be required to complete a medical detail 
form. The information thus supplied shall form a condition of any contract of 
employment offered by the Council. 
 
Where required under legislation, candidates for a post with the Council shall 
be required to supply (for verification by the Police) details concerning the 

228



 4-98   May 2021 

existence and content of any criminal record/cautions. An offer of employment 
may be withdrawn, or dismissal may result if previous cautions/convictions for 
criminal offences are not disclosed.  

 

(e) Recruitment of Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service, Other Statutory Officers 
and Corporate Directors. 

 
 Where the Council proposes to appoint a statutory officer or a member of 
Management Team and it is not proposed that the appointment be made exclusively 
from among its existing officers, the Council will: 

 
(a) draw up a statement specifying: 

 
(i) the duties of the officer concerned; and  

 
(ii) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be 

appointed;  
 

(b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to 
bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; and 

 
 

2. Appointment of Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service 

2.1 Responsibility for appointment of the Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service 
rests with the full Council. The Council will decide whether to: 

 
(b) make an appointment on the recommendation of a Panel appointed for this 

purpose; or 
 

(c) delegate responsibility for the appointment to an appointments panel. 
 

(d) In either event, the appointments panel must include at least one member of 
the Cabinet 

 
Appointment of Corporate Directors and Executive Heads 
 

(a) An appointments panel of the Council will appoint Corporate Directors and 
Executive Heads. That Committee or Sub-Committee must include at least 
one member of the Cabinet. 

 
(b) An offer of employment as Corporate Director or Executive Head shall only 

be made where no well-founded objection from any member of the Cabinet 
has been received 

 

3. Other Appointments 
 

Officers Below Executive Head: Appointment of officers below Executive Head is the 
responsibility of the Executive Head or their nominee and may not be made by 
Councillors. The appointment of such staff may be delegated to Corporate Directors, 
Executive Heads or other appropriate senior managers. 

229



 4-99   May 2021 

 
4. Disciplinary Action 

(a) Suspension: The Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer 
and the Chief Financial Officer may be suspended whilst an investigation 
takes place into alleged misconduct. That suspension will be on full pay and 
will ideally last no longer than two months If this period is to be extended, 
the full reasons will be recorded in writing to the employee concerned. 
 

(b) Independent Person: No other disciplinary action may be taken in respect of 
any of those members of staff except in accordance with a recommendation in 
a report made by a designated person.  

 
(c) Councillors will not be involved in the disciplinary action against any member 

of staff below Executive Head except where such involvement is necessary 
for any investigation or inquiry into alleged misconduct, though the Council’s 
disciplinary, capability and related procedures, as adopted from time to time 
may allow a right of appeal to Councillors in respect of disciplinary action. 

 

5. Dismissal 
 

(d) Councillors will not be involved in the dismissal of any member of staff below 
Executive Head except where involvement is necessary for an investigation 
or inquiry into alleged misconduct, though the Council’s disciplinary, 
capability and related procedures, as adopted from time to time may allow a 
right of appeal to Councillors in respect of dismissals.  

 
“The Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Office and Chief 
Financial Officer may not be dismissed by the Council unless the procedure set 
out in Schedule 3 of The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2015 is complied with. This involves inviting the 
Council’s two Independent Persons (or, if more appropriate, using an 
Independent Person appointed by authority as one of the two Independent 
Persons) to be considered for appointment to the Panel considering the matter 
and that any Panel should be appointed at least 20 working days before the 
relevant meeting. Before any decision is made by Council, any advice, views or 
recommendations of the Panel, along with any investigation and 
representations of the officer in question must be taken into account by 
Council. It will also be important to ensure there is appropriate HR or 
employment solicitor advice before a dismissal is made to ensure a fair, legal 
and reasonable outcome is achieved.”

230



 4-100   May 2021 

    APPENDIX J - PART 4 (RULES OF PROCEDURE) 
 
 

CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS 

 
PART IV: CONTRACTS 

 

Sections: 

 
(A) General provisions 
(B) Legal requirements for below EU threshold contracts 
(C) Internal process for contracts above £50,000 and up to EU threshold 
(D) Procedure for contracts above EU threshold 
(E) Framework agreements 
(F) Special contracts 
(G) General principles applying to all contracts 

 
 

(A) GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

1. General Application 
 

1.1. These Contract Standing Orders (CSOs) apply to all types of contracts where 
the Council either incurs expenditure or receives monies or some other form 
of consideration. They apply to the purchase of works, supplies (goods) and 
services by or on behalf of the Council. 

 
1.2. These CSOs do not apply to (this is not an exhaustive list): 

 
(i) employment contracts for staff 
(ii) Property/land purchase or sales - refer to Part III of the Constitution 
(iii) contracts to appoint legal counsel and the appointment of expert 

witnesses in legal proceedings 
(iv) public service contracts awarded to one or more public bodies 
(v) arbitration or conciliation services contracts 
(vi) contracts for the lending or borrowing of money 

 
1.3. ‘Works’ cover construction, demolition, refurbishment and other building 

related works. ‘Supplies’ are all types of goods from stationery to furniture. 
‘Services’ cover the full range of services purchased by the Council in its day 
to day activities. All values indicated are exclusive of VAT. 
 

1.4. Every contract which the Council enters into must be recorded on the 
Contracts and Partnerships Register (under development). This register 
should be kept updated by every Lead Specialist and held centrally by the 
Chief Financial Officer. Details of the contracts register must also be 
published quarterly on the Council’s website as part of the Government’s 
transparency agenda. 

 
 

231



 4-101   May 2021 

2. Financial Thresholds and Procurement Procedures 
 

3. The officer must calculate the likely contract value to ascertain which 
procurement procedure is applicable and is particularly important in 
determining whether an opportunity falls within the OJEU rules. 

 
3.1. Regulation 6(16) of the Public Contract Regulations 2015 stipulates that 

supplies or services which are regular in nature or which are intended to be 
renewed within a given period must be aggregated. A procurement opportunity 
must not be subdivided or split into lots for the purpose of reducing the total 
value of the contract. Estimated contract values must follow the rules on 
aggregation as stipulated in Regulation 6 (16). 

 
3.2. If quotes or tenders received from suppliers are above the officer’s estimated 

contract value and limit of the process chosen, then the procurement 
process must be restarted at the correct level. To get an accurate estimate 
of contract value, soft market testing should be carried out. 

 

(a) Contracts £9,999 and below (exclusive of VAT) 
 

The officer may select a supplier without tendering and issue a purchase order to the 
supplier which incorporates the Council’s standard terms and conditions. These can 
be found on the Council’s website. 

 

(b) Contracts £10,000 to £ £74,999 (exclusive of VAT) 
 

The officer must obtain at least 3 written quotes from suppliers who can be 
approached directly or through the quick quote function of the e- tendering portal. 
Quotes must be assessed on the basis of the most economically advantageous 
tender (MEAT) and environmental and sustainable issues. 

 
Alternatively, a supplier may be selected from a framework agreement (see section E) 
(if available) either by direct contract award or using a mini competition. 

 
The officer must issue a purchase order to the supplier which incorporates the 
Council’s standard terms and conditions. These can be found on the Council’s 
website. Seek guidance from Legal Services if standard terms and conditions are not 
sufficient and the officer requires additional contract provisions. 

 
The officer must ensure that a record is kept for six years confirming how the quotes 
were evaluated using the MEAT test i.e: the reasons why the successful supplier was 
chosen. 

 

(c) Contracts £ £75,000 up to EU thresholds (exclusive of VAT) 
 

The officer shall comply with one of the following procurement processes to select a 
supplier: 

 
(i) by means of the Council’s formal tendering process set out in 

Section C. The officer may instruct Legal Services to prepare the 
contract prior to tendering if the Council’s Terms and Conditions 

232

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/6/made


 4-102   May 2021 

are not sufficient and the officer requires additional contract 
provisions. 
 

(ii) by means of a framework agreement (if available) – refer to 
Section E. 

 
(d) Contracts above EU thresholds (exclusive of VAT) The officer must 

comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR 2015) which 
governs the award of public contracts – refer to Section (D) for full 
details. 

 
Waivers cannot be sought in these circumstances. The current EU thresholds as at 
January 2020 are: 

 
Supply of goods & services:  £189,330 (exclusive of VAT)  
Execution of works:    £4,733,252 (exclusive of VAT)  
Light Touch Contracts:   £663,540 (exclusive of VAT) 

 
 

(B) LEGAL REQUIREMENTS FOR BELOW EU THRESHOLD 
CONTRACTS 

 

3.1 Part 4 of the PCR 2015 imposes obligations relating to below EU threshold 
contracts to facilitate access to public contracts by SMEs (small and medium 
sized enterprises). 
 
The additional provisions deal with: 

 prohibitions on the use of pre-qualification questionnaires. 

 publishing contract award notices on Contract Finder. 

 prompt payment of sub-contractors. 

 
(C) INTERNAL PROCESS FOR CONTRACTS valued £75,000 BUT LESS 

THAN EU THRESHOLDS 
 

4. Advertising 
 

    4.1 The contract opportunity must be advertised on: 
 

(i) The E-tendering portal (Pro-Contract – this will place an advert on the 
South East Business Portal (SEBP). 

 
(ii) Contracts Finder. 

 
(iii) And may advertise in other trade publications depending on the 

specialised nature of the contract. 
 

The officer must allow a minimum of 10 working days from the date of publication for 
bids to be returned. Advertising is not required if a framework agreement is being 
used. 

233

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/part/4/made


 4-103   May 2021 

 

5. Tender Documents 

5.1 The officer shall prepare and publish the following tender documents on the 
e- tendering portal: 

 
(i) a suitability assessment if required – there is a standard Selection 

Questionnaire (SQ) available from the Staff Hub 
 

(ii) an invitation to tender (ITT) detailing the specification of the goods, 
services or works required, the Council’s project requirements and 
objectives, how to and when to submit the tender bid and how it will be 
evaluated. A template invitation to tender is available on the Staff Hub 
but this should be adapted for each project 

 
(iii) a form of contract 

 
(iv) any other documents which are ancillary to the specification (ITT) or 

the contract such as plans, drawings, parent company guarantees, 
bonds, deeds of novation etc. 

 
5.2 Tender documents should make it clear that deadlines are strict; no submissions 

will be accepted after the applicable deadline and that tenders may be rejected if 
they do not provide complete responses to all questions. The use of pre-
qualification questionnaires (PQQs) for contracts below EU thresholds is not 
permitted (Regulation 111(1) PCR 2015). 

 

6. Delivery and Receipt of Tenders 
 

6.1 All requests for tenders and tender documents should be advertised and 
sent electronically through the e-tendering portal. Tenders operated in paper 
format are prohibited. 

6.2 All tender submissions must be sent to the Council electronically through the 
e-tendering portal. The ITT must state that tender submissions will not be 
accepted by any other method. 

 

7. Late Tender Returns 
 

7.1 Any tender submission received after the deadline for receipt shall not be 
accepted unless there is satisfactory evidence that the cause was outside 
the tenderer’s control (for example system malfunction). Note this is at the 
Council’s discretion and late tenders may still be rejected. 

7.2 Any tender submissions which are incomplete may be rejected. 

7.3     The Council does, have the discretion to accept a late tender but if the 
officer chooses to extend a deadline, it is important that all bidders are 
treated equally and are aware of and given the extension. 

 

8. Verification process 
 

8.1 Once the tender submission deadline has passed, the ‘seal’ can be removed to 
begin the verification process. Note the system requires an appointed Verifier to 

234

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/111/made


 4-104   May 2021 

perform this action. Once all tenders have been verified, evaluation can begin. 
 

9. Requests for Information (pre & post tender clarifications) 
 

9.1 If a tenderer requests further information to enable it to prepare its tender 
submission or at interview stage, then the question raised, and the Council’s 
response must be submitted through the e-tendering portal and shared with all 
tenderers to ensure a fair process. 

 

10. Selection of Successful Tender/Evaluation 
 

10.1 After completion of the tender evaluation, the following shall be authorised 
to accept the most economically advantageous tender, (provided the 
tender does not exceed the approved budget or fall below the estimate in 
the case of a payment to the Council): 

 
(i) for tenders valued up to £49,999 - Employed Head of Service  
(ii) for tenders valued £50,000 to £74,999 - Corporate Director.  
(iii) for tenders valued above £75,000 - Two Corporate Directors, 

employee/councillor on project board.  
 

10.2 Winning tenders shall be reported to the appropriate body e.g. Procurement 
Executive Group (PEG) or the relevant Project Board together with an 
evaluation report to justify the winning tender. 
 

 

11. Contract Award 

 

11.1 Once the evaluation panel select the successful tenderer, the officer 
shall notify the decision to the successful and unsuccessful tenderers by 
email. The Contract Decision Notice has a prescribed form and is 
available on the Council’s intranet. 

 

11.2 A Contract Award Notice (available on the Council’s intranet) must be 
published on Contracts Finder within a reasonable time. The notice 
should contain the following information: 

 
(i) the name of the selected tenderer 
(ii) the date on which the contract was entered into 
(iii) the value of the contract 
(iv) whether the tenderer is a small or medium enterprise (SME) or 

voluntary community and social enterprise (VCSE). 
 

12. Alteration to Tender Sum 

 

12.1 12.1 No alteration to the tender sum shall be permitted except where 
there are obvious errors in calculations. Any errors shall be drawn to the 

235



 4-105   May 2021 

attention of the tenderer, who shall be given the opportunity of confirming their 
offer or amending it to correct genuine errors. 

 

12.2 12.2 In cases of abnormally low tenders, the provisions of Regulation 69 
PCR 2015 should be followed. 

 
(D) PROCEDURE FOR CONTRACTS ABOVE EU THRESHOLDS 
 
13.1 Contracts which exceed EU thresholds must comply with EU and UK 

legislation, in addition to complying with these CSOs. The officer shall consult 
with the Monitoring Officer or Legal Services on the appropriate EU tendering 
procedures to be followed. 
 

13.2 Contracts must be awarded by using either: 
 

(i) a relevant framework agreement (see Section E for further 
details of framework agreements); or 

 
(ii) one of the following official procurement procedures set out 

in PCR 2015: 
 

1.  Open – all tenders received by the contracting authority 
within the deadline are evaluated before the contract is 
awarded. This procedure is used where there are a 
limited number of suppliers who can provide the goods, 
services or works and must be awarded to the most 
economically advantageous tender (MEAT). 

 
2.  Restricted - this is a 2-stage process. In the first stage, 

interested suppliers are asked to complete a pre- 
qualification questionnaire and a short-list is drawn up. In 
the second stage, the shortlisted suppliers are invited to 
respond to an invitation to tender (ITT). The tenders are 
then evaluated based on the most economically 
advantageous tender (MEAT) and the contract is 
awarded. 

 
3. Negotiated - the contracting authority enters into 

contract negotiations with one or more suppliers. 
 

4. Competitive dialogue - this procedure is used for more 
complex procurements. After a selection process, the 
contracting authority then negotiates with suppliers and 
invites companies to put in a bid. Suppliers put in their 
tenders and the contract is awarded. 

 
5. Innovative partnership procedure – a partnering type 

approach to allow for both the development and 
subsequent purchase of new and innovative products, 
services or works.

236



 4-106   May 2021 

 

14.  Advertising 
 

14.1  The type of procurement procedure must be advertised in: 

 
(i) the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) both at tender 

invitation (the contract notice) and contract award stage (the contract 
award notice). 

(ii) The E-tendering portal (Pro-Contract – this will place an advert on the 
South East Business Portal (SEBP). 

(iii) Contracts Finder 
(iv) And may be advertised in other trade publications depending on the 

specialised nature of the contract. 
 

15.  Tender Documents 
 

15.1 Once the advertisement has been placed on OJEU all the procurement 
documents must be available free of charge electronically. For all parties 
who have submitted an expression of interest under a restricted procedure, 
the officer may submit a pre-qualification questionnaire to shortlist 
candidates. The officer shall prepare and publish the following tender 
documents: 

 
(v) the invitation to tender (ITT) detailing the specification of the goods, 

services or works required, the Council’s project requirements and 
objectives, how to and when to submit the tender bid and how it 
will be evaluated. A template ITT is available on the Staff Hub but 
this should be adapted for each project. 

(vi) the form of contract. 
(vii) any other legal documents which are ancillary to the contract such 

as parent company guarantees, bonds, deeds of novation etc. 
 

16. Delivery, Receipt and Opening of Tenders 
 

16.1 Refer to the relevant part of Section (C) for further details governing delivery 
and receipt of tenders and the tender opening ceremony. The same rules 
apply to above threshold procurement processes. 

 

17. Requests for Information (pre & post tender clarifications) 
 

17.1 If a tenderer requests further information to enable it to prepare its tender 
submission or at interview stage, then the question raised, and the Council’s 
response must be submitted through the E-Tendering Portal and shared with 
all tenderers to ensure a fair process. 

237



 4-107   May 2021 

18. Selection of Successful Tender/Evaluation 
 

18.1 The Chair or Vice-Chair of Cabinet, the appropriate Local Area Committee or 
other committee authorised by the Council for the specific project shall be 
authorised to accept the most economically advantageous tender, (provided 
the tender does not exceed the approved budget or fall below the estimate in 
the case of a payment to the Council). 

(i) For tenders valued above EU Thresholds: 
 Two of the following- 

 Corporate Directors, or  

 Executive Heads 
And  

 The Chair or Vice Chair of: 

 Cabinet, or 

 The appropriate Local Area Committee, or 

 Other Committee authorised by the Council for the specific 
project 

 
 

19. Late Tender Returns 
 

19.1 Refer to the relevant part of Section (C) for further details governing late 
tender submissions and the Council’s discretion to accept them. The same 
rules apply to above threshold procurement processes. 

 

20. Contract Award 
 

20.1 Once the evaluation panel select the successful tenderer, the officer shall 
notify the decision to the successful and unsuccessful tenderers by email. 
The Contract Decision Notice has a prescribed form and is available on the 
Council’s intranet. 

 
20.2 There is a mandatory 10 calendar day (standstill) period from the date the 

Contract Decision Notice is sent to tenderers until the contract can be signed 
and dated. The standstill period must conclude on a working day. 

 
20.3 A Contract Award Notice must be published in the OJEU no later than 30 

days after the date the Contract Decision Notice is sent to tenderers 
(Regulation 50 PCR 2015). 

 
20.4 In relation to public works contracts, the officer shall prepare and keep a 

record of the tender procedure followed as required by Regulation 84 PCR 
2015. 

 
20.5 Under Regulation 84 PCR 2015 the officer shall prepare and send to the 

Procurement Officer a statistical report at the contract award stage giving 
the following details: 

 
(i) the value of the contract. 

 

(ii) which of the official procurement procedures was used 

238

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/50/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/84/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/84/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/84/made


 4-108   May 2021 

(i.e: the open, restricted, negotiated, competitive dialogue 
or innovative partnership procedures) 

 
(iii) if the negotiated or competitive dialogue procedure was 

used, justification and reasoning to select the successful 
tenderer must be documented in accordance with the 
requirements of PCR 2015. 

 
(iv) the nature of the goods, services or works. 

 

(v) the nationality of the person to whom the contract was 
awarded. 

 
 

21. Alteration to Tender Sum 
 

21.1 No alteration to the tender sum shall be permitted except where there are 
obvious errors in calculations. Any errors shall be drawn to the attention of the 
tenderer, who shall be given the opportunity of confirming their offer or 
amending it to correct genuine errors. 

 
21.2 In cases of abnormally low tenders, the provisions of Regulation 69 PCR 2015 

should be followed. 
 

22. Variation of Contracts following Contract Completion 
 

22.1 If a contract is signed and completed and subsequently the Council and the 
supplier wish to vary the terms of the contract, the variation may constitute a 
new award, requiring a fresh procurement procedure. The officer should have 
regard to Regulation 72 PCR 2015 which sets out how contracts can be 
modified without requiring a new procurement procedure and whether the 
variations are ‘materially different in character’ from the original contract 
(Pressetext case 2008). A Modification Request Form must be completed in 
these instances (copy available on the Staff Hub) and officers must refer to 
Legal Services for further guidance. 

 

22.2 Requests for Modifications to existing contracts will be approved by the 
Procurement Officer and Head of Legal Services and retrospectively reported 
to the Procurement Executive Group for information.   

 

(E) FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 

 
23.1 A Framework Agreement is defined in the PCR 2015 as ‘an agreement 

between one or more contracting authorities and one or more economic 
operators, the purpose of which is to establish the terms governing 
contracts to be awarded during a given period, in particular with regard to 
price and, where appropriate, the quantity envisaged.’ 
 

23.2 In simple terms this is an 'umbrella agreement' that sets out the terms 
(particularly relating to price, quality and quantity) under which individual 
contracts (call-offs) can be made throughout the period of the agreement 

239

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/69/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/72/made


 4-109   May 2021 

(normally a maximum of 4 years). 
 

23.3 The officer should consider whether a relevant and current framework 
agreement is available for the goods, services or works required. 

 
23.4 If a public sector organisation knows they are likely to need particular goods 

or services but are unsure about exactly what they will need or when, they 
may decide to set up a group of approved suppliers that they can use when 
necessary. This is called a ‘framework agreement’. 

 
23.5 The organisation will invite through public advertisement suppliers to put 

themselves forward for the framework and choose the ones most able to do 
the work based on the most economically advantageous tender (MEAT). 
Once the framework is set up, individual contracts are made throughout the 
period of the agreement. If there is more than one possible supplier on the 
framework, a ‘mini-competition’ may be held to decide who gets the 
contract. Framework agreements usually last for a maximum of 4 years. 

 
23.6 A framework agreement may have been set up by either a Central 

Purchasing Body (as prescribed in Regulation 37 PCR 2015) or another 
public authority such as Hampshire County Council. A framework 
agreement can only be used if the Council is either a named party to the 
contract or is legally entitled to enter into the contract. For the avoidance of 
doubt, the advice of the Procurement Officer should be sought. 

 
23.7  Advertising is not required if a framework agreement is being used. 

 

24.  Waivers 

24.1 All procurement processes and contract awards must comply with these CSOs. 
There are only limited circumstances (detailed below) where not complying 
may be authorised. 

 
A waiver to these CSOs must be approved in writing (using a waiver form) by one of 
the following, depending on contract value:  

 
(i) £0 up to £74,999: 

    Corporate Director (or their delegated representative) 
 

(ii) £75,000 up to EU thresholds: 
    the Councillors appointed to the Procurement Executive Group (PEG)    

or the Chief Financial Officer. In all instances a majority decision of        
Councillors should apply however if there is no majority then the Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO) is able to make the final decision. 

 
(iii) Over EU thresholds: 

    use of waivers are prohibited. 
 

24.2 Waivers may be requested in the following circumstances but are still           
subject to authorisation as listed above: 

 

240

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/37/made


 4-110   May 2021 

(i)    for the purchase of proprietary items exclusively owned by a private 
individual or corporation under a trademark or patent and their 
subsequent repair or maintenance (e.g: computer software). 

 
(ii)     where the price is wholly controlled by trade organisations or by 

Government order. 
 

(iii) having followed a procurement process, it is identified there is a lack of 
suitable suppliers prepared to submit quotes or tenders due to the 
specialised nature of the purchase item. 

 
(iv) a contract needs to be entered into as an emergency due to 

unforeseen circumstances. A waiver must be completed 
retrospectively in this instance. This excludes circumstances where 
the officer has failed to take appropriate action before contract expiry 
dates. 

 
(v) a purchase is made at a public sale by auction. 

 
(vi) the supplier has a unique position/exclusivity (for example are already in 

contract and there are cost implications). 
 

 
(F) SPECIAL CONTRACTS 

 

25. Agency Work 
 

25.1 This CSO shall apply where the Council is acting as agent for another public 
authority (‘the principal authority’) and the principal authority maintains an 
approved list of contractors or framework agreement for the goods, services 
or works to be procured. 

 
25.2 Tender documents shall be sent to contractors on the approved list or 

framework agreement of the principal authority. Where a contractor is 
selected for agency work from the approved list or framework agreement, the 
contract standing orders and financial regulations of that principal authority 
shall apply. 

 

26. Construction Work 
 

26.1 In respect of contracts for construction works the officer should consider the 
following: 

 
(i) payment of liquidated and ascertained damages to the Council in the 

event of contractor’s default. 
 

(ii) a contract sum retention at an appropriate rate and not less than the 
rate of a standard form construction contract. 

 
(iii) whether a parent company guarantee or bond is appropriate in the 

circumstances. The Council’s standard forms are available on the 

241



 4-111   May 2021 

Council’s intranet. 
 

(iv) In a 2 stage tender process for a design and build construction project, 
if the original advertisement was for two separate contracts (i.e. a pre- 
construction agreement and the main building contract), in which the 
terms of the first contract set out the grounds on which the contracting 
authority would enter into the second contract and in which the scope 
and value of that second contract was clearly set out, then a single 
Contract Award Notice would be required at the point when the 
contracting authority awarded the first contract. If, however, the second 
phase was not clearly scoped nor the criteria on which it would be 
awarded, it is likely that a separate advertisement would be required 
and therefore a separate Contract Award Notice as well. 

 

27. Software Maintenance and Enhancements 

27.1 Any extension or additional modules to software may be procured without a 
tendering process if: 

 
(i) the original system was procured through a full tendering exercise. 
(ii) the initial contract for the purchase of the system and any support and   

maintenance contracts are still in force. 
(iii)     the cost of the additional modules does not exceed 25% of the original        

purchase price. 
(iv)     The total cumulative price does not exceed current EU thresholds.  
(v)     the proposed purchase satisfies the following three tests: 

(a) technical assurance sign-off by the Head of IT 

(b) financial appraisal and value for money assessment sign off by the 

Chief Financial Officer. 

(c) defined user requirements signed off by the Senior User. 
 

(vi) Support and maintenance contracts can be negotiated directly with the 
relevant software supplier provided: 

 
(a) The Head of IT is satisfied that the agreement offers value for 

money; and 
(b) any annual increase is clearly linked to a national inflationary index 

or on a basis approved by the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
(G) GENERAL PRINCIPLES APPLYING TO ALL CONTRACTS 

 

28.     Power to Enter into Contracts 

28.1 Officers shall consult with Head of Legal Services to prepare contracts above 
£50,000 where they are not based on the Council’s standard terms and 
conditions or based on a standard form contract. 

28.2 No councillor shall enter into any contract on the Council's behalf either orally 
or in writing. 

28.3 No officer shall enter into any contract with a councillor or any company, 
partnership, firm or other organisation which a councillor has an interest in, 
unless approval has been sought by the Monitoring Officer. 

 

242



 4-112   May 2021 

29. Letters of Intent (LOI) 
 

29.1 The Council may require goods, services or works to be supplied or 
performed before completion of a contract. For contracts above £50,000, the 
use of a letter of intent and the limit on the Council’s financial commitment 
must be agreed by the Monitoring Officer. 

243



 4-113   May 2021 

30. PCR Requirements for Contracts 
 

30.1 Contracts shall make reference to the following: 

 
(i) prompt payment terms - Regulation 113(2) PCR 2015 requires all 

public contracts to contain provisions which require the Council to pay 
all valid and undisputed invoices within a 30 calendar day period and to 
ensure that invoices are considered and verified by the Council in a 
timely fashion. The Council must procure that any further subcontracts 
awarded by the supplier or its subcontractor contain the same 
requirements, so that the 30 day payment term is passed down the 
supply chain. These terms will be implied into the contract if not 
expressly contained. The requirements are without prejudice to any 
contractual or statutory provision requiring payment to be made in a 
shorter period than 30 days.  Authorities are required to publish annual 
statistics declaring the extent of their compliance with the prompt 
payment requirements as part of the transparency agenda; 
 

(ii) ability for the Council to terminate the contract before expiry 

for grounds under Regulation 73(1) PCR 2015: 

(a) there is material contract amendment which ought to 
have been subject to a new procurement. 

(b) the contractor ought to have been excluded from the 
process on a mandatory exclusion ground in Regulation 
57(1); or 

(c) there is a serious infringement of treaty/directive 
obligations declared by the Court of Justice of the 
European Union under infringement proceedings. 

 
31. Technical Standards 

 

31.1 For contracts above EU thresholds, the procurement documents must comply 
with Regulation 42 PCR 2015. If technical specifications or standards apply 
to the industry sector for the goods, services or works required, then the 
contract shall require compliance with them. 

31.2 Without prejudice to mandatory national technical rules, to the extent that 
they are compatible with EU law, the technical specifications shall be 
formulated in one of the following ways: 

 
(i) in terms of performance or functional requirements. 

 
(ii) by reference to technical specifications and, in order of preference, to: 

 

(a) national standards transposing European standards 
(b) European Technical Assessments 
(c) Common technical specifications 
(d) international standards 

244

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/113/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/73/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/57/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/57/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/regulation/42/made


 4-114   May 2021 

(e) other technical reference systems established by the 
European standardisation bodies, or 

(f) when none of the above exist; national standards, 
national technical approvals or national technical 
specifications relating to the design, calculation 
and execution of the works and use of the supplies 
but each reference shall be accompanied by the 
words ‘or equivalent’. 

 
32. Anti-Bribery and Corruption 

 

32.1 Contracts shall contain a clause allowing the Council to terminate the contract 
and recover any losses from the supplier in the event that an offence is 
committed contrary to anti-bribery and corruption legislation (currently the 
Bribery Act 2010 and Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972 – 
disclosure by officers of pecuniary interests in a public contract). 

32.2 It is a criminal offence to offer, promise, give, request, or accept a bribe. 
Individuals found guilty can be punished by up to ten years' imprisonment 
and/or a fine. As an employer, if the Council fails to prevent bribery, the 
Council can face an unlimited fine, exclusion from tendering for public 
contracts and damage to its reputation. 

32.3 Bribery is offering, promising, giving or accepting any financial or other 
advantage, to induce the recipient or any other person to act improperly in 
the performance of their functions, or to reward them for acting improperly, or 
where the recipient would act improperly by accepting the advantage. 

32.4 An advantage includes money, gifts, loans, fees, hospitality, services, 
discounts, the award of a contract or anything else of value. 

32.5 A person acts improperly where they act illegally, unethically, or contrary to 
an expectation of good faith or impartiality, or where they abuse a position of 
trust. The improper acts may be in relation to any business or professional 
activities, public functions, acts in the course of employment, or other 
activities by or on behalf of any organisation of any kind. 

32.6 Corruption is the abuse of entrusted power or position for private gain. 
 

33. Insurance Requirements 

 

33.1 The contract may require the supplier to produce satisfactory insurance 
policies in respect of: 

 
(i) Employer's liability – where the supplier employs staff, they are 

under a statutory obligation to maintain employer’s liability insurance 
of not less than £5 million pounds. 
 

(ii) Public liability (also known as third party liability) – the supplier is to 
maintain cover for death or personal injury to third parties (i.e. those 
persons not employed by the supplier) and damage to third party 
property. The amount of cover must be commensurate with the 
likely level of a potential claim. As a guide, the Council usually seeks 
public liability insurance of not less than £10 million pounds but this 

245

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/contents


 4-115   May 2021 

amount will either increase or decrease depending on the level of 
risk and contract sum. 
 

(iii) Professional indemnity – applicable where the supplier is providing 
services. Again, the amount of cover must be commensurate with 
the likely level of a potential claim. As a guide, the Council usually 
seeks professional indemnity insurance of not less than £2 million 
pounds, but this amount will either increase or decrease depending 
on the level of risk and contract sum. 
 

(iv) Product Liability – applicable where the supplier is providing goods. 
As a guide, the Council usually seeks product liability insurance of 
not less than £2m per occurrence or series of occurrences arising 
out of the same event. 
 

(v) Any other appropriate insurances based on the nature of the goods, 
works or services supplied. 
 

(vi) The insurances policies must be in force and maintained by the 
supplier during the length of the contract and for a period of either 6 
or 12 years after the contract has expired (depending on whether 
the contract is signed ‘under hand’ with a 6 year limitation period or 
‘as a deed’ which has a 12 year enforcement period. 

 

34. Equality 
 

34.1 Before entering into a contract, the Council shall comply in all respects with 
the provisions of the Equality Act 2010, the Human Rights Act 1998 or any 
other relevant legislation with due regard to the need to: 

 
(i) eliminate unlawful discrimination; and 
(ii) promote equality of opportunity and good relations. 

 

35. Management Devolution 
 

35.1 Where under any Council approved scheme of management devolution 
(whether a pilot project or a permanent scheme), powers of management 
have been devolved from a Corporate Director to the next senior or other 
officer, then references throughout these contract standing orders to the 
relevant Corporate Director shall be deemed to refer to the relevant next 
senior or other officer with such devolved powers. A formal record of the 
devolved powers must be retained for transparency purposes.  

246

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents


4-116 
May 2021 

APPENDIX K - Part 4 (Rules of Procedure) 
 
 

PETITION SCHEME 

 
Introduction 
 
This Scheme sets out the details of how Eastleigh Borough Council will deal with 

and respond to petitions. 

  
The Council recognises the importance of petitions as a means of engaging more 

meaningfully with local communities, enabling the public to let us know about their 

concerns and as a mechanism for generating service improvements. 

 
What is a petition? 
 
 Any communication which is signed by, or sent to the Council on behalf of, a 

number of people who live, work or study within the Eastleigh Borough Council 

Area. 

 
We will treat something as a petition if it is identified as being a petition, or if it 

seems to us that it is intended to be a petition. 

  
A petition must contain the following information: 
 
A clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition, the area to 

which the petition relates and what action the petitioners want the Council to take. 

 
The contact details, including an address, for the petition organiser (lead 

petitioner) so the Council knows who to contact. 

 
The name, address, postcode and signature of any person supporting a paper 

petition. 

 
The name, postcode and email address for anyone creating an email or electronic 

petition (e-petition). 

 
The name, postcode and email address for those persons who sign up to an 

electronic or e-petition 

 
Date the petition was submitted.  

 

247



4-117 
May 2021 

Signatures for the petition should have been collected no more than 6 months 

before the submission of the petition to ensure that the issues raised are 

considered within an appropriate time frame.  

 
12.0 Where a petition calls for action against the policy of the Council, the 

authority reserves the right to decline the request, but in doing so must 
clearly explain to the lead petitioner the reasons why the requested action 
cannot be carried out.  

 
Exclusions 

 
13.0    The following matters are specifically excluded under this Petition       

Scheme and will not be considered:- 
 

a) Any matter relating to a planning decision, including a development plan 
document or the community infrastructure levy.  

 
b) Any matter relating to a licensing decision, including licensing 
applications under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 

 
c) Any matter for regarding breaches of the Councillors Code of Conduct. 

 
d) Any matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of which that 
individual has a right of recourse to a review of right of appeal conferred by 
or under any enactment. 

 
e) Any matter which is substantially the same as a petition submitted in the 
previous 12 months. 

 
f) Any matter which is determined by the Council’s Monitoring Officer to be 
vexatious, discriminatory, inappropriate or not reasonable.  

 
If the issue contained within the petition is an excluded matter, the lead petitioner 
will be informed accordingly, explaining the reasons why the petition cannot be 
accepted under this scheme and advising them as to how their views can be 
expressed via alternative means. 

 
Submission of Petitions 

 
14 0 Petitions can be submitted to the Council in the following ways: 

 
Paper petitions Traditional paper petitions accompanied by a dated covering letter, 
identifying the key information outlined above (purpose of petition, what action is 
called for, contact details for the lead petitioner etc.) can be sent or delivered to: 
Democratic Services at the Council Offices at Eastleigh House Upper Market 
Street Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
Email petitions the relevant documentation can be sent by email to 
democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk  

 
E-petitions There are several external websites that enable you to create an e-

248



4-118 
May 2021 

petition, which can then be submitted to the Council (see further information in 
section 27 below) 

 
Acknowledgement of Petitions  

 
15.0      The Councils Democratic Services Officer will acknowledge receipt within                  
10 days. The acknowledgement will advise what the Council plans to    
      do                   with the petition and when further information will be 
received 

 
Further Action 

 
16.0     The Council will generally accept any petition on face value but reserves                
the              right to verify the signatures or investigate further if deemed 
necessary. 

 
17.0 If the Council can and is willing to do what the petition asks for, the                

acknowledgement may confirm that the Council will take the action                
requested and the petition will be closed.     

 
18.0  If the petition has enough signatures to trigger a debate and the Councils  

Monitoring Officer is satisfied that that the matter is not excluded and is 
over something of relevance to the Council then the acknowledgment will 
confirm this and will advise when and where the meeting will take place 
and where the Lead Petitioner will be able to formally advise Councillors 
why the Petition is being presented 

 
19.0      If the petition needs more investigation, we will tell you the steps we plan 

to take. 
 

20 If the petition is appropriate to be put before Council or a Committee. The 
lead petitioner will be supplied with the relevant details and be given the 
opportunity to attend and address the meeting and, if appropriate, answer 
any questions posed at the meeting. 

 
21  If the petition applies to a planning or licensing application, or is a statutory 

petition (for example requesting a referendum on having an elected 
mayor), or is about a matter where there is already an existing right of 
appeal, such as council tax banding and non-domestic rates, then we will 
notify you of the other existing procedures which apply.  

 
22  If the petition is about something for which the Council has no direct 

control, for example, the local railway service or the National Health 
Service, the Council if appropriate will make representations on behalf of 
the community to the relevant body and, where possible, will work with 
these partners to respond to the petition.  

 
23       If the petition is about something that a different Council or a 

Government Agency is responsible for, the Council will give consideration 
as to what the best method is for responding to it. This may simply involve 
forwarding the petition to the other Council or Government Agency but 
could involve other steps. In any event, the Council will inform the lead 

249



4-119 
May 2021 

petitioner of what action has been taken. 
 

24  In the period leading up to an election or referendum the Council may 
need to deal with the petition differently – if this is the case the Council will 
explain the reasons and discuss the revised timescale which will apply.   

 
25  Petitions will not be considered at Extraordinary Council meetings.  

 
26        Should two petitions be received on the same issue (one in support 

and one opposing a course of action) then both lead petitioners would 
normally be invited to address the Council or Committee meeting on the 
same day. 

 
E Petitions 
 

27        E-Petitions follow the same guidelines as traditional petitions and 
should only be submitted by people who live, work or study in the 
Eastleigh Borough Council area 

 
28        There are a number of websites that can help the lead petitioner to create 

an e-petition. Petitioners will need to ensure that they are aware of any 
terms and conditions on external websites regarding the use of their data. 
The Council cannot be held responsible for how personal information may 
be used by other websites. Once the Lead petitioner  has set up the e-
petition they can then notify the Council by email to 
democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk  and the  petition will be posted on 
the Council’s website. You will need to notify the Council as to how long 
you wish the e-petition to run for. A petition can run for six months, but you 
can choose a shorter time frame, when an e-petition is submitted to the 
Council, it may take five working days before it is published online. This is 
because the Council has to check that the content of the petition is 
suitable before it is made available for signature. 

 
29        If the Council feels it cannot publish the petition for some reason the 

lead petitioner will be contacted within this time to explain. You will be able 
to change and resubmit your petition if you wish. If you do not do this 
within 10 working days, a summary of the petition and the reason why it 
has not been accepted will be published on the Council’s website.  

 
 

250

mailto:democraticservices@eastleigh.gov.uk


5-1     May 2021 

 
 

Part 5 
 
 

Codes and Protocols 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

251



5-2     May 2021 

Councillors' Code of Conduct 

 

Eastleigh Borough Council 
 

Joint Statement 

The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our 
country’s system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be held 
accountable and all adopt the behaviours and responsibilities associated with the 
role. Our conduct as an individual councillor affects the reputation of all councillors. 
We want the role of councillor to be one that people aspire to. We also want 
individuals from a range of backgrounds and circumstances to be putting themselves 
forward to become councillors. 

As councillors, we represent local residents, work to develop better services and 
deliver local change. The public have high expectations of us and entrust us to 
represent our local area; taking decisions fairly, openly and transparently. We have 
both an individual and collective responsibility to meet these expectations by 
maintaining high standards and demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging 
behaviour which falls below expectations. 

Importantly, we should be able to undertake our role as a councillor without being 
intimidated, abused, bullied or threatened by anyone, including the general public. 

This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good 
conduct and safeguard the public’s trust in local government. 

General principles of councillor conduct 

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public 
services, including ministers, civil servants, councillors and local authority staff; 
should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan 
Principles. 

Building on these principles, the following general principles have been developed 
specifically for the role of councillor. 

In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions: 

 I act with integrity and honesty 

 I act lawfully 

 I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and 

 I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role 
of councillor. 

 In undertaking my role: 

 I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community 

 I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any 
person 

 I avoid conflicts of interest 

 

252

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life--2


5-3     May 2021 

 I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 

 I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local 
authority’s requirements and in the public interest. 

 
Code of Conduct for Councillors 
 

1. Application 
 
This Code of Conduct applies to you whenever you are acting in your capacity 
as a Councillor or are giving the impression of acting in your capacity as a 
Councillor of Eastleigh Borough Council, including –  
 
1.1 at formal meetings of the Council, its committees, sub-committees, its 

Cabinet and Cabinet committees 
1.2 when acting as a representative of the authority 
1.3 in taking any decision as councillor 
1.4 in discharging your functions as a ward councillor 
1.5 at site visits 

 
2. General Conduct 

 
You must – 
 
2.1 provide leadership to the authority and communities within its area, by 

personal example  
2.2 treat other councillors and members of the public with respect 
2.3 not bully or harass any person 
2.4 promote equalities and not discriminate unlawfully against any person 
2.5 recognise that staff (other than political assistants) are employed by 

and serve the whole authority and not compromise, or attempt to 
compromise, the impartiality of anyone who works for, or on behalf of, 
the Authority 

2.6 respect the confidentiality of information which you receive as a 
Councillor – 
2.6.1 not disclosing confidential information to third parties unless 

required by law to do so or where there is a clear and over-riding 
public interest in doing so; and 

2.6.2 not obstructing third parties’ legal rights of access to information 
2.7 not conduct yourself in a manner which is likely to bring the Authority 

into disrepute 
2.8 use your position as a Councillor in the public interest and not for 

personal advantage 
2.9 accord with the authority’s reasonable rules on the use of public 

resources for private and political purposes 
2.10 exercise your own independent judgement, taking decisions for good 

and substantial reasons –  
2.10.1 attaching appropriate weight to all relevant considerations 

including, where appropriate, public opinion and the views of 
political groups 

2.10.2 paying due regard to the advice of staff, and in particular to the 
advice of the statutory officers, namely the Head of Paid Service, 
the Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer and 253



5-4     May 2021 

2.10.3 stating the reasons for your decisions where those reasons are   
not otherwise apparent 

2.11 account for your actions, particularly by supporting the authority’s 
scrutiny function 

2.12 ensure that the authority acts within the law. 
 

3. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to 
establish and maintain a register of interests of Councillors of the authority.  
 
You need to register your interests so that the public, authority employees and 
follow councillors know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of 
interest. You are personally responsible for deciding whether or not you 
should disclose an interest in a meeting.  
 
A failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as set out in 
Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011.  
 
You must –  
 
3.1 comply with the statutory requirements to register your disclosable 

pecuniary interests and you must disclose, leave the room and not 
participate in respect of any matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest 

3.2 ensure that your register of interests is kept up to date and notify the 
Monitoring Officer in writing within 28 days of becoming aware of any 
changes in respect of your disclosable pecuniary interests 

3.3 make verbal declaration of the existence of any disclosable pecuniary 
interest at any meeting at which you are present at which an item of 
business which affects or relates to the subject matter of that interest is 
under consideration, at or before the consideration of the item of 
business or as soon as the interest becomes apparent 

3.4 “Meeting” means any meeting organised by or on behalf of the 
authority, including – 
3.4.1 any meeting of the Council, or a committee or sub-committee of 

Council 
3.4.2 in taking a decision as a ward councillor or as a member of any 

body of the Council; and 
3.4.3 at any site visit to do with business of the authority 

 
4. Other Interests 

 
4.1 In addition to the requirements of Paragraph 3, if you attend a meeting 

at which any item of business is to be considered and you are aware 
that you have a non-disclosable pecuniary interest or non-pecuniary 
interest in that item, you must make verbal declaration of the existence 
of that interest at or before the consideration of the item of business or 
as soon as the interest becomes apparent  

4.2 You have a non-disclosable pecuniary interest or non-pecuniary 
interest in an item of business of your authority where – 
4.2.1 a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be 

regarded as affecting the well-being or financial standing of you 254



5-5     May 2021 

or of a member of your family or a person with whom you have a 
close association to a greater extent than it would affect the 
majority of the Council Tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of 
the ward or electoral area for which you have been elected or 
otherwise of the authority’s administrative area, or 

4.2.2 it relates to or is likely to affect any interests listed in the Table in 
the Appendix A to this Code, but in respect of a member of your 
family (other than a “relevant person”) or a person with whom 
you have a close association and that interest is not a 
disclosable pecuniary interest  

 
 

5. Gifts and Hospitality 
 
5.1 You must not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, 

which could give rise to a real or substantive personal gain or a 
reasonable suspicion of influence to show favour from persons seeking 
to acquire, develop or do business with the authority or from persons 
who may apply to the local authority for any permission, licence or 
other significant advantage.  

5.2 You must, within 28 days of receipt, notify the Monitoring Officer in 
writing of any gift, benefit or hospitality with a value in excess of £50 
which you have accepted as a member from any person or body other 
than the authority. 

5.3 You must, notify the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or hospitality 
that has been offered and acceptance refused.  

5.4 The Monitoring Officer will place your notification on a public register of 
gifts and hospitality. 

5.5 This duty to notify the Monitoring Officer does not apply where the gift, 
benefit or hospitality comes within any description approved by the 
authority for this purpose.  

255



5-6     May 2021 

Appendix L (Part 5 – Codes and Protocols) 
 
Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office 
you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the 
categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as 
described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 
2012”.  
 
You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall within the 
categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests).  
 
“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if 
you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 
below.  
 
"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.  
 

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 
28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a 
registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.  

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 
councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to violence 
or intimidation.  

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer 
with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring 
Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register.  

 
4. Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest  

 
4.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must 
disclose the interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the 
matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted 
a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose 
the nature of the interest, just that you have an interest. Dispensation 
may be granted in limited circumstances, to enable you to participate 
and vote on a matter in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest. 

4.2 Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be 
considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in 
exercise of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring 
Officer of the interest and must not take any steps or further steps in 
the matter apart from arranging for someone else to deal with it  

 
5. Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests  

 
5.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 

Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose 
the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public 
are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take 
part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the 

256



5-7     May 2021 

room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.  

 
6. Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests  

 
6.1 Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your 

financial interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest set out in Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a 
relative or close associate, you must disclose the interest. You may 
speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to 
speak at the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any 
discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

6.2  Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –  
 

a. your own financial interest or well-being;  
b. a financial interest or well-being of a relative, close associate; or  
c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Other 
Registrable Interests as set out in Table 2 , you must disclose the 
interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting 
after disclosing your interest the following test should be applied  

 
6.3 Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being: a. to a 

greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; b. a reasonable 
member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it would 
affect your view of the wider public interest You may speak on the 
matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote on 
the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been 
granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest. 

 
6.4 Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority 

and you have made an executive decision in relation to that business, 
you must make sure that any written statement of that decision records 
the existence and nature of your interest. 

 
Table 1 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate in respect of any matter in 
which a member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 257



5-8     May 2021 

 
This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in 
the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 
 

Subject Prescribed description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain.  

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial 
benefit (other than from the relevant authority) 
made or provided within the relevant period in 
respect of any expenses incurred by M in carrying 
out duties as a member, or towards the election 
expenses of M.  
This includes any payment or financial benefit from 
a trade union within the meaning of the Trade 
Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 
1992.  

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant 
person (or a body in which the relevant person has 
a beneficial interest) and the relevant authority—  
(a) under which goods or services are to be 
provided or works are to be executed; and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged.  

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the 
area of the relevant authority.  

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy 
land in the area of the relevant authority for a month 
or longer.  

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge)—  
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and  
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person 
has a beneficial interest.  

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body 
where—  
(a) that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant 
authority; and  
(b) either—  
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body; or  
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than 
one class, the total nominal value of the shares of 
any one class in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class.  
 

258

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1464/made


5-9     May 2021 

 
For this purpose; 
 
“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011;  
 
“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which 
the relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a 
director, or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest;  
 
“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and 
provident society;  
 
“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does 
not carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to 
occupy the land or to receive income;  
 
“M” means a member of a relevant authority;  
 
“member” includes a co-opted member;  
 
“relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member;  
 
“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M 
gives a notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or section 31(7), as the case 
may be, of the Act;  
 
“relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) of the 
Act;  
 
“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of 
a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money 
deposited with a building society.  
 
Table 2 
 
Other Registrable Interests 
 
You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates or is 
likely to affect: 
 

a) anybody of which you are in general control or management and which you 
are nominated or appointed by your authority  

b) any body 

(i) exercising functions of a public nature 

(ii) anybody directed to charitable purposes or  

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public 
opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union). 

 
259



5-10     May 2021 

Staff Code of Conduct 

 
This is contained on the Council’s intranet and includes sections on: 
 

- Standards & Code of Ethics 
- Disclosure of Information & Confidentiality  
- Political Neutrality 

 - Relationships (with family or close personal contacts, with 
Councillors, the Local Community and Service Users and Contractors) 

- Declaration of Interests  
 - Outside Commitments and activities  

- Outside Hobbies and Interests, Course/Exhibition Attendance 
- Customer care/Standard of Dress and Appearance/Conduct to other  

 - Equality/Diversity 
 - Bringing the Council into Disrepute 
 - Purchasing and Use of Financial Resources 
 - Convictions during the course of Employment 
 - Hospitality, Gifts and Sponsorships 
 - Intellectual Property 
 - Information Technology and Data Security  

-  Contact with the Media 
- Trade Union Representatives 

 - Social Networking 

260



5-11     May 2021 

Appendix M (Part 5 – Codes and Protocols) 
 
 

PROTOCOL ON COUNCILLOR/STAFF RELATIONS 
 

The Distinctive Roles of Councillors and Staff 

Put simply, Councillors are 
responsible for determining 
policy, staff are responsible and 
accountable for implementing 
policy and managing the 
organisation 
 
Staff Role 
Given these roles, staff are 
expected to work within and 
pursue Council policies.  
Equally, Councillors should not 
interfere with Executive matters 
that are properly the 
responsibility of staff 
 

Councillors have a complex role and are 
required to act simultaneously in four 
capacities: - 
 

 as Politicians - in this capacity Councillors 
will normally belong to a political grouping 
represented on the Council and will express 
political values and support the policies of 
the group to which they belong 

 .as Representatives - in this capacity 
Councillors interpret and express the wishes 
of the electorate and seek to account for 
service priorities, allocation of resources 
and ultimate performance  

 as Community Leaders - Councillors have 
a role in shaping and carrying forward new 
initiatives and proposals to enhance the 
quality of life in the Borough  

 as Council/Committee Members - in this 
capacity Councillors have personal, 
individual, and collective responsibility for 
the Council organisation and its activities.  
They are responsible for ensuring that 
adequate management arrangements are in 
place; to develop and take decisions on the 
use of the Council's physical, financial and 
human resources, and to concern 
themselves with the performance, 
development, continuity and overall well-
being of the organisation. 

 
Staff of the Council have, in broad terms, the 
following main roles: - 
 

 They are the Managers or employees of the 
services for which the Council has 
appointed them.  They are accountable for 
the efficiency and effectiveness of those 
services and for proper professional practice 
in discharging their responsibilities.  

 They are the professional advisors to the 
Council, its Committees and Councillors in 
respect of their areas of responsibility.  

 They may initiate policy proposals as well as 
being implementers of agreed policy.  

261



5-12     May 2021 

 They ensure that the Council always acts in 
a lawful manner. 

The Distinctive Roles of Councillors and Staff - Political Neutrality of Staff 

 
 

 
Any request for staff to attend group meetings 
should be made through the Chief Executive.  If 
staff attend and make information available to 
the majority party group, the same opportunity 
would be given to the minority party groups.  
 
Discussions between Staff and Councillors on 
policy issues are quite proper.  In particular 
Management Liaison Meetings are held 
periodically at which Management Team meets 
senior administration Councillors to discuss 
substantive matters.  Those meetings have no 
Executive decision powers beyond those 
matters specifically delegated to the staff 
concerned. 
 
Staff will often wish to seek political guidance in 
framing policy proposals.  But when Staff write 
committee reports for Councillor decision, they 
have a duty to give the advice dictated by their 
professional expertise.  Councillors should not, 
therefore, seek to influence unduly the content 
of reports to committee, and party political 
group meetings have no right to rewrite staff 
reports or instruct on their content. 
 
Staff must be able to report as they see fit, 
although Councillors are equally entitled to 
reject proposals and recommendations which 
are put to them. 
 
Nothing in the above proposals removes the 
right for Councillors to request individual 
briefings. 

 

Relationship with Staff - Contacts with Staff 

 
 

Councillors are elected to represent the 
interests of their constituents, but they should 
not seek special treatment for any individual.  
When dealing with council staff, they must 
declare any special relationships with 
constituents. 
 
Councillors should not put pressure on a staff 

262



5-13     May 2021 

member on matters which have been delegated 
for staff decision.  This might lead staff to make 
decisions that: 
 

 are not objective and cannot be accounted 
for 

 favour unfairly one member of the public 
over another. 

 
Councillors should avoid bringing undue 
influence to bear on a staff member to take any 
action which is: 
 

 against procedure or policy 

 a breach of the disciplinary code for 
employees 

 in conflict with standing orders or financial 
regulations. 

 
Staff have a duty to report to the Chief 
Executive any attempt to exert improper 
influence.  The Chief Executive, or nominated 
Deputy Chief Executive, will investigate any 
such report. 
 
Chairs of Committees 
Management Team, Local Area Managers and 
Service Heads are expected to work closely 
with committee chairs (and, of course, vice-
chairs) and to meet regularly with them.  
However, Council decisions are not made by 
the chair alone but by the committee. 
 
The Chair should not seek to influence staff to 
reduce the options or withhold information 
which they should properly report to a 
committee. 
 

 
 

Minutes of Meetings 
Minutes of meetings are an impartial record of 
the decisions made and Councillors should not 
attempt to influence the contents therein except 
as regards to accuracy. 
 
Involvement of Ward Councillors 
Whenever a public meeting is organised by the 
Council to consider a local issue, all the 
councillors representing the Ward or Wards 
affected should as a matter of course be invited 
to attend the meeting.  Similarly, whenever the 
Council undertakes any form of consultative 

263



5-14     May 2021 

exercise on a local issue, the Ward councillors 
should be notified before the exercise. 
 
Ceremonial Events 
The Mayor, or in their absence the Deputy 
Mayor will be the appropriate person to lead 
Council ceremonial events which are not 
specifically associated with a particular 
committee and to represent the Council by 
invitation at ceremonial events of other 
organisations which are not specifically 
associated with a particular committee. 
 
Chairs of Committees or where they are not 
available Vice-Chairs are the appropriate 
candidates for ceremonial events within the 
scope of their committees.  Where neither the 
Chair nor Vice-Chair of a Committee are 
available then any other member may be 
nominated by the Chair or Vice-Chair. 
 
Local Councillors should always be informed of, 
and where possible, invited to ceremonial 
events taking place within their own Wards. 
 
Any councillor taking part in a ceremonial event 
must not seek disproportionate personal 
publicity or use the occasions for party political 
advantage bearing in mind that the councillor is 
representing the Council as a whole. 

 
 

Public Relations and Press Releases 
The Council's Public Relations Unit services the 
Council as a whole and must operate within the 
limits of the Local Government Act 1986 which 
prohibits the Council from publishing material 
which appears to be designed to affect public 
support for a political party.  Council press 
releases are drafted by staff and will often 
contain quotations (within the limits of the Local 
Government Act 1986) from appropriate 
Councillors and from the Mayor and Deputy 
Mayor of the Council about ceremonial events.  
Such press releases are issued on behalf of the 
Council and it would not, therefore, be 
appropriate when repeating quotations from 
Councillors to indicate their party political 
affiliation. 

 

Relationships with Staff - Members' Enquiries 

264



5-15     May 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Each Executive Head and the Local Area 
Manager is responsible for ensuring that 
member enquiries are dealt with promptly and 
accurately in their Unit. 
 
A list of the contacts or the other arrangements 
that apply in each Unit is given in appendix one.  
Where a member of staff with specific 
responsibility for Councillors' enquiries is listed 
this is usually the person they should contact 
first although they are always entitled to contact 
a more senior staff member if they so wish. 
 
Members' enquiries will normally be responded 
to within 5 working days.  If enquiries require a 
longer period for response, then the Member 
will be informed when a response can be made. 
 
In addition, if an enquiry is very time 
consuming, the staff member may discuss the 
enquiry's impact on other work with a member 
of Management Team. 

 

Relationships with Staff - Personal Relationships 

 
The national code of conduct 
states: 
Mutual respect between 
Councillors and staff is essential 
to good local government.  
Close personal familiarity 
between individual Councillors 
and staff members can damage 
this relationship and prove 
embarrassing to other 
Councillors and staff members. 
 
It is not enough to avoid actual 
impropriety.  Individuals should 
at all times avoid any occasion 
for suspicion and any 
appearance of improper 
conduct. 

 
Councillors must declare to the Monitoring 
Officer any relationship with a staff member 
which might be seen as influencing their work 
as a Councillor.  This includes any family, 
business or domestic relationships.  Staff, too, 
have a duty to declare any such relationship to 
their manager. 
 
Councillors must not sit on the Council 
committee responsible for the Unit for which an 
employee does significant work to whom they 
are: 
 

 married 

 the partner 

 otherwise closely related such as sisters, 
brothers, parents and grand parents 

 
or where a Councillor's relationship with the 
staff member would jeopardise the work of the 
Council. 

Access to Information - Members of Committee or Sub-Committee 

 As a Council member, a Councillor has all of 

265



5-16     May 2021 

the rights available to members of the public to 
inspect reports, minutes and background 
papers appearing on the public part of any 
Council committee or sub-committee agenda. 
 
However, detailed background papers not 
usually available to the public would only be 
available to a Council member who sits on the 
relevant committee which considered the 
reports and providing it is not deemed to be 
confidential. 
Members also have additional rights as a 
Councillor. They are legally entitled to 
information that they need in order to carry out 
their work as a Councillor.  But they are not 
entitled to confidential information which is not 
directly relevant to their role as Councillor or 
information which relates to a particular person 
or a commercially sensitive matter. 
 
Councillors should not request confidential 
information in order to use it for a purpose not 
legitimate for their role as a member, because 
they are in a position of trust.  The motive for 
requesting confidential information is, therefore 
relevant, and Members should be prepared to 
disclose the reason for their request. 
 
If, for example, Councillors are pursuing an 
issue on behalf of a constituent, this would be a 
legitimate reason and should be made known 
to the staff from whom the information is 
sought.  Councillors must not abuse this trust 
by disclosing information that is confidential or 
exempt from disclosure to the public.  If this 
occurs and the Council suffers a loss, there 
may be a personal penalty. 
 
This is particularly relevant to information which 
is commercially sensitive, related to a tendering 
process or personal information relating to staff 
or members of the public. 
 
In addition to Committee reports and 
background papers Councillors are entitled to 
see any papers the Council has which properly 
relate to the work of a committee or sub-
committee that they are on.   
 
However, because an issue has been 
considered by a committee, this does not mean 
that the Councillor may see all the papers that 

266



5-17     May 2021 

relate to it. 
 
If the papers contain exempt or confidential 
information the Councillor will need to 
demonstrate "a need to know" and give 
reasons why they need to see the papers in 
order to perform properly their duties as a 
Councillor and this need must not be 
outweighed by any public interest requiring 
nondisclosure.  Councillors must not ask for 
information on a matter on which they would 
have to declare an interest. 
 
If a Councillor is refused access to documents 
which they feel they have the right to see, the 
dispute will be determined by the Chief 
Executive. 

 

Access to Information - Councillors not a member of a committee or sub-
committee 

A Councillor will have the right to 
see some information on 
committee agendas which is 
exempt from disclosure to the 
public, on a "need to know" 
basis. 

Councillors are entitled to see exempt 
information about: 

 the financial or business affairs of a 
particular person who is the subject of a 
committee report (provided it is relevant to 
that particular report) 

 proposed costs of acquiring property (or 
good or services) 

 the identity of a person (or group) tendering 
for a contract with the Council. 

 
However, Councillors have no automatic right 
of access to information about: 

 any particular employee of the Council 

 applicants for employment with the Council 

 recipients of financial assistance from the 
Council 

 applicants for such assistance 

 recipients of any Council service 

 applicants for any such service 

 items proposed during negotiations over a 
contract for property, goods or services 

 negotiations or consultations with the 
Council's trades unions 

 legal proceedings taken or defended by the 
authority where the Council interest could 
be compromised 

 any action to be taken to prevent, 
investigate or prosecute a crime 

267



5-18     May 2021 

 the identity of a protected informant 
 
However, if the Councillor can establish that in 
order to carry out their duties as a Councillor, 
they need information to which they would not 
normally have access, then the Chief Executive 
may agree to provide access. 
 
If a Councillor attends a committee meeting on 
which they do not serve as a member, they 
should leave at any time when matters are 
discussed which relate to an individual person 
or a commercially sensitive matter.  But, if they 
establish their "need to know" about this matter, 
they would be entitled to remain at the 
discretion of the meeting. 
 
Political Party Workers: 
Councillors may at times be assisted by political 
party workers.  There is no objection to this, but 
no non-elected party worker has any 
entitlement to: 
 

 information to which members have access 
in their role as Councillors 

 use Council facilities provided for the use of 
Councillors 

 
The principles which apply to use of facilities 
provided for members (and the staff employed 
to assist them) apply equally to all Council 
property and facilities; and all Council 
employees. 

 

Use of Council Facilities 

 Councillors must use any Council facilities 
provided for them in their role as Councillor 
strictly for that purpose and no other.  For 
example, Councillors must not use rooms in 
the Civic Offices or any of the Council's 
paper, computers, photocopiers, or printers 
for any personal, business-related or party-
political matter, nor on behalf of any 
community groups of which they are a 
member, unless arrangement or payment has 
been agreed for the service with the 
Monitoring Officer. 
 
Advice from Council Staff 

268



5-19     May 2021 

Staff can only be asked to provide advice to 
Councillors on matters which clearly relate to 
those matters which arise from being an 
elected Councillor. 

 
Date: August 23rd 1999  (Revision 2) 

269



5-20     May 2021 

Appendix N (Part 5 – Codes and Protocols) 
 
 

LOCAL CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COUNCILLORS AND STAFF  
DEALING WITH PLANNING MATTERS 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
This code has been adopted to ensure that all planning matters are handled with the 
highest integrity, openness and consistency by all concerned.  It applies to 
everybody involved in operating the planning system at Eastleigh Borough Council. 
 
It is essential that the Borough Council always acts in a way which is clearly seen to 
be fair and impartial.  This relies upon a shared understanding of the respective roles 
of Councillors and staff, and upon trust between them.  The following quotation from 
the Local Government Association helps to illustrate the point: - 
 
"The role of an elected councillor on a planning committee involves a balance 
between representing the needs and interests of individual constituents and the 
community, with the need to maintain an ethic of impartial decision-making on what 
can be highly controversial proposals.  It is this dual role which, as the Nolan 
Committee in its recent report acknowledges, can give rise to great tensions." 
 
(Source: Probity in Planning 2019 - Annex A). 
 
It is also quite proper for Councillors to provide a voice for what might be a silent or 
inarticulate minority. 
 
Councillors and staff who have any dealings with planning matters are required to 
read this Code thoroughly and to put it into practice.  The Code will be reviewed 
annually, and comments are invited on any alterations which would raise the 
standards of the Code.  If there are any such points or any part of the Code which is 
unclear please contact either the Executive Head overseeing Local Plan,  the 
Executive Head of Planning and Economy or the Head of Legal Services as soon as 
possible.  They will be pleased to help you. 
 
1.0 GENERAL ROLE AND CONDUCT OF COUNCILLORS AND STAFF 
 
1.1 Legislation emphasises the overriding requirement that the public are entitled 

to expect the highest standards of conduct and probity by all persons holding 
public office.  There are a number of statutory provisions and codes setting 
standards which must be followed if the public perception of the integrity of 
public service, particularly town and country planning, is to be maintained and 
improved.  Councillors are reminded that they are required to comply with the 
statutory provisions on the disclosure of pecuniary interests, the National 
Code of Local Government Conduct, this Council's Standing Orders and 
Scheme of Management and Delegation. 

 
1.2 Whilst this Local Code deals primarily with planning applications, its principles 

apply with equal vigour to consideration of Local Plans, Development Briefs, 
enforcement cases and all other planning matters.  An overriding principle is 
that when local authorities are dealing with planning matters, they should only 
take into account material planning considerations. 270



5-21     May 2021 

 

1.3 Section 54A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 established a plan-
led system whereby all planning applications are determined by primary 
reference to the Development Plan.  Thus, if the Development Plan is material 
to the application, then the statutory requirement is that the application should 
be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  This means the totality of the Plan rather 
than selective application. 

 
1.4 Staff involved in the assessment and determination of Planning matters must 

also act in accordance with the Council's Standing Orders and Scheme of 
Management and Delegation and with the relevant sections of the Royal 
Town Planning Institute's Code of Professional Conduct.  Particular attention 
is drawn to Clause 3 "… (Staff) shall not make or subscribe to any statements 
or reports which are contrary to their own bona fide professional opinions …". 

1.5 This Local Code is supplemental to the provisions referred to above and 
provides further specific advice and guidance for Councillors and staff 
involved in planning matters.  A key principle is that Councillors should 
represent their constituents as a body and vote in the interests of the Borough 
as a whole.  Locally based considerations should never prejudice the interests 
of the wider community as a whole.  Councillors should take account of all 
views expressed; they should not be biased towards any person, company, 
group or locality, nor put themselves in a position where they appear to be so. 

1.6 A further key principle is that local opposition or support for a proposal is not 
in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission, unless that 
opposition or support is based upon valid planning reasons which can be 
substantiated.  (Source: NPPF1 - Annex 1). 

1.7 Councillors and staff should not accept gifts, nor should they accept 
hospitality.  However, if a degree of hospitality is truly unavoidable, it should 
be kept to the minimum and its receipt declared as soon as possible.  
Councillors should send written notice to the Monitoring Officer.  Staff should 
notify their Operational Manager or Functional Lead.  In all cases the 
Council's Code of Conduct on hospitality should be followed and details must 
be entered in the appropriate record book. 

1.8 Staff must always act impartially and seek permission from the appropriate 
senior staff for any private work or interest which they wish to take up.  The 
Council will review regularly the outside activities declared by its staff and the 
restrictions placed upon such activities by the Council. 

1.9 Any allegations of illegal activity in relation to the planning process (including 
corruption or fraud), should be reported urgently to the Chief Executive. 

1.10 The Chief Executive, in consultation with the Chief Internal Auditor (on behalf 
of the Chief Financial Officer) and the Monitoring Officer, will decide on the 
appropriate form of investigation, whether by the Chief Internal Auditor or 
otherwise and including reference to the police. 

271



 

5-22     May 2021 

2.0 DECLARATION AND REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS 

2.1 Councillors should observe strictly the guidance on declaring pecuniary and 
non-pecuniary interests as set out in: - 

(i) the statutory provision on the Disclosure of Pecuniary Interests, 

(ii) the National Code of Local Government Conduct, 

(iii) the Guidance for Good Practice on Members' Interests, published by 
the Commission for Local Administration. 

2.2 The register of Councillors' Interests maintained under the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 will be updated annually.  Where any changes occur to 
Councillors' interests, whether by way of addition or deletion, they should be 
notified by the member concerned to the Monitoring Officer as soon as they 
occur. 

2.3 All Councillors participate in development control decision-making through the 
five local area committees.  However, initial decision-making during 
preparation of the Local Plan and other major planning policies is limited to 
those Councillors who sit on the Policy and Review Committee.  It is this 
Committee which allocates significant areas for development and other uses.  
Thus, Councillors who have substantial property interests, or other interests 
which would prevent them from voting on a regular basis, should avoid 
serving on this Committee.  Any Councillors who are in this category should 
also avoid membership of the relevant Working Groups.  Although not 
decision-making forums, these Working Groups are particularly influential in 
land-use policy formulation. 

2.4 Guidance on non-pecuniary interests is contained in the National Code of 
Local Government Conduct and in the Ombudsman's guidance.  The guiding 
rule is that a Councillor should not use their position to further a private or 
personal interest, rather than the general public interest; or give grounds for 
such suspicion.  The test for deciding whether a non-pecuniary interest should 
be declared is -whether a member of the public, knowing all the facts would 
reasonably think that the Councillor might be influenced by it.  If so, the 
interest must be declared.  Subject to the limited exceptions set out in the 
Code, the Councillor should take no further part in the relevant proceedings.  
The responsibility for declaring an interest lies with the individual Councillor 
who should seek advice from the Monitoring Officer if necessary. 

2.5 Training is held after Council elections to give guidance to new Councillors on 
the declaration of interests and any other issues in the National Code.  All 
Councillors will also receive annual refresher training in relation to the 
practical operation of this Local Code. 

2.6 The Council has arranged an annual programme of training on town and 
country planning for all Councillors to keep up-to-date in their knowledge of 
legislation, policies, procedures and decision-making.  Councillors are 
expected to attend this training. 

272



 

5-23     May 2021 

3.0 DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLORS, STAFF 
AND THE COUNCIL 

3.1 If Councillors or staff submit their own development proposal or development 
in which they have an interest to the Council, or act as an agent for such a 
proposal, they should take no part in its assessment and the decision-making.  
The Council's Monitoring Officer should be informed by the Councillors or staff 
of all such proposals as soon as they are submitted.  Members of staff who 
have not been involved in the processing of a planning matter, or in the 
formulation of the recommendation, have the same rights to participate in the 
decision-making process as members of the public. 

3.2 Proposals submitted by Councillors and staff should be reported to the Area 
Committees or Joint Area Committee as written agenda items and not dealt 
with by staff under delegated powers. 

3.3 Proposals for the Council's own development (or development involving the 
Council and another party) should be treated in the same way as those by 
private developers and in accordance with guidance given in Planning 
Practice Guidance.  This requirement also applies to private applications in 
respect of Council-owned land (such as a private application prior to a Council 
land sale being agreed or negotiated).  The planning decisions must be made 
strictly on planning merits and without any financial or other gain that may 
accrue to the Council if the development is permitted.  It is important that the 
Council is seen to be treating all such applications on an equal footing with all 
other applications, as well as actually doing so. 

4.0 LOBBYING OF AND BY COUNCILLORS AND ATTENDANCE AT PUBLIC 
MEETINS BY STAFF AND COUNCILLORS 

4.1 When Councillors undertake their constituency roles, it seems inevitable that 
they will be subject to lobbying by interested parties and the public on 
planning matters and specific planning applications.  When Councillors are 
lobbied, they need to exercise great care to maintain the Council's and indeed 
the Councillor's own, integrity and the public perception of the town and 
country planning process. 

4.2 Councillors who find themselves being lobbied should take active steps to 
explain that, whilst they can listen to what is said, it would prejudice their 
impartiality if they expressed a conclusive point of view or any fixed intention 
to vote one way or another. 

4.3 Councillors involved in the determination of planning matters should listen to 
all points of view about planning proposals and refer persons who require 
planning or procedural advice to planning staff.  Councillors should not 
indicate (or give the impression of) conclusive support or opposition to a 
proposal or declare their voting intention before the meeting at which a 
decision is to be taken.  To   do so without all relevant information and views, 
would be unfair, prejudicial and may amount to maladministration. 

4.4 Taking account of the need to take decisions impartially, Councillors must 
weigh up all the material considerations reported at each Committee meeting.  
They should not be biased (or appear to be biased) towards any person, 
company, group or locality.  Councillors who commit themselves firmly to a 

273



 

5-24     May 2021 

particular view on a planning issue, prior to its consideration at a Committee, 
must decide whether the public (or other interested body) would believe that 
they have prejudiced their position and were incapable of weighing up al the 
material considerations.  If the Councillor feels that the public would believe 
they had come to a conclusive view on the planning matter or application 
before the Committee meeting, then they should consider not taking part in 
the debate and not voting on the issue (refer to paragraph 7.4). 

4.5 If planning applications are considered by a succession of Committees or 
meetings of different organisations attended by Councillors, each 
consideration will require the Councillor to weigh up, afresh, all the reported 
material factors before reaching a decision at that particular meeting. 

4.6 Where the Monitoring Officer believes that a Councillor has prejudiced their 
position by expressing a conclusive view on a planning matter or application 
before its determination by the Committee, the Monitoring Officer will advise 
them that it would be inappropriate for that Councillor to take part in the 
debate, or vote on the application. 

4.7 Whilst Councillors involved in making decisions on planning matters and 
applications will begin to form a view as more information and options become 
available, a decision can only be taken by the relevant Committees when all 
available information is to hand and has been considered.  Individual 
members should reach their own conclusions on an application or other 
planning matter rather than follow the lead of another member.  In this regard, 
any political group meetings prior to Committee meetings should not be used 
to decide how Councillors should vote.  Decisions can only be taken after full 
consideration of the Committee report and information and discussion at the 
Committee meeting. 

4.8 Councillors should exercise great care when expressing their firm support for, 
or opposition to, a proposal in their ward before it has been fully considered 
by the relevant Committee.  Such actions can easily be misunderstood by 
parties to the application and by the general public.  In this regard, Councillors 
should not lobby other Councillors to act for them, or act as an agent for other 
Councillors, or put pressure on staff for a particular recommendation. 

4.9 Staff who are wholly or partly involved in the assessment or determination of 
planning matters should not attend public meetings in connection with pre-
application development proposals or submitted planning applications unless 
their attendance has been agreed by their Head of Service.  To do so could 
lead to allegations of prejudice or bias to a particular point of view.  If 
accidentally put in such a position, staff should only provide information and 
give no view on the merits or otherwise of the proposal. 

4.10 When attending public meetings Councillors should take great care to 
maintain their impartial role, listen to all the points of view expressed by the 
speakers and public and not state a conclusive decision on any pre-
application proposals and submitted planning applications. 

4.11 If Councillors consider that they have been exposed to undue or excessive 
lobbying or approaches, these should be reported to the Monitoring Officer, 
who will in turn advise the appropriate staff (usually the Chief Executive and 
the Executive Head of Housing and Development. 274



 

5-25     May 2021 

5.0 PRE-APPLICATION DISCUSSIONS - PRESENTATIONS 

5.1 Planning staff should always be in attendance at pre-application discussions 
(and pre-decision discussions) with applicants and agents on important 
planning issues.  It should always be made clear by planning staff at the 
outset of discussions that they will not bind the Council to make a particular 
decision, and that any views expressed are their provisional professional 
opinions. 

5.2 Advice given by staff advising on planning matters will be consistent and 
based upon the Development Plan (Minerals and Waste and Local Plan) and 
other material considerations.  Every effort should be made to ensure that 
there are no significant differences of interpretation of planning policies or the 
range or weight of other material considerations between planning staff. 

5.3 Staff advising on planning matters will ensure that their advice is not partial, 
nor seen to be.  This is because a consequent report could be seen as 
advocacy for a particular point of view.  A written note should be made of 
significant pre-application discussions and important telephone conversations.  
Where contentious issues have been discussed a follow-up letter should be 
sent, particularly when material has been left with the Council by the applicant 
or agent. 

5.4 Some Borough Councillors also serve on Parish or County Councils or 
voluntary organisations.  When acting in their capacity as Borough Councillors 
they should always act in the best interests of the Borough as a whole.  If they 
choose to speak in advocacy of the interests of some other body they should 
declare that to be the case. 

6.0 REPORTS WRITTEN TO COMMITTEES 

6.1 Reports to Committee on planning matters should be accurate and cover all 
relevant points.  Where a planning application is subject to a written report, 
this will refer to the provisions of the Development Plan and all other relevant 
material planning considerations including a full description of the site and any 
related planning history. 

6.2 All reports requiring a decision will have a written recommendation.  Oral 
reports will be used primarily to describe the planning application with the aid 
of PowerPoint Presentation, and to update Councillors on the accompanying 
written report.  All reports will contain a technical appraisal which clearly 
justifies the stated recommendation.  All reasons for refusal and conditions to 
be attached to permissions must be clear and unambiguous. 

7.0 THE DECISION-MAKING PROCESS AND DECISIONS CONTRARY TO 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS AND/OR THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

7.1 In discussing, and determining a planning application or other planning 
matter, Councillors should confine themselves to the planning merits of the 
case.  The reasons for making a final decision should be clear, convincing 
and supported by material considerations and the planning merits, If 
Councillors wish to refuse or approve an application against staff advice, 
impose additional conditions to a permission, or refer the matter to another 
committee, staff should explain the implications of such action.  The 

275



 

5-26     May 2021 

Councillor's reasons for refusal or the additional conditions to be applied, 
whether for approval or for referral to another committee, must be clearly 
stated at the time the propositions are made and votes taken at the meeting. 

7.2 If a resolution is passed which is contrary to a recommendation of the 
Executive Head of Planning and Economy (whether or approval or refusal) a 
detailed minute of the Committee's reasons will be made, and a copy placed 
on the application file. 

7.3 If the report of the Head of Housing and Development recommends approval 
of a departure from the Development Plan, the full justification for this 
recommended departure should be included in the report.  The views of the 
Head of Strategic Planning should be included in the report. 

7.4 Councillors with a pecuniary interest or significant non-pecuniary interest in a 
planning matter or application, should not participate in the decision-making 
process unless they are covered by one of the exemptions contained in the 
National Code of Local Government Conduct.  Those Councillors who have 
indicated before the meeting that they had formed a conclusive view on an 
application or other planning matter should carefully consider whether their 
continued involvement in determining the application or other matter would 
prejudice the integrity of the planning process.  Their continued involvement 
could amount to maladministration as well as giving rise to legal challenges. 

8.0 SITE VISITS BY COUNCILLORS 

8.1 The purpose of a site visit is for Councillors to gain knowledge of the 
development proposal, the application site and its relationship to adjacent 
sites.  A decision by the Area Committee to carry out a site inspection should 
only take place where objective decisions cannot be taken without viewing the 
site and adjoining properties. Examples of when site visits might be 
appropriate include:- 

 The proposal represents a significant departure from the Development 
Plan; 

 The proposal raises wider policy issues; 

 There is considerable local concern about a proposal and there are 
sufficient planning reasons for carrying out a visit. 

8.2 All site visits by Councillors should be conducted in compliance with the 
separate procedure note dealing with such visits. 

276



 

5-27     May 2021 

9.0 QUALITY AUDIT 

9.1 Arrangements will be made for Councillors to visit a sample of implemented 
planning permissions annually, so that a regular review of the quality of 
planning decisions can be undertaken. 

9.2 The outcome of this review will be considered by the Joint Area Committee 
and may lead to identification of possible amendments to existing policies or 
practice. 

10.0 COMPLAINTS AND RECORD KEEPING 

10.1 In order that planning procedures are undertaken property and that any 
complaints can be fully investigated, record keeping will be complete and 
accurate.  Every planning application file should contain an accurate account 
of events throughout its life, particularly the outcomes of meetings, significant 
telephone conversations and any declarations of interest by Councillors. 

10.2 The same principles of good record keeping will be observed in relation to all 
enforcement and Development plan matters.  Monitoring of record keeping 
will be undertaken regularly by the appropriate managers in Executive Head 
of Planning and Economy. 

10.3 The Council has already adopted a complaints procedure and complaints of 
non-compliance with this Code could be subject to that procedure and, in the 
case of Councillors could involve consideration by the Standards Committee. 

277



This page is intentionally left blank



6-1 
May 2021 

Part 6 
 
 

Councillors' Allowances Scheme 

279



 

6-2 
May 2021 

Councillors' Allowances Scheme 
 
 
Eastleigh Borough Council in exercise of the powers conferred by the Local 
Authorities (Councillor Allowance) Regulations 2003 and the Local Government Act 
2000: New Constitutions - Allowances for Councillors of Local Authorities, has made 
a scheme for the payment of Councillors' Allowances. 
 
The Council is aware that the Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Authorities 
(Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 require local authorities to 
review their Councillor’s Allowances Scheme and to appoint Independent Review 
Panels to consider and make recommendations on new/revised schemes.  
 
For a copy of the current scheme please contact the Head of Finance.  
 
1. BASIC ALLOWANCE 
 
(a) The Basic Allowance, which is payable to all Councillors, recognises the time 

devoted to their constituency, Area Committee and Scrutiny Panel work. The 
allowance also covers representing the Council on outside bodies. The 
Independent Panel designed this allowance to take account of the Public 
Service ethos which motivates Councillors and the allowance therefore 
includes a public service discount of one third. 

 
(b) The annual Basic Allowance for each Councillor is agreed by Full Council and 

adjusted as necessary. For the current figure please contact the Head of 
Finance.  

 
(c) The Basic Allowance takes into account Councillors using their own IT 

equipment at home (where they decide not to use equipment offered by the 
Council), the cost of telephone calls, and other incidental costs of carrying out 
their duties as a Councillor. 

 
2. SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES 
 
(a) Certain roles in the political management of the Council require work over and 

beyond that which could reasonably be considered covered by the Basic 
Allowance. These roles attract what is termed a Special Responsibility 
Allowance. The Council will pay the Annual Special Responsibility Allowances 
for the following roles: 
 
Leader of the Council*  
Deputy Leader*  
Cabinet Members  
Minority Group Leaders  
Local Area Committee Chair  
Local Area Committee Vice Chair 
Audit and Resources Chair 
Audit and Resources Vice Chair  
Scrutiny Panel Chair  
Scrutiny Panel Vice Chair  

280



 

6-3 
May 2021 

Administration Committee Chair  
  
Co-opted Members  
 
*Payments to the Leader and Deputy Leader include the Cabinet Member’s 
Allowance. 
 
For amounts available for each of these roles please contact the Head of 
Finance. 
 
No Special Responsibility Allowance is payable to the Chair or Vice-Chair of 
the Licensing Committee, or the Vice-Chair of the Administration Committee. 

 
3. SECOND RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES 
 

A Councillor holding more than one position of special responsibility will 
receive the relevant number of Special Responsibility Allowances for which 
they are entitled. 
 

4. DISCRETIONARY RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCES 
 

In the event of short-term work increases/exceptional circumstances in the 
future, a discretionary day-session rate (as per the guidance offered by the 
Local Government Association, LG alert, 50/06) or ex-gratia payment can be 
made to those directly involved or affected, and be awarded as follows: 

 
Chair – paid at the Administration Committee Chair rate, pro-rata for work 
done 
Other Member – paid at the Scrutiny Panel Vice-Chair rate, pro-rata for work 
done  
 
The total sum for this to be limited to a maximum of £5,000 in a year. 
 

5. COUNCILLOR TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
 The 2017 Independent Review Panel considered that certain training courses 

(specifically those on development control; finance; and standards/code of 
conduct/ethical framework) should be mandatory for all Councillors. The 
Council agrees that training in these areas is important and all Councillors are 
encouraged to attend such training. To help offset any loss of earnings 
incurred by attending this training, a higher Basic Allowance from the one that 
appears in this scheme will be paid and the difference be held back until a 
Councillor has attended all three of the aforementioned courses. 

 
 In line with the Panel's original intention, this is not an attendance allowance 

as such but deemed to be part of the total Basic Allowance being held back 
until a Councillor is trained to an expected level of competence. 

 
6. TRAVEL AND SUBSISTENCE 
 

281



 

6-4 
May 2021 

(a) The scheme also provides payments to Councillors for travelling and 
subsistence while on Council business. The key elements of the Councillor 
Travel and Subsistence scheme are: 

 

 the scheme allows for the claiming of travel and subsistence 
allowances in relation to approved duties as reviewed by the Council 
from time to time. 

 Councillors should not be penalised merely because of their place of 
residence in the Borough 

 travel is paid for attending Council meetings and outside bodies, or in 
fulfilling Council duties flowing from Special Responsibility work. 

 claims for travel can be made from where travel begins, but any costs 
that would have been incurred in getting to their place of residence 
must be deducted. 

 future increases to be linked to those of essential user staff rates. 
 
(b) The current rates of travel and subsistence can be obtained from the Head of 

Finance. 
 
7.        DEPENDENT CARERS’ ALLOWANCE 
 

A Dependent Carers’ Allowance is payable to Councillors with caring 
responsibilities, where expenditure is incurred whilst they undertake their role 
as a Councillor and attending relevant meetings.  Payments are made based 
on actual reasonable cost of care.   
 

8. IT EQUIPMENT 
 

The Council seeks to conduct its business efficiently and with minimal 
wastage.  As such, it will provide a Councillor, upon election, with:  an 
electronic device and will provide related sundries on request.  When they 
cease to be a Councillor (e.g. does not stand for re-election or is not re-
elected), the equipment must be returned to the Council in good working order 
within 14 days of them ceasing to be a Councillor.  Councillors who do not 
wish to avail themselves of this provision are reminded of the proviso in 2(c) 
above.   

  
 

282



 7-1 May 2021 

 
Part 7 

 
 

Executive Structure 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

283



Management Team Overview Roles 

7-2 
May 2021 

 

 Nick Tustian Sarah King Natalie Wigman Andy Trayer 

       

Scrutiny 
 

  Audit and Resources  Policy and 
Performance 

 

Programme 
Boards 

 Property 
Transactions 

 Housing 

 Urban Regeneration 
Programme Board 

 Digital by Design 
Programme Board 

  

Other Lead Roles  Leader 

 Cabinet 

 Emergency 
Planning(Joint) 

 Joint Consultative 
Committee 

 Partnership for 
Urban South 
Hampshire 

 Hampshire and Isle 
of Wight Local 
Government 
Association 

 Information 
Technology Security 

 Emergency Planning 
(Joint) 

 

 Health and Safety 

 Emergency Planning 
(Joint) 

 

 Emergency 
Planning (Joint) 

 

284



 

  May 2021 
 

INDEX TO CONSTITUTION 
 
 Page no 
 
ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES ....................... 4-36 
 
ADJOURNMENT OF MEETINGS ..................................................... 4-15, 4-23 
 
ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE 

agenda items .......................................................................... 4-53 
appointment ............................................................................ 2-28, 4-18 
chair, appointment of .............................................................. 2-27, 4-18 
composition ............................................................................ 2-23 
meetings ................................................................................. 4-22 
membership ............................................................................ 2-27, 4-19 
procedure rules ....................................................................... 4-57 
quorum ................................................................................... 4-23, 4-57 
role ......................................................................................... 2-28 
standing orders to apply ......................................................... 4-24 
terms of reference .................................................................. 2-27 
vice-chair, appointment of ...................................................... 4-18 

 
ADVERTISEMENTS ......................................................................... 4-29 
 
AGENDAS 

access to ................................................................................ 4-36 
supply of copies ...................................................................... 4-36 

 
AMENDMENTS 

no right of reply to ................................................................... 4-11 
to motions ............................................................................... 4-7, 4-10 

 
APPOINTMENT OF 
           Cabinet ................................................................................... 4-3, 4-18 

chairs and vice-chairs ............................................................. 4-3, 4-18 
committees ............................................................................. 4-4, 4-18 
proper and designated officers ............................................... 3-5 
staff ......................................................................................... 2-34 

AREA COMMITTEES (see LOCAL AREA COMMITTEES) 
 
ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS 

of non members ...................................................................... 4-23 
of proposer of motion .............................................................. 4-6, 4-23 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

list of ....................................................................................... 4-37 
public inspection of ................................................................. 4-37 

 
BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION ......................................................... 4-114 

 
 

285



 

  May 2021 
 

BUDGET 
and policy framework .............................................................. 4-46 
meaning .................................................................................. 2-9 
virement .................................................................................. 4-48 

 
BUSINESS 

confidential ............................................................................. 4-38 
Council, order of ..................................................................... 4-3, 4-4 
Council, variation of order of ................................................... 4-5 
exempt .................................................................................... 4-38 
call-Ins .................................................................................... 4-21 

 
BUSINESS AND SKILLS PORTFOLIO ............................................. 2-18, 2-19, 2-20 
 
CABINET 

agendas .................................................................................. 4-52 
application of Access to Information 
     Procedure Rules ................................................................ 4-37 
arrangements ......................................................................... 4-36 
chair, appointment of .............................................................. 4-18 
composition ............................................................................ 2-16 
conflicts of interest .................................................................. 4-50 
consultation on reports ........................................................... 4-49 
delegation, powers of ............................................................. 2-19 
decisions ................................................................................ 4-50 
functions ................................................................................. 3-2, 4-50 
individual members, decisions by ........................................... 4-44 
Leader role ............................................................................. 2-4 
meetings ................................................................................. 4-18, 4-51   
membership ............................................................................ 2-17, 4-19 
members, term of office .......................................................... 2-21 
minority representatives ......................................................... 2-10 
planning applications .............................................................. 4-25 
portfolio arrangements ............................................................ 2-17 
portfolio leads ......................................................................... 2-4, 2-17 

           procedure rules ...................................................................... 4-1, 4-50 
proceedings ............................................................................ 2-21, 4-18 
quorum ................................................................................... 4-23, 4-51  
reports to Council ................................................................... 4-43 
role ......................................................................................... 2-16 
standing orders to apply ......................................................... 4-24 
terms of reference .................................................................. 2-16, 4-19 

 
CABINET MEMBER 
          functions .................................................................................. 2-5, 2-7 
 
CANVASSING 

for appointments ..................................................................... 4-113 
 
CASTING VOTE ............................................................................... 4-14 
 

286



 

  May 2021 
 

CHAIR(S) 
election of ............................................................................... 4-3, 4-18 
of committees ......................................................................... 4-3, 4-18 
of Council meetings ................................................................ 4-2 
vacancy .................................................................................. 4-18 

 
CHAPLAIN 

appointment of ........................................................................ 4-3 
 
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 

disciplinary action ................................................................... 4-99 
functions ................................................................................. 2-35 
resources for........................................................................... 2-36 

 
CITIZENS 

responsibilities ........................................................................ 2-8 
rights ....................................................................................... 2-8 

 
CODES AND PROTOCOLS ............................................................. 5-1 to 5-18 
 
CODES OF CONDUCT ..................................................................... 5-6 to 5-25 
COMMITTEE PROCEDURE RULES ................................................ 4-1 
 
COMMITTEES 

adjournment of sitting ............................................................. 4-15, 4-23 
allocation of seats to ............................................................... 4-19 
application of standing orders to ............................................. 4-24 
appointment of ........................................................................ 4-3, 4-18 
area ........................................................................................ 2-24, 4-19 
attendance of non member at ................................................. 4-23 
attendance of proposer of motion at ....................................... 4-6, 4-23 
chairs of .................................................................................. 4-3, 4-18 
composition of ........................................................................ 4-18 
confidential proceedings at ..................................................... 4-23, 4-38 
delegation to ........................................................................... 4-20 
exclusions from delegation to ................................................. 4-20 
exempt proceedings at ........................................................... 4-23, 4-38 
meetings of ............................................................................. 4-22 
minutes of ............................................................................... 4-4, 4-7, 4-14 
motions at (see MOTIONS) 
powers and duties of .............................................................. 4-19 
proceedings in to be private.................................................... 4-38 
public participation at… .......................................................... 4-24, 4-26 
quorum at ............................................................................... 4-23 
reference up of decisions ....................................................... 2-37, 4-22 
reports to Council ................................................................... 4-3, 4-6 
resignation from ...................................................................... 4-23 
review of allocation of seats to ................................................ 4-19 
rules of debate at .................................................................... 4-9 
smoking at .............................................................................. 4-16 
suspension of sitting/adjournment .......................................... 4-15, 4-24 

287



 

  May 2021 
 

terms of reference of .............................................................. 4-19 
vacancy of chair or vice-chair ................................................. 4-18 
vice-chair ................................................................................ 4-18 

 
COMPLAINTS PANEL 

delegated powers ................................................................... 4-28 
membership ............................................................................ 4-28 

 
CONDUCT, DISORDERLY 

at meetings ............................................................................. 4-15, 4-24 
 
CONDUCT OF NEGOTIATIONS RELATING ................................... 4-29 
TO LAND 
 
CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 

Meaning .................................................................................. 4-38 
proceedings involving ............................................................. 4-38 

 
CONSTITUTION 

changes .................................................................................. 2-41 
interpretation........................................................................... 2-1, 2-42 
monitoring ............................................................................... 2-41 
publication .............................................................................. 2-42 
purpose .................................................................................. 2-1 
review ..................................................................................... 2-1, 2-41 
summary of contents .............................................................. 1-1 
suspension ............................................................................. 2-42 

 
CONTRACTS 

advertising .............................................................................. 4-103 
agency work ........................................................................... 4-111 
alteration to tender sum .......................................................... 4-105, 4-109 
bribery and corruption… ......................................................... 4-114 
compliance with standing orders ............................................ 4-96 
construction work .................................................................... 4-111 
contract award ........................................................................ 4-103 
delivery of tenders .................................................................. 4-102, 4-104 
equality ................................................................................... 4-115 
exceptions to standing orders ................................................. 4-97 
financial thresholds ................................................................. 4-101 
framework agreements ........................................................... 4-106 
general application ................................................................. 4-101 
general principles ................................................................... 4-112 
insurances .............................................................................. 4-114 
interests of members in .......................................................... 4-17, 4-24 
interest of staff in .................................................................... 4-30 
internal process for contracts.................................................. 4-103 
late tenders ............................................................................. 4-104 
legal requirements for below EU threshold  ............................ 4-103 
letters of intent ........................................................................ 4-112 
management devolution ......................................................... 4-115 

288



 

  May 2021 
 

pcr requirements ..................................................................... 4-111 
power to enter into .................................................................. 4-111 
procedures.............................................................................. 2-38, 4-96, 4-101 
receipt of tenders .................................................................... 4-104, 4-107 
requests for information .......................................................... 4-105, 4-107 
selection of successful tender/evaluation ............................... 4-107 
software maintenance and enhancements ............................. 4-110 
standing orders ....................................................................... 4-99 
technical standards ................................................................. 4-112 
variation of contracts following completion ............................. 4-109 
verification process ................................................................. 4-104 
waivers ................................................................................... 4-101 

 
COUNCIL 

budget .................................................................................... 2-9 
composition ............................................................................ 2-2 
functions ................................................................................. 2-9, 2-11, 3-1 
meetings ................................................................................. 2-10, 4-3 
planning applications .............................................................. 4-24, 4-25 
policy framework ..................................................................... 2-9 
power ...................................................................................... 2-1 
procedure rules ....................................................................... 4-1 
public participation .................................................................. 4-24, 4-26 
quorum ................................................................................... 4-2 

 
COUNCILLORS 

additional rights of access ...................................................... 4-44 
allowances .............................................................................. 2-3, 6-1 
canvassing of and recommendations by ................................ 4-114 
code of conduct ...................................................................... 5-1 
conduct ................................................................................... 2-3, 4-15, 5-1 
contracts, interest in ............................................................... 4-17 
disorderly conduct by .............................................................. 4-15 
duties ...................................................................................... 2-3 
election ................................................................................... 2-2 
eligibility .................................................................................. 2-2 
functions ................................................................................. 2-2 
instructions by ......................................................................... 4-30 
inspection of documents by .................................................... 4-30 
inspection of works by ............................................................ 4-30 
interests .................................................................................. 4-17, 4-24, 5-2, 5-3 
protocols ................................................................................. 5-8 to 5-16 
relatives of .............................................................................. 4-114 
resignation of from committees etc ......................................... 4-23 
rights ....................................................................................... 2-3 
role ......................................................................................... 2-2 
term of office ........................................................................... 2-2 

 
 
COUNCIL MEETINGS 

adjournment of sitting ............................................................. 4-15 

289



 

  May 2021 
 

annual meeting ....................................................................... 4-2, 4-3 
chair of .................................................................................... 4-2, 4-3 
committee reports, presentation of ......................................... 4-7, 4-16 
days and hours of ................................................................... 4-2 
disorderly conduct .................................................................. 4-15 
disturbance by public .............................................................. 4-15 
extraordinary meetings ........................................................... 4-2 
minutes ................................................................................... 4-5, 4-14 
motions (see MOTIONS) 
order of business .................................................................... 4-3, 4-5 
petitions, presentation by Members ........................................ 4-16 
public participation at .............................................................. 4-24, 4-26 
questions at ............................................................................ 4-4, 4-8 
quorum ................................................................................... 4-2 
referral of matters from committees ........................................ 4-22 
rules of debate at .................................................................... 4-9 
smoking at .............................................................................. 4-16 
suspension of sitting ............................................................... 4-15 
urgent business at .................................................................. 4-3, 4-4 
 

COUNCILLOR/STAFF RELATIONS 
protocol ................................................................................... 5-10 

 
COUNCIL TAX, SETTING OF ........................................................... 4-4 
 
CUSTODY OF SEAL ......................................................................... 4-29 
 
DEBATE, RULES OF ........................................................................ 4-9, 4-24 
 
DECISION MAKING 

area committees, by ............................................................... 2-38 
call-in arrangements ............................................................... 2-38, 4-21 
committees and sub-committees, by ...................................... 2-38 to 2-39 
Council, by .............................................................................. 2-37 to 2-38 
decisions reserved to Council ................................................. 2-37 
executive decisions ................................................................ 2-36, 2-37 
individual members, by ........................................................... 4-44 
key decisions .......................................................................... 2-38 
local area committees, by ....................................................... 2-38 
minority order .......................................................................... 2-31, 4-21 
notification of decisions .......................................................... 2-37 
principles ................................................................................ 2-37 
recording of decisions ............................................................. 2-37, 4-44 
responsibility ........................................................................... 2-37 
scrutiny panels, by .................................................................. 2-39 
tribunals, by ............................................................................ 2-39 

 
DELEGATION 

Cabinet, to .............................................................................. 4-20 
 
call-in arrangements ............................................................... 2-38, 4-21 

290



 

  May 2021 
 

committees, to ........................................................................ 4-20 
exclusions from ....................................................................... 4-19 
general scheme ...................................................................... 4-20 
management devolution ......................................................... 4-115 
minority order .......................................................................... 2-31, 4-21 
panels, to ................................................................................ 4-28 
reference to committees ......................................................... 4-21 
scheme ................................................................................... 3-1, 4-20, 4-50 
staff, to .................................................................................... 3-16, 4-22 

 
DEMOCRATIC STRUCTURE ........................................................... 1-5 
 
DEPUTIES 

on Scrutiny Panels, appointment of ........................................ 4-19 
 

DEPUTY LEADER 
appointment ............................................................................ 2-21 

 
DEPUTY MAYOR 

election ................................................................................... 2-11, 4-3 
role and function ..................................................................... 2-11 

 
DESIGNATED AND PROPER OFFICERS ....................................... 3-4 
 
DEVOLUTION, MANAGEMENT ....................................................... 4-114 
 
DISCIPLINARY ACTION 

in relation to Head of Paid Service, Monitoring ....................... 4-99 
     Officer and Chief Finance Officer 

 
DISORDERLY CONDUCT 

at meetings ............................................................................. 4-15, 4-24 
 
DISTURBANCE BY MEMBERS OF PUBLIC .................................... 4-15, 4-24 
 
DOCUMENTS 

access by scrutiny panels ....................................................... 4-44 
inspection of ........................................................................... 4-30 
sealing of ................................................................................ 4-29 
signature of ............................................................................. 4-29 
supply of ................................................................................. 4-36 

 
ELECTIONS 

report of results of ................................................................... 4-3 
 
EMPLOYEES, MOTIONS AFFECTING ............................................ 4-14 
 
ENVIRONMENT PORTFOLIO .......................................................... 2-18, 2-19 
 
 
EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS 

291



 

  May 2021 
 

description .............................................................................. 2-37 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 

discretion to exclude public .................................................... 4-38 
meaning .................................................................................. 4-38 
proceedings involving ............................................................. 4-37 

 
FINANCE 

budget procedure rules ........................................................... 4-46 
financial management ............................................................ 2-40 
procedure rules ....................................................................... 4-59 

 
FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES ................................................... 4-59 
 
FORWARD PLAN 

contents of .............................................................................. 4-41 
general exception ................................................................... 4-42 
period of ................................................................................. 4-41 
publication of .......................................................................... 4-41 
special urgency ....................................................................... 4-42 

 
FUNCTIONS 

responsibility for ...................................................................... 3-1 
 
HEAD OF PAID SERVICE 

disciplinary action ................................................................... 4-99 
functions and responsibilities .................................................. 2-34 

 
HEADS OF SERVICE 

delegation to ........................................................................... 3-11, 4-22 
 
HEALTH PORTFOLIO ...................................................................... 2-18, 2-19 
 
INFORMATION 

additional rights to .................................................................. 4-36 
confidential ............................................................................. 4-38 
exempt .................................................................................... 4-38 
procedure rules, access to ..................................................... 4-36 

 
INSPECTION 

of documents .......................................................................... 4-30 
of works .................................................................................. 4-30 

 
INSTRUCTIONS BY MEMBERS....................................................... 4-30 
 
INSURANCES ................................................................................... 4-114 
 
 
 
INTERESTS 

of members............................................................................. 4-17, 4-24    

292



 

  May 2021 
 

of staff ..................................................................................... 4-30 
 
INTERPRETATION 

of standing orders ................................................................... 4-31 
 
JOINT ARRANGEMENTS ................................................................. 2-32 
 
KEY DECISIONS 

general exception ................................................................... 4-42 
material relating to .................................................................. 4-45 
meaning .................................................................................. 2-38 
procedure before taking .......................................................... 4-41 
special urgency ....................................................................... 4-42 

LAND 
negotiations ............................................................................ 4-29 

 
LEADER 

appointment ............................................................................ 2-21, 4-18 
functions ................................................................................. 2-4 

 
LEISURE PORTFOLIO ..................................................................... 2-18, 2-19 
 
LICENSING COMMITTEE 

appointment of  ....................................................................... 2-30 
composition  ........................................................................... 2-30 
role  ........................................................................................ 2-30 

 
LOCAL AREA COMMITTEES 

access to information .............................................................. 2-27 
appointment of ........................................................................ 2-25, 4-18 
agenda items .......................................................................... 4-58 
Cabinet members on .............................................................. 2-27 
chair: appointment of .............................................................. 4-18 
role of ..................................................................................... 2-5 
composition ............................................................................ 2-25 
conflicts of interest (with scrutiny panels) ............................... 2-27 
Councillors' role ...................................................................... 2-6 
delegation to ........................................................................... 4-20 
functions ................................................................................. 3-1, 4-20 
meetings ................................................................................. 4-22, 4-57 
membership ............................................................................ 4-19 
planning applications .............................................................. 4-24, 4-25 
procedure rules ....................................................................... 4-57 
quorum ................................................................................... 4-23, 4-57 
review of decisions ................................................................. 2-26 
standing orders to apply ......................................................... 4-24 
terms of reference .................................................................. 2-26, 3-1, 4-19 
vice-chairs: appointment ......................................................... 4-18 

           role ......................................................................................... 2-6 
 
LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTIONS .......................................................... 2-22, 3-1 

293



 

  May 2021 
 

 
MANAGEMENT DEVOLUTION ........................................................ 4-115 
 
MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE ......................................................... 7-1 
 
MAYOR 

election ................................................................................... 2-11, 4-3 
role and function ..................................................................... 2-11 

 
MEETINGS 

notice of .................................................................................. 4-36 
rights to attend ........................................................................ 4-36 

 
MEMBERS (see COUNCILLORS) 
 
MINORITY GROUP 

Leaders, role of ....................................................................... 2-5 
 

MINORITY ORDER ........................................................................... 2-29, 4-21 
 
MINUTES 

access to ................................................................................ 4-37 
committee, presentation to Council ........................................ 4-4, 4-7, 4-14 
Council, approval of ................................................................ 4-6 
general provisions concerning ................................................ 4-14 
motions affecting accuracy of ................................................. 4-6 

 
MONITORING OFFICER 

disciplinary action ................................................................... 4-99 
functions ................................................................................. 2-34 
resources for........................................................................... 2-36 

 
MOTIONS 

affecting persons employed by the Council ............................ 4-14 
alteration of ............................................................................. 4-10, 4-13 
amendments to ....................................................................... 4-8, 4-10, 4-11 
attendance of proposer at committees ................................... 4-6, 4-23 
closure .................................................................................... 4-6, 4-11 
dealt with at Council meetings ................................................ 4-7 
notice of .................................................................................. 4-5, 4-24 
out of order ............................................................................. 4-6 
reference to a committee ........................................................ 4-7, 4-9 
relating to subjects within the province of ............................... 4-6 
committees 
rescinding ............................................................................... 4-13 
right of reply to ........................................................................ 4-11 
to be debated at Council ......................................................... 4-6 
to exclude public ..................................................................... 4-8, 4-11, 4-14 
to suspend standing orders .................................................... 4-7, 4-12, 4-24, 4-31 
which may be moved without notice ....................................... 4-7, 4-24 
which may be moved during debate ....................................... 4-11, 4-24 

294



 

  May 2021 
 

withdrawal of........................................................................... 4-11 
 
NOTICE 

of meetings ............................................................................. 4-36 
of motion (see MOTIONS) 
of written questions ................................................................. 4-8 
public ...................................................................................... 4-29 

 
OFFICERS (see STAFF) 
 
OUTSIDE BODIES, REPRESENTATIVES ON ................................. 4-7 
 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

procedure rules ....................................................................... 4-53 
review of Area Committee decisions ...................................... 2-26 

 
PANELS 

appointment of ........................................................................ 4-4, 4-18, 4-19 
resignation from ...................................................................... 4-23 
terms of reference of .............................................................. 4-19 

 
PETITIONS 

presentation and receipt ......................................................... 4-17, 4-24 
petition scheme …………………………………………………. 4-116 to 4-119 

 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

code of conduct ...................................................................... 5-18 
procedure for determining ...................................................... 4-24, 4-25 

 
POLICY AND RESOURCES PORTFOLIO ....................................... 2-18, 2-19 
 
POLICY FRAMEWORK 

budget and policy framework rules ......................................... 4-46 
meaning .................................................................................. 2-9 

 
PORTFOLIOS 

arrangements ......................................................................... 2-17 
leads, role of ........................................................................... 2-4 

 
POWERS AND DUTIES 

of committees ......................................................................... 4-20 
of staff ..................................................................................... 3-11, 4-22 

 
PROCEEDINGS IN COMMITTEE TO BE PRIVATE ......................... 4-23 
 
 
PROCUREMENT BOARD 

membership ............................................................................ 4-34 
protocols ................................................................................. 4-34 
responsibilities ........................................................................ 4-33 
scope ...................................................................................... 4-33 

295



 

  May 2021 
 

structure ................................................................................. 4-34 
terms of reference .................................................................. 4-32 
waiver of standing orders ....................................................... 4-31 

 
PROCUREMENT EXECUTIVE GROUP 

responsibilities ........................................................................ 4-33 
 
PROPER AND DESIGNATED OFFICERS ....................................... 3-4 
 
PROTOCOLS .................................................................................... 2-29, 5-7 to 5-25 
 
PUBLIC 

disturbance by ........................................................................ 4-15, 4-24 
exclusion of access to meetings ............................................. 4-38 
exclusion of at meetings ......................................................... 4-7, 4-11, 4-14, 4-23 
notices .................................................................................... 4-29 
participation of at meetings ..................................................... 4-23, 4-26 
summary of rights ................................................................... 4-37 

 
PUBLIC NOTICES ............................................................................ 4-29 
 
QUESTIONS AT COUNCIL MEETINGS ........................................... 4-9 
 
QUORUM 

at committees ......................................................................... 4-23 
at Council meetings ................................................................ 4-2 

 
REFERENCE (OF DECISIONS) TO COUNCIL ................................ 2-37, 4-21 
 
REGULATORY FUNCTIONS ............................................................ 2-22 
 
RELATIVES 

of members or staff ................................................................. 4-114 
 
REPORTS 

access to ................................................................................ 4-36 
Cabinet, to Council by ............................................................ 4-43 
committee, presentation to Council ........................................ 4-8 
exclusion of access to ............................................................ 4-38 
general provisions concerning ................................................ 4-14 
relevant to key decisions ........................................................ 4-43 
request by a scrutiny panel ..................................................... 4-44 
supply of copies ...................................................................... 4-36 

 
REPRESENTATIVES 

appointment to outside bodies ................................................ 4-7 
 
RESIGNATION 

from committees or panels ..................................................... 4-23 
 
RESOLUTIONS 

296



 

  May 2021 
 

alteration of ............................................................................. 4-13, 4-24 
rescission of............................................................................ 4-13 

 
RIGHT OF REPLY ............................................................................ 4-11, 4-22 
RULES OF DEBATE ......................................................................... 4-10, 4-24 
 
SCRUTINY, OVERVIEW AND 

procedure rules ....................................................................... 4-53 
review of Area Committee decisions ...................................... 2-26 

 
SCRUTINY PANELS 

access to documents .............................................................. 4-44 
agenda items .......................................................................... 4-53 
appointment of ........................................................................ 2-14, 4-18 
chairs: appointment of ............................................................ 4-18, 4-53 
role… ...................................................................................... 2-7 
conflict of interest with Area Committees ................................ 2-27 
deputies, appointment of  ....................................................... 4-19 
matters relating to more than one panel ................................. 4-56 
meetings ................................................................................. 4-22, 4-53 
membership ............................................................................ 4-19, 4-53 
members: rights ...................................................................... 4-54, 4-55 

           role ......................................................................................... 2-7 
members to attend  ................................................................. 4-55 
party whip, no ......................................................................... 4-56 
policy review and development............................................... 4-54 
proceedings of  ....................................................................... 2-16, 4-18, 4-56 
quorum ................................................................................... 4-23, 4-53 
reports, consideration of by Cabinet ....................................... 4-54 
request for report .................................................................... 4-43 
reports from ............................................................................ 4-54 
staff to attend .......................................................................... 4-55 
terms of reference  . 2-13 
vice-chairs: appointment of ..................................................... 4-18, 4-53 

           role of ..................................................................................... 2-7 
work programme ..................................................................... 4-53 

 
SEAL, CUSTODY OF ........................................................................ 4-29 
 
SEALING OF DOCUMENTS ............................................................. 4-29 
 
SIGNATURE OF DOCUMENTS ....................................................... 4-29 
 
SMOKING ......................................................................................... 4-16 
 
SOCIAL POLICY PORTFOLIO ......................................................... 2-18, 2-19 
 
STAFF 

arrangements ......................................................................... 2-32, 7-1 
Chief Finance Officer .............................................................. 2-35 
codes of conduct .................................................................... 2-36, 5-1 to 5-19 

297



 

  May 2021 
 

conduct ................................................................................... 2-35, 5-1 to 5-19 
delegation to ........................................................................... 3-11, 4-22 
discharge of functions ............................................................. 2-34 
employment ............................................................................ 2-36, 4-114 
Head of Paid Service .............................................................. 2-34 
interest in contracts ................................................................ 4-17 
management structure ............................................................ 2-34, 7-1 
meaning .................................................................................. 2-34 
Monitoring Officer ................................................................... 2-34, 2-31, 2-35 
motions affecting .................................................................... 4-14 
protocols ................................................................................. 2-36, 5-8 to 5-19 
statutory officers ..................................................................... 2-34 
structure ................................................................................. 2-34, 7-1 

 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

agenda ................................................................................... 4-58 
appointment of ........................................................................ 2-23, 4-18 
chair, appointment of .............................................................. 2-23, 4-18 
composition ............................................................................ 2-23 
meetings ................................................................................. 4-22 
membership ............................................................................ 2-23, 4-19  
members' role ......................................................................... 2-28 
procedure rules ....................................................................... 4-57 
quorum ................................................................................... 4-23, 4-57 
role and function ..................................................................... 2-23 
standing orders to apply ......................................................... 4-24 
terms of reference .................................................................. 2-26, 4-19 

 
STANDING ORDERS 

application to Cabinet and committees ................................... 4-24 
delegation under ..................................................................... 4-20 
interpretation of ....................................................................... 4-31 
revocation ............................................................................... 4-31 
suspension ............................................................................. 4-31 
variation .................................................................................. 4-31 

 
STATUTORY OFFICERS ................................................................. 2-34 
 
SUSPENSION OF MEETINGS ......................................................... 4-15, 4-24 
 
TENDERS ......................................................................................... 4-97 to 4-115 
 
TRANSPORT AND STREETSCENE PORTFOLIO........................... 2-18 
 
URGENT BUSINESS AT MEETINGS ............................................... 4-3, 4-4, 4-5 
 
VICE-CHAIRS OF COMMITTEES 

election of ............................................................................... 4-18 
vacancy .................................................................................. 4-18 

 
VIREMENT ........................................................................................ 4-48 

298



 

  May 2021 
 

 
VOTING 

casting vote ............................................................................ 4-14, 4-24 
method of ............................................................................... 4-13, 4-24 
on appointments ..................................................................... 4-14, 4-24 
recording of............................................................................. 4-13, 4-14, 4-23 

 
WORKS 

inspection of ........................................................................... 4-30 
 

 

299



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Thursday, 17 June 2021  

CABINET 

Thursday, 21 June 2021  

CORPORATE ACTION PLAN 21/22 

Report of the Head of Strategic Planning and Development  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that  the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel  
 

(1) Comments on the attached Corporate Action Plan for 21/22 at Appendix 1. 
 

It is recommended that  Cabinet  
 

(2) approves the attached revised Corporate Action Plan for 2021/22 at Appendix 
1. 

 

Summary 
 
The report proposes a set of high-level priority actions in each Cabinet Portfolio area for 
delivery in 21/22. The Corporate Action Plan (CAP) reflects the ambition of the Council to 
deliver for residents and businesses in the borough.  

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence, 
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area.   

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The report relates directly to all the Council’s Corporate Plan (2015-2025) 
objectives, proposing a range of ambitious and innovative actions and projects 
to deliver benefits for the borough and helping to fulfil the Council’s mission of 
Supporting Communities and Improving Lives. 

Corporate Action Plan (CAP) 

2. The Corporate Action Plan is a statement of intention to carry out actions 
against a set of priorities, for residents, Councillors, staff and stakeholders, to 

301

Agenda Item 9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

visibly and meaningfully demonstrate its commitment to meeting Corporate 
Plan objectives. The Community Investment Programme has been a 
longstanding way of planning capital schemes and can be read alongside this 
document. 

3. The Corporate Action Plan: 

(a) Details a clear set of actions (services, projects, partnerships) that are 
chosen to have impact on corporate objectives, for the year ahead. (In 
some cases actions will fall across more than one year.)  

(b) Lists actions by Portfolio for each Cabinet member to sponsor and 
champion. Local Area actions are determined by Local Area 
Committees (LACs) and are included in this CAP as an important 
feature of the way the Council delivers benefits for residents; actions of 
corporate significance may appear as Local Area actions e.g. actions 
relating to Eastleigh Town Centre. Local Area Action Plans completed 
and approved by LACs in January (HEWEB) and March 2021 
(BiFOHH, CFH and BHH), are attached at Appendices 2-6. (Eastleigh 
Local Area Action Plan has been completed is shortly to be approved.) 

(c) Lists actions that have been identified from discussions between: 
Strategic Planning and Development Team, Senior Delivery Managers, 
Portfolio holders, Programme managers, Finance and others.   

(d) Gives the primary focus for strategic reviews including Portfolio 
holders. Strengthens the Portfolio role and encourages Cabinet 
members to act as strategic champions. Encourages cross-Cabinet 
debate on the overall suite of actions and distribution of resource 
across the Council. 

(e) Provides a rationale and/or measure so that the successful 
implementation (performance) of the action can be measured, by 
managers, Portfolio holders and Scrutiny members. Some actions do 
not lend themselves easily to quantifiable measurement. 

(f) Helps provide staff with a greater sense of cohesion, perspective and 
direction for the future year. Enables the Council to reflect at the end of 
the year on performance and levels of achievement. Provides material 
for both internal and external communication and helps in the planning 
of communications. 

4. The attached draft at Appendix 1 shows the draft CAP for 21/22. The use of a 
published programme of deliverables is commonplace across Local 
Authorities with styles, lengths and content varying. 

Financial Implications 

5. There are no direct financial implications of the draft CAP for 21/22 as it does 
not make spending commitments specifically. However, once projects are 

302



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

committed to and approved some additional funding will require approval from 
Cabinet.  

Risk Assessment 

6. The Council risks operating in a reactive way if it does not clearly prioritise 
and plan.   

7. All the actions in the CAP are subject to Risks Management policy and 
practice, via Service Plans and project management.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

8. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people.  Equality implications are 
considered for in the design of actions and projects (e.g.  at Project Initiation 
stage), and impacts reported via committee reports.  

9. In 20/21 the Council developed and agreed an Equality Strategy with specific 
actions which will develop further the ways in which the Council meets the 
aims of the Equality Act 2010. 

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

10. The CAP includes actions to specifically respond to the Climate and 
Environment Emergency declared by the Council in July 2019. All the actions 
aim to have a positive effect on climate change and the environment where 
possible. Decisions on specific actions and projects are taken with due regard 
for climate and environmental issues and reported in committee reports.    

 

Conclusion 

11. The Corporate Action Plan sets out a range of ambitious measures to fulfil the 
objectives in the Corporate Plan 2015-2025. 

DICCON BRIGHT 
HEAD OF STRATEGIC PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT  

 
Date: 27 May 2021 
Contact Officer: Diccon Bright  
Tel No: 023 8068 8436 / 07788 790 729 
e-mail: diccon.bright@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 6 
 
Corporate Action plan 2021/22 
5 Local Area Action Plans 
 

303



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

Corporate Plan 2015-2025  

 

304



Eastleigh Borough Council

Corporate Action Plan
2021/2022

GREENER 
BOROUGH

HOUSING

ECONOMY

HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING

305



2  |  Corporate Action Plan  2021/2022

This year will be a pivotal year for the Council. We will need to continue to respond to the 
COVID19 pandemic, and also support our community and our services to recover; where it 
is right to do so we will take the opportunities that the pandemic has thrown up to change 
and improve what we do. We will work alongside our communities and other organisations 
that face significant challenges: health services will need to maintain a strong Covid 
response as well as recover from a backlog, public transport will take time to get back to 
viable services and while some parts of the local economy will bounce back from Covid, 
other parts may need further support. This financial year will also see the One Horton Heath 
project move towards delivery and there will be a requirement for the whole Council to 
come together as a team to deliver this flagship project. To make all this happen the Council 
will control and realign resources, continue to develop its support services like IT, HR and 
Communications, and develop its own approach to home/office working arrangements. 

Introduction

306



3  |  Corporate Action Plan  2021/2022

Environment: The Climate and Environmental Emergency programme is now in its 
second year and delivery is starting to ramp up. In order to maximise opportunities, 
Trees and Land Management have been brought together alongside Ecology. 
Environmental Health has been brought in to sit alongside the Pollution team. New 
Biodiversity, Sustainable Transport, Pollution and Tree programmes will lead to the 
delivery of a range of services. The Waste service will begin moving into a delivery phase 
of the New Ways of Waste, with all households seeing improvements and flats being 
brought into the food waste scheme.

Action Measure Timeline

Climate and Environmental 
Emergency programme

Implement range of 
activities in the Action 
Plan 

End of 21/22

Growing and Planting 3000 trees 
from Eastleigh’s Tree nursery

3000 saplings and trees During 21/22

Implement new waste collection 
plan

Successful bin collections, 
recycling rate

Q2

Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan Consultation on draft 
Strategy and draft Plan 

By end of 21/22

Develop approach to Biodiversity 
Net Gain through development 
management and Biodiversity 
Strategy

Aim for at least 10% Net 
Gain for all development 

During 21/22

 Fly-Tipping Implementation of 
investigation and 
enforcement procedures, 
and preventative measures 
to deter Fly-Tipping 

Q3

Environment Portfolio Holder

Councillor Rupert Kyrle

307



4  |  Corporate Action Plan  2021/2022

Transport: The pattern of travel across the borough was significantly disrupted 
during 20/21, with public transport patronage reduced and many people reducing 
their commuting or working from home full time. As we gradually emerge from the 
most stringent restrictions the Council is taking a range of actions to promote more 
sustainable modes of transport, to ease congestion and reduce carbon emissions, and 
to promote healthier and more active forms of travel too.    

Action Measure Timeline

Assess options and support delivery 
of Mobility Transport Hub in Eastleigh 
Town Centre

Delivery of Hub (dependent on 
SCC/HCC)

During 21/22

Manage and review road closure in 
Eastleigh town centre. Develop long 
term plans

Decision in November/Dec on 
longer term proposals

Closure may run 
until December 
21

Develop a Cycling and walking 
strategy

Adopted document Adoption of new 
strategy by Q2

Initiate development of a Public 
Transport strategy 

Strategy development commenced Start in 21/22

Commission study into Hedge End to 
Eastleigh cycle link

Study commissioned By end of 21/22

Design and consult on BHH wayfinding 
project. Identify routes

Consultation, Designs and route 
identification completed

During 21/22

Support and promote public transport 
and community transport

Increased bus and community 
transport patronage

Throughout 
21/22

Update and install new air monitoring 
equipment 

Updates/Installations completed 21/22

Roll out of rapid charge (30mins) Electric 
Vehicle charging points in public car parks

Romsey Rd, Channon and Chestnut 
retail parks, PLE  

By Q3

Migrate EBC fleet to more sustainable 
power source

Trial of Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil. 
Procurement of three new electric 
waste-collection vehicles.

June 2021
20/21

Transport Portfolio Holder

Councillor David Airey

308



5  |  Corporate Action Plan  2021/2022

Health and Social Policy: Overall, the health of Eastleigh residents continues to be 
better than the England average, and life expectancy for both males and females is 
significantly higher than in England. However, according to the latest figures the gap 
in life expectancy of males living in the most deprived and most affluent areas of the 
Borough has increased by 2.5 years whilst for women there has been a small reduction.

Throughout 20/21 there was a significant rise in the numbers of people accessing 
our country parks, although this has not been the same for our leisure facilities due 
to the Covid pandemic and lockdown restrictions. Our SportWorks and HealthWorks 
programmes have also experienced challenges due to the lockdown restrictions and 
ensuring we engaged inactive people in 2021 will be a priority. Our Arts and Culture 
programme is being extended to include a broader range of activities which will be 
delivered in local communities. 

Unhealthy weights and physical inactivity remain challenges for the borough. Mental 
illnesses particularly amongst the working age population continues to be a concern 
and the challenges of an ageing population, including the risks associated with social 
isolation, loneliness and ensuring access to high quality appropriate services, remains a 
key priority. 

Covid-19 has affected the health and wellbeing of Eastleigh residents in a range of 
ways, highlighting issues of mental illness, social isolation and inequalities. The Council 
has played a leading role locally in response to the pandemic, by accommodating 
homeless people, helping people to shield and isolate, and delivering its own testing 
service. The Council will continue to have a significant role to play in recovery and work 
closely with a range of partners and deliver its own services to protect, promote and 
improve residents’ health.

Action Measure Timeline

Implement priority actions of the three 
Eastleigh Health & Wellbeing Board 
subgroups.

KPIs from subgroup action 
plans and group output.
- Starting well
- Living well
- Aging well

Throughout 
21/22

Implement a new Arts and Culture Strategy. Strategy implemented. By March 
2023 (review 
in 6 months)

Deliver SportWorks & HealthWorks 
programmes of physical activity and 
wellbeing projects with a particular focus on 
addressing inactivity, health inequality and 
mental health.

Number of attendances / 
visits. Number of sessions 
delivered. Long-term 
impacts of Healthworks 
programmes.

Throughout 
21/22

Health Portfolio Holder

Councillor Tonia Craig

309



6  |  Corporate Action Plan  2021/2022

Action Measure Timeline

Deliver the We Are Undefeatable Eastleigh: 
Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (CEV) 
campaign 

Number of CEV 
participating in the 
campaign.

Throughout 
21/22

Implement a range of campaigns to tackle 
unhealthy weights and physical inactivity 
promote social inclusion and mental wellness.

Engagement in the 
campaigns.

Throughout 
21/22

Review Sports and Active Lifestyles Strategy. Strategy Implemented. By March 2022

Manage and support key leisure facilities to 
improve mental and physical wellbeing.

Attendances at leisure 
centres, parks and 
theatres.

Throughout 
21/22

Work with partners to raise awareness of 
vulnerable groups including hate crime and 
domestic abuse.

Number of comms Throughout 
21/22

Bring organisations together in the Eastleigh 
Welfare Agencies Partnership (EWAP) to tackle 
health inequality and to support vulnerable 
residents across the Borough.

Breadth and quality of 
partnership.

Throughout 
21/22

Deliver Arts and Culture Health and Wellbeing 
programmes using new Studio space.

Number of participants, 
especially women, people 
with long term health 
conditions, disadvantaged 
families, children and 
young people.

Throughout 
21/22

Implement a Making Every Contact Count 
(MECC) Pilot Project across key frontline 
services – taking opportunities to give people 
more control of their lives.

Project delivered and 
evaluated.

Throughout 
21/22

Implement the Armed Forces Action Plan. Action plan delivered. Throughout 
21/22

Implement Equalities Strategy and Action 
Plan.

Strategy and action 
implemented.

By March 2022

Implement the Employee volunteering 
scheme.

Successful delivery of the 
pilot scheme

By March 2022

Continue to operate Local Response Centre. Help provided to enable 
all those who need to 
‘shield’ or self-isolate.

By September 
2021

310



7  |  Corporate Action Plan  2021/2022

Housing: The Council continues to prioritise the delivery of new homes across the 
Borough in sustainable locations to boost the supply of much needed new homes and 
help tackle unmet housing needs. The Council has a strong record, easily meeting the 
government’s Housing Delivery Test, and a strong prospect of achieving this for the 
future, with a good supply of homes for the next six years. 2021-22 will see further 
work to achieve adoption of the Borough’s Local Plan and progress on small and large 
housing delivery sites, with infrastructure to go with them. We will continue to ensure 
strong enforcement of planning conditions, so the right homes are delivered in the  
right way.

Action Measure Timeline

Adopt the Local Plan 2016-2036 Adoption Q3

Work with partners and 
landowners to promote Eastleigh 
Homes Delivery Strategy 

Strategic housing 
objectives and targets.  
Aim for the Housing 
Programme to be managing 
5-10 projects at any time.

Monitored monthly 

Implementation work for delivery 
of One Horton Heath project

Upfront infrastructure 
delivery and 
comprehensively 
planned new sustainable 
community

Launch of road 
segments spring 2021. 
Planning application for 
comprehensive scheme 
summer 2021.

Detailed design for first 
residential parcel by 
Aug 2021.

January 2022 
anticipated start on site 
for Primary School.

Planning & Property 
Portfolio Holder 

Councillor Keith House

311



8  |  Corporate Action Plan  2021/2022

Action Measure Timeline

Seek Council approval for 
Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan and compulsory 
registration of Eastleigh Borough 
Council with the Regulator of 
Social Housing

To enable the Council to 
hold affordable housing 
stock in preparation for 
retaining affordable homes 
at One Horton Heath from 
2023/24

Target business plan 
approval March 2022

Work with EBC assets team 
to acquire properties for 
refurbishment for self-contained 
temporary/ ‘move-on’ 
accommodation to support the 
Council’s Homelessness Strategy 

Increased supply of self-
contained temporary 
accommodation and 
access Government 
funding where possible

Development scheme 
for self-contained 
accommodation 
secured by end of 
2021/22

Establish Lettings & Management 
capabilities (residential)

Number of homes held 
and managed on behalf of 
the Council and response 
to the services offered.

Established in-house 
service by end of 
21/22

Ongoing review of brownfield 
land assets and seeking capital 
funding (e.g One Public Estate 
land release fund) to unlock 
projects in support of the Asset 
Management Strategy 2020-
2025

External funding sought 
and awarded. Number of 
feasibility studies and RIBA 
stage 0 and 1 undertaken 
for prospective housing 
sites.

Expenditure of New 
Homes Bonus to subsidise 
unviable schemes for 
affordable housing.

(Ongoing)- monitored 
monthly

Delivery of new homes at 
Stoneham Park, Eastleigh (42 
homes for private rent provided 
via Aspect Eastleigh Ltd).

Widening the housing 
choice and landlord 
services in Eastleigh town.

Completion of first 
new homes for rent 
from August 2021.  

Delivery of Fanfare Place, 
Eastleigh (49 new homes for 
private rent provided via Aspect 
Eastleigh Ltd).  .

High quality lettings and 
management (EBC as 
responsible landlord). 
New homes in accessible 
town centre location and 
return of One Community 
and Age Concern to new 
premises. 

Completion of new 
homes for rent 
February 2022. New 
home available from 
summer 2021.

312



9  |  Corporate Action Plan  2021/2022

Action Measure Timeline

Oversee delivery of Pembers Hill 
Park, Fair Oak (242 dwellings)

Pembers Hill LLP (joint 
venture company)- surplus 
income to be recycled in 
housing programme (on 
sale of properties). 

Options for first time 
buyers (i.e. Help to Buy); 
42 shared ownership; 
and 43 affordable rent 
dwellings.

Phase 1 completion 
(53 homes) Q1 2021

Phase 2 completion 
(73 homes) April 
2022

Community engagement work 
to help shape new homes in 
central Eastleigh on previously-
developed land (scheme known 
as the Parlour)

Level of community interest 
and participation at events 
and feedback received.

Redevelopment of former 
Samsons Gym and the 
Crockery, Eastleigh 
(near Grantham Green) 
(approx. 19 dwellings), 
meeting housing needs, 
energy efficiency and other 
strategic objectives where 
possible.

Engagement 
throughout May-Aug 
2021

Target planning 
decision early 2022.

313



10  |  Corporate Action Plan  2021/2022

Economy: The local economy has been significantly affected by the Covid pandemic, 
with many businesses making use of the various business grants issued by the Council 
during 2020/21. The Council remains ambitious about encouraging businesses to come 
and to stay in the borough and helping skill the local workforce to make the most of 
job opportunities. The recently announced Freeport for Eastleigh will bring the Council 
together with others to create new jobs and prosperity for the borough. This coming year 
will have significant challenges too, not least for retail and other town centre businesses 
hit hard by the loss of footfall during lockdowns and restrictions; a programme of 
measures is being developed to ensure we get the social as well as the economic 
benefits of coming together in our town and local centres.

Action Measure Timeline

Work alongside stakeholders 
and attend LEP led meetings 
to develop plans for a tax 
site  on the Freeport. Work 
with landowners to unlock 
employment land stated in the 
Local Plan to enable inward 
investment and job creation at 
Riverside. Work with partners to 
unlock the southern section of 
Chickenhall Lane Link Road.

Progress and maintaining the strong 
partnerships with landowners on the 
Riverside/Railway works

Tax site established

Increase in external business 
enquiries and interest for 
employment space on released land

Planning applications from 
landowners relating to the future 
development of the link road

During 21/22

Work with partners inc HCC to 
identify future needs for serviced 
office accommodation in the 
Borough, post Covid.

Sites identified in each area of the 
borough and planned in as suitable 
for providing flexible office space

Develop an opportunity for EBC to 
purchase a footprint parcel of land for 
enterprise use on the Riverside/railway 
works

21/22

Economy Portfolio Holder

Councillor Derek Pretty

314



11  |  Corporate Action Plan  2021/2022

Action Measure Timeline

Create business opportunities 
that contribute to EBC climate 
change targets 2025. Hold 
climate change business 
conference

Conference held and number 
of attendees – minimum of 100 
participants.

21/22

Develop and deliver a business 
support programme targeted to 
businesses particularly affected 
by the pandemic, including 
a business healthcheck, 121 
mentoring and business 
planning

Healthchecks for 90 businesses, 
intensive business support for ten 
businesses that seek further support.

21/22

Increase the employment and 
skills opportunities of young 
residents through development 
of Youth hub

Number of beneficiaries accessing 
the service and number of borough 
businesses recruited as placements.

Exemplar of Eastleigh leading a 
consortium of four local authorities.

21/22

Promote Eastleigh borough gift 
card to encourage local spend 
and footfall

50 businesses registered 21/22

Support the economic recovery 
of town and local centres post 
Covid via package of measures 
for towns and local centres 
across the Borough

Increase Footfall, and dwell time to 
pre-covid levels. Reduce void levels

During 21/22

315



12  |  Corporate Action Plan  2021/2022

Regeneration (North) 
Portfolio Holder

Regeneration (South) 
Portfolio Holder

Councillor Paul Bicknell Councillor Ian Corben

Regeneration: Despite Covid restrictions in 20/21 the Council was able to progress a 
range of projects of benefit to the whole borough and for local residents in 20/21. The 
Council continues to be ambitious in its programme of infrastructure and other projects 
to regenerate pars of the borough and improve places including town and local centres 
but also leisure facilities and green spaces to improve health, environment and support 
the local economy.

Action Measure Timeline

Regenerate Hedge End Town Centre Rationalise the 
strategic Hedge 
End town centre site 
around the former 
Budgens site. 

By end of 21/22 

Improve Hiltingbury Lakes Watercourse repairs, 
re-surfacing of 
footpaths and new 
bridges, costed 
Maintenance Plan 
including setting up a 
Volunteer Group

By end of Q3 (End of 
2021).

Complete Lawn Road Open Space 
Improvements

Landscaping and new 
equipment completed 

End of 2021

Instal West End heritage markers Three Heritage 
Markers

October 2021

Hedge End green routes wayfinding Install three wayfinding 
markers

July 2021 

Complete Pirelli Open Space 
improvements

Install benches May 2021

316



13  |  Corporate Action Plan  2021/2022

Action Measure Timeline

Improve Eastleigh Town Centre Toilets Completion of works 
(subject to legal 
agreements)

By end of 21/22

Bursledon Country Park Ground works, 
landscaping, play area

Remaining works

Open to public

Q2
Q3
2023

Woodhouse Lane sports facilities Commencement of 
Construction on site. 

Completion of works

(12 month 
maintenance period 
before open to public 
2023)

Q2
Q4

Agree Regeneration Principles for 
Eastleigh Town Centre and develop 
action plan

Action Plan for 
Eastleigh Town Centre

Q3

North Stoneham Community Building 
and Day Nursery

Completion of facility 
and open to public for 
use.  

May 2021 

Former Post Office, Eastleigh town 
centre

Construction works August 2021 – 
November 2022

The Arch Chandler’s Ford Construction works February 2022 –  
April 2023

St Johns Phase 2 and Road Construction works Q1 2022 – Q1 
2025 (subject to 
resolution of restrictive 
covenants)

317



This page is intentionally left blank



Cllr Tonia Craig - Local Area Chair

tonia.craig@eastleigh.gov.uk

Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice  
& Hound (BHH)

Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Committee

Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Manager 

Key Projects & Priorities

Council Services - Local Variations

 ▶ Champion the local area
 ▶ Decide local priorities
 ▶ Manage local budgets
 ▶ Determine local levels of council services such 
as Streetscene and traffic management

 ▶ Work with the local community
 ▶ Decide planning applications

 ▶ Act as a link between the Council and local 
people

 ▶ Support local Councillors
 ▶ Support and work in partnership with the 
Parish Council

 ▶ Manage the local revenue budget and the 
capital programme/major projects

 ▶ Work with the Council to improve local 
services and to ensure value for money

 ▶ Identify local needs and priorities
 ▶ Work closely with Parish Councils, schools 
and community groups

 ▶ Bursledon Station car-park 
– following the completed 
feasibility study produce an 
action plan for improvements

 ▶ New location for Windhover 
kestrel

 ▶ Review Car Parking provision in 
Netley Abbey

 ▶ Implement Public art strategy 
and way finder project for the 
peninsula

 ▶ Implement three electric 
car charging points across 
Bursledon, Hamble and Hound

 ▶ Review and formalise a Service 
Level Agreement to support the 
Bursledon Windmill

 ▶ Carry out improvement to 
Hamble rail Trail

 ▶ Open new play areas at 
Kingfisher Grange, Kestrel 
Park and Cleverley Rise and 
improvements to existing play 
areas on the peninsula

 ▶ Support Bursledon Parish Council 
in the commencement of a 
project to make improvements to 
Long Lane Recreation ground

 ▶ Review and make 
recommendations to improve 
the local grants process

 ▶ Work towards the opening of 
the Country Park at Bursledon 
for April 2022

 ▶ Country Parks and Land 
Management – Hamble Common

 ▶ Corporate Communications 

 ▶ Direct Services – leaf clearance, 
benches, bins, fencing 

 ▶ Locality Area Services – car 
parks at Hamble Square, Netley 
and the Lowford Centre

 ▶ Support Services – Community 
Grants/Finance

 ▶ Specialist Services – Traffic 
Regulation Orders and traffic studies

Key Partnerships

 ▶ Bursledon Parish Council

 ▶ Hamble Parish Council

 ▶ Hound Parish Council

 ▶ Bursledon District Community 
Association

 ▶ Pilands Wood Community 
Association

 ▶ Hamble School and Sports 
Complex 

 ▶ Primary schools

 ▶ Health centres

 ▶ Mercury volunteers 

 ▶ Youth Options

 ▶ Hampshire County Council/
Hamble River Authority

 ▶ Hampshire Police

 ▶ Local businesses including GE 
Aviation, BP and Coopervision 

Hiltingbury
Chandler’s

Ford

Eastleigh

Bishopstoke

Horton
Heath

Fair
Oak

Bursledon

Netley

Hamble- 
le-Rice

West
End

Hedge
End

Botley

Ross McClean - Local Area Manager
Ross.mcclean@eastleigh.gov.uk   023 8068 3367

Local Area Action Plan 
2021/22

27319



T
his page is intentionally left blank

320



Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Committee

Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Manager 

Key Projects & Priorities

Council Services - Local Variations

 ▶ Champion the local area

 ▶ Decide local priorities

 ▶ Manage local budgets

 ▶ Determine local levels of council services such 
as Streetscene and traffic management

 ▶ Work with the local community

 ▶ Decide planning applications

 ▶ Act as a link between the Council and  
local people

 ▶ Support local councillors

 ▶ Manage the local revenue budget and the 
capital programme/major projects

 ▶ Work with the Council to improve local 
services and to ensure value for money

 ▶ Identify local needs and priorities

 ▶ Work closely with Parish Councils,  
schools and community groups

 ▶ Conclude the Hiltingbury Lakes 
regeneration project by Autumn 
2021

 ▶ Commence work on the 
feasibility of a regeneration 
project at Flexford

 ▶ Review youth provision offer in 
Chandler’s Ford and Hiltingbury

 ▶ Reprovision of the Arch youth 
theatre building

 ▶ Complete Ramalley Scout hut 
replacement

 ▶ Comprehensive review of 
cycleways and links between 
them

 ▶ Engage with the community to 
improve our carbon footprint

 ▶ Retain our local character and 
heritage

 ▶ Country Parks and Land 
Management – Hiltingbury Lakes, 
Ramalley Cemetery and Copse, 
Cuckoo Bushes, Hocombe 
Mead, Pine Road Cemetery

 ▶ Support Services –  
Community Grants

 ▶ Y Zone youth work team

 ▶ Direct Services – additional leaf 
clearance, hanging baskets 
and plant towers, Ramalley 
Cemetery and Copse

Ross McClean - Local Area Manager
ross.mcclean@eastleigh.gov.uk   023 8068 3367

Cllr James Duguid

james.duguid@eastleigh.gov.uk

Chandler’s Ford  
& Hiltingbury (CFH)

Key Partnerships

 ▶ Chandler’s Ford Parish Council 

 ▶ Hiltingbury Community 
Association

 ▶ Fryern Community Association 

 ▶ Eastleigh Borough Council/Test 
Valley Borough Council Liaison 
Group

 ▶ Hampshire & Isle of Wight 
Wildlife Trust (HIWWT)

 ▶ Conservation volunteers and 
Friends of Hocombe Mead

 ▶ Community groups and 
organisations (according to 
issue)

Hiltingbury
Chandler’s

Ford

Eastleigh

Bishopstoke

Horton
Heath

Fair
Oak

Bursledon

Netley

Hamble- 
le-Rice

West
End

Hedge
End

Botley

Local Area Action Plan 
2021/22

Appendix 1

DRAFT
321



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cllr Louise Parker-Jones 
- Local Area Chair

louise.parker-jones@eastleigh.gov.uk

Bishopstoke, Fair Oak & 
Horton Heath (BIFOHH)

Key Projects & Priorities

Council Services - Local Variations

 ▶ Climate Change and 
Environmental Emergency - 
enable our local community 
to meet the Borough’s goals, 
ensuring the climate and 
environment are central in every 
project delivered and decision 
taken.

 ▶ New Development - Members 
will work tirelessly to protect the 
environment, and ensure any 
development has regard to the 
views and well-being of existing 
residents, communities, wildlife 
and countryside.

 ▶ Developer Contributions 
- Maximise the delivery of 
community benefits and facilities 
in partnership with the local 
parish council’s through the use 
of developer contributions.

 ▶ Memorial Hall Project - Develop 
the feasibility design for the 
Memorial Hall and submit for 
planning approval.

 ▶ The Planney & Tree Corridor 
Project - Complete the 
revitalisation of the Planney 
woodland and use as the starting 
point for the Tree Corridor 
project, which aims to tackle 
climate change and increase 
wildlife habitats.

 ▶ Y Zone - Review youth provision 
and deliver improved and 
targeted youth provision in 
2021/22.

 ▶ St Paul’s Church Community 
extension - Complete the 
community space project for 
the east side of the Bishopstoke 
village.

 ▶ Public Art - Produce a Public Art 
Strategy for the local area, and 
deliver public art projects in a 
joined up approach, that reflect 
the history and essence of the 
local villages.

 ▶ ▶Parking & Congestion - Tackling 
congestion and key parking 
problems to address air pollution 
and make our communities safer.

 ▶ Local Plan Team

 ▶ Direct Services 

 ▶ Corporate Communications  

 ▶ Locality Team (Local 
Engagement Officers) 

 ▶ Development Management

 ▶ Property Services

 ▶ Y Zone

Key Partnerships

 ▶ Bishopstoke Parish Council 

 ▶ Fair Oak & Horton Heath 
Parish Council

 ▶ BIFOHH Community Safety 
Action Group

 ▶ Climate Emergency Action 
Group

 ▶ Horton Heath Development 
Forum

 ▶ Twynams 

 ▶ Y Zone

Hiltingbury
Chandler’s

Ford

Eastleigh

Bishopstoke

Horton
Heath

Fair
Oak

Bursledon

Netley

Hamble- 
le-Rice

West
End

Hedge
End

BotleyResponsibilities of the  
Local Area Committee

Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Manager 

 ▶ Champion the local area

 ▶ Decide local priorities

 ▶ Monitor local budgets

 ▶ Determine local levels of council services  
such as Streetscene and traffic management

 ▶ Work with the local community

 ▶ Decide planning applications

 ▶ Support local Councillors

 ▶ Work closely with Parish Councils, schools 
and community groups

 ▶ Identify local needs and priorities

 ▶ Act as a link between the Council and  
local people

 ▶ Manage the local revenue budget and the 
capital programme/major projects

 ▶ Work with the Council to improve local 
services and to ensure value for money

Andy Thompson - Local Area Manager
andrew.thompson@eastleigh.gov.uk    
023 8068 8357

Local Area Action Plan 
2021/22

323



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cllr Cynthia Garton - Local Area Chair

cynthia.garton@eastleigh.gov.uk

Hedge End,  
West End & Botley (HEWEB)

Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Committee

Responsibilities of the  
Local Area Manager 

Key Projects & Priorities

Council Services - Local Variations

 ▶ Champion the local area

 ▶ Decide local priorities

 ▶ Manage local budgets

 ▶ Determine local levels of council services such 
as Streetscene and traffic management

 ▶ Work with the local community

 ▶ Decide planning applications

 ▶ Act as a link between the Council and 
local people

 ▶ Support local councillors

 ▶ Manage the local revenue budget and the 
capital programme/major projects

 ▶ Work with the Council to improve local 
services and to ensure value for money

 ▶ Identify local needs and priorities

 ▶ Work closely with Town and Parish Councils, 
schools and community groups

 ▶ Major planning applications 
- maximise community benefit 
from current sites at Boorley 
Park, Boorley Gardens, 
Woodhouse Lane, Winchester 
Street, St. John’s Phase 1 and 
2, Hedge End and Hatch Farm

 ▶ Itchen Valley Country Park - 
produce master plan for Phase 
2 onwards

 ▶ Snowdrop Place, Hedge End – 
Public Art

 ▶ Public art at the Berry Theatre 
entrance; West End heritage 
markers and green routes in 
Hedge End

 ▶ Former Budgens’ site, 
Hedge End

 ▶ Climate Change initiatives

- Telegraph Woods

-  Land around Wildern Nature 
Reserve

 ▶ Country Parks, Land 
Management and Corporate 
Communications – Itchen 
Valley Country Park

 ▶ Direct Services and Corporate 
Communications - sponsored 
roundabouts 

 ▶ Direct Services and Locality 
Team – car parks at Itchen 
Valley Country Park and Hedge 
End Train Station

 ▶ Support Services - Community 
and Youth Grants

Key Partnerships

 ▶ Hedge End Town Council

 ▶ West End Parish Council 

 ▶ Botley Parish Council

 ▶ Hampshire County Council

 ▶ Boorley Green Working 
Group including Community 
Development Officer

 ▶ Wildern Academy Trust

 ▶ HEWEB Community Schools 
Network

 ▶ Hampshire Cricket in the 
Community

 ▶ HEWEB Youth Partnership

 ▶ HEWEB Business Group

Hiltingbury
Chandler’s

Ford

Eastleigh

Bishopstoke

Horton
Heath

Fair
Oak

Bursledon

Netley

Hamble- 
le-Rice

West
End

Hedge
End

Botley

Siobhan Strand - Assistant Local Area Manager 
siobhan.strand@eastleigh.gov.uk    
023 8068 8428

Local Area Action Plan 
2021/22

Appendix 2

27325



T
his page is intentionally left blank

326



Eastleigh Local Area Committee – Local Area Action Plan 2021/22 
 

.   

Action Measure Milestones 

Maximise community 
benefit at North 
Stoneham Park  

 New Local Centre - deliver new shops, Community Centre, 
Nursery and develop a range of new services from the 
Community buildings. 

 Install new public art. 

 Create a new residents association and develop events, 
activities and services to meet residents’ needs. 

 New walking trails & access to Home Wood. 

2021/22  

Town Centre  Create a Town Centre Action Plan - to deliver a range of 
public realm improvements, a programme of events and 
support for local businesses. 

2021/22 
 

Improve public open 
spaces 

 Leigh Road Recreation Ground – commence a two-year 
£300k improvement scheme. 

 Commence Freespace Skate Park – commence a £300k 
refurbishment.  

 Fleming Park Play Area and Pool – commence an £80k 
improvement scheme.  

 Lakeside Country Park - improve pedestrian/wheelchair 
access and parking. 

 Hub/Bishopstoke Playing fields – improve the play area and 
car parking.  

 Convert the disused Market Street Games Area into a 
community garden. 

2021/22 
  

Youth Partnership, 
Council and Fund 

 Develop the Area Youth Partnership. 

 Agree an Area Youth Strategy. 

 Establish an Area Youth Council. 

 Award an Annual £1,500 Youth Grant Fund. 

2021/22 
 

Deliver community clean-
up and in-bloom events 

 Deliver a community clean up and In-Bloom project in the 
Aviary Area.  

2021/22 
 

Improve verge and 
footway parking controls 

 Review and enhance existing verge parking controls in the 
Nightingale and Ruskin Road area. 

2021/22 
 

Tree planting across the 
area 

 Promote tree planting through a new subsidised Garden 
Tree Scheme. 

2021/22 
 

Increase wildflowers and 
nectar sources 

 Increase the area of wildflowers on verges and open spaces 2021/22 
 

Community safety  Provide CCTV coverage for Archers Road footbridge 2021/22 

New Parish and Town 

Councils 

 

 Support the establishment of a new Boyatt Wood Parish 
Council and a new Eastleigh Town Council, with the first 
elections in May 2022. 

2021/22 
 

Job seekers support  Deliver a Job Club at the Cableworks building. 

 Encourage our most prolific young offenders into 
employment or training. 

2021/22 
 

Improved leaf clearance 
 

 Add an extra round of autumn leaf clearance to improve 
safety and reduce local flooding.  

2021/22 
 

327



This page is intentionally left blank



EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN: April 2021 - July 2021 

 
This Forward Plan sets out matters which may be considered by Cabinet in the four month period. It includes items on which a “key 
decision” is likely to be taken. 
 
A KEY DECISION IS - An executive decision (whether or not taken by the Cabinet) which is likely to: 
 
(1) result in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which amount to either £50,000 or 20% (whichever is the 

larger) of the gross expenditure budget for the service or general function to which the decision relates; or 
 
(2) be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards within the 

Borough of Eastleigh. 
 
The Plan also includes matters for likely decision relating to the Council’s policy or budget framework. 
 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

24 May 2021 
 

Yes 

 
Trees and Development 
Supplementary Planning 
Document  
 

Cabinet   24 May 2021   
 

Cabinet will be asked to 
approve the draft Trees and 
Development Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) 
ahead of public consultation. 

Dawn Heppell /  
 

Yes 

 
Appointments to Outside Bodies  
 

Cabinet   24 May 2021   
 

Cabinet will be asked to 
consider and approve the 
Appointments to Outside 
Bodies for the municipal year 
2021 to 2022. 

Laura Johnston /  
 

329

A
genda Item

 10



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

2 

Yes 

 
Appointments to the 
Procurement Executive Group 
(PEG)  
 

Cabinet   24 May 2021   
 

Cabinet will be asked to 
consider and approve the 
appointments to the 
Procurement Executive 
Group (PEG) for the 2021/22 
municipal year. 

Laura Johnston /  
 

Yes 

 
Appointments to the Strategic 
Risk Management Group 
(SRMG)  
 

Cabinet   24 May 2021   
 

Cabinet will be asked to 
consider and approve the 
appointments to the 
Strategic Risk Management 
Group (SRMG) for the 
2021/22 municipal year. 

Laura Johnston /  
 

Yes 

 
Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval  
 

Cabinet   24 May 2021   
 

To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP). 

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist /  
 

Yes 

 
Property Transactions  
 

Cabinet   24 May 2021   
 

To consider and approve 
property transactions. 

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager /  
 

27 May 2021 
 

Yes 

 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
(2016-2036): Modifications for 
Public Consultation  
 

Cabinet   27 May 2021   
 

Approve the proposed 
modifications for Local Plan 
for public consultation. 

Graham Tuck, 
Planning 
Planning Senior 
Specialist /  
 

24 June 2021 
 

330



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

3 

Yes 

 
Members Allowances - Actual 
Amounts Paid 2020/21  
 

Cabinet   24 Jun 2021   
 

Cabinet will be asked to 
consider and approve the 
report which details the 
actual amounts paid in 
Members Allowances for the 
2020/21 municipal year. 

Laura Johnston /  
 

Yes 

 
Provisional Outturn 2020/21  
 

Cabinet   24 Jun 2021   
 

Cabinet will be asked to 
consider and approve the 
provisional 2020/21 outturn 
report. 

Andy Smith, 
Finance Lead 
Specialist 
(Deputy Chief 
Financial Officer) 
/  
 

331



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

4 

Yes 

 
PSH Caravan Licensing & Fees 
Policy  
 

Cabinet   21 Jun 2021   
 

The Council has a statutory 
duty to administer the 
licensing regime in respect of 
caravan sites within the 
borough. We are required to 
have a policy which is 
published, outlining how the 
Council delivers this duty 
and how the fees charged in 
relation to the licensing 
scheme are determined. The 
Mobile Homes (Requirement 
for Manager of Site to be Fit 
and Proper Person) 
(England) Regulations 2020 
were enacted last year and 
come into force on 1st 
October 2021, with the 
Council required to accept 
applications from 1st July 
2021. This updated policy 
implements the requirements 
of the new Fit & Proper 
Person (F&PP) assessment 
and introduces the fee for 
applications as permitted 
under the regulations, which 
will be applied to the fees & 
charges for 2021 on 
approval. 

Andrew 
Saunders, 
Strategy 
Development 
Senior Specialist 
/  
 

Yes 

 
Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval  
 

Cabinet   24 Jun 2021   
 

To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP). 

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist /  
 

332



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

5 

Yes 

 
Property Transactions  
 

Cabinet   24 Jun 2021   
 

To consider and approve 
property transactions. 

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager /  
 

29 July 2021 
 

Yes 

 
Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Policy  
 

Cabinet   21 Jul 2021   
 

Cabinet will be asked to 
consider and approve the 
Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Policy. 

Ian Austin, Legal 
Services 
Manager /  
 

Yes 

 
Corporate Performance and 
Financial Monitoring  
 

Cabinet   21 Jul 2021   
 

To consider the quarterly 
report outlining the Council’s 
performance against 
outcomes in the Corporate 
Plan. 

Emma Pearce /  
 

Yes 

 
Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval  
 

Cabinet   21 Jul 2021   
 

To consider and approve 
Community Infrastructure 
Projects (CIP). 

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist /  
 

Yes 

 
Property Transactions  
 

Cabinet   21 Jul 2021   
 

To consider and approve 
property transactions. 

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager /  
 

 
 
FOOTNOTES: 
Public Participation will apply to enable representations to be made at the time the decision is to be taken. 
Written reports for public items will be available as part of the agenda papers and are usually available one week prior to 
the meeting. 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Johnston – Lead Specialist – Democratic Services 
Publication Date: 01 June 2021 333



 

 

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY 

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN 

PRE-DECISION 
SCRUTINY 

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member 

6 

 

334


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Biodiversity Strategy
	8 Constitution Review
	Track Changes Summary_v1
	PART 1. Contents_v1
	PART 2. Amended Articles
	PART 3. Responsibility of Functions
	PART 4. Rules of Procedure
	PART 5. Codes and Protocols
	PART 6. Members Allowances Scheme
	PART 7. Management Structure
	PART 8. Index

	9 Corporate Action Plan
	Appendix. 1 Draft Corporate Action Plan 2122
	Appendix. 2 BHH LAAP
	6 Financial Management Report
	Appendix. I LAAP 2122


	Appendix. 3 CFH LAAP_v1
	Appendix. 4 BiFOHH LAAP_v1
	Appendix. 5 HEWEB LAAP
	8 Local Area Action Plan
	Local Area Action Plan App 2


	Appendix. 6 ELAC LAAP

	10 Cabinet Forward Plan

